Table of Contents

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, DC 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)

X ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File Number: 001-39540

Palantir Technologies Inc.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Delaware 68-0551851
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (LR.S. Employer Identification No.)
1555 Blake Street, Suite 250 80202
Denver, Colorado
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (720) 358-3679

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Trading
Title of each class Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered
Class A Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share PLTR New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes [0 No X

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes [ No X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months
(or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this
chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See
the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer O Accelerated filer O
Non-accelerated filer X Smaller reporting company O
Emerging growth company O

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting
standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. [J

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting
under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report. [J

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes [J No X

The aggregate market value of the common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant, based on the closing price of the shares of Class A common stock on September 30, 2020 as
reported by the New York Stock Exchange on such date was approximately $13.3 billion. The registrant has elected to use September 30, 2020, which was the date of its initial listing of
Class A common stock, as the calculation date because on June 30, 2020 (the last business day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter), the registrant was a
privately held company. Shares of the registrant’s common stock held by each executive officer and director and by each other person who may be deemed to be an affiliate of the
registrant have been excluded from this computation. This calculation does not reflect a determination that certain persons are affiliates of the registrant for any other purpose.

As of February 19, 2021, there were 1,752,006,708 shares of the registrants’ Class A common stock outstanding, 69,255,840 shares of the registrant’s Class B common stock
outstanding, and 1,005,000 shares of the registrant’s Class F common stock outstanding.

Documents Incorporated by Reference

Portions of the registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement relating to the Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
where indicated. Such Definitive Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the registrant’s fiscal year ended
December 31, 2020.




Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART 1
Item 1 Business
Item 1A Risk Factors
Item 1B Unresolved Staff Comments
Item 2 Properties
Item 3 Legal Proceedings
Item 4 Mine Safety Disclosures

PART II
Item 5 Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Item 6 Selected Financial Data
Item 7 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Item 9A Controls and Procedures
Item 9B Other Information

PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Item 11. Executive Compensation
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibit and Financial Statement Schedules
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

Page

21
80
80
81
81

82
83
83
107
108
154
154
154

155
155
155
155
155

156
158



Table of Contents
SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws, which statements involve
substantial risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements generally relate to future events or our future financial or operating performance. In some
cases, you can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “could,”
“would,” “intend,” “target,” “goal,” “outlook,” “project,” “contemplate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” or “continue” or the negative of these
words or other similar terms or expressions that concern our expectations, strategy, plans, or intentions. Forward-looking statements contained in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K include, but are not limited to, statements about:

2 <, 9 <

2 < 29 2 <.

. our expectations regarding financial performance and liquidity, including but not limited to our expectations regarding revenue, cost of
revenue, operating expenses, stock-based compensation, our ability to achieve and maintain future profitability and cash flows;

. our ability to successfully execute our business and growth strategy;

. the sufficiency of our cash and cash equivalents to meet our liquidity needs;

. the demand for our platforms in general;

. our ability to increase our number of customers and revenue generated from customers;

. our expectations regarding the future contribution margin of our existing and future customers;

. our expectations regarding our ability to quickly and effectively integrate our platforms for our existing and future customers;

. our ability to develop new platforms, and enhancements to existing platforms, and bring them to market in a timely manner;

. our market share, category positions, and market trends, including our ability to grow our business in large government and commercial

organizations, including our expectations regarding the impact of FASA;
. our ability to compete with existing and new competitors in existing and new markets and products;

. our expectations regarding anticipated technology needs and developments and our ability to address those needs and developments with
our platforms;

. our expectations regarding litigation and legal and regulatory matters;

. our expectations regarding our ability to meet existing performance obligations and maintain the operability of our products;

. our expectations regarding the effects of existing and developing laws and regulations, including with respect to taxation, privacy and data
protection;

. our expectations regarding new and evolving markets;

. our ability to develop and protect our brand,

. our ability to maintain the security and availability of our platforms;

. our expectations and management of future growth;

. our expectations concerning relationships with third parties, including our customers, equity method investment partners, and vendors;

. our ability to maintain, protect, and enhance our intellectual property;

. our expectations regarding our multi-class stock and governance structure and the benefits thereof;

. the impact of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, including on our and our customers’, vendors’, and partners’ respective businesses and

the markets in which we and our customers, vendors, and partners operate; and

. the increased expenses associated with being a public company.
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We caution you that the foregoing list may not contain all of the forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations, and prospects. The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks,
uncertainties, and other factors, including those described in the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Moreover,
we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to
predict all risks and uncertainties that could have an impact on any forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We cannot
assure you that the results, events, and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur, and actual results, events, or
circumstances could differ materially from those described in such forward-looking statements.

Neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of any of these forward-looking statements. Moreover, the
forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We undertake
no obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. We may not actually
achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking
statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, restructurings, joint
ventures, partnerships, channel sales relationships, or investments we may make.

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based upon
information available to us as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and while we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for such
statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry

into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely
upon these statements.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We build software platforms for large institutions whose work is essential to our way of life. Those institutions must be able to function in times of stability
as well as crisis and uncertainty. To do so, they need software that works.

We were founded in 2003 and started building software for the intelligence community in the United States to assist in counterterrorism investigations and
operations. We later began working with commercial enterprises.

We have built two principal software platforms, Palantir Gotham (“Gotham”™) and Palantir Foundry (“Foundry”). Gotham, our first software platform, was
constructed for analysts at defense and intelligence agencies. They were hunting for needles not in one, but in thousands of haystacks. And they did not have
the software they needed to do their jobs. In Afghanistan and Iraq, soldiers were mapping networks of insurgents and makers of roadside bombs by hand.
Gotham enables users to identify patterns hidden deep within datasets, ranging from signals intelligence sources to reports from confidential informants, and
helps U.S. and allied military personnel find what they are looking for.

We later found that the challenges faced by commercial institutions when it came to working with data were fundamentally similar. An Airbus A350, for
example, has five million parts and is built by hundreds of teams that are spread across four countries and more than eight factories. Companies routinely
struggle to manage let alone make sense of the data involved in large projects. Foundry was built for them. The platform transforms the ways in which
organizations interact with information by creating a central operating system for their data.

Our software is on the front lines, sometimes literally, and that means so are we. Gotham’s use has now extended beyond intelligence analysis into defense
operations and mission planning. And Foundry is becoming the central operating system not only for individual institutions but for entire industries.

The stakes are high. The challenges our platforms address are a matter of survival, both for the institutions we serve and the individuals who depend on
them. We have the privilege of partnering with some of the world’s most important government and commercial organizations. And we believe that the
work of those organizations is essential to our security and the lives that we lead.

We are committed to ensuring that our software is as effective as possible without ever compromising our values. Our platforms were built from the start to
protect individual privacy and prevent the misuse of information. We are not in the business of collecting, mining, or selling data. We build software
platforms that enable our customers to integrate their own data — data that they already have.

The same technology that makes our software so analytically powerful — its ability to construct a model of the real world from countless data points — is
what allows our customers to monitor, properly secure, and control access to that data and its use. It is also why customers, including governments around
the world, trust our platforms to safeguard their data, including their most sensitive information.

As of December 31, 2020, our platforms were used by 139 customers, including some of the largest and most significant institutions in the world. For
example, the U.S. Army uses our software to ensure the readiness of more than one million military personnel and to make decisions across dozens of
command structures. Similarly, our software is deployed by one of the world’s leading auto manufacturers across its factories in North America to help
ensure quality control on the production line.

Gotham and Foundry enable these institutions to transform massive amounts of information into an integrated data asset that reflects their operations. Users
can build on top of this asset to make data accessible and
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actionable. Our platforms enable people, whether they are workers on an assembly line or soldiers in the field, to work with data, even if they have never
written a line of code.

We have also invested heavily in developing Apollo, our continuous delivery and product infrastructure platform, which is used to deliver software updates
to our customers and enables our software to run in any environment. The investments in our software platforms have yielded a significant decrease in the
time and number of engineers required to install and deploy our software. For instance, the time required to install our software and begin working with a
customer has decreased more than five-fold from 2019 to 2020. In some cases, our customers can now be up and running in mere hours.

Our software is used by customers across 40 industries and in more than 150 countries. Our government work is central to defense and intelligence
operations in the United States and its allies abroad. On the commercial front, we work with some of the world’s most durable and important companies
across industries, including in the consumer, energy, financial services, healthcare, industrials, telecommunications, and transportation sectors.

We generated $1.1 billion in revenue in 2020, reflecting an increase of 47% from our revenue in 2019, which was $742.6 million.

The scale of our partnerships with customers, in revenue terms, has also grown over time. In 2020, our average revenue per customer was $7.9 million, and
the average revenue for our top twenty customers, by revenue generated in 2020, was $33.2 million. This is up from 2019, when our average revenue per
customer was $5.6 million, and the average revenue from our top 20 customers, by revenue generated in 2019, was $24.8 million.

The broader momentum of our business is the result of the strength of our software platforms. And the need for software that works has never been greater.
The systemic failures of government institutions to provide for the public — fractured healthcare systems, erosion of data privacy, strained criminal justice
systems, and outmoded ways of fighting wars — will continue to require both the public and private sectors to transform themselves. We believe that the
underperformance and loss of legitimacy of many of these institutions will only increase the speed with which they are required to change.

Other software companies have incorrectly assumed that the future will look like the past, forming their strategies based on assumptions about a world that
no longer exists. A focus on targeted analytical tools and optimizing specific functions within complex organizations is insufficient. We believe that
software must connect the entire enterprise. Our most critical institutions cannot wait a year or longer for a promised application or bespoke solution to be

developed. Those options are often obsolete before they are even delivered.

Our partners need solutions now. And we have built them.

Our Approach
We do not sell features, tools, or one-off custom applications. When it comes to working with data, those approaches generally work only briefly, if at all.

Some companies throw people at the problem. Others build dashboards. We build software platforms that become part of the institutions we serve. And we
believe that every large institution in the world has a problem that our platforms were designed to address.
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Our Software Creates a Central Operating System for Data
Our platforms, Gotham and Foundry, allow organizations to recast their siloed systems as contributors to a unified data asset.

Our software enables our customers to transform massive amounts of information into knowledge that reflects their world. Data is represented not as cells in
a spreadsheet, or exports from a single system, but as entities, events, relationships, consequences, and decisions in context.

Building flexible applications on this data asset allows the data to be made accessible and understandable to the people who need it. We bring real-time
operational data to decision makers at the world’s leading institutions.

Our Software Does Not Displace Existing Systems, It Augments Them

Flexibility and openness are core tenets of our software. By integrating their existing solutions into our central operating system, organizations can choose
to maintain key historic investments without having to rebuild their entire data infrastructure.

As the world changes and technology evolves, institutions can adjust their data model and integrate new systems instead of rebuilding everything from
scratch. Today, our platforms are fully modular, meaning a customer can take what they want of our offering and build on what they have, helping our
customers get the unique capability and rapid delivery of value they have come to expect even faster.

Problems come in radically different shapes and sizes, so we have built software that becomes part of each of our customer’s environments, whether they’re
operating in a Humvee, on an oil rig, or at 30,000 feet.

Our Approach to Security Enables Collaboration Instead of Inhibiting It
Our early days with the U.S. intelligence community informed our development approach. Security is always our first priority.

We designed our software to embrace the complexity of security clearances, institutional boundaries, and varying data sensitivity levels. The same
technology that allows our platforms to construct a model of the real world from individual data points allows our customers to secure each of those pieces
of information.

Security need not come at the expense of collaboration. Our software enables both, and we have a reputation for enabling secure collaboration in the most
stringent data environments in the world.

Our Platforms

We have built two principal software platforms: Palantir Gotham and Palantir Foundry. Our software platforms provide the critical infrastructure needed to
integrate our customers’ data and operations.

The vertically integrated nature of Gotham and Foundry allows users of varying technical abilities to collaborate effectively in our platforms. Data
engineers can integrate new data sources, analysts can clean and transform data, data scientists can write models, business users can conduct daily
workflows, and senior leaders can make critical decisions. The two platforms can either be used separately or bundled together as a single ecosystem.

Data, analyses, decisions, and the metadata around each are secured with fine-grained access controls that propagate from source data to shared analyses.
Each platform is comprised of user-facing applications that are targeted to the specific industries and sectors in which they are used. Images contained in
this section are illustrative of our user interface and reflect notional data only.
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Despite their differences, Gotham and Foundry both serve as central operating systems for our customers. Where they vary in specific functionality, they
align in approach. Both platforms can be deployed in almost any environment.

Gotham

We built Gotham, our first platform, for government operatives in the defense and intelligence sectors. Analysts working on the front lines of
counterterrorism operations were hunting for needles not in one haystack but in hundreds and thousands of them. Gotham enables them to find what they
are looking for.

The platform enables users to identify patterns hidden deep within datasets, ranging from signals intelligence sources to reports from confidential
informants. It also facilitates the hand-off between analysts and operational users, helping operators plan and execute real-world responses to threats that
have been identified within the platform. Gotham is now used broadly across government functions.

We also offer Gotham to our commercial customers, including to those in the financial services industry in connection with fraud investigations.

Foundry

As we expanded from our government work into the commercial sector, we saw that private enterprises had similar problems to those that affected
organizations in the public sector.

We also learned that big data isn’t valuable just because it’s big. We believe that the integration and joining of different datasets is what matters most. Data
integration also happens to be among the hardest problems to solve.

We spent years investing in the development of a platform that makes the task of integrating new datasets routine so that users can focus on taking action on
information. The result of that investment is Foundry. All of our commercial customers now use it, as do several of our government customers.

Foundry transforms the ways organizations operate by creating a central operating system for their data. Individual users can integrate and analyze the data
they need in one place. The speed with which users can experiment and test new ideas is what makes the software stick.

Data projects often fail because the steps and methods used to build data pipelines are difficult to understand and recreate. We built Foundry’s backend to

solve the root of this problem. The platform’s graphical interface does the rest, allowing users to track and trace their pipelines so they know what the rows
and columns in their tables represent and why they are there.

Competitive Strengths

A number of our most significant competitive strengths, which we believe set us apart from the rest of the industry, follow below.

We built privacy controls into our platforms from the start.

We embrace the complexity of working in the real world.

Where other companies can’t or won’t go, we step in to make sure that critical institutions can do their jobs. We offer software to help a maintenance

engineer decide what maintenance fix to deploy, to help a researcher interpret the results of a clinical trial, and to help a soldier decide when to hold fire and
when to shoot.
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At the same time, we treat the protection of rights to privacy and civil liberties as essential requirements for our software. From the start, we built key
capabilities for data protection and governance into our platforms. Every capability we ship supports end-to-end data legibility, audit logs, granular access
controls, data quality checks, and purpose specification requirements that can be adapted to any environment.

Skeptics may ask how an American software company with roots in the intelligence sector can credibly claim to support the most sensitive, regulated, and
privacy-conscious institutions in the world. It is because, not in spite, of the fact that we take privacy so seriously — for all our customers — that we have
won the trust of institutions whose work relies on safekeeping information and protecting the data of their constituents.

Our software engineers are on the front lines.
Our software is on the front lines, sometimes literally, and that means so are we.

Our forward deployed engineers (“FDEs”) have travelled to bases in Afghanistan and factories in the industrial Midwest to deploy our platforms. Time in
the field adds to the continuous improvement of our platforms. As FDEs help customers make the most of our software, they observe users’ challenges
firsthand.

We partner with bedrock institutions that are central to the societies we live in, and we help empower them with critical software to carry out their essential
mandates and missions.

Time and time again, in wartime and in peace, we have proven our ability to ensure that our software addresses these challenges. We learn, we build
software, and we deploy that software against problems that other companies are unwilling or unable to address.

Our software brings government-grade security to industry, and the breadth of private sector experience to government.

Our roots in the intelligence community and defense sector introduced us to a set of unique challenges when it comes to building software that other
companies in Silicon Valley and elsewhere either did not or could not address.

Our software had to be secure enough to handle national secrets, stable enough to support soldiers’ wartime decisions, and transparent enough to ensure that
all data and usage in the system could be monitored and traced. By building these requirements directly into our platforms, we provide the private sector
with government-quality security standards out of the box.

To the public sector, we offer software that incorporates and reflects our experience of working across 40 industries and years spent in the field. We
incorporate what we have learned into our two platforms, which automatically ship new features to our customers across the business. The breadth of our
work provides governments around the world with something that industry-specific players cannot: automated access to field-driven research and
development as well as features built based on the operational needs of nearly every major industry.

For example, capabilities of our platforms that were originally developed to help the oil and gas industry optimize production of crude oil have been adapted
by manufacturers of medical equipment to optimize their supply chains in the wake of the onset of the pandemic and by national health agencies in their
efforts to allocate personal protective equipment to hospital staff and patients.

Similarly, features of our software platforms originally designed to handle streaming time-series data from oil and gas wells around the world — where a
single well can generate more data per day than Twitter — have been applied by other customers to improve the speed of Formula One race cars, maximize
usage of airline fleets, and improve quality control on automotive assembly lines.
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Our software platforms deliver multi-tenant cloud economics, even for air-gapped or disconnected customers.

Apollo, our continuous delivery platform, helps to ensure that our software works wherever our users are and under a variety of conditions: on oil rigs and
submarines, on disconnected laptops in Humvees in theater, and on more than 9,000 aircraft around the world.

Our software is environment-agnostic and is deployed to public and private cloud networks, on-premises data centers, air-gapped and classified systems,
and on laptops and specialized hardware. This includes AWS Public Cloud, AWS GovCloud, Microsoft Azure, and a variety of classified cloud systems.

Instead of dedicating a team to manage each installation, a small group of engineers manages almost our entire software footprint, ensuring that the latest
features and security patches are deployed across all installations at effectively the same time, independent of the underlying technical infrastructure on
which our software operates. This means that we can deploy to air-gapped or on-premises networks at effectively the same rate as we can in the cloud,
thereby allowing our customers and us to benefit from multi-tenant cloud economics even with single-tenant disconnected customers.

Our business is built to expand within organizations and across sectors.

We move quickly to scale our partnerships with customers. Our software can support the full range of users in an organization across divisions or functions.
It also provides a common analytical platform for users across industries and sectors.

Executives may set sales targets for data scientists to translate into forecasts. Supply chain managers take those forecasts to plan trade-offs between
suppliers, and plant supervisors use their plans to execute production. We can power the entire spectrum of these interconnected decisions, within individual

institutions and across them.

Our software brings diverse decision makers within an organization together: data engineers, data scientists, and machine learning experts, as well as senior
executives, prime ministers, and four-star generals. All can, and do, collaborate using our software.

We have chosen sides.
Our software is used by the United States and its allies in Europe and around the world.
Some companies work with the United States as well its adversaries. We do not.

We believe that our government and commercial customers value this clarity.

Growth Strategies

We are pursuing a number of strategies to continue to grow the company, in both our commercial and government business segments in the United States
and abroad. Our principal strategies are described below.

Continue expansion into the commercial sector.

Our current and potential commercial customers are some of the largest enterprises in the world. And we plan to continue expanding beyond our roots in the
government sector.

The work of these commercial enterprises is vital to the lives we lead. We want to ensure that they have the software they need to do their jobs. We also
believe that there is significant growth potential for us in the commercial sector, both in the United States and abroad, including in Europe and Asia.

10
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Our focus in the near term will be to build partnerships with commercial enterprises that have the leadership necessary to effect structural change within
their organizations and of their operations — to reconstitute themselves around data. Over the long term, we believe that every large company in the
markets that we serve is a potential customer.
Increase our reach within existing customers.
For commercial customers, in sectors such as industrials, energy, financial services, media, and healthcare, our software can generate hundreds of millions
of dollars, whether in the form of new sales or costs saved. For government customers, such as defense and intelligence agencies, the software promotes the

safety and welfare of the constituents they serve.

The value that our software creates is what drives our expansion within individual organizations. Our platforms are designed to easily accommodate new
users, workflows, and use cases. This allows us to rapidly scale within an institution.

Become the default operating system for data across the U.S. government.
The U.S. government is increasingly using alternative procurement methods to test commercial solutions, such as the software platforms we have built.

Our software is well positioned for this new procurement approach. Our platforms have been tested and improved over years of use across industries and
can rapidly be deployed by the government with minor configurations. This gives us a significant edge over contractors selling custom tools.

Our lawsuit against the U.S. Army, brought in 2016 and discussed further below, has been a central reason for the federal government’s change in its
approach to software procurement.

Expand our reach with U.S. allies abroad.

We intend to pursue significant expansion of our government work with U.S. allies abroad. Recent expansion with law enforcement agencies in Europe
demonstrates our ability to capture these opportunities.

When ISIS attacked hundreds of people in 2015 and 2016 — in Paris, Brussels, Barcelona, and Berlin — our platforms became a key means of
communication and information sharing between European intelligence agencies and the rest of the world.

Pursue new methods of customer acquisition and partnership.
We are pursuing specific channel-selling opportunities with leading cloud hosting providers that have existing relationships with prospective customers.

As we consider entering and growing in new markets outside the United States, we may continue to enter into additional partnerships, joint ventures, and
alliances with strategic organizations that operate in our target markets.

For example, in Japan we launched a joint partnership with SOMPO Holdings, Inc., one of the largest insurance companies in the country, to help grow our
commercial and government business in the Japanese market.

Become the industry default.

We intend to broaden our reach through partnerships that establish our platforms as the central operating system for entire industries.

11
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This model has been successfully implemented in aviation, where Foundry now connects the industry’s in-flight, engineering, and operations data through
our Skywise partnership with Airbus.

We anticipate opportunities to create similar industry-wide partnerships, such as for healthcare and financial services companies.
Continue to grow our direct sales force.
We are investing in an account-based sales force to identify new customers and opportunities.

Our decision to grow our sales force in recent years has resulted in a number of significant new customers, including companies in the Fortune 100 as well
as a number of leading government agencies in the United States and other countries.

Our sales force remains relatively small, at about 3% of our total headcount. We will continue to invest in growing our direct sales force, which we believe
will advance our strategies above.

10 U.S.C. § 2377
Section 2377 of the Federal Acquisition Streamlining Act (“FASA”) is a little known yet path-breaking law.

FASA was passed with the original intent of addressing procurement waste. The act requires the U.S. federal government to acquire “commercial items” for
all of its procurements “to the maximum extent practicable.” 10 U.S.C. § 2377; 41 U.S.C. § 3307. That is, rather than pursue acquisition of custom
developed items, the government must first consider readily available and proven commercial alternatives on the market.

The software we have built is a commercial item within the meaning of the law. A bespoke government solution, custom built by a consulting company, is
not.

Leveling the Playing Field

After its passage in 1994, the law was largely ignored. Government procurement offices paid preferred suppliers for years, if not decades, to develop
bespoke software. And commercial suppliers struggled to justify entering the federal market.

The regulations involved seemed too esoteric, and the market too dominated by incumbents who knew how to maneuver within the system to their
advantage. Inside-the-Beltway defense contractors built entire businesses almost exclusively around selling custom technology solutions to the government,
many of which we believe failed to achieve their intended purpose.

Palantir v. United States

For years, we struggled to make significant inroads in selling our software to large segments of the U.S. Army. This was despite consistent demand from the
soldiers on the front lines for the capabilities our platforms offer. Soldiers from more than half of the Army’s brigades asked for our software, but their
requests were often delayed or denied by the government.

In 2016, we won a lawsuit against the Army, challenging its decision to pursue a software development contract for the replacement of its battlefield
intelligence system. In 2018, the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit upheld the ruling and directed the U.S. Army to consider existing
commercially available products, whether rifles or software, before trying to build their own.
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As our litigation progressed, the Army changed course and began reviewing commercial options to serve as part of its intelligence system. After testing real
products, including our own, using real data, the Army selected our software to deploy to tactical units across the force.

Future Implications

The Army, as it works to ensure its service members have what they need to do their jobs, has begun evaluating commercially available products, such as
our software, before turning to custom-built alternatives. Other government agencies have begun to follow suit.

Our victory in federal court is transforming the procurement of goods and services across the U.S. federal government.

For us, this shift in government acquisition represents a significant expansion of our potential opportunities with the U.S. federal government. We are
working towards becoming the central operating system for all U.S. defense programs.

Our Customers

We work with many of the world’s leading government and commercial institutions. As of December 31, 2020, we had 139 customers.
An overview of those customers and the ways in which they use our software follows below.

Overview

Our software is currently used across 40 industries around the world.

Of the $1.1 billion in revenue that we generated in 2020, 56% came from customers in the government segment, and 44% came from customers in the
commercial segment.

Our business continues to have a global presence. In 2020, we earned 52% of our revenue from customers in the United States, and 48% from those abroad.
The expansion of our business outside of the United States has continued in recent years, particularly in Europe and Asia.

Our Software at Work

Our platforms are used by individuals spread across more than 150 countries.

Our software is in the hands of factory workers, soldiers, clinicians, prosecutors, investigators, claims adjusters, technicians, intelligence analysts, and social
workers around the world. It is used by assembly workers in France, pharmaceutical researchers in Germany, public health administrators in the United
Kingdom, and special forces personnel and senior military officials in the United States.

Industries and Sectors

In addition to supporting individual institutions, our platforms have become central operating systems for entire industries and sectors.

Our work with Airbus, for example, was initially focused on the production of the A350 aircraft. The deployment of our software soon grew into Skywise,
our aviation platform that has become the central operating system of the airline industry.
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Skywise connects more than 9,000 aircraft across more than 100 airlines. Decision makers at each of these institutions use Skywise to more efficiently
design, manufacture, service, operate, and maintain their global fleets.

Similarly, when it comes to our work with defense and intelligence agencies, our software is not only used by individual organizations but is also used to

enable sharing of information and collaboration across agencies and countries. This is made possible by our software’s access controls, which enable
agencies to work on the same platform simultaneously and securely.

Sales and Marketing

Our approach to sales and marketing is built around the first two phases of our business model, as described in the section titled “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation — Our Business Model”: customer acquisition (in the Acquire phase) and account growth (in
the Expand phase).

Customer Acquisition

Our customer acquisition strategy targets large-scale, hard-to-execute opportunities at large government and commercial institutions. The high installation
costs, high failure risks, complexity of data environments, and the long sales cycles associated with these opportunities raise the barriers to entry for

competition. The larger, more complex, and more technologically demanding the problem, the more likely we are to succeed.

Across both the public and private sectors, there is a history of failures when investing in new technologies. One U.S. military department spent more than
$1 billion building an enterprise resource planning system from scratch. The system was never delivered, and the project was terminated.

Many of our customers have had similar experiences investing millions — even billions — of dollars in digital transformation projects, enterprise data
warehouses, and digital twin initiatives that never really worked.

These failures have made both software buyers and vendors highly risk-averse. Institutions often doubt that any vendor can implement a working solution
and are unwilling to invest. On the other hand, smaller technology companies are often unable to compete for complex, large-scale opportunities because

installation costs and the risks of failure are too high, and the sales cycles too long.

These are precisely the opportunities we target. Rather than reject projects with risky and resource intensive installation requirements, we actively seek them
out.

There are a number of sales and marketing strategies that have accelerated our ability to acquire customers in recent years:
Direct Sales Force
We have invested and continue to invest in an account-based sales force to identify new customers and opportunities.

We believe that our decision to grow our sales force in recent years has resulted in multiple new customers that are in the Fortune 100 and include leading
government agencies around the world. We will continue to expand headcount in our direct sales force.

Sector and Industry Platforms

We are developing industry operating systems to help companies and government agencies manage operations across their entire organizations. These
operating systems allow our software to be distributed at scale to institutions within given industries.
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For example, Skywise is our aviation platform that we have developed in partnership with Airbus. Our approach with Airbus involves a collaborative
go-to-market strategy to distribute the Foundry platform across the aviation industry. The adoption of our software has been swift. Since June 2017,

Skywise has expanded from zero to more than one hundred airlines on the platform. Each one is now an existing or potential customer.

We are working on similar partnerships in the insurance, healthcare, automotive, and government sectors, which we anticipate will have a significant impact
on our business moving forward.

U.S. Government

We intend to capture an even greater share of U.S. federal government spending on software systems, following our legal victory in federal court. The
ruling requires the government to consider commercially available products, such as our software, before attempting to build its own.

We generated a total of $51.9 million in revenue from our U.S. Army accounts from 2008 through September 2018, when the federal court ruled in our
favor. Since the ruling, we generated $231.8 million in revenue from those accounts as of December 31, 2020.

See the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation — Our Business Model — Government
Contracts” for a discussion of the terms of our government contracts.

Channel Sales & Cloud Partnerships

We are exploring the development of channel sales partnerships for specific industries and sectors by partnering closely with leading providers of public,
private, and hybrid cloud services, which have relationships with essentially every major enterprise in the world and have large, existing sales forces.

This channel emerged as an extension of the large computing requirements for our platforms and the migration towards the cloud as the hosting
environment of choice for many customers. The existing footprint of these providers provides us with access to their large customer base and expands our
distribution capabilities.

Joint Ventures & New Business Partnerships

We intend to continue to form joint ventures and new business partnerships, where we believe specific industries or sectors require a local partner and
additional investment in order to realize the full potential of our platforms.

In 2019, we announced the formation of Palantir Technologies Japan K.K., or Palantir Japan, a Japanese technology company co-founded by SOMPO
Holdings, Inc. and Palantir. We formed Palantir Japan to deploy our platforms across commercial and governmental institutions in the Japanese market.

In 2020, EMD Digital Inc., an affiliate of Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany, and Palantir launched a joint partnership called Syntropy to accelerate cancer
research through secure collaboration within the global scientific community.

Account Growth
There are a number of sales and marketing strategies that we use to drive revenue growth at an account.
These strategies include (1) creating new ecosystem partnerships to extend the platform beyond the customer’s four walls into the operations of its partners

and suppliers, (2) selling additional productized cross-industry software capabilities, and (3) selling strategic implementations of our software against
specific use cases, which deliver competitive differentiation.
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Our sales and marketing strategies allow us to scale existing customer contracts horizontally to include additional divisions or functions within a single
institution and vertically to include additional users and user groups. In tackling the customer’s most pressing and challenging problems first, we establish
the trust needed to expand platform usage across the full enterprise.

For each customer, we evaluate our revenue growth and margin potential on a continuous basis and seek to allocate our personnel, including our FDEs, to

the highest revenue growth opportunities. As long as we continue to see opportunities to scale our revenue base at an existing customer, internal resources
may continue to be allocated to that customer even if those allocations reduce contribution margin in the short term.

Research and Development

Palantir was founded on the premise that the most critical challenges cannot be solved from the comforts of Silicon Valley. They can only be solved by
working directly with customers.

An industry’s problems and strengths are not uniform across institutions. As a result, traditional software solutions can rarely resolve them. Custom code
and consulting teams are unsustainable alternatives.

We believe that in order to fully address the most complex and valuable challenges that our customers face, we must experience and understand their
problems firsthand. To do so, we embed with our users, from the special forces personnel in forward operating bases to oil rig engineers in the field.

Our FDEs are our first line in identifying research and development opportunities for our platforms. By working alongside users, whether on site or
remotely, FDEs have a deep understanding of what our customers need, how and why they make decisions, and how they calculate trade-offs.

Instead of hard-wiring those observations into bespoke applications, our developers incorporate them into flexible platforms that adapt to the realities that
our customers face. Our software incorporates what we have learned from tens of thousands of front-line hours across the 40 industries in which we work.

Our direct research and development expenses were $560.7 million and $305.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. We
have invested a total of $2.0 billion in research and development since 2008.

Privacy and Civil Liberties

We are committed to ensuring that our software is as effective as possible while preserving individuals’ fundamental rights to privacy and civil liberties. We
have made deep investments to ensure that safeguarding privacy and civil liberties protections remains central to our software and business practices.

Our platforms were built from the start to protect individual privacy and prevent the misuse of information. We are not in the business of collecting, mining,
or selling data. We build software platforms that enable our customers to integrate their own data — data that they already have.

The same technology that makes Palantir so analytically powerful — its ability to construct a model of the real world from countless data points — is what
allows our customers to monitor and control access to that data and its use.
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Principles

As we build software to answer questions of increasing significance and complexity, we apply a set of principles at all stages of the development of our
software and its deployment.

Systems must incorporate privacy from the beginning of the design process. Our goal has always been to eliminate the perceived trade-offs
between privacy and utility. To do this, we treat privacy as a fundamental concern at every stage of the engineering process.

Decisions that can affect individuals’ rights and liberties cannot be left solely to computers. Our customers are using data to inform decisions
with significant implications for individuals. Rather than relying on algorithms that inhibit accountability, our software empowers humans to
make informed decisions.

Technology is not the answer to every problem. Some decisions carry implications that are too complex or significant to be automated. We
strive to understand major world problems and think critically about whether it’s possible to build complementary solutions in an ethically
responsible way.

Customer Impact

Some examples of the ways in which our software facilitates data protection at our customers follow below.

Our Team

Our platforms serve as the central analytics system of a major law enforcement agency in northern Europe. Scandinavia has long been at the
forefront of data protection, and our software facilitates effective implementation of its rigorous privacy policies.

A customer in Europe needed to adhere to rigorous purpose specification and proportionality requirements during sensitive analytical
workflows. We worked with the customer to implement technical measures requiring analysts to provide reviewable justifications for access.
Those controls were further supported by auditing capabilities to ensure that data processing satisfied legitimate purposes under the relevant
regulations.

A multinational insurer sought to build and apply machine-learning models to surface fraudulent insurance claims, while ensuring that
processing was sufficiently transparent, interpretable, and accountable to decision makers and oversight authorities. We helped to configure and
implement a number of supporting privacy-enhancing features, including pseudonymization processes to minimize data exposure, rigorous
documentation of machine learning model features and parameters, and auditing tools for users and regulators.

We employ a team of engineers, lawyers, and social scientists to ensure that our company remains a leader in the field when it comes to privacy practices
and software development.

The Privacy and Civil Liberties Engineering team is responsible for ensuring a culture of responsibility around the development and use of our technology
by leading the development of privacy-enhancing technologies, publishing research, consulting with policymakers, helping our customers implement data
governance best practices, and facilitating company-wide dialogue on ethical issues. The team is supported by the Palantir Council of Advisors on Privacy
and Civil Liberties, a group of independent experts in privacy law, policy, and ethics who help us to understand and address the implications of our work.

Privacy-Enhancing Technologies

Access Controls. Our platforms provide highly granular access restrictions with subtle and flexible access permissions, such as temporal and
purpose-based limitations. This allows for precision data
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management — even, at times, across multiple, independent databases — that closely aligns access with customer specifications. For example,
a user sees only the specific information necessary for a defined task (e.g., investigating a specific crime or determining whether to extend
credit to an individual).

. Sensitive Data Inference. Institutions managing sprawling collections of data often struggle to keep track of which data assets include sensitive
fields such as personal identifiers or health records. Our software provides inference tools to assist institutions in detecting the presence of such
data so that they can flag and handle the data appropriately.

. Federation. Federation allows users to search and analyze data from multiple, independent databases without duplicating and centralizing data
in a single place. Our platforms provide intelligent query interfaces that reduce the complexity of federation so that users can access the
information they need without directly integrating the source into the platform.

. Audit Logging and Analysis. User actions — including searches, data use justifications, access requests, analyst collaborations, and report
generation — within a system must be recorded to ensure that authorized oversight entities, both internal to an institution and external, can
confirm appropriate and lawful data usage. Our platforms maintain audit logs and make them accessible to (and readable by) authorized users to
help them both retroactively investigate and proactively identify misuse of systems.

. Data Integrity and Redress. Our platforms track the provenance and version history of all data in the system so that users can assess the
reliability of the data and review and correct inaccuracies. Providing users with well-curated, up-to-date data reduces the risks of erroneous
conclusions.

. Data Retention and Deletion. Institutions must be able to implement flexible and auditable retention policies and verify that data flagged for

deletion has truly been purged from the system. Our platforms enable institutions to schedule and manage the removal of old or irrelevant
information as required by data management best practices or applicable regulations.

Competition

We are fundamentally competing with the internal software development efforts of our potential customers.

Organizations frequently attempt to build their own data platforms before turning to buy ours. In trying to build something on their own, they generally rely
on a patchwork of custom solutions, outside consultants, IT services companies, packaged enterprise and open source software, and significant internal IT

resources.

In addition, our competitors include large enterprise software companies, government contractors, and system integrators. We also face competition from
emerging companies as well as established companies that are only now beginning to enter this market.

The principal competitive factors in the markets in which we operate include:

. platform capabilities and product functionality;

. data security and privacy;

. ease and speed of adoption, use, and deployment;
. product innovation;

. pricing and cost structures;

. customer experience, including support; and

. brand awareness and reputation.

While we believe we generally compete favorably with our competitors, as well as with software developed by customers internally, based on these
competitive factors, some of our competitors have greater name recognition,
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longer operating histories, and larger customer bases; larger sales and marketing budgets and resources and the capacity to leverage their sales efforts and
marketing expenditures across a broader portfolio of products; broader, deeper, or otherwise more established relationships with technology, channel, and
distribution partners and customers; wider geographic presence or greater access to larger potential customer bases; greater focus in specific geographies;
lower labor and research and development costs; larger and more mature intellectual property portfolios; and substantially greater financial, technical, and
other resources to provide support, to make acquisitions, and to develop and introduce new products.

Intellectual Property

We believe that our intellectual property rights are valuable and important to our business. We rely on a combination of patents, copyrights, trademarks,
trade secrets, know-how, contractual provisions, and confidentiality procedures to protect our intellectual property rights.

We seek to protect our proprietary inventions relevant to our business through patent protection in the United States and abroad; however, we are not
dependent on any particular patent or application for the operation of our business.

In addition, we have registered “Palantir” as a trademark in the United States and other jurisdictions. We also have registered trademarks for “Gotham,”
“Palantir Foundry,” and our corporate logo, and are the registered holder of a variety of domestic and international domain names that include “Palantir,”
including, most importantly, “Palantir.com.”

In addition to the protection provided by our intellectual property rights, we enter into proprietary information and invention assignment agreements or
similar agreements with our employees, consultants, and contractors. We further control the use of our proprietary technology and intellectual property
rights through provisions in our agreements with customers.

Seasonality

We generally experience seasonality in the timing of recognition of revenue as a result of the timing of the execution of our contracts, as we have
historically executed many of our contracts in the third and fourth quarters due to the fiscal year ends and procurement cycles of our customers. See “Risk
Factors—Seasonality may cause fluctuations in our results of operations and position.”

Employees and Human Capital

Our employees are critical to the success of our business. As of December 31, 2020, we had 2,439 full-time employees, including 901 employees employed
outside of the United States. We also engage part-time employees, independent contractors, and third-party personnel to supplement our workforce.

Other than our employees in France, who are represented by a works council, none of our employees is represented by a labor union. We have not
experienced any work stoppages due to employee disputes, and we believe that our employee relations are strong.

Our human capital resources objectives include recruiting, retaining, training, and motivating our personnel. The principal purposes of our incentive
compensation policies are to attract, retain, and reward personnel through the granting of equity-based and cash-based compensation awards, in order to
increase stockholder value and the success of our company by motivating such individuals to perform to the best of their abilities and achieve our
objectives. We strive to foster a diverse and inclusive culture and environment which encourages active dialogue and robust engagement on the issues most
salient to employee satisfaction and believe our employees are empowered to play a significant role in shaping the direction and success of the company.
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Available Information

Our website is https://www.palantir.com, our investor relations website is https://investors.palantir.com, and our Twitter account is @PalantirTech. We have
used, and intend to continue to use, our website, investor relations website, LinkedIn, and Twitter accounts as a means of disclosing material non-public
information and for complying with our disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. The following filings are available through our investor relations
website after we file them with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”): Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K, and our Proxy Statement for our annual meeting of stockholders. These filings are also available for download free of charge on our
investor relations website. The SEC also maintains an Internet website that contains reports, proxy statements and other information about issuers, like us,
that file electronically with the SEC. The address of that website is www.sec.gov.

We webcast our earnings calls and certain events we participate in or host with members of the investment community on our investor relations website.
Additionally, we provide notifications of news or announcements regarding our financial performance, including SEC filings, investor events, press and
earnings releases, and blogs as part of our investor relations website. Further corporate governance information, including our corporate governance
guidelines, code of business conduct and ethics, and committee charters is also available on our investor relations website under the heading “Governance.”
The contents of the websites provided above are not intended to be incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K or in any other report
or document we file with the SEC. Further, our references to the URLs for these websites are intended to be inactive textual references only.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Investing in our Class A common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together
with all of the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes, before making a decision to invest in our Class A
common stock. Our business, financial condition, results of operations, or prospects could also be harmed by risks and uncertainties not currently known to
us or that we currently do not believe are material. If any of the risks actually occur, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects
could be adversely affected. In that event, the trading price of our Class A common stock could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment.

Risk Factor Summary

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties that you should consider before investing in our Class A common stock. These risks are
described more fully below and include, but are not limited to, risks relating to the following:

. we have incurred losses each year and we may not become profitable in the future;

. we may not be able to sustain our revenue growth rate;

. our sales efforts involve considerable time and expense and our sales cycle is often long and unpredictable;

. a limited number of customers account for a substantial portion of our revenue;

. our results of operations and our key business measures are likely to fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis;

. seasonality may cause fluctuations in our results of operations and position;

. our platforms are complex and may have a lengthy implementation process;

. we may not successfully develop and deploy new technologies to address the needs of our customers;

. our platforms must operate with third-party products and services;

. we may be unable to hire, retain, train, and motivate qualified personnel and senior management and deploy our personnel and resources to

meet customer demand;

. we may be unable to successfully build, expand, and deploy our marketing and sales organization;

. we may not able to maintain and enhance our brand and reputation;

. unfavorable news or social media coverage may harm our reputation and business;

. exclusive arrangements or unique terms with customers or partners may result in significant risks or liabilities to us;

. we face intense competition in our markets;

. we may be unable to maintain or properly manage our culture as we grow;

. we may not enter into relationships with potential customers if we consider their activities to be inconsistent with our organizational

mission or values;
. joint ventures, channel sales relationships, platform partners and strategic alliances may be unsuccessful;

. we may not be successful in executing our strategy to increase our sales to larger customers;
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breach of the systems of any third parties upon which we rely, our customers’ cloud or on-premises environments, or our internal systems
or unauthorized access to data;

the COVID-19 pandemic may continue to significantly affect our business and operations;

the market for our platforms and services may develop more slowly than we expect;

issues in the use of artificial intelligence in our platforms may result in reputational harm or liability;

we depend on computing infrastructure of third parties and they may experience errors, disruption, performance problems, or failure;
we may fail to adequately obtain, maintain, protect and enforce our intellectual property and other proprietary rights;

we may be subject to intellectual property rights claims;

there may be real or perceived errors, failures, defects or bugs in our platforms;

we rely on the availability of third-party technology that may be difficult to replace or that may cause errors;

our business is subject to complex and evolving U.S. and non-U.S. laws and regulations regarding privacy, data protection and security,
technology protection, and other matters;

our non-U.S. sales and operations subject us to additional risks and regulations;
we may encounter unfavorable outcomes in legal, regulatory, and administrative inquiries and proceedings;
we may fail to receive and maintain government contracts or there may be changes in the contracting or fiscal policies of the public sector;

the majority of our customer contracts may be terminated by the customer at any time for convenience and may contain other provisions
permitting the customer to discontinue contract performance;

we may not realize the full value of our customer contracts;

there may be a decline in the U.S. and other government budgets, changes in spending or budgetary priorities, or delays in contracts
awards; and

the multi-class structure of our common stock, the Founder Voting Trust Agreement and the Founder Voting Agreement concentrate
voting power with certain stockholders, in particular, our Founders and their affiliates.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We have incurred losses each year since our inception, we expect our operating expenses to increase, and we may not become profitable in the future.

We have incurred losses each year since our inception as reflected in our consolidated statements of operations included elsewhere in this filing, and we
may never achieve or maintain profitability. In addition, our operating expenses have increased over time. As we continue to expand our business, industry
verticals, and the breadth of our operations, upgrade our infrastructure, hire additional employees, expand into new markets, invest in research and
development, invest in sales and marketing, including expanding our sales organization and related sales-based payments that may come with such
expansion, lease more real estate to accommodate our anticipated future growth, and incur costs associated with general administration, including expenses
related to being a public company, we expect that our costs of revenue and operating expenses will continue to increase. To the extent we are successful in
increasing our customer base, we may also incur increased losses because the costs associated with acquiring and growing our customers via our Acquire,
Expand, and Scale business model and with research and development are generally incurred upfront, while our revenue from customer contracts is
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generally recognized over the contract term. Furthermore, our sales model often requires us to spend months and invest significant resources working with
customers on pilot deployments at no or low cost to them, which may result in no or minimal future revenue. We may not be able to increase our revenue at
a rate sufficient to offset increases in our costs of revenue and operating expenses in the near term or at all, which would prevent us from achieving or
maintaining profitability in the future. Any failure by us to achieve, and then sustain or increase, profitability on a consistent basis could adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We may not be able to sustain our revenue growth rate in the future.

Although our revenue has increased in recent periods, there can be no assurances that revenue will continue to grow or do so at current rates, and you should
not rely on the revenue of any prior quarterly or annual period as an indication of our future performance. Our revenue growth rate may decline in future
periods. Many factors may contribute to declines in our revenue growth rate, including increased competition, slowing demand for our platforms from
existing and new customers, a failure by us to continue capitalizing on growth opportunities, terminations of existing contracts or failure to exercise existing
options by our customers, and the maturation of our business, among others. If our revenue growth rate declines, our business, financial condition, and
results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our sales efforts involve considerable time and expense and our sales cycle is often long and unpredictable.

Our results of operations may fluctuate, in part, because of the intensive nature of our sales efforts and the length and unpredictability of our sales cycle. As
part of our sales efforts, we invest considerable time and expense evaluating the specific organizational needs of our potential customers and educating these
potential customers about the technical capabilities and value of our platforms and services. We often also provide our platforms to potential customers at
no or low cost initially to them for evaluation purposes through short-term pilot deployments of our platforms in the Acquire phase of our business model,
and there is no guarantee that we will be able to move customers from the Acquire phase into later phases. In addition, we currently have a limited direct
sales force, and our sales efforts have historically depended on the significant involvement of our senior management team. The length of our sales cycle,
from initial demonstration of our platforms to sale of our platforms and services, tends to be long and varies substantially from customer to customer. Our
sales cycle often lasts six to nine months but can extend to a year or more for some customers. Because decisions to purchase our platforms involve
significant financial commitments, potential customers generally evaluate our platforms at multiple levels within their organization, each of which often
have specific requirements, and typically involve their senior management.

Our results of operations depend on sales to enterprise customers, which make product purchasing decisions based in part or entirely on factors, or
perceived factors, not directly related to the features of the platforms, including, among others, that customer’s projections of business growth, uncertainty
about economic conditions (including as a result of the ongoing COVID-19 outbreak), capital budgets, anticipated cost savings from the implementation of
our platforms, potential preference for such customer’s internally-developed software solutions, perceptions about our business and platforms, more
favorable terms offered by potential competitors, and previous technology investments. In addition, certain decision makers and other stakeholders within
our potential customers tend to have vested interests in the continued use of internally developed or existing software, which may make it more difficult for
us to sell our platforms and services. As a result of these and other factors, our sales efforts typically require an extensive effort throughout a customer’s
organization, a significant investment of human resources, expense and time, including by our senior management, and there can be no assurances that we
will be successful in making a sale to a potential customer. If our sales efforts to a potential customer do not result in sufficient revenue to justify our
investments, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
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Historically, existing customers have expanded their relationships with us, which has resulted in a limited number of customers accounting for a
substantial portion of our revenue. If existing customers do not make subsequent purchases from us or renew their contracts with us, or if our
relationships with our largest customers are impaired or terminated, our revenue could decline, and our results of operations would be adversely
impacted.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from existing customers that expand their relationships with us. Increasing the size and number of the
deployments of our existing customers is a major part of our growth strategy. We may not be effective in executing this or any other aspect of our growth
strategy.

Our top three customers together accounted for 25% and 28% of our revenue for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Our top three
customers by revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2020, have been with us for an average of 5.7 years as of December 31, 2020. Certain of our
customers, including customers that represent a significant portion of our business, have in the past reduced their spend with us or terminated their
agreements with us, which has reduced our anticipated future payments or revenue from these customers, and which has required us to refund some
previously paid amounts to these customers. It is not possible for us to predict the future level of demand from our larger customers for our platforms and
applications.

While we generally offer contract terms up to five years in length, our customers sometimes enter into shorter-term contracts, such as one-year
subscriptions, which may not provide for automatic renewal and may require the customer to opt-in to extend the term. Our customers have no obligation to
renew, upgrade, or expand their agreements with us after the terms of their existing agreements have expired. In addition, many of our customer contracts
permit the customer to terminate their contracts with us with notice periods of varying lengths, generally three to six months. If one or more of our
customers terminate their contracts with us, whether for convenience, for default in the event of a breach by us, or for other reasons specified in our
contracts, as applicable; if our customers elect not to renew their contracts with us; if our customers renew their contractual arrangements with us for shorter
contract lengths or for a reduced scope; or if our customers otherwise seek to renegotiate terms of their existing agreements on terms less favorable to us,
our business and results of operations could be adversely affected. This adverse impact would be even more pronounced for customers that represent a
material portion of our revenue or business operations.

Our ability to renew or expand our customer relationships may decrease or vary as a result of a number of factors, including our customers’ satisfaction or
dissatisfaction with our platforms and services, the frequency and severity of software and implementation errors, our platforms’ reliability, our pricing, the
effects of general economic conditions, competitive offerings or alternatives, or reductions in our customers’ spending levels. If our customers do not renew
or expand their agreements with us or if they renew their contracts for shorter lengths or on other terms less favorable to us, our revenue may grow more
slowly than expected or decline, and our business could suffer. Our business, financial condition, and results of operations would also be adversely affected
if we face difficulty collecting our accounts receivable from our customers or if we are required to refund customer deposits.

Achieving renewal or expansion of deployments may require us to increasingly engage in sophisticated and costly sales efforts that may not result in
additional sales. In addition, our customers’ decisions to expand the deployment of our platforms depends on a number of factors, including general
economic conditions, the functioning of our platforms, the ability of our forward-deployed engineers to assist our customers in identifying new use cases,
modernizing their data architectures, and achieving success with data-driven initiatives, and our customers’ satisfaction with our services. If our efforts to
expand within our existing customer base are not successful, our business may suffer.
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We may not realize the full deal value of our customer contracts, which may result in lower than expected revenue.

As of December 31, 2020, the total remaining deal value of the contracts that we had been awarded by, or entered into with, commercial and government
customers, including existing contractual obligations and contractual options available to those customers, was $2.8 billion. Of our total remaining deal
value, as of December 31, 2020, $1.5 billion was the remaining deal value of our contracts with commercial customers and $1.3 billion was the remaining
deal value of our contracts with government customers.

The majority of these contracts are subject to termination for convenience provisions. Additionally, the U.S. federal government is prohibited from
exercising contract options more than one year in advance. As a result, there can be no guarantee that our customer contracts will not be terminated or that
contract options will be exercised.

We historically have not realized all of the revenue from the full deal value of our customer contracts, and we may not do so in the future. This is because
the actual timing and amount of revenue under contracts included are subject to various contingencies, including exercise of contractual options, customers
not terminating their contracts, and renegotiations of contracts. In addition, delays in the completion of the U.S. government’s budgeting process, the use of
continuing resolutions, and a potential lapse in appropriations, or similar events in other jurisdictions, could adversely affect our ability to timely recognize
revenue under certain government contracts.

Our results of operations and our key business measures are likely to fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis in future periods and may not fully
reflect the underlying performance of our business, which makes our future results difficult to predict and could cause our results of operations to fall
below expectations.

Our quarterly results of operations, including cash flows, have fluctuated significantly in the past and are likely to continue to do so in the future.
Accordingly, the results of any one quarter should not be relied upon as an indication of future performance. Our quarterly results, financial position, and
operations are likely to fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control, and as a result, may not fully reflect the
underlying performance of our business. Fluctuation in quarterly results may negatively impact the value of our Class A common stock.

We typically close a large portion of our sales in the last several weeks of a quarter, which impacts our ability to plan and manage margins and cash flows.
Our sales cycle is often long, and it is difficult to predict exactly when, or if, we will actually make a sale with a potential customer or when we will be able
to move them to the Expand or Scale phases. As a result, large individual sales have, in some cases, occurred in quarters subsequent to those we anticipated,
or have not occurred at all. The loss or delay of one or more large sales transactions in a quarter would impact our results of operations and cash flow for
that quarter and any future quarters in which revenue from that transaction is lost or delayed. In addition, downturns in new sales may not be immediately
reflected in our revenue because we generally recognize revenue over the term of our contracts. The timing of customer billing and payment varies from
contract to contract. A delay in the timing of receipt of such collections, or a default on a large contract, may negatively impact our liquidity for the period
and in the future. Because a substantial portion of our expenses are relatively fixed in the short-term and require time to adjust, our results of operations and
liquidity would suffer if revenue falls below our expectations in a particular period.

Other factors that may cause fluctuations in our quarterly results of operations and financial position include, without limitation, those listed below:
. The success of our sales and marketing efforts, including the success of our pilot deployments;

. Our ability to increase our contribution margins and move our customers into the Expand or Scale phases;
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. The timing of expenses and revenue recognition;

. The timing and amount of payments received from our customers;

. Termination of one or more large contracts by customers, including for convenience;

. The time and cost-intensive nature of our sales efforts and the length and variability of sales cycles;

. The amount and timing of operating expenses related to the maintenance and expansion of our business and operations;
. The timing and effectiveness of new sales and marketing initiatives;

. Changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors;

. The timing and success of new products, features, and functionality introduced by us or our competitors;

. Interruptions or delays in our operations and maintenance (“O&M?”) services;

. Cyberattacks and other actual or perceived data or security breaches;

. Our ability to hire and retain employees, in particular, those responsible for operations and maintenance of and the selling or marketing of

our platforms, and develop and retain talented sales personnel who are able to achieve desired productivity levels in a reasonable period of
time and provide sales leadership in areas in which we are expanding our sales and marketing efforts;

. The amount and timing of our stock-based compensation expenses;

. Changes in the way we organize and compensate our sales teams;

. Changes in the way we operate and maintain our platforms;

. Unforeseen negative results in operations from our partnerships, including those accounted for under the equity method;

. Changes in the competitive dynamics of our industry;

. The cost of and potential outcomes of existing and future claims or litigation, which could have a material adverse effect on our business;
. Changes in laws and regulations that impact our business, such as the Federal Acquisition Streamlining Act of 1994 (“FASA”);
. Indemnification payments to our customers or other third parties;

. Ability to scale our business with increasing demands;

. The timing of expenses related to any future acquisitions; and

. General economic, regulatory, and market conditions, including the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

In addition, our contracts generally contain termination for convenience provisions, and we may be obligated to repay prepaid amounts or otherwise not
realize anticipated future revenue should we fail to provide future services as anticipated. These factors make it difficult for us to accurately predict
financial metrics for any particular period.

The variability and unpredictability of our quarterly results of operations, cash flows, or other operating metrics could result in our failure to meet our
expectations or those of analysts that cover us or investors with respect to revenue or other key metrics for a particular period. If we fail to meet or exceed
such expectations for these or any other reasons, the trading price of our Class A common stock could fall, and we could face costly lawsuits, including
securities class action suits.
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Seasonality may cause fluctuations in our results of operations and position.
Historically, the first quarter of our year generally has relatively lower sales, and sales generally increase in each subsequent quarter with substantial

increases during our third and fourth quarters ending September 30 and December 31, respectively. We believe that this seasonality results from a number
of factors, including:

. The fiscal year end procurement cycle of our government customers, and in particular U.S. government customers which have a fiscal year
end of September 30;

. The fiscal year budgeting process for our commercial customers, many of which have a fiscal year end of December 31;

. Seasonal reductions in business activity during the summer months in the United States, Europe, and certain other regions; and

. Timing of projects and our customers’ evaluation of our work progress.

This seasonality has historically impacted and may in the future continue to impact the timing of collections and recognized revenue. Because a significant
portion of our customer contracts are typically finalized near the end of the year, and we typically invoice customers shortly after entering into a contract,
we receive a significant portion of our customer payments near the end of the year and record an increase in contract liabilities, while the revenue from our
customer contracts is generally recognized over the contract term. While we have historically billed and collected payments for multiple contract years from
certain customers in advance, we have and may continue to shift to collecting payments on an annual or other basis.

While this has been the historical seasonal pattern of our quarterly sales, we believe that our customers’ required timing for certain new government or
commercial programs requiring new software may outweigh the nature or magnitude of seasonal factors that might have influenced our business to date. As
a result, we may experience future growth from additional government or commercial mandates that do not follow the seasonal purchasing and evaluation
decisions by our customers that we have historically observed.

For example, increased government spending on technology aimed at national defense, financial or policy regulation, cybersecurity, or healthcare mandates
may drive customer demand at different times throughout our year, the timing of which we may not be able to anticipate and may cause fluctuations in our
results of operations. The timing of our fiscal quarters and the U.S. federal government’s September 30 fiscal year end also may impact sales to
governmental agencies in the third quarter of our year, offsetting, at least in part, the otherwise seasonal downturn we have historically observed in later
summer months.

Our rapid growth in recent years may obscure the extent to which seasonality trends have affected our business and may continue to affect our business. We
expect that seasonality will continue to materially impact our business in the future and may become more pronounced over time. The seasonality of our
business may cause continued or increased fluctuations in our results of operations and cash flows, which may prevent us from achieving our quarterly or
annual forecasts or meeting or exceeding the expectations of research analysts or investors, which in turn may cause a decline in the trading price of our
Class A common stock.

Our platforms are complex and may have a lengthy implementation process, and any failure of our platforms to satisfy our customers or perform as
desired could harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our platforms and services are complex and are deployed in a wide variety of network environments. Implementing our platforms can be a complex and
lengthy process since we often configure our existing platforms for a customer’s unique environment. Inability to meet the unique needs of our customers
may result in customer dissatisfaction and/or damage to our reputation, which could materially harm our business. Further, the proper use of our platforms
may require training of the customer and the initial or ongoing services of our technical personnel as well as O&M services over the contract term. If
training and/or ongoing services require more of our expenditures than we originally estimated, our margins will be lower than projected.
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In addition, if our customers do not use our platforms correctly or as intended, inadequate performance or outcomes may result. It is possible that our
platforms may also be intentionally misused or abused by customers or their employees or third parties who obtain access and use of our platforms.
Similarly, our platforms sometimes used by customers with smaller or less sophisticated IT departments, potentially resulting in sub-optimal performance at
a level lower than anticipated by the customer. Because our customers rely on our platforms and services to address important business goals and
challenges, the incorrect or improper use or configuration of our platforms and O&M services, failure to properly train customers on how to efficiently and
effectively use our platforms, or failure to properly provide implementation or analytical or maintenance services to our customers may result in contract
terminations or non-renewals, reduced customer payments, negative publicity, or legal claims against us. For example, as we continue to expand our
customer base, any failure by us to properly provide these services may result in lost opportunities for follow-on expansion sales of our platforms and
services.

Furthermore, if customer personnel are not well trained in the use of our platforms, customers may defer the deployment of our platforms and services, may
deploy them in a more limited manner than originally anticipated, or may not deploy them at all. If there is substantial turnover of the company or customer
personnel responsible for procurement and use of our platforms, our platforms may go unused or be adopted less broadly, and our ability to make additional
sales may be substantially limited, which could negatively impact our business, results of operations, and growth prospects.

If we do not successfully develop and deploy new technologies to address the needs of our customers, our business and results of operations could

suffer.

Our success has been based on our ability to design software and products that enable the integration of data into a common operating environment to
facilitate advanced data analysis, knowledge management, and collaboration. We spend substantial amounts of time and money researching and developing
new technologies and enhanced versions of existing features to meet our customers’ and potential customers’ rapidly evolving needs. There is no assurance
that our enhancements to our platforms or our new product features, capabilities, or offerings, including new product modules, will be compelling to our
customers or gain market acceptance. If our research and development investments do not accurately anticipate customer demand or if we fail to develop
our platforms in a manner that satisfies customer preferences in a timely and cost-effective manner, we may fail to retain our existing customers or increase
demand for our platforms.

The introduction of new products and services by competitors or the development of entirely new technologies to replace existing offerings could make our
platforms obsolete or adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. We may experience difficulties with software
development, design, or marketing that delay or prevent our development, introduction, or implementation of new platforms, features, or capabilities. We
have in the past experienced delays in our internally planned release dates of new features and capabilities, and there can be no assurance that new
platforms, features, or capabilities will be released according to schedule. Any delays could result in adverse publicity, loss of revenue or market
acceptance, or claims by customers brought against us, any of which could harm our business. Moreover, the design and development of new platforms or
new features and capabilities to our existing platforms may require substantial investment, and we have no assurance that such investments will be
successful. If customers do not widely adopt our new platforms, experiences, features, and capabilities, we may not be able to realize a return on our
investment and our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Our new and existing platforms and changes to our existing platforms could fail to attain sufficient market acceptance for many reasons, including:

. Our failure to predict market demand accurately in terms of product functionality and to supply offerings that meet this demand in a timely
fashion;
. Product defects, errors, or failures or our inability to satisfy customer service level requirements;
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. Negative publicity or negative private statements about the security, performance, or effectiveness of our platforms or product
enhancements;

. Delays in releasing to the market our new offerings or enhancements to our existing offerings, including new product modules;

. Introduction or anticipated introduction of competing platforms or functionalities by our competitors;

. Inability of our platforms or product enhancements to scale and perform to meet customer demands;

. Receiving qualified or adverse opinions in connection with security or penetration testing, certifications or audits, such as those related to

IT controls and security standards and frameworks or compliance;

. Poor business conditions for our customers, causing them to delay software purchases;

. Reluctance of customers to purchase proprietary software products;

. Reluctance of our customers to purchase products hosted by our vendors and/or service interruption from such providers; and
. Reluctance of customers to purchase products incorporating open source software.

If we are not able to continue to identify challenges faced by our customers and develop, license, or acquire new features and capabilities to our platforms in
a timely and cost-effective manner, or if such enhancements do not achieve market acceptance, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and
prospects may suffer and our anticipated revenue growth may not be achieved.

Because we derive, and expect to continue to derive, substantially all of our revenue from customers purchasing our two platforms Gotham and Foundry,
market acceptance of these platforms, and any enhancements or changes thereto, is critical to our success.

The competitive position of our platforms depends in part on their ability to operate with third-party products and services, and if we are not successful
in maintaining and expanding the compatibility of our platforms with such third-party products and services, our business, financial condition, and
results of operations could be adversely impacted.

The competitive position of our platforms depends in part on their ability to operate with products and services of third parties, software services, and
infrastructure, including but not limited to, in connection with our joint ventures, channel sales relationships, platform partnerships, strategic alliances, and
other similar arrangements where applicable. As such, we must continuously modify and enhance our platforms to adapt to changes in, or to be integrated or
otherwise compatible with, hardware, software, networking, browser, and database technologies. In the future, one or more technology companies may
choose not to support the operation of their hardware, software, or infrastructure, or our platforms may not support the capabilities needed to operate with
such hardware, software, or infrastructure. In addition, to the extent that a third-party were to develop software or services that compete with ours, that
provider may choose not to support one or more of our platforms. We intend to facilitate the compatibility of our platforms with various third-party
hardware, software, and infrastructure by maintaining and expanding our business and technical relationships. If we are not successful in achieving this
goal, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely impacted.

If we fail to manage future growth effectively, our business could be harmed.

Since our founding in 2003, we have experienced rapid growth. We operate in a growing market and have experienced, and may continue to experience,
significant expansion of our operations. This growth has placed, and may continue to place, a strain on our employees, management systems, operational,
financial, and other

29



Table of Contents

resources. As we have grown, we have increasingly managed larger and more complex deployments of our platforms and services with a broader base of
government and commercial customers. As we continue to grow, we face challenges of integrating, developing, retaining, and motivating a rapidly growing
employee base in various countries around the world. For example, our headcount has grown from 313 full-time employees as of December 31, 2010 to
2,439 full-time employees as of December 31, 2020, with employees located both in the United States and outside the United States. In the event of
continued growth of our operations, our operational resources, including our information technology systems, our employee base, or our internal controls
and procedures may not be adequate to support our operations and deployments. Managing our growth may require significant expenditures and allocation
of valuable management resources, improving our operational, financial, and management processes and systems, and effectively expanding, training, and
managing our employee base. If we fail to achieve the necessary level of efficiency in our organization as it grows, our business, financial condition, and
results of operations would be harmed. As our organization continues to grow, we may find it increasingly difficult to maintain the benefits of our
traditional company culture, including our ability to quickly respond to customers, and avoid unnecessary delays that may be associated with a formal
corporate structure. This could negatively affect our business performance or ability to hire or retain personnel in the near- or long-term.

In addition, our rapid growth may make it difficult to evaluate our future prospects. Our ability to forecast our future results of operations is subject to a
number of uncertainties, including our ability to effectively plan for and model future growth. We have encountered in the past, and may encounter in the
future, risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing companies with global operations in rapidly changing industries. If we fail to achieve the
necessary level of efficiency in our organization as it grows, or if we are not able to accurately forecast future growth, our business, financial condition, and
results of operations would be harmed.

If we are unable to hire, retain, train, and motivate qualified personnel and senior management, including Alexander Karp, one of our founders and
our Chief Executive Officer, and deploy our personnel and resources to meet customer demand around the world, our business could suffer.

Our ability to compete in the highly competitive technology industry depends upon our ability to attract, motivate, and retain qualified personnel. We are
highly dependent on the continued contributions and customer relationships of our management and particularly on the services of Alexander Karp, our
Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Karp was part of our founding team and has been integral to our growth since our founding. We believe that Mr. Karp’s
management experience would be difficult to replace. All of our executive officers and key personnel are at-will employees and may terminate their
employment relationship with us at any time. The loss of the services of our key personnel and any of our other executive officers, and our inability to find
suitable replacements, could result in a decline in sales, delays in product development, and harm to our business and operations.

At times, we have experienced, and we may continue to experience, difficulty in hiring and retaining personnel with appropriate qualifications, and we may
not be able to fill positions in a timely manner or at all. Potential candidates may not perceive our compensation package, including our equity awards, as
favorably as personnel hired prior to our listing. In addition, our recruiting personnel, methodology, and approach may need to be altered to address a
changing candidate pool and profile. We may not be able to identify or implement such changes in a timely manner. In addition, we may incur significant
costs to attract and recruit skilled personnel, and we may lose new personnel to our competitors or other technology companies before we realize the benefit
of our investment in recruiting and training them. As we move into new geographies, we will need to attract and recruit skilled personnel in those
geographic areas, but it may be challenging for us to compete with traditional local employers in these regions for talent. If we fail to attract new personnel
or fail to retain and motivate our current personnel who are capable of meeting our growing technical, operational, and managerial requirements on a timely
basis or at all, our business may be harmed.
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In addition, certain personnel may be required to receive various security clearances and substantial training in order to work on certain customer
engagements or to perform certain tasks. Necessary security clearances may be delayed or unsuccessful, which may negatively impact our ability to perform
on our U.S. and non-U.S. government contracts in a timely manner or at all.

Our success depends on our ability to effectively source and staff people with the right mix of skills and experience to perform services for our customers,
including our ability to transition personnel to new assignments on a timely basis. If we are unable to effectively utilize our personnel on a timely basis to
fulfill the needs of our customers, our business could suffer. Further, if we are not able to utilize the talent we need because of increased regulation of
immigration or work visas, including limitations placed on the number of visas granted, limitations on the type of work performed or location in which the
work can be performed, and new or higher minimum salary requirements, it could be more difficult to staff our personnel on customer engagements and
could increase our costs.

We face intense competition for qualified personnel, especially engineering personnel, in major U.S. markets, where a large portion of our personnel are
based, as well as in other non-U.S. markets where we expect to expand our non-U.S. operations. We incur costs related to attracting, relocating, and

retaining qualified personnel in these highly competitive markets, including leasing real estate in prime areas in these locations. Further, many of the
companies with which we compete for qualified personnel have greater resources than we have. If the perceived value of our equity awards declines, or if
the mix of equity and cash compensation that we offer is less attractive than that of our competitors, it may adversely affect our ability to recruit and retain
highly skilled personnel. Additionally, laws and regulations, such as restrictive immigration laws, may limit our ability to recruit outside of the United
States. We seek to retain and motivate existing personnel through our compensation practices, company culture, and career development opportunities. If
we fail to attract new personnel or to retain our current personnel, our business and operations could be harmed.

Volatility or lack of appreciation in the trading price of our Class A common stock may also affect our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel. Many
of our senior personnel and other key personnel hold equity awards that vested or became exercisable in connection with our listing, which could adversely
affect our ability to retain these personnel. Personnel may be more likely to leave us if the shares they own or the shares underlying their vested options or
RSUs have significantly appreciated in value relative to the original purchase price of the shares or the exercise price of the options, or conversely, if the
exercise price of the options that they hold are significantly above the trading price of our Class A common stock. In addition, many of our personnel may
be able to receive significant proceeds from sales of our equity in the public markets, which may reduce their motivation to continue to work for us. Any of
these factors could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

If we are unable to successfully build, expand, and deploy our marketing and sales organization in a timely manner, or at all, or to successfully hire,
retain, train, and motivate our sales personnel, our growth and long-term success could be adversely impacted.

We have a limited direct sales force and our sales efforts have historically depended on the significant direct involvement of our senior management team,
including Mr. Karp. The successful execution of our strategy to increase our sales to existing customers, identify and engage new customers, and enter new
U.S. and non-U.S. markets will depend, among other things, on our ability to successfully build and expand our sales organization and operations.
Identifying, recruiting, training, and managing sales personnel requires significant time, expense, and attention, including from our senior management and
other key personnel, which could adversely impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations in the short and long term.

In order to successfully scale our unique sales model, we must, and we intend to continue to, increase the size of our direct sales force, both in the United
States and outside of the United States, to generate additional revenue from new and existing customers while preserving the cultural and mission-oriented
elements of our company. If
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we do not hire a sufficient number of qualified sales personnel, our future revenue growth and business could be adversely impacted. It may take a
significant period of time before our sales personnel are fully trained and productive, particularly in light of our unique sales model, and there is no
guarantee we will be successful in adequately training and effectively deploying our sales personnel. In addition, we may need to invest significant
resources in our sales operations to enable our sales organization to run effectively and efficiently, including supporting sales strategy planning, sales
process optimization, data analytics and reporting, and administering incentive compensation arrangements. Furthermore, hiring personnel in new countries
requires additional setup and upfront costs that we may not recover if those personnel fail to achieve full productivity in a timely manner. Our business
would be adversely affected if our efforts to build, expand, train, and manage our sales organization are not successful. We periodically change and make
adjustments to our sales organization in response to market opportunities, competitive threats, management changes, product introductions or
enhancements, acquisitions, sales performance, increases in sales headcount, cost levels, and other internal and external considerations. Any future sales
organization changes may result in a temporary reduction of productivity, which could negatively affect our rate of growth. In addition, any significant
change to the way we structure and implement the compensation of our sales organization may be disruptive or may not be effective and may affect our
revenue growth. If we are unable to attract, hire, develop, retain, and motivate qualified sales personnel, if our new sales personnel are unable to achieve
sufficient sales productivity levels in a reasonable period of time or at all, if our marketing programs are not effective or if we are unable to effectively
build, expand, and manage our sales organization and operations, our sales and revenue may grow more slowly than expected or materially decline, and our
business may be significantly harmed.

Our ability to sell our platforms and satisfy our customers is dependent on the quality of our services, and our failure to offer high quality services could
have a material adverse effect on our sales and results of operations.

Once our platforms are deployed and integrated with our customers’ existing information technology investments and data, our customers depend on our
O&M services to resolve any issues relating to our platforms. Increasingly, our platforms have been deployed in large-scale, complex technology
environments, and we believe our future success will depend on our ability to increase sales of our platforms for use in such deployments. Further, our
ability to provide effective ongoing services, or to provide such services in a timely, efficient, or scalable manner, may depend in part on our customers’
environments and their upgrading to the latest versions of our platforms and participating in our centralized platform management and services.

In addition, our ability to provide effective services is largely dependent on our ability to attract, train, and retain qualified personnel with experience in
supporting customers on platforms such as ours. The number of our customers has grown significantly, and that growth has and may continue to put
additional pressure on our services teams. We may be unable to respond quickly enough to accommodate short-term increases in customer demand for our
O&M services. We also may be unable to modify the future scope and delivery of our O&M services to compete with changes in the services provided by
our competitors. Increased customer demand for support, without corresponding revenue, could increase costs and negatively affect our business and results
of operations. In addition, as we continue to grow our operations and expand outside of the United States, we need to be able to provide efficient services
that meet our customers’ needs globally at scale, and our services teams may face additional challenges, including those associated with operating the
platforms and delivering support, training, and documentation in languages other than English and providing services across expanded time-zones. If we are
unable to provide efficient O&M services globally at scale, our ability to grow our operations may be harmed, and we may need to hire additional services
personnel, which could negatively impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our customers typically need training in the proper use of and the variety of benefits that can be derived from our platforms to maximize the potential of our
platforms. If we do not effectively deploy, update, or upgrade our platforms, succeed in helping our customers quickly resolve post-deployment issues, and
provide effective ongoing services, our ability to sell additional products and services to existing customers could be adversely
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affected, we may face negative publicity, and our reputation with potential customers could be damaged. Many enterprise and government customers
require higher levels of services than smaller customers. If we fail to meet the requirements of the larger customers, it may be more difficult to execute on
our strategy to increase our penetration with larger customers. As a result, our failure to maintain high quality services may have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects.

If we are not able to maintain and enhance our brand and reputation, our relationships with our customers, partners, and employees may be harmed,
and our business and results of operations may be adversely affected.

We believe that maintaining and enhancing our brand identity and reputation is important to our relationships with, and to our ability to attract and retain
customers, partners, investors, and employees. The successful promotion of our brand depends upon our ability to continue to offer high-quality software,
maintain strong relationships with our customers, the community, and others, while successfully differentiating our platforms from those of our competitors.
Unfavorable media coverage may adversely affect our brand and reputation. We anticipate that as our market becomes increasingly competitive,
maintaining and enhancing our brand may become increasingly difficult and expensive. If we do not successfully maintain and enhance our brand identity
and reputation, we may fail to attract and retain employees, customers, investors, or partners, grow our business, or sustain pricing power, all of which could
adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects. Additionally, despite our internal safeguards and efforts to
the contrary, we cannot guarantee that our customers will not ultimately use our platforms for purposes inconsistent with our company values, and such uses
may harm our brand and reputation.

Our reputation and business may be harmed by news or social media coverage of Palantir, including but not limited to coverage that presents, or relies
on, inaccurate, misleading, incomplete, or otherwise damaging information.

Publicly available information regarding Palantir has historically been limited, in part due to the sensitivity of our work with customers or contractual
requirements limiting or preventing public disclosure of certain aspects of our work or relationships with certain customers. As our business has grown and
as interest in Palantir and the technology industry overall has increased, we have attracted, and may continue to attract, significant attention from news and
social media outlets, including unfavorable coverage and coverage that is not directly attributable to statements authorized by our leadership, that
incorrectly reports on statements made by our leadership or employees and the nature of our work, perpetuates unfounded speculation about company
involvements, or that is otherwise misleading. If such news or social media coverage presents, or relies on, inaccurate, misleading, incomplete, or otherwise
damaging information regarding Palantir, such coverage could damage our reputation in the industry and with current and potential customers, employees,
and investors, and our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects could be adversely affected. Due to the sensitive nature of
our work and our confidentiality obligations and despite our ongoing efforts to provide increased transparency into our business, operations, and product
capabilities, we may be unable to or limited in our ability to respond to such harmful coverage, which could have a negative impact on our business.

Our relationships with government customers and customers that are engaged in certain sensitive industries, including organizations whose products or
activities are or are perceived to be harmful, has resulted in public criticism, including from political and social activists, and unfavorable coverage in the
media. Activists have also engaged in public protests at our properties. Activist criticism of our relationships with customers could potentially engender
dissatisfaction among potential and existing customers, investors, and employees with how we address political and social concerns in our business
activities. Conversely, being perceived as yielding to activism targeted at certain customers could damage our relationships with certain customers,
including governments and government agencies with which we do business, whose views may or may not be aligned with those of political and social
activists. Actions we take in response to the activities of our customers, up to and
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including terminating our contracts or refusing a particular product use case could harm our brand and reputation. In either case, the resulting harm to our
reputation could:

. cause certain customers to cease doing business with us;

. impair our ability to attract new customers, or to expand our relationships with existing customers;

. diminish our ability to hire or retain employees;

. undermine our standing in professional communities to which we contribute and from which we receive expert knowledge; or
. prompt us to cease doing business with certain customers.

Any of these factors could adversely impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Because we recognize a substantial portion of our revenue from our platforms and O&M services over the contractual term, downturns or upturns in
new sales and renewals may not be immediately reflected in our results of operations.

We generally recognize revenue from our platforms and O&M services over the contractual term. As a result, a portion of the revenue we recognize in each
quarter is derived from customer contracts generally entered into during previous periods. Consequently, a decline in new or renewed contracts in any single
quarter may have an immaterial impact on the revenue that we recognize for that quarter. However, such a decline would negatively affect our revenue in
future quarters. Accordingly, the effect of significant downturns in sales or renewals, significant customer terminations, and potential changes in our
contracting terms and pricing policies would not be fully reflected in our results of operations until future periods. The timing of our revenue recognition
model also makes it difficult for us to rapidly increase our revenue through additional sales in any given period, as revenue is generally recognized over the
applicable contractual term.

Our pricing structures for our platforms and services may change from time to time.

We expect that we may change our pricing model from time to time, including as a result of competition, global economic conditions, general reductions in
our customers’ spending levels, pricing studies, or changes in how our platforms are broadly consumed. Similarly, as we introduce new products and
services, or as a result of the evolution of our existing platforms and services, we may have difficulty determining the appropriate price structure for our
products and services. In addition, as new and existing competitors introduce new products or services that compete with ours, or revise their pricing
structures, we may be unable to attract new customers at the same price or based on the same pricing model as we have used historically. Moreover, as we
continue to target selling our platforms and services to larger organizations, these larger organizations may demand substantial price concessions. In
addition, we may need to change pricing policies to accommodate government pricing guidelines for our contracts with federal, state, local, and foreign
governments and government agencies. If we are unable to modify or develop pricing models and strategies that are attractive to existing and prospective
customers, while enabling us to significantly grow our sales and revenue relative to our associated costs and expenses in a reasonable period of time, our
business, financial condition, and results of operations may be adversely impacted.

If our customers are not able or willing to accept our product-based business model, instead of a labor-based business model, our business and results
of operations could be negatively impacted.

Our platforms are generally offered on a productized basis to minimize our customers’ overall cost of acquisition, maintenance, and deployment time of our
platforms. Many of our customers and potential customers are instead generally familiar with the practice of purchasing or licensing software through labor
contracts, where custom software is written for specific applications, the intellectual property in such software is often owned by
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the customer, and the software typically requires additional labor contracts for modifications, updates, and services during the life of that specific software.
Customers may be unable or unwilling to accept our model of commercial software procurement. Should our customers be unable or unwilling to accept
this model of commercial software procurement, our growth could be materially diminished, which could adversely impact our business, financial
condition, results of operations, and growth prospects.

We have entered into, and expect in the future to enter into, agreements with our customers that include exclusivity arrangements or unique contractual
or pricing terms, which may result in significant risks or liabilities to us.

Our contracts with our customers are typically non-exclusive, but we have historically entered into arrangements with our customers and our partners that
include exclusivity provisions, and we expect to continue to do so in the future. These exclusivity provisions limit our ability to license our platforms and
provide services to specific customers, or to compete in certain geographic markets and industries, which may limit our growth and negatively impact our
results. In addition, we have entered into joint ventures and strategic alliances with our customers, as described below, which also limit our ability to
compete in certain geographic markets or industry verticals.

Historically, we have in limited circumstances entered into unique contractual and pricing arrangements with our customers, including some that may be
outside of our typical scope of business, including arrangements relating to non-cash items.

We face intense competition in our markets, and we may lack sufficient financial or other resources to maintain or improve our competitive position.

The markets for our platforms are very competitive, and we expect such competition to continue or increase in the future. A significant number of
companies are developing products that currently, or in the future may, compete with some or all aspects of our proprietary platforms. We may not be
successful in convincing the management teams of our potential customers to deploy our platforms in lieu of existing software solutions or in-house
software development projects often favored by internal IT departments or other competitive products and services. In addition, our competitors include
large enterprise software companies, government contractors, and system integrators, and we may face competition from emerging companies as well as
established companies who have not previously entered this market. Additionally, we may be required to make substantial additional investments in our
research, development, services, marketing, and sales functions in order to respond to competition, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to
compete successfully in the future.

Many of our existing competitors have, and some of our potential competitors could have, substantial competitive advantages such as:
. Greater name recognition, longer operating histories, and larger customer bases;

. Larger sales and marketing budgets and resources and the capacity to leverage their sales efforts and marketing expenditures across a
broader portfolio of products;

. Broader, deeper, or otherwise more established relationships with technology, channel and distribution partners, and customers;

. Wider geographic presence or greater access to larger potential customer bases;

. Greater focus in specific geographies;

. Lower labor and research and development costs;

. Larger and more mature intellectual property portfolios; and

. Substantially greater financial, technical, and other resources to provide services, to make acquisitions, and to develop and introduce new

products and capabilities.

35



Table of Contents

In addition, some of our larger competitors have substantially broader and more diverse product and service offerings and may be able to leverage their
relationships with distribution partners and customers based on other products or incorporate functionality into existing products to gain business in a
manner that discourages customers from purchasing our platforms, including by selling at zero or negative margins, product bundling, or offering closed
technology platforms. Potential customers may also prefer to purchase from their existing provider rather than a new provider regardless of platform
performance or features. As a result, even if the features of our platforms offer advantages that others do not, customers may not purchase our platforms.
These larger competitors often have broader product lines and market focus or greater resources and may therefore not be as susceptible to economic
downturns or other significant reductions in capital spending by customers. If we are unable to sufficiently differentiate our platforms from the integrated or
bundled products of our competitors, such as by offering enhanced functionality, performance, or value, we may see a decrease in demand for those
platforms, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

In addition, new, innovative start-up companies and larger companies that are making significant investments in research and development may introduce
products that have greater performance or functionality, are easier to implement or use, incorporate technological advances that we have not yet developed,
or implemented or may invent similar or superior platforms and technologies that compete with our platforms. Our current and potential competitors may
also establish cooperative relationships among themselves or with third parties that may further enhance their resources.

Some of our competitors have made or could make acquisitions of businesses that allow them to offer more competitive and comprehensive solutions. As a
result of such acquisitions, our current or potential competitors may be able to accelerate the adoption of new technologies that better address customer
needs, devote greater resources to bring these products and services to market, initiate or withstand substantial price competition, or develop and expand
their product and service offerings more quickly than we do. These competitive pressures in our market, or our failure to compete effectively, may result in
fewer orders, reduced revenue and margins, and loss of market share. In addition, it is possible that industry consolidation may impact customers’
perceptions of the viability of smaller or even mid-size software firms and consequently customers’ willingness to purchase from such firms.

We may not compete successfully against our current or potential competitors. If we are unable to compete successfully, or if competing successfully
requires us to take costly actions in response to the actions of our competitors, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely
affected. In addition, companies competing with us may have an entirely different pricing or distribution model. Increased competition could result in fewer
customer orders, price reductions, reduced margins, and loss of market share, any of which could harm our business and results of operations.

Our culture emphasizes rapid innovation and advancement of successful hires who may in some cases have limited prior industry expertise and
prioritizes customer outcomes over short-term financial results, and if we cannot maintain or properly manage our culture as we grow, our business
may be harmed.

We have a culture that encourages employees to quickly develop and launch key technologies and platforms intended to solve our customers’ most
important problems and prioritizes the advancement of employees to positions of significant responsibility based on merit despite, in some cases, limited
prior work or industry experience. Much of our hiring into technical roles comes through our internship program or from candidates joining us directly from
undergraduate or graduate engineering programs rather than industry hires. Successful entry-level hires are often quickly advanced and rewarded with
significant responsibilities, including in important customer-facing roles as project managers, development leads, and product managers. Larger
competitors, such as defense contractors, system integrators, and large software and service companies that traditionally target large enterprises typically
have more sizeable direct sales forces staffed by individuals with significantly more industry experience than our customer-facing personnel, which may
negatively impact our ability to compete with these larger competitors. We have historically operated with a relatively flat reporting and organization
structure and
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have few formal promotions. As our business grows and becomes more complex, the staffing of customer-facing personnel, some of whom may have
limited industry experience, may result in unintended outcomes or in decisions that are poorly received by customers or other stakeholders. For example, in
many cases we launch, at our expense, pilot deployments with customers without a long-term contract in place, and some of those deployments have not
resulted in the customer’s adoption or expansion of its use of our platforms and services, or the generation of significant, or any, revenue or payments. In
addition, as we continue to grow, including geographically, we may find it difficult to maintain our culture.

Our culture also prioritizes customer outcomes over short-term financial results, and we frequently make service and product decisions that may reduce our
short-term revenue or cash flow if we believe that the decisions are consistent with our mission and responsive to our customers’ goals and thereby have the
potential to improve our financial performance over the long term. These decisions may not produce the long-term benefits and results that we expect or
may be poorly received in the short term by the public markets, in which case our customer growth and our business, financial condition, and results of
operations may be harmed.

We may not enter into relationships with potential customers if we consider their activities to be inconsistent with our organizational mission or values.

We generally do not enter into business with customers or governments whose positions or actions we consider inconsistent with our mission to support
Western liberal democracy and its strategic allies. Our decisions to not enter into these relationships may not produce the long-term financial benefits and
results that we expect, in which case our growth prospects, business, and results of operations could be harmed. Although we endeavor to do business with
customers and governments that are aligned with our mission and values, we cannot predict how the activities and values of our government and private
sector customers will evolve over time, and they may evolve in a manner inconsistent with our mission.

We do not work with the Chinese communist party and have chosen not to host our platforms in China, which may limit our growth prospects.

Our leadership believes that working with the Chinese communist party is inconsistent with our culture and mission. We do not consider any sales
opportunities with the Chinese communist party, do not host our platforms in China, and impose limitations on access to our platforms in China in order to
protect our intellectual property, to promote respect for and defend privacy and civil liberties protections, and to promote data security. Our decision to
avoid this large potential market may limit our growth prospects and could adversely impact our business, results of operations, and financial condition, and
we may not compete successfully against our current or potential competitors who choose to work in China.

Joint ventures, channel sales relationships, platform partnerships, and strategic alliances may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and prospects.

We expect to continue to enter into joint ventures, channel sales relationships (including original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”) and reseller
relationships), platform partnerships, and strategic alliances as part of our long-term business strategy. Joint ventures, channel sales relationships, platform
partnerships, strategic alliances, and other similar arrangements involve significant investments of both time and resources, and there can be no assurances
that they will be successful. They may present significant challenges and risks, including that they may not advance our business strategy, we may get an
unsatisfactory return on our investment or lose some or all of our investment, they may distract management and divert resources from our core business,
including our business development and product development efforts, they may expose us to unexpected liabilities, they may conflict with our increased
sales hiring and direct sales strategy, or we may choose a partner that does not cooperate as we expect them to and that fails to meet its obligations or that
has economic, business, or legal interests or goals that are inconsistent with ours. For example, in January 2021, we entered into a channel sales relationship
with International Business Machines Corporation (“IBM”), pursuant to which we expect IBM to
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supply a new product leveraging certain components of Foundry integrated with IBM’s Cloud Pak for Data. In addition, in November 2019, we created a
jointly controlled entity in Japan with SOMPO. We believe this arrangement offers our business strategic operational advantages within the Japanese
market, but it also limits our ability to independently sell our platforms, provide certain services, engage certain customers, or compete in Japanese markets
or industry verticals, which limits our opportunities for growth in Japan and, depending on the success of the entity, may negatively impact our results.
Additionally, in 2016, we entered into a partnership with Airbus S.A.S. (“Airbus”) that, over time, developed into the Skywise platform partnership, which
provides our business strategic advantages but also limits our ability to independently provide our platforms to certain airlines and companies that compete
with Airbus.

Entry into certain joint ventures, channel sales relationships, platform partnerships, or strategic alliances now or in the future may be subject to government
regulation, including review by U.S. or foreign government entities related to foreign direct investment. If a joint venture or similar arrangement were
subject to regulatory review, such regulatory review might limit our ability to enter into the desired strategic alliance and thus our ability to carry out our
long-term business strategy.

As our joint ventures, channel sales relationships, platform partnerships, and strategic alliances come to an end or terminate, we may be unable to renew or
replace them on comparable terms, or at all. When we enter into joint ventures, channel sales relationships, platform partnerships, and strategic alliances,
our partners may be required to undertake some portion of sales, marketing, implementation services, engineering services, or software configuration that
we would otherwise provide. In such cases, our partner may be less successful than we would have otherwise been absent the arrangement and our ability to
influence, or have visibility into, the sales, marketing, and related efforts of our partners may be limited. In the event we enter into an arrangement with a
particular partner, we may be less likely (or unable) to work with one or more direct competitors of our partner with which we would have worked absent
the arrangement. We may have interests that are different from our joint venture partners and/or which may affect our ability to successfully collaborate
with a given partner. Similarly, one or more of our partners in a joint venture, channel sales relationship, platform partnership, or strategic alliance may
independently suffer a bankruptcy or other economic hardship that negatively affects its ability to continue as a going concern or successfully perform on its
obligation under the arrangement. In addition, customer satisfaction with our products provided in connection with these arrangements may be less
favorable than anticipated, negatively impacting anticipated revenue growth and results of operations of arrangements in question. Further, some of our
strategic partners offer competing products and services or work with our competitors. As a result of these and other factors, many of the companies with
which we have or are seeking joint ventures, channel sales relationships, platform partnerships, or strategic alliances may choose to pursue alternative
technologies and develop alternative products and services in addition to or in lieu of our platforms, either on their own or in collaboration with others,
including our competitors. If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our relationships with these partners, our ability to compete in a given
marketplace or to grow our revenue would be impaired, and our results of operations may suffer. Even if we are successful in establishing and maintaining
these relationships with our partners, we cannot assure you that these relationships will result in increased customer usage of our platforms or increased
revenue. Additionally, if our partners’ brand, reputation, or products are negatively impacted in any way, that could impact our expected outcomes in those
markets.

Further, winding down joint ventures, channel sales relationships, platform partnerships, or other strategic alliances can result in additional costs, litigation,
and negative publicity. Any of these events could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects.
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If' we are not successful in executing our strategy to increase our sales to larger customers, our results of operations may suffer.

An important part of our growth strategy is to increase sales of our platforms to large enterprises and government entities. Sales to large enterprises and
government entities involve risks that may not be present (or that are present to a lesser extent) with sales to small-to-mid-sized entities. These risks include:

. Increased leverage held by large customers in negotiating contractual arrangements with us;
. Changes in key decision makers within these organizations that may negatively impact our ability to negotiate in the future;
. Customer IT departments may perceive that our platforms and services pose a threat to their internal control and advocate for legacy or

internally developed solutions over our platforms;
. Resources may be spent on a potential customer that ultimately elects not to purchase our platforms and services;

. More stringent requirements in our service contracts, including stricter service response times, and increased penalties for any failure to
meet service requirements;

. Increased competition from larger competitors, such as defense contractors, system integrators, or large software and service companies
that traditionally target large enterprises and government entities and that may already have purchase commitments from those customers;
and

. Less predictability in completing some of our sales than we do with smaller customers.

Large enterprises and government entities often undertake a significant evaluation process that results in a lengthy sales cycle, in some cases over twelve
months, requiring approvals of multiple management personnel and more technical personnel than would be typical of a smaller organization. Due to the
length, size, scope, and stringent requirements of these evaluations, we typically provide short-term pilot deployments of our platforms at no or low cost in
the Acquire phase. We sometimes spend substantial time, effort, and money in our sales efforts without producing any sales. The success of the investments
that we make in the Acquire phase depends on factors such as our ability to identify potential customers for which our platforms have an opportunity to add
significant value to the customer’s organization, our ability to identify and agree with the potential customer on an appropriate pilot deployment to
demonstrate the value of our platforms, and whether we successfully execute on such pilot deployment. Even if the pilot deployment is successful, we or the
customer could choose not to enter into a larger contract for a variety of reasons. For example, product purchases by large enterprises and government
entities are frequently subject to budget constraints, leadership changes, multiple approvals, and unplanned administrative, processing, and other delays, any
of which could significantly delay or entirely prevent our realization of sales. Finally, large enterprises and government entities typically (i) have longer
implementation cycles, (ii) require greater product functionality and scalability and a broader range of services, including design services, (iii) demand that
vendors take on a larger share of risks, (iv) sometimes require acceptance provisions that can lead to a delay in revenue recognition, (v) typically have more
complex IT and data environments, and (vi) expect greater payment flexibility from vendors. Customers, and sometimes we, may also engage third parties
to be the users of our platforms, which may result in contractual complexities and risks, require additional investment of time and human resources to train
the third parties and allow third parties (who may be building competitive projects or engaging in other competitive activities) to influence our customers’
perception of our platforms. All these factors can add further risk to business conducted with these customers. If sales expected from a large customer for a
particular quarter are not realized in that quarter or at all, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects could be materially
and adversely affected.

The ongoing global COVID-19 outbreak has significantly affected our business and operations.

The outbreak of the novel coronavirus and the COVID-19 disease that it causes has evolved into a global pandemic. In light of the uncertain and rapidly
evolving situation relating to the spread of COVID-19, we have
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taken precautionary measures intended to minimize the risk of the virus to our employees, our customers, and the communities in which we operate,
including temporarily closing our offices worldwide and virtualizing, postponing, or canceling customer, employee, or industry events, which may
negatively impact our business. While the COVID-19 pandemic has provided certain new opportunities for our business to expand, it has also created many
negative headwinds that present risks to our business and results of operations. For example, the COVID-19 pandemic has generally disrupted the
operations of our customers and prospective customers, and may continue to disrupt their operations, including as a result of travel restrictions and/or
business shutdowns, uncertainty in the financial markets or other harm to their business and financial results, which could result in a reduction to
information technology budgets, delayed purchasing decisions, longer sales cycles, extended payment terms, the timing of payments, and postponed or
canceled projects, all of which would negatively impact our business and operating results, including sales and cash flows. We do not yet know the net
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business and cannot guarantee that it will not be materially negative. Although we continue to monitor the
situation and may adjust our current policies as more information and public health guidance become available, the ongoing effects of the COVID-19
pandemic and/or the precautionary measures that we have adopted may create operational and other challenges, any of which could harm our business and
results of operations.

Historically, a significant portion of our field sales, operations and maintenance, and professional services have been conducted in person. Currently, as a
result of the work and travel restrictions related to the COVID-19 pandemic, and the precautionary measures that we have adopted, substantially all of our
field sales and professional services activities are being conducted remotely, which has resulted in a decrease in our travel and office expenditures.
However, we expect our travel expenditures to increase in the future, which could negatively impact our financial condition and results of operations. As of
the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we do not yet know the extent of the negative impact of such restrictions and precautionary measures on our
ability to attract new customers or retain and expand our relationships with existing customers.

In addition, COVID-19 may disrupt the operations of our customers and partners for an indefinite period of time, including as a result of travel restrictions
and/or business shutdowns, all of which could negatively impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Furthermore, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we are not requiring employees who are able to work remotely to come into the office through at least
June 2021. It is possible that widespread remote work arrangements may have a negative impact on our operations; the execution of our business plans; our
ability to recruit, train, manage, and retain employees; the productivity and availability of key personnel and other employees necessary to conduct our
business; and on third-party service providers who perform critical services for us, or otherwise cause operational failures due to changes in our normal
business practices necessitated by the outbreak and related governmental actions. If a natural disaster, power outage, connectivity issue, or other event
occurred that impacted our employees’ ability to work remotely, it may be difficult or, in certain cases, impossible, for us to continue our business for a
substantial period of time. The increase in remote working may also result in increased consumer privacy, data security, and fraud risks, and our
understanding of applicable legal and regulatory requirements, as well as the latest guidance from regulatory authorities in connection with the COVID-19
pandemic, may be subject to legal or regulatory challenge, particularly as regulatory guidance evolves in response to future developments.

More generally, the COVID-19 pandemic has and is expected to continue to adversely affect economies and financial markets globally, leading to a
continued economic downturn, which is expected to decrease technology spending generally and could adversely affect demand for our platforms and
services. It is not possible at this time to estimate the full impact that COVID-19 will have on our business, as the impact will depend on future
developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted.

Moreover, to the extent the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects our business, financial condition, and results of operations, it may also have the effect of
heightening many of the other risks described in this “Risk Factors”
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section, including but not limited to, those related to our ability to increase sales to existing and new customers, continue to perform on existing contracts,
develop and deploy new technologies, expand our marketing capabilities and sales organization, generate sufficient cash flow to service our indebtedness,
and comply with the covenants in the agreements that govern our indebtedness.

If the market for our platforms and services develops more slowly than we expect, our growth may slow or stall, and our business, financial condition,
and results of operations could be harmed.

The market for our platforms is rapidly evolving. Our future success will depend in large part on the growth and expansion of this market, which is difficult
to predict and relies on a number of factors, including customer adoption, customer demand, changing customer needs, the entry of competitive products,
the success of existing competitive products, potential customers’ willingness to adopt an alternative approach to data collection, storage, and processing
and their willingness to invest in new software after significant prior investments in legacy data collection, storage, and processing software. The estimates
and assumptions that are used to calculate our market opportunity are subject to change over time, and there is no guarantee that any particular number or
percentage of the organizations covered by our market opportunity estimates will pay for our platforms and services at all or generate any particular level of
revenue for us. Even if the market in which we compete meets the size estimates and growth forecasts, our business could fail to grow at the levels we
expect or at all for a variety of reasons outside our control, including competition in our industry. Further, if we or other data management and analytics
providers experience security incidents, loss of or unauthorized access to customer data, disruptions in delivery, or other problems, this market as a whole,
including our platforms, may be negatively affected. If software for the challenges that we address does not achieve widespread adoption, or there is a
reduction in demand caused by a lack of customer acceptance, technological challenges, weakening economic conditions (including due to the COVID-19
pandemic), security or privacy concerns, competing technologies and products, decreases in corporate spending, or otherwise, or, alternatively, if the market
develops but we are unable to continue to penetrate it due to the cost, performance, and perceived value associated with our platforms, or other factors, it
could result in decreased revenue and our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We will face risks associated with the growth of our business in new commercial markets and with new customer verticals, and we may neither be able
to continue our organic growth nor have the necessary resources to dedicate to the overall growth of our business.

We plan to expand our operations in new commercial markets, including those where we may have limited operating experience, and may be subject to
increased business, technology and economic risks that could affect our financial results. In recent periods, we have increased our focus on commercial
customers. In the future, we may increasingly focus on such customers, including in the banking, financial services, healthcare, pharmaceutical,
manufacturing, telecommunication, automotive, airlines and aerospace, consumer packaged goods, insurance, retail, transportation, shipping and logistics,
and energy industries. Entering new verticals and expanding in the verticals in which we are already operating will continue to require significant resources
and there is no guarantee that such efforts will be successful or beneficial to us. Historically, sales to new customers have often led to additional sales to the
same customers or similarly situated customers. As we expand into and within new and emerging markets and heavily regulated industry verticals, we will
likely face additional regulatory scrutiny, risks, and burdens from the governments and agencies which regulate those markets and industries. While this
approach to expansion within new commercial markets and verticals has proven successful in the past, it is uncertain we will achieve the same penetration
and organic growth in the future and our reputation, business, financial condition, and results of operations could be negatively impacted.

In the future, we may not be able to secure the financing necessary to operate and grow our business as planned, or to make acquisitions.

In the future, we may seek to raise or borrow additional funds to expand our product or business development efforts, make acquisitions or otherwise fund
or grow our business and operations As of December 31, 2020, we
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had $200.0 million of term loans outstanding and an additional $200.0 million of undrawn revolving commitments available under our secured credit
facility. The principal amounts outstanding under this loan will be due and payable in June 2023, and interest payments are due and payable quarterly or
more or less frequently in certain circumstances. Additional equity or debt financing may not be available on favorable terms, or at all.

Historically, we have funded our operations and capital expenditures primarily through equity issuances, debt, and cash received from our customers.
Although we currently anticipate that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to meet our cash needs for the next twelve months, we may
require additional financing, and we may not be able to obtain debt or equity financing on favorable terms, if at all. If we raise equity financing to fund
operations or on an opportunistic basis, our stockholders may experience significant dilution of their ownership interests. If adequate funds are not available
on acceptable terms, or at all, we may be unable to, among other things:

. Develop new products, features, capabilities, and enhancements;

. Continue to expand our product development, sales, and marketing organizations;

. Hire, train, and retain employees;

. Respond to competitive pressures or unanticipated working capital requirements; or
. Pursue acquisition or other growth opportunities.

Our inability to take any of these actions because adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms could have an adverse impact on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects.

Our ability to generate the amount of cash needed to pay interest and principal on our secured credit facility and our ability to refinance all or a portion
of our indebtedness or obtain additional financing depends on many factors beyond our control.

Our ability to make scheduled payments on, or to refinance our obligations under, our secured credit facility depends on our financial and operating
performance and prevailing economic and competitive conditions. Certain of these financial and business factors, many of which may be beyond our
control, are described above.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay capital expenditures, sell
assets, raise additional equity capital, or restructure our debt. However, there is no assurance that such alternative measures may be successful or permitted
under the agreements governing our indebtedness and, as a result, we may not be able to meet our scheduled debt service obligations. Even if successful,
actions taken to improve short-term liquidity in order to meet our debt service and other obligations could harm our long-term business prospects, financial
condition, and results of operations.

Our outstanding debt matures in June 2023. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to refinance our indebtedness or obtain additional financing on
satisfactory terms or at all, including due to existing guarantees on our assets or our level of indebtedness and the debt incurrence restrictions imposed by
the agreements governing our indebtedness. Further, the cost and availability of credit are subject to changes in the economic and business environment. If
conditions in major credit markets deteriorate, our ability to refinance our indebtedness or obtain additional financing on satisfactory terms, or at all, may be
negatively affected.

Our debt agreements contain restrictions that may limit our flexibility in operating our business.

Our credit agreement and related documents, including our pledge and security agreements, contain, and instruments governing any future indebtedness of
ours would likely contain, a number of covenants that will impose significant operating and financial restrictions on us, including restrictions on our ability
to, among other things:

. Create liens on certain assets;
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. Incur additional debt;

. Consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets;
. Sell certain assets;

. Pay dividends on or make distributions in respect of our capital stock;

. Place restrictions on certain activities of subsidiaries;

. Transact with our affiliates; and

. Use a portion of our cash resources.

Any of these restrictions could limit our ability to plan for or react to market conditions and could otherwise restrict corporate activities. Any failure to
comply with these covenants could result in a default under our secured credit facility or instruments governing any future indebtedness of ours.
Additionally, our credit facility is secured by substantially all of our assets. Upon a default, unless waived, the lenders under our secured credit facility
could elect to terminate their commitments, cease making further loans, foreclose on our assets pledged to such lenders to secure our obligations under our
credit agreement and force us into bankruptcy or liquidation. In addition, a default under our secured credit facility could trigger a cross default under
agreements governing any future indebtedness. Our results of operations may not be sufficient to service our indebtedness and to fund our other
expenditures, and we may not be able to obtain financing to meet these requirements. If we experience a default under our secured credit facility or
instruments governing our future indebtedness, our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be adversely impacted.

In addition, a portion of our cash is pledged as cash collateral for letters of credit and bank guarantees which support certain of our real estate leases,
customer contracts, and other obligations. While these obligations remain outstanding and are cash collateralized, we do not have access to and cannot use
the pledged cash for our operations or to repay our other indebtedness. As of December 31, 2020, we were in compliance with all covenants and restrictions
associated with our secured credit facility.

Variable rate indebtedness that we have incurred or may incur under our secured credit facility will subject us to interest rate risk, which could cause
our debt service obligations to increase significantly.

As of December 31, 2020, we had an aggregate of $200.0 million of term indebtedness outstanding under our secured credit facility. Borrowings under the
secured credit facility bear interest at variable rates, which exposes us to interest rate risk. Our loans under our secured credit facility bear interest at LIBOR
(or any successor rate) plus 2.75% or a base rate plus 1.75% and are payable quarterly or more or less frequently in certain circumstances.

We may acquire or invest in companies and technologies, which may divert our management’s attention, and result in additional dilution to our
stockholders. We may be unable to integrate acquired businesses and technologies successfully or achieve the expected benefits of such acquisitions or
investments.

As part of our business strategy, we have engaged in strategic transactions in the past and expect to evaluate and consider potential strategic transactions,
including acquisitions of, or investments in, businesses, technologies, services, products and other assets in the future. We also may enter into relationships
with other businesses to expand our products or our ability to provide services. An acquisition, investment or business relationship may result in unforeseen
risks, operating difficulties and expenditures, including the following:

. An acquisition may negatively affect our financial results because it may require us to incur charges or assume substantial debt or other
liabilities, may cause adverse tax consequences or unfavorable accounting treatment, may expose us to claims and disputes by third parties,
including intellectual property claims and disputes, or may not generate sufficient financial return to offset additional costs and expenses
related to the acquisition;
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Costs and potential difficulties associated with the requirement to test and assimilate the internal control processes of the acquired
business;

We may encounter difficulties or unforeseen expenditures assimilating or integrating the businesses, technologies, infrastructure, products,
personnel, or operations of the acquired companies, particularly if the key personnel of the acquired company choose not to work for us or
if we are unable to retain key personnel, if their technology is not easily adapted to work with ours, or if we have difficulty retaining the
customers of any acquired business due to changes in ownership, management, or otherwise;

We may not realize the expected benefits of the acquisition;
An acquisition may disrupt our ongoing business, divert resources, increase our expenses, and distract our management;

An acquisition may result in a delay or reduction of customer purchases for both us and the company acquired due to customer uncertainty
about continuity and effectiveness of service from either company;

The potential impact on relationships with existing customers, vendors, and distributors as business partners as a result of acquiring another
company or business that competes with or otherwise is incompatible with those existing relationships;

The potential that our due diligence of the acquired company or business does not identify significant problems or liabilities, or that we
underestimate the costs and effects of identified liabilities;

Exposure to litigation or other claims in connection with, or inheritance of claims or litigation risk as a result of, an acquisition, including
but not limited to claims from former employees, customers, or other third parties, which may differ from or be more significant than the
risks our business faces;

Potential goodwill impairment charges related to acquisitions;
We may encounter difficulties in, or may be unable to, successfully sell any acquired products;

An acquisition may involve the entry into geographic or business markets in which we have little or no prior experience or where
competitors have stronger market positions;

An acquisition may require us to comply with additional laws and regulations, or to engage in substantial remediation efforts to cause the
acquired company to comply with applicable laws or regulations, or result in liabilities resulting from the acquired company’s failure to
comply with applicable laws or regulations;

Our use of cash to pay for an acquisition would limit other potential uses for our cash;

If we incur debt to fund such acquisition, such debt may subject us to material restrictions on our ability to conduct our business as well as
financial maintenance covenants; and

To the extent that we issue a significant amount of equity securities in connection with future acquisitions, existing stockholders may be
diluted and earnings per share may decrease.

The occurrence of any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. Moreover, we
cannot assure you that we would not be exposed to unknown liabilities.
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Risks Related to Intellectual Property, Information Technology, Data Privacy and Security

If any of the systems of any third parties upon which we rely, our customers’ cloud or on-premises environments, or our internal systems, are breached
or if unauthorized access to customer or third-party data is otherwise obtained, public perception of our platforms and O&M services may be harmed,
and we may lose business and incur losses or liabilities.

Our success depends in part on our ability to provide effective data security protection in connection with our platforms and services, and we rely on
information technology networks and systems to securely store, transmit, index, and otherwise process electronic information. Because our platforms and
services are used by our customers to store, transmit, index, or otherwise process and analyze large data sets that often contain proprietary, confidential,
and/or sensitive information (including in some instances personal or identifying information and personal health information), our software is perceived as
an attractive target for attacks by computer hackers or others seeking unauthorized access, and our software faces threats of unintended exposure,
exfiltration, alteration, deletion, or loss of data. Additionally, because many of our customers use our platforms to store, transmit, and otherwise process
proprietary, confidential, or sensitive information, and complete mission critical tasks, they have a lower risk tolerance for security vulnerabilities in our
platforms and services than for vulnerabilities in other, less critical, software products and services.

We, and the third-party vendors upon which we rely, have experienced, and may in the future experience, cybersecurity threats, including threats or
attempts to disrupt our information technology infrastructure and unauthorized attempts to gain access to sensitive or confidential information. Our and our
third-party vendors’ technology systems may be damaged or compromised by malicious events, such as cyberattacks (including computer viruses, malicious
and destructive code, phishing attacks, and denial of service attacks), physical or electronic security breaches, natural disasters, fire, power loss,
telecommunications failures, personnel misconduct, and human error. Such attacks or security breaches may be perpetrated by internal bad actors, such as
employees or contractors, or by third parties (including traditional computer hackers, persons involved with organized crime, or foreign state or foreign
state-supported actors). Cybersecurity threats can employ a wide variety of methods and techniques, which may include the use of social engineering
techniques, are constantly evolving, and have become increasingly complex and sophisticated; all of which increase the difficulty of detecting and
successfully defending against them. Furthermore, because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or sabotage systems change frequently and
generally are not identified until after they are launched against a target, we and our third-party vendors may be unable to anticipate these techniques or
implement adequate preventative measures. Although prior cyberattacks directed at us have not had a material impact on our financial results, and we are
continuing to bolster our threat detection and mitigation processes and procedures, we cannot guarantee that future cyberattacks, if successful, will not have
a material impact on our business or financial results. While we have security measures in place to protect our information and our customers’ information
and to prevent data loss and other security breaches, we have not always been able to do so and there can be no assurance that in the future we will be able
to anticipate or prevent security breaches or unauthorized access of our information technology systems or the information technology systems of the third-
party vendors upon which we rely. Despite our implementation of network security measures and internal information security policies, data stored on
personnel computer systems is also vulnerable to similar security breaches, unauthorized tampering or human error.

Many governments have enacted laws requiring companies to provide notice of data security incidents involving certain types of data, including personal
data. In addition, most of our customers, including U.S. government customers, contractually require us to notify them of data security breaches. If an actual
or perceived breach of security measures, unauthorized access to our system or the systems of the third-party vendors that we rely upon, or any other
cybersecurity threat occurs, we may face direct or indirect liability, costs, or damages, contract termination, our reputation in the industry and with current
and potential customers may be compromised, our ability to attract new customers could be negatively affected, and our business, financial condition, and
results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
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Further, unauthorized access to our or our third-party vendors’ information technology systems or data or other security breaches could result in the loss of
information; significant remediation costs; litigation, disputes, regulatory action, or investigations that could result in damages, material fines, and penalties;
indemnity obligations; interruptions in the operation of our business, including our ability to provide new product features, new platforms, or services to our
customers; damage to our operation technology networks and information technology systems; and other liabilities. Moreover, our remediation efforts may
not be successful. Any or all of these issues, or the perception that any of them have occurred, could negatively affect our ability to attract new customers,
cause existing customers to terminate or not renew their agreements, hinder our ability to obtain and maintain required or desirable cybersecurity
certifications, and result in reputational damage, any of which could materially adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition, and future
prospects. There can be no assurance that any limitations of liability provisions in our license arrangements with customers or in our agreements with
vendors, partners, or others would be enforceable, applicable, or adequate or would otherwise protect us from any such liabilities or damages with respect to
any particular claim.

We maintain cybersecurity insurance and other types of insurance, subject to applicable deductibles and policy limits, but our insurance may not be
sufficient to cover all costs associated with a potential data security incident. We also cannot be sure that our existing general liability insurance coverage
and coverage for cyber liability or errors or omissions will continue to be available on acceptable terms or will be available in sufficient amounts to cover
one or more large claims or that the insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us
that exceed available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of large
deductible or co-insurance requirements, could harm our financial condition.

Issues in the use of artificial intelligence (“AI”) (including machine learning) in our platforms may result in reputational harm or liability.

Al is enabled by or integrated into some of our platforms and is a significant and potentially growing element of our business. As with many developing
technologies, Al presents risks and challenges that could affect its further development, adoption, and use, and therefore our business. Al algorithms may be
flawed. Datasets may be insufficient, of poor quality, or contain biased information. Inappropriate or controversial data practices by data scientists,
engineers, and end-users of our systems could impair the acceptance of Al solutions. If the recommendations, forecasts, or analyses that Al applications
assist in producing are deficient or inaccurate, we could be subjected to competitive harm, potential legal liability, and brand or reputational harm. Some Al
scenarios present ethical issues. Though our technologies and business practices are designed to mitigate many of these risks, if we enable or offer Al
solutions that are controversial because of their purported or real impact on human rights, privacy, employment, or other social issues, we may experience
brand or reputational harm.

We depend on computing infrastructure operated by Amazon Web Services (“AWS”), Microsoft, and other third parties to support some of our
customers and any errors, disruption, performance problems, or failure in their or our operational infrastructure could adversely affect our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.

We rely on the technology, infrastructure, and software applications, including software-as-a-service offerings, of certain third parties, such as AWS and
Microsoft Azure, in order to host or operate some or all of certain key platform features or functions of our business, including our cloud-based services
(including Palantir Cloud), customer relationship management activities, billing and order management, and financial accounting services. Additionally, we
rely on computer hardware purchased in order to deliver our platforms and services. We do not have control over the operations of the facilities of the third
parties that we use. If any of these third-party services experience errors, disruptions, security issues, or other performance deficiencies, if they are updated
such that our platforms become incompatible, if these services, software, or hardware fail or become unavailable due to extended outages, interruptions,
defects, or otherwise, or if they are no longer available on commercially reasonable terms or prices (or at all), these issues could result in errors or defects in
our platforms, cause our

46



Table of Contents

platforms to fail, our revenue and margins could decline, or our reputation and brand to be damaged, we could be exposed to legal or contractual liability,
our expenses could increase, our ability to manage our operations could be interrupted, and our processes for managing our sales and servicing our
customers could be impaired until equivalent services or technology, if available, are identified, procured, and implemented, all of which may take
significant time and resources, increase our costs, and could adversely affect our business. Many of these third-party providers attempt to impose limitations
on their liability for such errors, disruptions, defects, performance deficiencies, or failures, and if enforceable, we may have additional liability to our
customers or third-party providers.

We have experienced, and may in the future experience, disruptions, failures, data loss, outages, and other performance problems with our infrastructure and
cloud-based offerings due to a variety of factors, including infrastructure changes, introductions of new functionality, human or software errors, employee
misconduct, capacity constraints, denial of service attacks, phishing attacks, computer viruses, malicious or destructive code, or other security-related
incidents, and our disaster recovery planning may not be sufficient for all situations. If we experience disruptions, failures, data loss, outages, or other
performance problems, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our systems and the third-party systems upon which we and our customers rely are also vulnerable to damage or interruption from catastrophic occurrences
such as earthquakes, floods, fires, power loss, telecommunication failures, cybersecurity threats, terrorist attacks, natural disasters, public health crises such
as the COVID-19 pandemic, geopolitical and similar events, or acts of misconduct. Moreover, we have business operations in the San Francisco Bay Area,
which is a seismically active region. Despite any precautions we may take, the occurrence of a catastrophic disaster or other unanticipated problems at our
or our third-party vendors’ hosting facilities, or within our systems or the systems of third parties upon which we rely, could result in interruptions,
performance problems, or failure of our infrastructure, technology, or platforms, which may adversely impact our business. In addition, our ability to
conduct normal business operations could be severely affected. In the event of significant physical damage to one of these facilities, it may take a significant
period of time to achieve full resumption of our services, and our disaster recovery planning may not account for all eventualities. In addition, any negative
publicity arising from these disruptions could harm our reputation and brand and adversely affect our business.

Furthermore, our platforms are in many cases important or essential to our customers’ operations, including in some cases, their cybersecurity or oversight
and compliance programs, and subject to service level agreements (“SLAs”). Any interruption in our service, whether as a result of an internal or third-party
issue, could damage our brand and reputation, cause our customers to terminate or not renew their contracts with us or decrease use of our platforms and
services, require us to indemnify our customers against certain losses, result in our issuing credit or paying penalties or fines, subject us to other losses or
liabilities, cause our platforms to be perceived as unreliable or unsecure, and prevent us from gaining new or additional business from current or future
customers, any of which could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Moreover, to the extent that we do not effectively address capacity constraints, upgrade our systems as needed, and continually develop our technology and
network architecture to accommodate actual and anticipated changes in technology, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be
adversely affected. The provisioning of additional cloud hosting capacity requires lead time. AWS, Microsoft Azure, and other third parties have no
obligation to renew their agreements with us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If AWS, Microsoft Azure, or other third parties increase pricing
terms, terminate or seek to terminate our contractual relationship, establish more favorable relationships with our competitors, or change or interpret their
terms of service or policies in a manner that is unfavorable with respect to us, we may be required to transfer to other cloud providers or invest in a private
cloud. If we are required to transfer to other cloud providers or invest in a private cloud, we could incur significant costs and experience possible service
interruption in connection with doing so, or risk loss of customer contracts if they are unwilling to accept such a change.
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A failure to maintain our relationships with our third-party providers (or obtain adequate replacements), and to receive services from such providers that do
not contain any material errors or defects, could adversely affect our ability to deliver effective products and solutions to our customers and adversely affect
our business and results of operations.

Our policies regarding customer confidential information and support for individual privacy and civil liberties could cause us to experience adverse
business and reputational consequences.

We strive to protect our customers’ confidential information and individuals’ privacy consistent with applicable laws, directives, and regulations.
Consequently, we do not provide information about our customers to third parties without legal process. From time to time, government entities may seek
our assistance with obtaining information about our customers or could request that we modify our platforms in a manner to permit access or monitoring. In
light of our confidentiality and privacy commitments, we may legally challenge law enforcement or other government requests to provide information, to
obtain encryption keys, or to modify or weaken encryption. To the extent that we do not provide assistance to or comply with requests from government
entities, or if we challenge those requests publicly or in court, we may experience adverse political, business, and reputational consequences among certain
customers or portions of the public. Conversely, to the extent that we do provide such assistance, or do not challenge those requests publicly in court, we
may experience adverse political, business, and reputational consequences from other customers or portions of the public arising from concerns over
privacy or the government’s activities.

Failure to adequately obtain, maintain, protect and enforce our intellectual property and other proprietary rights could adversely affect our business.

Our success and ability to compete depends in part on our ability to protect proprietary methods and technologies that we develop under a combination of
patent and other intellectual property and proprietary rights in the United States and other jurisdictions outside the United States so that we can prevent
others from using our inventions and proprietary information and technology. Despite our efforts, third parties may attempt to disclose, obtain, copy, or use
our intellectual property or other proprietary information or technology without our authorization, and our efforts to protect our intellectual property and
other proprietary rights may not prevent such unauthorized disclosure or use, misappropriation, infringement, reverse engineering or other violation of our
intellectual property or other proprietary rights. Effective protection of our rights may not be available to us in every country in which our platforms or
services are available. The laws of some countries may not be as protective of intellectual property and other proprietary rights as those in the United States,
and mechanisms for enforcement of intellectual property and other proprietary rights may be inadequate. Also, our involvement in standard setting activity
or the need to obtain licenses from others may require us to license our intellectual property. Accordingly, despite our efforts, we may be unable to prevent
third parties from using our intellectual property or other proprietary information or technology.

In addition, we may be the subject of intellectual property infringement or misappropriation claims, which could be very time-consuming and expensive to
settle or litigate and could divert our management’s attention and other resources. These claims could also subject us to significant liability for damages if
we are found to have infringed patents, copyrights, trademarks, or other intellectual property rights, or breached trademark co-existence agreements or other
intellectual property licenses and could require us to cease using or to rebrand all or portions of our platforms. Any of our patents, copyrights, trademarks,
or other intellectual property rights may be challenged by others or invalidated through administrative process or litigation.

While we have issued patents and patent applications pending, we may be unable to obtain patent protection for the technology covered in our patent
applications or such patent protection may not be obtained quickly enough to meet our business needs. Furthermore, the patent prosecution process is
expensive, time-consuming, and complex, and we may not be able to prepare, file, prosecute, maintain, and enforce all necessary or desirable patent
applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner. The scope of patent protection also can be
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reinterpreted after issuance and issued patents may be invalidated. Even if our patent applications do issue as patents, they may not issue in a form that is
sufficiently broad to protect our technology, prevent competitors or other third parties form competing with us or otherwise provide us with any competitive
advantage.

In addition, any of our patents, copyrights, trademarks, or other intellectual property or proprietary rights may be challenged, narrowed, invalidated, held
unenforceable, or circumvented in litigation or other proceedings, including, where applicable, opposition, re-examination, inter partes review, post-grant
review, interference, nullification and derivation proceedings, and equivalent proceedings in foreign jurisdictions, and such intellectual property or other
proprietary rights may be lost or no longer provide us meaningful competitive advantages. Such proceedings may result in substantial cost and require
significant time from our management, even if the eventual outcome is favorable to us. Third parties also may legitimately and independently develop
products, services, and technology similar to or duplicative of our platforms. In addition to protection under intellectual property laws, we rely on
confidentiality or license agreements that we generally enter into with our corporate partners, employees, consultants, advisors, vendors, and customers, and
generally limit access to and distribution of our proprietary information. However, we cannot be certain that we have entered into such agreements with all
parties who may have or have had access to our confidential information or that the agreements we have entered into will not be breached or challenged, or
that such breaches will be detected. Furthermore, non-disclosure provisions can be difficult to enforce, and even if successfully enforced, may not be
entirely effective. We cannot guarantee that any of the measures we have taken will prevent infringement, misappropriation, or other violation of our
technology or other intellectual property or proprietary rights. Because we may be an attractive target for cyberattacks, we also may have a heightened risk
of unauthorized access to, and misappropriation of, our proprietary and competitively sensitive information. We may be required to spend significant
resources to monitor and protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights, and we may conclude that in at least some instances the benefits of
protecting our intellectual property or other proprietary rights may be outweighed by the expense or distraction to our management. We may initiate claims
or litigation against third parties for infringement, misappropriation, or other violation of our intellectual property or other proprietary rights or to establish
the validity of our intellectual property or other proprietary rights. Any such litigation, whether or not it is resolved in our favor, could be time-consuming,
result in significant expense to us and divert the efforts of our technical and management personnel. Furthermore, attempts to enforce our intellectual
property rights against third parties could also provoke these third parties to assert their own intellectual property or other rights against us, or result in a
holding that invalidates or narrows the scope of our rights, in whole or in part.

We have been, and may in the future be, subject to intellectual property rights claims, which are extremely costly to defend, could require us to pay
significant damages and could limit our ability to use certain technologies.

Our success and ability to compete also depends in part on our ability to operate without infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating the intellectual
property or other proprietary rights of third parties. Companies in the software and technology industries, including some of our current and potential
competitors, own large numbers of patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets and frequently pursue litigation based on allegations of infringement,
misappropriation or other violations of intellectual property rights. In addition, many of these companies have the capability to dedicate substantial
resources to enforce their intellectual property rights and to defend claims that may be brought against them. Such litigation also may involve non-practicing
patent assertion entities or companies who use their patents as a means to extract license fees by threatening costly litigation or that have minimal operations
or relevant product revenue and against whom our patents may provide little or no deterrence or protection. We have received notices, and may continue to
receive notices in the future, that claim we have infringed, misappropriated, misused or otherwise violated other parties’ intellectual property rights, and, to
the extent we become exposed to greater visibility, we face a higher risk of being the subject of intellectual property infringement, misappropriation or other
violation claims, which is not uncommon with respect to software technologies in particular. There may be third-party intellectual property rights, including
issued patents or pending patent applications, that cover significant aspects of our technologies, or business methods. There may also be third-party
intellectual property rights, including trademark registrations
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and pending applications, that cover the goods and services that we offer in certain regions. We may also be exposed to increased risk of being the subject
of intellectual property infringement, misappropriation, or other violation claims as a result of acquisitions and our incorporation of open source and other
third-party software into, or new branding for, our platforms, as, among other things, we have a lower level of visibility into the development process with
respect to such technology or the care taken to safeguard against infringement, misappropriation, or other violation risks. In addition, former employers of
our current, former, or future employees may assert claims that such employees have improperly disclosed to us confidential or proprietary information of
these former employers. Any intellectual property claims, with or without merit, are difficult to predict, could be very time-consuming and expensive to
settle or litigate, could divert our management’s attention and other resources, and may not be covered by the insurance that we carry. These claims could
subject us to significant liability for damages, potentially including treble damages if we are found to have willfully infringed a third party’s intellectual
property rights. These claims could also result in our having to stop using technology, branding or marks found to be in violation of a third party’s rights
and any necessary rebranding could result in the loss of goodwill. We could be required to seek a license for the intellectual property, which may not be
available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if a license were available, we could be required to pay significant royalties, which would
increase our expenses. As a result, we could be required to develop alternative non-infringing technology, branding or marks, which could require

significant effort and expense. If we cannot license rights or develop technology for any infringing aspect of our business, we would be forced to limit or
stop sales of one or more of our platforms or features, we could lose existing customers, and we may be unable to compete effectively. Any of these results
would harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Further, our agreements with customers and other third parties may include indemnification provisions under which we agree to indemnify them for losses
suffered or incurred as a result of third-party claims of intellectual property infringement, misappropriation, or other violations of intellectual property
rights, damages caused by us to property or persons, or other liabilities relating to or arising from our platforms, services, or other contractual obligations.
Large indemnity payments could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Any dispute with a customer with respect to such
obligations could have adverse effects on our relationship with that customer and other existing customers and new customers and harm our business and
results of operations.

Real or perceived errors, failures, defects or bugs in our platforms could adversely affect our results of operations and growth prospects.

Because we offer very complex platforms, undetected errors, defects, failures or bugs may occur, especially when platforms or capabilities are first
introduced or when new versions or other product or infrastructure updates are released. Our platforms are often installed and used in large-scale computing
environments with different operating systems, software products and equipment, and data source and network configurations, which may cause errors or
failures in our platforms or may expose undetected errors, failures, or bugs in our platforms. Despite testing by us, errors, failures, or bugs may not be found
in new software or releases until after commencement of commercial shipments. In the past, errors have affected the performance of our platforms and can
also delay the development or release of new platforms or capabilities or new versions of platforms, adversely affect our reputation and our customers’
willingness to buy platforms from us, and adversely affect market acceptance or perception of our platforms. Many of our customers use our platforms in
applications that are critical to their businesses or missions and may have a lower risk tolerance to defects in our platforms than to defects in other, less
critical, software products. Any errors or delays in releasing new software or new versions of platforms or allegations of unsatisfactory performance or
errors, defects or failures in released software could cause us to lose revenue or market share, increase our service costs, cause us to incur substantial costs
in redesigning the software, cause us to lose significant customers, subject us to liability for damages and divert our resources from other tasks, any one of
which could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, our platforms could be perceived to be
ineffective for a variety of reasons outside of our control. Hackers or other malicious parties could circumvent our or our customers’ security measures, and
customers may misuse our platforms resulting in a security breach or perceived product failure.
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Real or perceived errors, failures, or bugs in our platforms and services, or dissatisfaction with our services and outcomes, could result in customer
terminations and/or claims by customers for losses sustained by them. In such an event, we may be required, or we may choose, for customer relations or
other reasons, to expend additional resources in order to help correct any such errors, failures, or bugs. Although we have limitation of liability provisions in
our standard software licensing and service agreement terms and conditions, these provisions may not be enforceable in some circumstances, may vary in
levels of protection across our agreements, or may not fully or effectively protect us from such claims and related liabilities and costs. We generally provide
a warranty for our software products and services and an SLA for our performance of software operations via our O&M services to customers. In the event
that there is a failure of warranties in such agreements, we are generally obligated to correct the product or service to conform to the warranty provision as
set forth in the applicable SLA, or, if we are unable to do so, the customer is entitled to seek a refund of the purchase price of the product and service
(generally prorated over the contract term). The sale and support of our products also entail the risk of product liability claims. We maintain insurance to
protect against certain claims associated with the use of our products, but our insurance coverage may not adequately cover any claim asserted against us. In
addition, even claims that ultimately are unsuccessful could result in our expenditure of funds in litigation and divert management’s time and other
resources.

In addition, our platforms integrate a wide variety of other elements, and our platforms must successfully interoperate with products from other vendors and
our customers’ internally developed software. As a result, when problems occur for a customer using our platforms, it may be difficult to identify the
sources of these problems, and we may receive blame for a security, access control, or other compliance breach that was the result of the failure of one of
other elements in a customer’s or another vendor’s IT, security, or compliance infrastructure. The occurrence of software or errors in data, whether or not
caused by our platforms, could delay or reduce market acceptance of our platforms and have an adverse effect on our business and financial performance,
and any necessary revisions may cause us to incur significant expenses. The occurrence of any such problems could harm our business, financial condition,
and results of operations. If an actual or perceived breach of information correctness, auditability, integrity, or availability occurs in one of our customers’
systems, regardless of whether the breach is attributable to our platforms, the market perception of the effectiveness of our platforms could be harmed.
Alleviating any of these problems could require additional significant expenditures of our capital and other resources and could cause interruptions, delays,
or cessation of our product licensing, which could cause us to lose existing or potential customers and could adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations, and growth prospects.

We rely on the availability of licenses to third-party technology that may be difficult to replace or that may cause errors or delay implementation of our
platforms and services should we not be able to continue or obtain a commercially reasonable license to such technology.

Our platforms include software or other intellectual property licensed from third parties. It may be necessary in the future to renew licenses relating to
various aspects of these platforms or to seek new licenses for existing or new platforms or other products. There can be no assurance that the necessary
licenses would be available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. Third parties may terminate their licenses with us for a variety of reasons, including
actual or perceived failures or breaches of security or privacy, or reputational concerns, or they may choose not to renew their licenses with us. In addition,
we may be subject to liability if third-party software that we license is found to infringe, misappropriate, or otherwise violate intellectual property or privacy
rights of others. The loss of, or inability to obtain, certain third-party licenses or other rights or to obtain such licenses or rights on favorable terms, or the
need to engage in litigation regarding these matters, could result in product roll-backs, delays in product releases until equivalent technology can be
identified, licensed or developed, if at all, and integrated into our platforms, and may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and
results of operations. Moreover, the inclusion in our platforms of software or other intellectual property licensed from third parties on a nonexclusive basis
could limit our ability to differentiate our platforms from products of our competitors and could inhibit our ability to provide the current level of service to
existing customers.
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In addition, any data that we license from third parties for potential use in our platforms may contain errors or defects, which could negatively impact the
analytics that our customers perform on or with such data. This may have a negative impact on how our platforms are perceived by our current and potential
customers and could materially damage our reputation and brand.

Changes in or the loss of third-party licenses could lead to our platforms becoming inoperable or the performance of our platforms being materially reduced
resulting in our potentially needing to incur additional research and development costs to ensure continued performance of our platforms or a material
increase in the costs of licensing, and we may experience decreased demand for our platforms.

Our platforms contain “open source” software, and any failure to comply with the terms of one or more of these open source licenses could negatively
affect our business.

Our platforms are distributed with software licensed by its authors or other third parties under “open source” licenses. Some of these licenses contain
requirements that we make available source code for modifications or derivative works we create based upon the open source software, and that we license
these modifications or derivative works under the terms of a particular open source license or other license granting third-parties certain rights of further
use. If we combine our proprietary software with open source software in a certain manner, we could, under certain provisions of the open source licenses,
be required to release the source code of our proprietary software. In addition to risks related to license requirements, usage of open source software can
lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide updates, warranties, support,
indemnities, assurances of title, or controls on origin of the software. Likewise, some open source projects have known security and other vulnerabilities
and architectural instabilities, or are otherwise subject to security attacks due to their wide availability, and are provided on an “as-is” basis. We have
established processes to help alleviate these risks, including a review process for screening requests from our development organization for the use of open
source software, and the use of software tools to review our source code for open source software, but we cannot be sure that all open source software is
submitted for approval prior to use in our platforms or that such software tools will be effective. In addition, open source license terms may be ambiguous
and many of the risks associated with usage of open source software cannot be eliminated, and could, if not properly addressed, negatively affect our
business. If we were found to have inappropriately used open source software, we may be required to re-engineer our platforms, to release proprietary
source code, to discontinue the sale of our platforms in the event re-engineering could not be accomplished on a timely basis, or to take other remedial
action that may divert resources away from our development efforts, any of which could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial
condition, and growth prospects. In addition, if the open source software we use is no longer maintained by the relevant open source community, then it
may be more difficult to make the necessary revisions to our software, including modifications to address security vulnerabilities, which could impact our
ability to mitigate cybersecurity risks or fulfill our contractual obligations to our customers. We may also face claims from others seeking to enforce the
terms of an open source license, including by demanding release of the open source software, derivative works or our proprietary source code that was
developed using such software. Such claims, with or without merit, could result in litigation, could be time-consuming and expensive to settle or litigation,
could divert our management’s attention and other resources, could require us to lease some of our proprietary code, or could require us to devote additional
research and development resources to change our software, any of which could adversely affect our business.

Additionally, we have intentionally made certain proprietary software available on an open source basis, both by contributing modifications back to existing
open source projects, and by making certain internally developed tools available pursuant to open source licenses, and we plan to continue to do so in the
future. While we have established procedures, including a review process for any such contributions, which is designed to protect any code that may be
competitively sensitive, we cannot guarantee that this process has always been applied consistently. Even when applied, because any software source code
we contribute to open source projects is publicly available, our ability to protect our intellectual property rights with respect to such software source code
may be limited or lost entirely, and we may be unable to prevent our competitors or others from using such
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contributed software source code for competitive purposes, or for commercial or other purposes beyond what we intended.

Many of these risks associated with usage of open source software could be difficult to eliminate or manage, and could, if not properly addressed,
negatively affect the performance of our offerings and our business.

Risks Related to Legal, Regulatory and Accounting

Our business is subject to complex and evolving U.S. and non-U.S. laws and regulations regarding privacy, data protection and security, technology
protection, and other matters. Many of these laws and regulations are subject to change and uncertain interpretation, and could result in claims,
changes to our business practices, monetary penalties, increased cost of operations, or otherwise harm our business.

We are subject to a variety of local, state, national, and international laws and directives and regulations in the United States and abroad that involve matters
central to our business, including privacy and data protection, data security, data storage, retention, transfer and deletion, technology protection, and
personal information. Foreign data protection, data security, privacy, and other laws and regulations can impose different obligations or be more restrictive
than those in the United States. These U.S. federal and state and foreign laws and regulations, which, depending on the regime, may be enforced by private
parties or government entities, are constantly evolving and can be subject to significant change, and they are likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable
future. In addition, the application, interpretation, and enforcement of these laws and regulations are often uncertain, particularly in the new and rapidly
evolving software and technology industry in which we operate, and may be interpreted and applied inconsistently from country to country and
inconsistently with our current policies and practices. A number of proposals are pending before U.S. federal, state, and foreign legislative and regulatory
bodies that could significantly affect our business. For example, ongoing legal challenges in Europe to the mechanisms allowing companies to transfer
personal data from the European Economic Area to certain other jurisdictions, including the United States, could result in further limitations on the ability to
transfer data across borders, particularly if governments are unable or unwilling to reach new or maintain existing agreements that permit cross-border data
transfers. The California state legislature passed the California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”) in 2018 and California voters approved a ballot measure
subsequently establishing the California Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA”) in 2020, which will jointly regulate the processing of personal information of
California residents and increase the privacy and security obligations of entities handling certain personal information of California residents, including
requiring covered companies to provide new disclosures to California consumers, and affords such consumers new abilities to opt-out of certain sales of
personal information. The CCPA came into effect on January 1, 2020, and the California Attorney General may bring enforcement actions, with penalties
for violations of the CCPA. The CPRA will go into effect on January 1, 2023 instilling enforcement authority in a new dedicated regulatory body, the
California Privacy Protection Agency, which will begin carrying out enforcement actions as soon as six months after the enactment date. While aspects of
both the CCPA and CPRA and their interpretations remain to be determined in practice, we are committed to complying with their obligations. We cannot
yet fully predict the impact of the CCPA and CPRA on our business or operations, but developments regarding these and all privacy and data protection
laws and regulations around the world may require us to modify our data processing practices and policies and to incur substantial costs and expenses in an
effort to maintain compliance on an ongoing basis. Outside of the United States, virtually every jurisdiction in which we operate has established its own
legal framework relating to privacy, data protection, and information security matters with which we and/or our customers must comply. Laws and
regulations in these jurisdictions apply broadly to the collection, use, storage, retention, disclosure, security, transfer, and other processing of data that
identifies or may be used to identify or locate an individual. Some countries and regions, including the European Union, are considering or have passed
legislation that imposes significant obligations in connection with privacy, data protection, and information security that could increase the cost and
complexity of delivering our platforms and services, including the European General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”) which took effect in May 2018.
Complying with the GDPR or other data protection laws and regulations as they emerge may cause us to incur substantial operational costs or require us to
modify our data handling practices on
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an ongoing basis. Non-compliance with the GDPR specifically may result in administrative fines or monetary penalties of up to 4% of worldwide annual
revenue in the preceding financial year or €20 million (whichever is higher) for the most serious infringements, and could result in proceedings against us
by governmental entities or other related parties and may otherwise adversely impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

The overarching complexity of privacy and data protection laws and regulations around the world pose a compliance challenge that could manifest in costs,
damages, or liability in other forms as a result of failure to implement proper programmatic controls, failure to adhere to those controls, or the malicious or
inadvertent breach of applicable privacy and data protection requirements by us, our employees, our business partners, or our customers.

In addition to government regulation, self-regulatory standards and other industry standards may legally or contractually apply to us, be argued to apply to
us, or we may elect to comply with such standards or to facilitate our customers’ compliance with such standards. Because privacy, data protection, and
information security are critical competitive factors in our industry, we may make statements on our website, in marketing materials, or in other settings
about our data security measures and our compliance with, or our ability to facilitate our customers’ compliance with, these standards. We also expect that
there will continue to be new proposed laws and regulations concerning privacy, data protection, and information security, and we cannot yet determine the
impact such future laws, regulations and standards, or amendments to or re-interpretations of existing laws and regulations, industry standards, or other
obligations may have on our business. New laws, amendments to or re-interpretations of existing laws and regulations, industry standards, and contractual
and other obligations may require us to incur additional costs and restrict our business operations. As these legal regimes relating to privacy, data protection,
and information security continue to evolve, they may result in ever-increasing public scrutiny and escalating levels of enforcement and sanctions.
Furthermore, because the interpretation and application of laws, standards, contractual obligations and other obligations relating to privacy, data protection,
and information security are uncertain, these laws, standards, and contractual and other obligations may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is, or is
alleged to be, inconsistent with our data management practices, our policies or procedures, or the features of our platforms, or we may simply fail to
properly develop or implement our practices, policies, procedures, or features in compliance with such obligations. If so, in addition to the possibility of
fines, lawsuits, and other claims, we could be required to fundamentally change our business activities and practices or modify our platforms, which could
have an adverse effect on our business. We may be unable to make such changes and modifications in a commercially reasonable manner or at all, and our
ability to fulfill existing obligations, make enhancements, or develop new platforms and features could be limited. Furthermore, the costs of compliance
with, and other burdens imposed by, the laws, regulations, and policies that are applicable to the businesses of our customers may limit the use and adoption
of, and reduce the overall demand for, our platforms.

These existing and proposed laws and regulations can be costly to comply with and can make our platforms and services less effective or valuable, delay or
impede the development of new products, result in negative publicity, increase our operating costs, require us to modify our data handling practices, limit
our operations, impose substantial fines and penalties, require significant management time and attention, or put our data or technology at risk. Any failure
or perceived failure by us or our platforms to comply with the laws, regulations, directives, policies, industry standards, or legal obligations of the U.S.,
European Union, or other governmental or non-governmental bodies at the regional, national, or supra-national level relating to privacy, data protection, or
information security, or any security incident that results in actual or suspected loss of or the unauthorized access to, or acquisition, use, release, or transfer
of, personal information, personal data, or other customer or sensitive data sensitive data or information may result in governmental investigations,
inquiries, enforcement actions and prosecutions, private claims and litigation, indemnification or other contractual obligations, other remedies, including
fines or demands that we modify or cease existing business practices, or adverse publicity, and related costs and liabilities, which could significantly and
adversely affect our business and results of operations.
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Our non-U.S. sales and operations subject us to additional risks and regulations that can adversely affect our results of operations.

Our successes to date have primarily come from customers in relatively stable and developed countries, but we are in the process of entering new and
emerging markets in non-U.S. countries, including with COVID-19 response efforts and defense, law enforcement, national security, and other government
agencies, as part of our growth strategy. These new and emerging markets may involve uncertain business, technology, and economic risks and may be
difficult or impossible for us to penetrate, even if we were to commit significant resources to do so.

We currently have sales personnel and sales and services operations in the United States and certain countries around the world. To the extent that we
experience difficulties in recruiting, training, managing, or retaining non-U.S. staff, and specifically sales management and sales personnel staff, we may
experience difficulties in sales productivity in, or market penetration of, non-U.S. markets. Our ability to convince customers to expand their use of our
platforms or renew their subscription, license, or maintenance and service agreements with us is correlated to, among other things, our direct engagement
with the customer. To the extent we are restricted or unable to engage with non-U.S. customers effectively with our limited sales force and services
capacity, we may be unable to grow sales to existing customers to the same degree we have experienced in the United States.

Our non-U.S. operations subject us to a variety of risks and challenges, including:

. Increased management, travel, infrastructure, and legal and financial compliance costs and time associated with having multiple non-U.S.
operations, including but not limited to compliance with local employment laws and other applicable laws and regulations;

. Longer payment cycles, greater difficulty in enforcing contracts, difficulties in collecting accounts receivable, especially in emerging
markets, and the likelihood that revenue from non-U.S. system integrators, government contractors, and customers may need to be
recognized when cash is received, at least until satisfactory payment history has been established, or upon confirmation of certain
acceptance criteria or milestones;

. The need to adapt our platforms for non-U.S. customers whether to accommodate customer preferences or local law;

. Differing regulatory and legal requirements and possible enactment of additional regulations or restrictions on the use, import, or re-export
of our platforms or the provision of services, which could delay, restrict, or prevent the sale or use of our platforms and services in some
jurisdictions;

. Compliance with multiple and changing foreign laws and regulations, including those governing employment, privacy, data protection,

information security, data transfer, and the risks and costs of non-compliance with such laws and regulations;
. New and different sources of competition not present in the United States;

. Heightened risks of unfair or corrupt business practices in certain geographies and of improper or fraudulent sales arrangements that may
cause us to withdraw from particular markets, or impact financial results and result in restatements of financial statements and irregularities
in financial statements;

. Volatility in non-U.S. political and economic environments, including by way of examples, the potential effects of COVID-19 and the
United Kingdom’s departure from the European Union;

. Weaker protection of intellectual property rights in some countries and the risk of potential theft, copying, or other compromises of our
technology, data, or intellectual property in connection with our non-U.S. operations, whether by state-sponsored malfeasance or other
foreign entities or individuals;
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. Volatility and fluctuations in currency exchange rates, including that, because many of our non-U.S. contracts are denominated in U.S.
dollars, an increase in the strength of the U.S. dollar may make doing business with us less appealing to a non-U.S. dollar denominated
customer;

. Management and employee communication and integration problems resulting from language differences, cultural differences, and

geographic dispersion;
. Difficulties in repatriating or transferring funds from, or converting currencies in, certain countries;

. Potentially adverse tax consequences, including multiple and possibly overlapping tax regimes, the complexities of foreign value-added tax
systems, and changes in tax laws;

. Lack of familiarity with local laws, customs, and practices, and laws and business practices favoring local competitors or partners; and

. Interruptions to our business operations and our customers’ business operations subject to events such as war, incidents of terrorism,
natural disasters, public health concerns or epidemics (such as the recent COVID-19 outbreak), shortages or failures of power, internet,
telecommunications, or hosting service providers, cyberattacks or malicious acts, or responses to these events.

In addition to the factors above, foreign governments may take administrative, legislative, or regulatory action that could materially interfere with our
ability to sell our platforms in certain countries. For example, foreign governments may require a percentage of prime contracts be fulfilled by local
contractors or provide special incentives to government-backed local customers to buy from local competitors, even if their products are inferior to ours.
Moreover, both the U.S. government and foreign governments may regulate the acquisition of or import of our technologies or our entry into certain foreign
markets or partnership with foreign third parties through investment screening or other regulations. Such regulations may apply to certain non-U.S. joint
ventures, platform partnerships and strategic alliances that may be integral to our long-term business strategy.

Compliance with laws and regulations applicable to our non-U.S. operations increases our cost of doing business in foreign jurisdictions. We may be unable
to keep current with changes in foreign government requirements and laws as they change from time to time. Failure to comply with these regulations could
subject us to investigations, sanctions, enforcement actions, disgorgement of profits, fines, damages, civil and criminal penalties, injunctions, or other
collateral consequences. In many foreign countries, it is common for others to engage in business practices that are prohibited by our internal policies and
procedures or U.S. regulations applicable to us. In addition, although we have implemented policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with
these laws and policies, there can be no assurance that all of our employees, contractors, partners, and agents will comply with these laws and policies.
Violations of laws or key control policies by our employees, contractors, partners, or agents could result in delays in revenue recognition, financial reporting
misstatements, governmental sanctions, fines, penalties, or the prohibition of the importation or exportation of our platforms. In addition, responding to any
action may result in a significant diversion of management’s attention and resources and an increase in professional fees. Enforcement actions and sanctions
or failure to prevail in any possible civil or criminal litigation could harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and results of operations.

Also, we are expanding operations, including our work with existing commercial customers, into countries in Asia, Europe, the Middle East, and elsewhere,
which may place restrictions on the transfer of data and potentially the import and use of foreign encryption technology. Any of these risks could harm our
non-U.S. operations and reduce our non-U.S. sales, adversely affecting our business, results of operations, financial condition, and growth prospects.

Some of our business partners also have non-U.S. operations and are subject to the risks described above. Even if we are able to successfully manage the
risks of our own non-U.S. operations, our business may be adversely affected if our business partners are not able to successfully manage these risks.
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Failure to comply with governmental laws and regulations could harm our business, and we have been, and expect to be, the subject of legal and
regulatory inquiries, which may result in monetary payments or may otherwise negatively impact our reputation, business, and results of operations.

Our business is subject to regulation by various federal, state, local, and foreign governments in which we operate. In certain jurisdictions, the regulatory
requirements imposed by foreign governments may be more stringent than those in the United States. Noncompliance with applicable regulations or
requirements could subject us to investigations, administrative proceedings, sanctions, enforcement actions, disgorgement of profits, fines, damages,
litigation, civil and criminal penalties, termination of contracts, exclusion from sales channels or sales opportunities, injunctions, or other consequences.
Such matters may include, but are not limited to, claims, disputes, allegations, or investigations related to alleged violations of laws or regulations relating
to anti-corruption requirements, lobbying or conflict-of-interest requirements, export or other trade controls, data privacy or data protection requirements, or
laws or regulations relating to employment, procurement, cybersecurity, securities, or antitrust/competition requirements. The effects of recently imposed
and proposed actions are uncertain because of the dynamic nature of governmental action and responses. We may be subject to government inquiries that
drain our time and resources, tarnish our brand among customers and potential customers, prevent us from doing business with certain customers or
markets, including government customers, affect our ability to hire, attract and maintain qualified employees, or require us to take remedial action or pay
penalties. From time to time, we receive formal and informal inquiries from governmental agencies and regulators regarding our compliance with laws and
regulations or otherwise relating to our business or transactions. Any negative outcome from such inquiries or investigations or failure to prevail in any
possible civil or criminal litigation could adversely affect our business, reputation, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects.

We are currently, and may in the future become, involved in a number of legal, regulatory, and administrative inquiries and proceedings, and
unfavorable outcomes in litigation or other of these matters could negatively impact our business, financial conditions, and results of operations.

We are currently, and may, from time to time, be involved in and subject to litigation or proceedings for a variety of claims or disputes, and we may have in
the past, and may in the future, be subject to regulatory inquiries. These claims, lawsuits, and proceedings could involve labor and employment,
discrimination and harassment, commercial disputes, intellectual property rights (including patent, trademark, copyright, trade secret, and other proprietary
rights), class actions, general contract, tort, defamation, data privacy rights, antitrust, common law fraud, government regulation, or compliance, alleged
federal and state securities and “blue sky” law violations or other investor claims, and other matters. Derivative claims, lawsuits, and proceedings, which
may, from time to time, be asserted against our directors by our stockholders, could involve breach of fiduciary duty, failure of oversight, corporate waste
claims, and other matters. One of our stockholders with respect to whom we are currently engaged in litigation as described in the notes to our consolidated
financial statements has threatened to bring various of these claims. In addition, our business and results may be adversely affected by the outcome of
currently pending and any future legal, regulatory, and/or administrative claims or proceedings, including through monetary damages or injunctive relief.

The number and significance of our legal disputes and inquiries may increase as we continue to grow larger, as our business has expanded in employee
headcount, scope, and geographic reach, and as our platforms and services have become more complex. Additionally, if customers fail to pay us under the
terms of our agreements, we may be adversely affected due to the cost of enforcing the terms of our contracts through litigation. Litigation or other
proceedings can be expensive and time consuming and can divert our resources and leadership’s attention from our primary business operations. The results
of our litigation also cannot be predicted with certainty. If we are unable to prevail in litigation, we could incur payments of substantial monetary damages
or fines, or undesirable changes to our platforms or business practices, and accordingly, our business, financial condition, or results of operations could be
materially and adversely affected. Furthermore, if we accrue a loss contingency for pending litigation and determine that it is probable, any disclosures,
estimates, and reserves we
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reflect in our financial statements with regard to these matters may not reflect the ultimate disposition or financial impact of litigation or other such matters.
These proceedings could also result in negative publicity, which could harm customer and public perception of our business, regardless of whether the
allegations are valid or whether we are ultimately found liable. Additional information regarding certain of the lawsuits we are involved in is described
further in Note 9. Commitments and Contingencies in our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Failure to comply with anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws could subject us to penalties and other adverse consequences.

As we operate and sell our platforms and services around the world, we are subject to the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), the UK
Bribery Act, the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, the United States Travel Act, and other anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws
and regulations in the jurisdictions in which we do business, both domestic and abroad. These laws and regulations generally prohibit improper payments or
offers of improper payments to government officials, political parties, or commercial partners for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business or securing
an improper business advantage.

We have operations, deal with and make sales to governmental or quasi-governmental entities in the United States and in non-U.S. countries, including
those known to experience corruption, particularly certain emerging countries in East Asia, Eastern Europe, Africa, South America, and the Middle East,
and further expansion of our non-U.S. sales efforts may involve additional regions.

Corruption issues pose a risk in every country and jurisdiction, but in many countries, particularly in countries with developing economies, it may be more
common for businesses to engage in practices that are prohibited by the FCPA or other applicable laws and regulations, and our activities in these countries
pose a heightened risk of unauthorized payments or offers of payments by one of our employees or third-party business partners, representatives, and agents
that could be in violation of various laws including the FCPA. The FCPA, U.K. Bribery Act and other applicable anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws also
may hold us liable for acts of corruption and bribery committed by our third-party business partners, representatives, and agents. We and our third-party
business partners, representatives, and agents may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or state-owned
or affiliated entities and we may be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of our employees or such third parties even if we do not explicitly
authorize such activities. The FCPA or other applicable laws and regulations laws also require that we keep accurate books and records and maintain
internal controls and compliance procedures designed to prevent any such actions. While we have implemented policies and procedures to address
compliance with such laws, we cannot assure you that our employees or other third parties working on our behalf will not engage in conduct in violation of
our policies or applicable law for which we might ultimately be held responsible. Violations of the FCPA, the UK Bribery act, and other laws may result in
whistleblower complaints, adverse media coverage, investigations, imposition of significant legal fees, loss of export privileges, as well as severe criminal
or civil sanctions, including suspension or debarment from U.S. government contracting, and we may be subject to other liabilities and adverse effects on
our reputation, which could negatively affect our business, results of operations, financial condition, and growth prospects. In addition, responding to any
enforcement action may result in a significant diversion of management’s attention and resources and significant defense costs and other professional fees.
Our exposure for violating these laws increases as our non-U.S. presence expands and as we increase sales and operations in foreign jurisdictions.

Governmental trade controls, including export and import controls, sanctions, customs requirements, and related regimes, could subject us to liability or
loss of contracting privileges or limit our ability to compete in certain markets.

Our offerings are subject to U.S. export controls, and we incorporate encryption technology into certain of our offerings. Our controlled software offerings
and the underlying technology may be exported outside of the
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United States only with the required export authorizations, which may include license requirements in some circumstances. Additionally, our current or
future products may be classified under the Commerce Department Export Administration Regulations (“EAR”) or as defense articles subject to the United
States International Traffic in Arms Regulations (“ITAR”). Most of our products, including our core software platforms, have been classified under the
EAR and are generally exportable without needing a specific license, under an EAR exception for encrypted software. If a product, or component of a
product, is classified under the ITAR, or is ineligible for the EAR encryption exception, then those products could be exported outside the United States
only if we obtain the applicable export license or qualify for a different license exception. In certain contexts, the services we provide might be classified as
defense services subject to the ITAR separately from the products we provide. Compliance with the EAR, ITAR, and other applicable regulatory
requirements regarding the export of our products, including new releases of our products and/or the performance of services, may create delays in the
introduction of our products in non-U.S. markets, prevent our customers with non-U.S. operations from deploying our products throughout their global
systems or, in some cases, prevent the export of our products to some countries altogether.

Furthermore, our activities are subject to the economic sanctions, laws and regulations of the United States and other jurisdictions. Such controls prohibit
the shipment or transfer of certain products and services without the required export authorizations or export to countries, governments, and persons
targeted by applicable sanctions. We take precautions to prevent our offerings from being exported in violation of these laws, including: (i) seeking to
proactively classify our platforms and obtain authorizations for the export and/or import of our platforms where appropriate, (ii) implementing certain
technical controls and screening practices to reduce the risk of violations, and (iii) requiring compliance with U.S. export control and sanctions obligations
in customer and vendor contracts. However, we cannot guarantee the precautions we take will prevent violations of export control and sanctions laws.

As discussed above, if we misclassify a product or service, export or provide access to a product or service in violation of applicable restrictions, or
otherwise fail to comply with export regulations, we may be denied export privileges or subjected to significant per violation fines or other penalties, and
our platforms may be denied entry into other countries. Any decreased use of our platforms or limitation on our ability to export or sell our platforms would
likely adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. Violations of U.S. sanctions or export control laws can result in fines or
penalties, including civil penalties of over $300,000 or twice the value of the transaction, whichever is greater, per EAR violation and a civil penalty of over
$1,000,000 for ITAR violations. In the event of criminal knowing and willful violations of these laws, fines of up to $1,000,000 per violation and possible
incarceration for responsible employees and managers could be imposed.

We also note that if we or our business partners or counterparties, including licensors and licensees, prime contractors, subcontractors, sublicensors,
vendors, customers, shipping partners, or contractors, fail to obtain appropriate import, export, or re-export licenses or permits, notwithstanding regulatory
requirements or contractual commitments to do so, or if we fail to secure such contractual commitments where necessary, we may also be adversely
affected, through reputational harm as well as other negative consequences, including government investigations and penalties. For instance, violations of
U.S. sanctions or export control laws can result in fines or penalties, including significant civil and criminal penalties per violation, depending on the
circumstances of the violation or violations.

Negative consequences for violations or apparent violations of trade control requirements may include the absolute loss of the right to sell our platforms or
services to the government of the United States, or to other public bodies, or a reduction in our ability to compete for such sales opportunities. Further,
complying with export control and sanctions regulations for a particular sale may be time-consuming and may result in the delay or loss of sales
opportunities.

Also, various countries, in addition to the United States, regulate the import and export of certain encryption and other technology, including import and
export permitting and licensing requirements, and have enacted laws that
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could limit our ability to distribute our platforms or could limit our customers’ abilities to implement our platforms in those countries. Any new export
restrictions, new legislation, changes in economic sanctions, or shifting approaches in the enforcement or scope of existing regulations, or in the countries,
persons, or technologies targeted by such regulations, could result in decreased use of our platforms by existing customers with non-U.S. operations,
declining adoption of our platforms by new customers with non-U.S. operations, limitation of our expansion into new markets, and decreased revenue.

Changes in accounting principles or their application to us could result in unfavorable accounting charges or effects, which could adversely affect our
results of operations and growth prospects.

We prepare consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). In particular, we make certain
estimates and assumptions related to the adoption and interpretation of these principles including the recognition of our revenue and the accounting of our
stock-based compensation expense with respect to our financial statements. If these assumptions turn out to be incorrect, our financial results and position
could materially differ from our expectations and could be materially adversely affected. A change in any of these principles or guidance, or in their
interpretations or application to us, may have a significant effect on our reported results, as well as our processes and related controls, and may retroactively
affect previously reported results or our forecasts, which may negatively impact our financial statements.

For example, recent new standards issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board could materially impact our financial statements, including
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 842 (“ASC 842”), Leases, which we adopted during the year ended December 31, 2020. The adoption of this new
standard required enhancements to, and changes in our processes and systems, and may require significant additional time and cost on behalf of our
financial management. This may in turn adversely affect our results of operations and growth prospects.

If our judgments or estimates relating to our critical accounting policies are based on assumptions that change or prove to be incorrect, our results of
operations could fall below expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in our stock price.

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make judgments, estimates, and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, as provided in the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets, liabilities, and
equity, and the amount of revenue and expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. Our results of operations may be adversely affected if our
assumptions change or if actual circumstances differ from those in our assumptions, which could cause our results of operations to fall below the
expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in the trading price of our Class A common stock. Significant judgments, estimates,
and assumptions used in preparing our consolidated financial statements include, or may in the future include, those related to revenue recognition, stock-
based compensation, and income taxes.

We could be subject to additional tax liabilities.

We are subject to federal, state, and local income taxes in the U.S. and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Determining our provision for income taxes requires
significant management judgment, and the ultimate tax outcome may be uncertain. In addition, our provision for income taxes is subject to volatility and
could be adversely affected by many factors, including, among other things, changes to our operating or holding structure, changes in the amounts of
earnings in jurisdictions with differing statutory tax rates, changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, and changes in U.S. and foreign tax
laws. Tax authorities in the United States and various foreign jurisdictions may disagree with our calculation of research and development tax credits, cross-
jurisdictional transfer pricing, or other matters and assess additional taxes, interest or penalties. While we
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regularly assess the likely outcomes of these examinations to determine the adequacy of our provision for income taxes and we believe that our financial
statements reflect adequate reserves to cover any such contingencies, there can be no assurance that the outcomes of such examinations will not have a
material impact on our results of operations and cash flows. If U.S. or other foreign tax authorities change applicable tax laws, our overall taxes could
increase, and our financial condition or results of operations may be adversely impacted.

We may not be able to utilize a significant portion of our net operating loss carry-forwards and tax credits, which could adversely affect our results of
operations.

We record an asset for the future tax benefits from unused U.S. federal and state net operating losses (“NOLs”) and tax credits subject to a full valuation
allowance. Federal, state and foreign taxing bodies often place limitations on NOLs and tax credit carryforward benefits. As a result, we may not be able to
utilize the net operating and tax credit assets reflected on our balance sheet. In general, under Section 382 of the United States Internal Revenue Code of
1986 (the “Code™), a corporation that undergoes an ownership change is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change NOLs to offset future
taxable income. Future changes in our stock ownership, some of which are outside of our control, could result in an ownership change under Section 382 of
the Code. If our existing NOLs are subject to limitations arising from an ownership change, our ability to utilize NOLs could be limited by Section 382 of
the Code, and a certain amount of our prior year NOLs could expire without benefit. Changes in the law may also impact our ability to use our net operating
loss and tax credit carryforwards.

There is also a risk that the expiration of our existing net operating losses or tax credits or a limitation on their use to offset future income tax liabilities
could result from statutory or regulatory changes, especially in reaction to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Our results of operations may be harmed if we are required to collect sales or other related taxes for our license arrangements in jurisdictions where we
have not historically done so.

States and some local taxing jurisdictions have differing rules and regulations governing sales and use taxes, and these rules and regulations are subject to
varying interpretations that may change over time. We collect and remit U.S. sales and use tax, value-added tax (“VAT”), and goods and services tax
(“GST”) in a number of jurisdictions. It is possible, however, that we could face sales tax, VAT, or GST audits and that our liability for these taxes could
exceed our estimates as state tax authorities could still assert that we are obligated to collect additional tax amounts from our customers and remit those
taxes to those authorities. We could also be subject to audits in states and non-U.S. jurisdictions for which we have not accrued tax liabilities. One or more
states or countries may seek to impose incremental or new sales, use, or other tax collection obligations on us or may determine that such taxes should have,
but have not been, paid by us.

Relationships and Business with the Public Sector

A significant portion of our business depends on sales to the public sector, and our failure to receive and maintain government contracts or changes in
the contracting or fiscal policies of the public sector could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from contracts with federal, state, local, and foreign governments and government agencies, and we believe
that the success and growth of our business will continue to depend on our successful procurement of government contracts. For example, we have
historically derived, and expect to continue to derive, a significant portion of our revenue from sales to agencies of the U.S. federal government, either
directly by us or through other government contractors. Our perceived relationship with the U.S. government could adversely affect our business prospects
in certain non-U.S. geographies or with certain non-U.S. governments.

Sales to such government agencies are subject to a number of challenges and risks. Selling to government agencies can be highly competitive, expensive,
and time-consuming, often requiring significant upfront time and
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expense without any assurance that these efforts will generate a sale. We also must comply with laws and regulations relating to the formation,
administration, and performance of contracts, which provide public sector customers rights, many of which are not typically found in commercial contracts.

Accordingly, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects may be adversely affected by certain events or activities,
including, but not limited to:

Changes in fiscal or contracting policies or decreases in available government funding;

Changes in government programs or applicable requirements;

Restrictions in the grant of personnel security clearances to our employees;

Ability to maintain facility clearances required to perform on classified contracts for U.S. federal government agencies;

Changes in the political environment, including before or after a change to the leadership within the government administration, and any
resulting uncertainty or changes in policy or priorities and resultant funding;

Changes in the government’s attitude towards the capabilities that we offer, especially in the areas of national defense, cybersecurity, and
critical infrastructure, including the financial, energy, telecommunications, and healthcare sectors;

Changes in the government’s attitude towards us as a company or our platforms as viable or acceptable software solutions;

Appeals, disputes, or litigation relating to government procurement, including but not limited to bid protests by unsuccessful bidders on
potential or actual awards of contracts to us or our partners by the government;

The adoption of new laws or regulations or changes to existing laws or regulations;

Budgetary constraints, including automatic reductions as a result of “sequestration” or similar measures and constraints imposed by any
lapses in appropriations for the federal government or certain of its departments and agencies;

Influence by, or competition from, third parties with respect to pending, new, or existing contracts with government customers;
Changes in political or social attitudes with respect to security or data privacy issues;

Potential delays or changes in the government appropriations or procurement processes, including as a result of events such as war,
incidents of terrorism, natural disasters, and public health concerns or epidemics, such as the recent coronavirus outbreak; and

Increased or unexpected costs or unanticipated delays caused by other factors outside of our control, such as performance failures of our
subcontractors.

Any such event or activity, among others, could cause governments and governmental agencies to delay or refrain from purchasing our platforms and
services in the future, reduce the size or payment amounts of purchases from existing or new government customers, or otherwise have an adverse effect on
our business, results of operations, financial condition, and growth prospects.

We have contracts with governments that involve classified programs, which may limit investor insight into portions of our business.

We derive a portion of our revenue from programs with governments and government agencies that are subject to security restrictions (e.g., contracts
involving classified information, classified contracts, and classified
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programs), which preclude the dissemination of information and technology that is classified for national security purposes under applicable law and
regulation. In general, access to classified information, technology, facilities, or programs requires appropriate personnel security clearances, is subject to
additional contract oversight and potential liability, and may also require appropriate facility clearances and other specialized infrastructure. In the event of
a security incident involving classified information, technology, facilities, or programs or personnel holding clearances, we may be subject to legal,
financial, operational, and reputational harm. We are limited in our ability to provide specific information about these classified programs, their risks, or any
disputes or claims relating to such programs. As a result, investors have less insight into our classified programs than our other businesses and therefore less
ability to fully evaluate the risks related to our classified business or our business overall. However, historically the business risks associated with our work
on classified programs have not differed materially from those of our other government contracts.

Our business could be adversely affected if our employees cannot obtain and maintain required personnel security clearances or we cannot establish
and maintain a required facility security clearance.

Certain government contracts may require our employees to maintain various levels of security clearances and may require us to maintain a facility security
clearance to comply with U.S. and international government agency requirements. Many governments have strict security clearance requirements for
personnel who perform work in support of classified programs. Obtaining and maintaining security clearances for employees typically involves a lengthy
process, and it can be difficult to identify, recruit, and retain employees who already hold security clearances. If our employees are unable to obtain security
clearances in a timely manner, or at all, or if our employees who hold security clearances are unable to maintain their clearances or terminate employment
with us, then we may be unable to comply with relevant U.S. and international government agency requirements, or our customers requiring classified work
could choose to terminate or decide not to renew one or more contracts requiring employees to obtain or maintain security clearances upon expiration. To
the extent we are not able to obtain or maintain a facility security clearance, we may not be able to bid on or win new classified contracts, and existing
contracts requiring a facility security clearance could be terminated, either of which would have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.

The majority of our customer contracts may be terminated by the customer at any time for convenience and may contain other provisions permitting the
customer to discontinue contract performance, and if terminated contracts are not replaced, our results of operations may differ materially and
adversely from those anticipated. In addition, our contracts with government customers often contain provisions with additional rights and remedies
favorable to such customers that are not typically found in commercial contracts.

The majority of our contracts, including our government contracts, contain termination for convenience provisions. Customers that terminate such contracts
may also be entitled to a pro rata refund of the amount of the customer deposit for the period of time remaining in the contract term after the applicable
termination notice period expires. Government contracts often contain provisions and are subject to laws and regulations that provide government customers
with additional rights and remedies not typically found in commercial contracts. These rights and remedies allow government customers, among other
things, to:

. Terminate existing contracts for convenience with short notice;
. Reduce orders under or otherwise modify contracts;
. For contracts subject to the Truth in Negotiations Act, reduce the contract price or cost where it was increased because a contractor or

subcontractor furnished cost or pricing data during negotiations that was not complete, accurate, and current;

. For some contracts, (i) demand a refund, make a forward price adjustment, or terminate a contract for default if a contractor provided
inaccurate or incomplete data during the contract negotiation process and (ii) reduce the contract price under triggering circumstances,
including the revision of price lists or other documents upon which the contract award was predicated,;
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. Cancel multi-year contracts and related orders if funds for contract performance for any subsequent year become unavailable;

. Decline to exercise an option to renew a multi-year contract or issue task orders in connection with indefinite delivery/indefinite quantity
(“IDIQ”) contracts;

. Claim rights in solutions, systems, or technology produced by us, appropriate such work-product for their continued use without continuing
to contract for our services, and disclose such work-product to third parties, including other government agencies and our competitors,
which could harm our competitive position;

. Prohibit future procurement awards with a particular agency due to a finding of organizational conflicts of interest based upon prior related
work performed for the agency that would give a contractor an unfair advantage over competing contractors, or the existence of conflicting
roles that might bias a contractor’s judgment;

. Subject the award of contracts to protest by competitors, which may require the contracting federal agency or department to suspend our
performance pending the outcome of the protest and may also result in a requirement to resubmit offers for the contract or in the
termination, reduction, or modification of the awarded contract;

. Suspend or debar us from doing business with the applicable government; and

. Control or prohibit the export of our services.

If a customer were to unexpectedly terminate, cancel, or decline to exercise an option to renew with respect to one or more of our significant contracts, or if
a government were to suspend or debar us from doing business with such government, our business, financial condition, and results of operations would be
materially harmed.

Failure to comply with laws, regulations, or contractual provisions applicable to our business could cause us to lose government customers or our
ability to contract with the U.S. and other governments.

As a government contractor, we must comply with laws, regulations, and contractual provisions relating to the formation, administration, and performance
of government contracts and inclusion on government contract vehicles, which affect how we and our partners do business with government agencies. As a
result of actual or perceived noncompliance with government contracting laws, regulations, or contractual provisions, we may be subject to audits and
internal investigations which may prove costly to our business financially, divert management time, or limit our ability to continue selling our platforms and
services to our government customers. These laws and regulations may impose other added costs on our business, and failure to comply with these or other
applicable regulations and requirements, including non-compliance in the past, could lead to claims for damages from our channel partners, penalties, and
termination of contracts and suspension or debarment from government contracting for a period of time with government agencies. Any such damages,
penalties, disruption, or limitation in our ability to do business with a government could adversely impact, and could have a material adverse effect on, our
business, results of operations, financial condition, public perception, and growth prospects.

Evolving government procurement policies and increased emphasis on cost over performance could adversely affect our business.

Federal, state, local, and foreign governments and government agencies could implement procurement policies that negatively impact our profitability.
Changes in procurement policy favoring more non-commercial purchases, different pricing, or evaluation criteria or government contract negotiation offers
based upon the customer’s view of what our pricing should be may affect the predictability of our margins on such contracts or make it more difficult to
compete on certain types of programs.
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Governments and government agencies are continually evaluating their contract pricing and financing practices, and we have no assurance regarding the full
scope and recurrence of any study and what changes will be proposed, if any, and their impact on our financial position, cash flows, or results of operations.

Increased competition and bid protests in a budget-constrained environment may make it more difficult to maintain our financial performance and
customer relationships.

A substantial portion of our business is awarded through competitive bidding. Even if we are successful in obtaining an award, we may encounter bid
protests from unsuccessful bidders on any specific award. Bid protests could result, among other things, in significant expenses to us, contract
modifications, or even loss of the contract award. Even where a bid protest does not result in the loss of a contract award, the resolution can extend the time
until contract activity can begin and, as a result, delay the recognition of revenue. We also may not be successful in our efforts to protest or challenge any
bids for contracts that were not awarded to us, and we would be required to incur significant time and expense in such efforts.

In addition, governments and agencies increasingly have relied on competitive contract award types, including IDIQ and other multi-award contracts, which
have the potential to create pricing pressure and to increase our costs by requiring us to submit multiple bids and proposals. Multi-award contracts require us
to make sustained efforts to obtain orders under the contract. The competitive bidding process entails substantial costs and managerial time to prepare bids
and proposals for contracts that may not be awarded to us or may be split among competitors.

We are experiencing increased competition while, at the same time, many of our customers are facing budget pressures, cutting costs, identifying more
affordable solutions, performing certain work internally rather than hiring contractors, and reducing product development cycles. To remain competitive, we
must maintain consistently strong customer relationships, seek to understand customer priorities, and provide superior performance, advanced technology
solutions, and service at an affordable cost with the agility that our customers require to satisfy their objectives in an increasingly price competitive
environment. Failure to do so could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

The U.S. government may procure non-commercial developmental services rather than commercial products, which could materially impact our future
U.S. government business and revenue.

U.S. government agencies, including our customers, often award large developmental item and service contracts to build custom software rather than firm
fixed-price contracts for commercial products. We sell commercial items and services and do not contract for non-commercial developmental services. The
U.S. government is required to procure commercial items and services to the maximum extent practicable in accordance with FASA, 10 U.S.C. § 2377; 41
U.S.C. § 3307, and the U.S. government may instead decide to procure non-commercial developmental items and services if commercial items and services
are not practicable. In order to challenge a government decision to procure developmental items and services instead of commercial items and services, we
would be required to file a bid protest at the agency level and/or with the Government Accountability Office. This can result in contentious communications
with government agency legal and contracting offices, and may escalate to litigation in federal court. The results of any future challenges or potential
litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, however, and any dispute or litigation with the U.S. government may not be resolved in our favor; moreover,
whether or not it is resolved in our favor, such disputes or litigation could result in significant expense and divert the efforts of our technical and
management personnel. These proceedings could adversely affect our reputation and relationship with government customers and could also result in
negative publicity, which could harm customer and public perception of our business. The enforcement of FASA has resulted in a significant increase in our
business with the U.S. federal government. Any change in or repeal of FASA, or a contrary interpretation of FASA by a court of competent jurisdiction,
would adversely affect our competitive position for U.S. federal government contracts.
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A decline in the U.S. and other government budgets, changes in spending or budgetary priorities, or delays in contract awards may significantly and
adversely affect our future revenue and limit our growth prospects.

Because we generate a substantial portion of our revenue from contracts with governments and government agencies, and in particular from contracts with
the U.S. government and government agencies, our results of operations could be adversely affected by government spending caps or changes in
government budgetary priorities, as well as by delays in the government budget process, program starts, or the award of contracts or orders under existing
contract vehicles, including as a result of a new U.S. administration. Current U.S. government spending levels for defense-related and other programs may
not be sustained beyond government fiscal year 2021. Future spending and program authorizations may not increase or may decrease or shift to programs in
areas in which we do not provide services or are less likely to be awarded contracts. Such changes in spending authorizations and budgetary priorities may
occur as a result of shifts in spending priorities from defense-related and other programs as a result of competing demands for federal funds and the number
and intensity of military conflicts or other factors.

The U.S. government also conducts periodic reviews of U.S. defense strategies and priorities which may shift Department of Defense budgetary priorities,
reduce overall spending, or delay contract or task order awards for defense-related programs from which we would otherwise expect to derive a significant
portion of our future revenue. A significant decline in overall U.S. government spending, a significant shift in spending priorities, the substantial reduction
or elimination of particular defense-related programs, or significant budget-related delays in contract or task order awards for large programs could
adversely affect our future revenue and limit our growth prospects.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock

The public trading price of our Class A common stock may be volatile and may decline regardless of our operating performance.

Prior to the listing of our Class A common stock, there was no public market for shares of our Class A common stock. The market prices of the securities of
other newly public companies have historically been highly volatile. The public trading price of our Class A common stock could be subject to fluctuations
in response to various factors, including those listed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, some of which are beyond our control. These fluctuations could
cause you to lose all or part of your investment in our Class A common stock since you might be unable to sell your shares at or above the price you paid.
Factors that could cause fluctuations in the public trading price of our Class A common stock include the following:

. The number of shares of our Class A common stock publicly owned and available for trading;

. Price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;

. Volatility in the trading prices and trading volumes of technology stocks;

. Changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of other technology companies generally, or those in our industry in
particular;

. Sales or expected sales of shares of our Class A common stock by us or our stockholders, including in connection with the expiration of the

lock-up agreements that certain of our stockholders have entered into in connection with our listing;
. Short-selling of our Class A common stock or related derivative securities;

. Failure of securities analysts to maintain coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by securities analysts who follow our company or
our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;

. Any financial projections we may provide to the public, any changes in those projections or our failure to meet those projections;
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. Announcements by us or our competitors of new services or platform features;

. The public’s reaction to our press releases, other public announcements, and filings with the SEC;

. Rumors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry;

. Actual or anticipated changes in our results of operations or fluctuations in our results of operations;

. Actual or anticipated developments in our business, our competitors’ businesses, or the competitive landscape generally;

. Litigation involving us, our industry or both, or investigations by regulators into our operations or those of our competitors;
. Actual or perceived privacy or security breaches or other incidents;

. Developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;

. Announced or completed acquisitions of businesses, services or technologies by us or our competitors;

. Changes in our management, including any departures of one of our Founders;

. New laws or regulations, public expectations regarding new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations

applicable to our business;

. Changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations, or principles;
. Any significant change in our management;
. Other events or factors, including those resulting from war, incidents of terrorism, pandemics, including the COVID-19 pandemic, or

responses to these events; and

. General economic conditions and slow or negative growth of our markets.

In addition, stock markets, and the market for technology companies in particular, have experienced price and volume fluctuations that have affected and
continue to affect the trading prices of equity securities of many companies. Stock prices of many companies, including technology companies, have
fluctuated in a manner often unrelated to the operating performance of those companies. In the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and
the trading price of a particular company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against these companies. Such litigation, if
instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s attention and resources and harm our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

Our amended and restated bylaws designate a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware as the exclusive forum for substantially all
disputes between us and our stockholders, and also provide that the federal district courts will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint
asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, each of which could limit our stockholders’ ability to choose the
Jjudicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, stockholders, or employees.

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and exclusive forum for
(a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (b) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our current or
former directors, stockholders, officers, or other employees to us or our stockholders, (c) any action or proceeding asserting a claim arising pursuant to, or
seeking to enforce any right, obligation or remedy under, any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation, or our amended and restated bylaws, (d) any action or proceeding as to which the Delaware General Corporation Law confers jurisdiction on
the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or (¢) any action or proceeding asserting a claim that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine shall be the
Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if the
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Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, another state court in Delaware or, if no state court in Delaware has jurisdiction, the federal district court for
the District of Delaware) and any appellate court therefrom, in all cases subject to the court having jurisdiction over the claims at issue and the
indispensable parties; provided that the exclusive forum provision will not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Exchange
Act.

Section 22 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all such
Securities Act actions. Accordingly, both state and federal courts have jurisdiction to entertain such claims. To prevent having to litigate claims in multiple
jurisdictions and the threat of inconsistent or contrary rulings by different courts, among other considerations, our amended and restated bylaws also provide
that the federal district courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising
under the Securities Act.

Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding or owning (or continuing to hold or own) any interest in any of our securities shall be
deemed to have notice of and consented to the foregoing bylaw provisions. Although we believe these exclusive forum provisions benefit us by providing
increased consistency in the application of Delaware law and federal securities laws in the types of lawsuits to which each applies, the exclusive forum
provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum of its choosing for disputes with us or any of our directors, officers,
stockholders, or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims against us and our current and former directors, officers,
stockholders, or other employees. Our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and
regulations thereunder as a result of our exclusive forum provisions. Further, in the event a court finds either exclusive forum provision contained in our
amended and restated bylaws to be unenforceable or inapplicable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other
jurisdictions, which could harm our results of operations.

Sales of substantial amounts of our Class A common stock in the public markets or the perception that sales might occur, including sales by our
Founders and their affiliates, could cause the trading price of our Class A common stock to decline.

Sales of substantial amounts of our Class A common stock in the public markets or the perception that sales might occur, could cause the trading price of
our Class A common stock to decline.

In addition to the supply and demand and volatility risk factors discussed above, sales of a substantial number of shares of our Class A common stock into
the public market, particularly sales by our directors, executive officers, and principal stockholders, or the perception that these sales might occur in large
quantities, could cause the trading price of our Class A common stock to decline. As of December 31, 2020, approximately 133.6 million options will expire
through December 2022 (including approximately 66.3 million options held by Mr. Karp which will expire in December 2021) if not exercised prior to their
respective expiration dates, and we expect many holders will elect to exercise such options prior to expiration. Upon exercise, the holders will receive
shares of our Class A or Class B common stock, which may subsequently be sold.

Our executive officers, directors, and record holders representing over 99% of our capital stock and securities convertible into or exchangeable for our
capital stock were subject to market standoff or lock-up agreements with us under which they were prohibited from selling shares of our capital stock until
February 18, 2021 (the “lock-up period”), except as described below and subject to certain other exceptions. As such, an aggregate of approximately
1,836.0 million shares, including shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options, were recently released from the lock-up provisions following
expiration of the lock-up period related to our listing on the NYSE, subject to applicable securities laws and our insider trading policy. Sales of substantial
amounts of stock in the public markets following the expiration of the lock-up period, or the perception that sales might occur, could cause the trading price
of our Class A common stock to decline.
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As of December 31, 2020, there were 1,542,057,292 shares of our Class A common stock outstanding, 249,077,252 shares of our Class B common stock
outstanding and 1,005,000 shares of our Class F common stock outstanding. Substantially all of these shares may be immediately sold. Moreover,
non-affiliates who have beneficially owned our Class A common stock for at least six months may rely on Rule 144 to sell their shares of Class A common
stock, and our directors, executive officers, and other affiliates (including our Founders and their affiliates) who have beneficially owned our Class A
common stock for at least six months are entitled to sell their shares of our Class A common stock subject to volume limitations under Rule 144 under the
Securities Act.

Further, as of December 31, 2020, there were outstanding options to purchase an aggregate of 253,744,515 shares of our Class A common stock and
282,021,988 shares of our Class B common stock, 124,870,238 shares of our Class A common stock and 60,000,000 shares of Class B common stock
subject to RSUs and 1,470,781 shares of our Class A common stock subject to growth units. All shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of
outstanding stock options and reserved for future issuance under our equity compensation plans have been registered for public resale under the Securities
Act. Subject to the satisfaction of applicable exercise periods and compliance by affiliates with Rule 144, the shares issued upon exercise of outstanding
stock options or upon settlement of outstanding RSUs and growth units will be available for immediate resale in the United States in the open market.

While the registration rights of our non-affiliates pursuant to our Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement dated August 24, 2020 to require us
to register shares owned by them for public sale in the United States have expired under the terms of that agreement, our affiliates who are party to the
Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, including our Founders and certain of the entities affiliated with Peter Thiel, will retain the right to
cause us to register shares held by them for resale until such rights terminate in accordance with our Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement.
Any registration statement we file to register additional shares, whether as a result of registration rights or otherwise and whether in connection with the
exercise of stock options, the settlement of RSUs or growth units, or the exercise or settlement of other awards or otherwise, could cause the trading price of
our Class A common stock to decline or be volatile.

We also may issue our capital stock or securities convertible into our capital stock from time to time in connection with a financing, acquisition,
investments or otherwise. Any such issuance could result in substantial dilution to our existing stockholders and cause the trading price of our Class A
common stock to decline.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws are intended to discourage certain types of
transactions that may involve an actual or threatened acquisition of the company, which will likely depress the trading price of our Class A common
stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that may make the acquisition of our company
more difficult, including the following:

. Our multi-class common stock structure, which provides our Founders and their affiliates with the ability to effectively control the
outcome of matters requiring stockholder approval, even if they own significantly less than a majority of the shares of our outstanding
common stock;

. Prior to the conversion of all of our shares of Class F common stock into shares of Class B common stock, the holders of our common
stock will only be able to take action by written consent if the action also receives the affirmative consent of a majority of the outstanding
shares of our Class F common stock, and after such point the holders of our common stock will only be able to take action at a meeting of
the stockholders and will not be able to take action by written consent for any matter;

. From and after the conversion of all of our shares of Class F common stock into shares of Class B common stock, our Board of Directors
will be classified into three classes of directors with staggered three-year terms;

. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting;
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. Vacancies on our Board of Directors will be able to be filled only by our Board of Directors and not by stockholders;
. Our directors may only be removed as provided in the Delaware General Corporation Law;
. A special meeting of our stockholders may only be called by the chairperson of our Board of Directors, our Chief Executive Officer, our

President, or a majority of our Board of Directors;

. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and
shares of which may be issued without further action by our stockholders, except that any designation and issuance of preferred stock must
receive the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of our Class F common stock; and

. Advance notice procedures apply for stockholders to nominate candidates for election as directors or to bring matters before an annual
meeting of stockholders.

These provisions, alone or together, could discourage, delay or prevent a transaction involving a change in control of our company. These provisions could
also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for stockholders to elect directors of their choosing and to cause us to take other corporate actions
they desire, any of which, under certain circumstances, could limit the opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our Class A
common stock, and could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for our Class A common stock.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about us, our business or our market, or if they
change their recommendation regarding our Class A common stock adversely, the trading price and trading volume of our Class A common stock could
decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us, our
business, our market or our competitors. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our ordinary shares or publish inaccurate or unfavorable
research about us, the trading price of our Class A common stock would likely decline. If these analysts publish target prices for our Class A common stock
that are below the then-current public price of our Class A common stock, it could cause the trading price of our Class A common stock to decline
significantly. Further, if one or more of these analysts cease coverage of Palantir or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our Class A common
stock could decrease, which might cause our Class A common stock trading price and trading volume to decline.

Although we currently are not considered to be a “controlled company” under the NYSE corporate governance rules, we may in the future become a
controlled company due to the concentration of voting power among our Founders and their affiliates.

Although we currently are not considered to be a “controlled company” under the NYSE corporate governance rules, we may in the future become a
controlled company due to the concentration of voting power among our Founders and their affiliates resulting from the issuance of our Class F common
stock. See “—Risks Related to the Multiple Class Structure of our Common Stock, the Founder Voting Trust Agreement, and the Founder Voting
Agreement” below. A “controlled company” pursuant to the NYSE corporate governance rules is a company of which more than 50% of the voting power is
held by an individual, group, or another company. In the event that our Founders or other stockholders acquire more than 50% of the voting power of the
Company, we may in the future be able to rely on the “controlled company” exemptions under the NYSE corporate governance rules due to this
concentration of voting power and the ability of our Founders and their affiliates to act as a group. If we were a controlled company, we would be eligible to
and could elect not to comply with certain of the NYSE corporate governance standards. Such standards include the requirement that a majority of directors
on our board of directors are independent directors, subject to certain phase-in periods, and the requirement that our compensation, nominating and
governance committee consist entirely of independent directors. In such a case, if the interests of our stockholders differ from the group of stockholders
holding a
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majority of the voting power, our stockholders would not have the same protection afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to all of the NYSE
corporate governance standards, and the ability of our independent directors to influence our business policies and corporate matters may be reduced.

We do not expect to pay dividends in the foreseeable future.

We have never declared nor paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance the operation and
expansion of our business, and we do not anticipate declaring or paying any dividends to holders of our capital stock in the foreseeable future. In addition,
our credit facility contains restrictions on our ability to pay dividends. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our
Board of Directors. Consequently, stockholders must rely on sales of their Class A common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the
only way to realize any future gains on their investment.

Risks Related to the Multiple Class Structure of our Common Stock, the Founder Voting Trust Agreement, and the Founder Voting Agreement

The multiple class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting power with certain stockholders, in particular, our Founders
and their affiliates, which will effectively eliminate your ability to influence the outcome of important transactions, including a change in control.

Our Class A common stock has one (1) vote per share, and our Class B common stock has ten (10) votes per share. Our Class F common stock has a
variable number of votes that, together with the Founder Voting Trust Agreement and the Founder Voting Agreement, ensure our Founders who are then
party to the Founder Voting Agreement will retain up to 49.999999% of the Company’s voting power, and the Founders may, in certain circumstances in
the future, have voting power that, in the aggregate, exceeds 49.999999% of the Company’s voting power. The Founders’ ability to exercise the voting
power of the Class F common stock is subject to the Founders and certain of their affiliates collectively meeting the Ownership Threshold (as defined
below) on the applicable record date for a vote of the stockholders (except as provided in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation).
Accordingly, such Founders will effectively control all matters submitted to the stockholders for the foreseeable future, including the election of directors,
amendments of our organizational documents, compensation matters, and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets, or other
major corporate transaction requiring stockholder approval.

The Founders may have interests that differ from yours and may vote in a way with which you disagree, and which may be adverse to your interests. This
concentrated control is likely to have the effect of limiting the likelihood of an unsolicited merger proposal, unsolicited tender offer, or proxy contest for the
removal of directors. As a result, our governance structure and the adoption of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation may have the effect of
depriving our stockholders of an opportunity to sell their shares at a premium over prevailing market prices and make it more difficult to replace our
directors and management.

The Founder Voting Trust Agreement and the Founder Voting Agreement also have the effect of concentrating voting power with our Founders and
their affiliates, which will effectively eliminate your ability to influence the outcome of important transactions, including a change in control.

Our Founders have agreed through the Founder Voting Trust Agreement and Founder Voting Agreement that all of the shares of Class F common stock and
all of the shares of our capital stock over which they and their affiliates have granted a proxy under the Founder Voting Agreement will be voted in the
manner instructed by a majority of our Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement. Accordingly, together with the multiple class
structure of our common stock, such Founders will effectively control all matters submitted to the stockholders for the foreseeable future, including the
election of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, compensation matters, and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of
our assets, or
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other major corporate transaction requiring stockholder approval. Upon the withdrawal or removal of any of our Founders from the Founder Voting
Agreement, including upon their death or disability, the remaining Founders or Founder, as the case may be, will determine the manner in which the shares
of our Class F common stock as well as the shares subject to the Founder Voting Agreement are voted.

In such cases, the voting power of our outstanding capital stock will be further concentrated among the remaining Founders, which may be as few as one.
Further, if there are only two Founders who are party to the Founder Voting Agreement, one Founder will be able to effectively defeat any shareholder
action, except for the election of directors under a plurality standard, if his instruction to vote the shares of Class F common stock differs from the other
Founder. The Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement will retain the right to direct the voting of the Class F common stock without
regard to their employment status with us.

All shares of our Class F common stock are held by a voting trust established by our Founders and voted pursuant to the Founder Voting Trust Agreement.
Accordingly, our Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement will control any vote that requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a
majority of our Class F common stock, including action of our stockholders by written consent, the designation or issuance by us of shares of preferred
stock, and certain amendments to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation relating to our preferred stock.

Although we are a third-party beneficiary of the Founder Voting Agreement and the Founder Voting Trust Agreement, we do not have a general consent
right with respect to amendments thereto, and either agreement may be amended or modified in the future in a manner that is adverse to our stockholders,
which may include increasing the ability of one or more of our Founders to exercise control over matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders.

In certain circumstances in the future, the Founders and their affiliates could have voting power that exceeds 49.999999% of the voting power of our
outstanding capital stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation does not prevent our Founders and their affiliates from having more than 49.999999% of the voting
power of our outstanding capital stock in aggregate. In the future, our Founders and their affiliates could have voting power that exceeds 49.999999% of the
voting power of our outstanding capital stock in the aggregate, including substantially in excess, as a result of their ownership of our Class A common stock
and Class B common stock alone. In this case, the shares of our Class F common stock would generally be entitled to zero votes per share, but all of the
shares that are then subject to the Founder Voting Agreement would continue to be exercised in accordance with the decision of a majority in number of the
Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement.

For example, if the Founders and their affiliates hold shares other than the Class F common stock, such as the Class B common stock, that, in the aggregate,
have voting power that exceeds 49.999999% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock, the total voting power of the Founders and their affiliates
would exceed 49.999999% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock in the aggregate. This circumstance could occur if other holders of Class B
common stock convert or sell such shares to a greater degree than the Founders do, which would result in an increase in the Founders’ share of the voting
power of our outstanding capital stock. Certain transfers by holders of Class B common stock may result in a conversion of such shares to Class A common
stock, even in circumstances that may not result in such a conversion in other companies that have dual or multiple class capital structures. As an example,
if a holder of Class B common stock transfers less than all of such holder’s Class B common stock pursuant to certain permitted transfer provisions, such
transferred shares will convert into Class A common stock, which may have the result of increasing the voting power of the remaining holders of Class B
common stock, including the Founders. Conversely, certain other transfers by holders of Class B common stock may not result in a conversion of such
shares to Class A common stock, even in circumstances that may result in such a conversion in other companies that have dual or multiple class capital
structures. For instance, the Board of Directors or certain officers may approve the transfer of shares of Class B
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common stock, in which case such transfer will not result in a conversion of such shares to Class A common stock. Similarly, our Founders may acquire
additional shares of our Class A common stock or Class B common stock. Shares of our Class B common stock may be transferred (without converting into
shares of Class A common stock) to, among others, our Founders, and such transfers to our Founders would increase the total voting power of the Founders
and their affiliates above 49.999999% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock in the aggregate. Excluding the voting power of the Class F
common stock, our Founders and their affiliates owned shares entitled to approximately 21.1% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock as of
February 19, 2021.

In addition, if one or two Founders withdraw from the Founder Voting Agreement, the total voting power of the Founders and their affiliates could exceed
49.999999% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock in the aggregate. For instance, if one Founder has withdrawn from the Founder Voting
Agreement and such Founder and his affiliates vote shares entitled to 10% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock, our Founders would vote up
t0 59.999999% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock in the aggregate. If such Founder votes such shares in the same manner as the shares of
Class F common stock are voted pursuant to the Founder Voting Trust Agreement, our Founders, in the aggregate, would vote up to 59.999999% of the
voting power of our capital stock in such manner.

Similarly, the calculation of the voting power of the Class F common stock may not take into account all shares that are deemed to be beneficially owned by
any Founder or his affiliates, including certain shares for which a proxy has not been granted under the Founder Voting Agreement pursuant to its terms or
by an amendment thereof, in particular if certain shares are withdrawn from such proxy.

As a result of future issuances of our common stock or the disposal of shares of our common stock by our Founders and their affiliates, our Founders
and their affiliates could have voting power that is substantially greater than, and outsized in comparison to, their economic interests and the percentage
of our common stock that they hold.

In certain circumstances, our Founders and their affiliates could have voting power that is substantially greater than, and outsized in comparison to, their
economic interests and the percentage of our common stock that they hold. This separation between voting power and economic interests could cause
conflicts of interest between our Founders and our other stockholders, which may result in our Founders undertaking, or causing us to undertake, actions
that would be desirable for the Founders or their affiliates but would not be desirable for our other stockholders.

In the event that our Founders have less than 49.999999% of the voting power of our capital stock prior to giving effect to the voting power of the Class F
common stock, the issuance of additional shares by us in the future to stockholders other than our Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting
Agreement will dilute the economic interests of our Founders but will not result in further dilution of the voting power of such Founders. Because the shares
of Class F common stock have variable voting rights, such issuances will instead correspondingly increase the voting power of the Class F common stock.
For instance, if the Founders who are party to the Founder Voting Agreement have 30% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock in aggregate
prior to giving effect to the voting power of the Class F common stock, the Class F common stock would have up to 19.999999% of our voting power and
such Founders would have up to 49.999999% of our voting power. After an issuance of shares of our capital stock entitled to 10% of our voting power in
aggregate to stockholders other than our Founders, our Founders who are party to the Founder Voting Agreement would have approximately 27% of our
voting power, the Class F common stock would have up to approximately 22.999999% of our voting power and such Founders would have up to
49.999999% of our voting power. Any future issuances of additional shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock will not be subject to
approval by our stockholders except as required by the listing standards of the NYSE.

In addition, our Founders are free to transfer or otherwise dispose of their shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock without diminishing
their voting power so long as our Founders and certain of their
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affiliates continue to collectively hold 100,000,000 Corporation Equity Securities (as defined in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation) on
the applicable record date (subject to equitable adjustments as provided in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation) (the “Ownership
Threshold”). Shares of our Class F common stock will not convert into shares of our Class B common stock, and our multi-class structure will not
terminate, solely because our Founders and certain of their affiliates do not satisfy this Ownership Threshold on the applicable record date. Upon the
withdrawal, or removal, of one or more of our Founders from the Founder Voting Agreement (including as a result of death or disability), the Ownership
Threshold that must be met on the applicable record date will be reduced on a pro rata basis based on the ownership of Corporation Equity Securities (which
excludes Designated Founders’ Excluded Shares) of the Founders and certain of their affiliates as of August 10, 2020, which could substantially decrease
the Ownership Threshold without reducing the effective voting power of the Class F common stock. Accordingly, our Founders who are then party to the
Founder Voting Agreement will be able to achieve substantial liquidity in their holdings, and substantially diminish their economic interest in us, without
diminishing their voting power.

For example, 89,007,617 shares held by our Founders and their affiliates were permitted to be sold immediately under the lock-up agreements and were
registered for resale pursuant to the registration statement relating to our direct listing on the NYSE. Following the expiration of their lock-up agreements,
our Founders are now free to sell all of their remaining shares pursuant to Rule 144 (subject to volume limitations) at such times and in such amounts as
they determine. The total voting power that will be exercised in accordance with the decision of a majority in number of the Founders who are then party to
the Founder Voting Agreement will not be diminished as a result of these sales, so long as such Founders and certain of their affiliates collectively meet the
Ownership Threshold on the applicable record date.

Furthermore, meeting the Ownership Threshold on the applicable record date will not ensure that the Founders do not or will not have differing economic
interests from the interests of holders of the Class A common stock. For example, the Founder Voting Agreement does not prohibit a Founder from hedging
his economic exposure to our common stock; however, we have implemented a policy that will prohibit hedging by our directors, officers and employees,
which currently includes the Founders. In addition, the trustee will vote shares of Class F common stock in accordance with the decision of a majority in
number of the Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement, regardless of such Founders’ relative ownership of any class of our common
stock.

In August 2020, we granted two of our Founders, Mr. Karp, our Chief Executive Officer and a member of our Board of Directors, and Mr. Cohen, our
President and a member of our Board of Directors, options and RSUs for an aggregate of 207.0 million shares of our Class B common stock (collectively,
the “Founder Grants”), which will become vested, exercisable and/or settle upon the future satisfaction of service conditions and certain other conditions.
These awards are expected to contribute to the Founders’ ability to meet the Ownership Threshold on the applicable record date at least until the sale of
such shares by Mr. Karp and Mr. Cohen.

Shares of our common stock designated by one or more of our Founders pursuant to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation may be
voted or not voted by such Founders in their discretion and will reduce the voting power exercised in accordance with the decision of a majority in
number of the Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement.

Mr. Thiel has identified a portion of the shares of Class B common stock and Class A common stock beneficially owned by him and his affiliates as
Designated Founders’ Excluded Shares (as defined in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation), which will not be subject to the Founder
Voting Agreement. Such Designated Founders’ Excluded Shares would reduce the total voting power that will be exercised in accordance with the decision
of a majority in number of the Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement. Mr. Thiel or his affiliates would vote or not vote such
Designated Founders’ Excluded Shares in their discretion, which may include in a manner different than the voting power exercised in accordance with the
decision of a majority in number of the Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement. Depending on certain circumstances, including the
extent to which other holders of Class B common stock convert or sell such shares
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of Class B common stock, such Designated Founders’ Excluded Shares may have significant voting power and increase Mr. Thiel or his affiliates’ relative
voting power compared to the other Founders. The shares identified by Mr. Thiel as Designated Founders’ Excluded Shares represented approximately
4.1% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock as of February 19, 2021. In the future, Mr. Thiel or our other Founders could designate additional
shares as Designated Founders’ Excluded Shares.

The Ownership Threshold that must be met on any applicable record date is a small minority of our outstanding Corporation Equity Securities, and
future issuances of Corporation Equity Securities may decrease this percentage.

The Ownership Threshold that must be met on any applicable record date is 100,000,000 Corporation Equity Securities as of the date hereof, which is a
small minority of our outstanding Corporation Equity Securities. While the number of outstanding Corporation Equity Securities may exceed the number of
shares of our outstanding capital stock, as a comparison, there were 1,792,139,544 shares of our common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2020.
Except for certain equitable adjustments as provided in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, future issuances of Corporation Equity
Securities by us will not increase the Ownership Threshold that must be met on any applicable record date and, accordingly, will decrease the percentage of
outstanding Corporation Equity Securities represented by the Ownership Threshold.

Upon the withdrawal, or removal, of one or more of our Founders from the Founder Voting Agreement (including as a result of death or disability), the
Ownership Threshold that must be met on the applicable record date will be reduced on a pro rata basis based on the ownership of Corporation Equity
Securities of the Founders and certain of their affiliates as of August 10, 2020. We expect that the Ownership Threshold will be reduced by approximately
57 million Corporation Equity Securities upon the withdrawal or removal from the Founder Voting Agreement of Alexander Karp, approximately
12 million Corporation Equity Securities upon the withdrawal or removal of Stephen Cohen, and approximately 31 million Corporation Equity Securities
upon the withdrawal or removal of Peter Thiel if such withdrawals or removals were to happen.

In addition, in the future we could create a new class of equity securities with different economic or voting rights than existing classes. If we were to create
a new class of equity security, because of the broad definition of “Corporation Equity Securities,” such security could qualify as Corporation Equity
Securities and therefore count towards the Ownership Threshold if held by our Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement. If such
security has lesser or no economic rights, it could have the effect of further increasing the divergence between the economic interests of our Founders who
are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement, on the one hand, and the voting power of such Founders, on the other. Further, Corporation Equity
Securities includes, among other things, any warrants, calls, options or other right, whether vested or unvested, to acquire from the Company certain voting
or equity securities from the Company. Accordingly, the Board of Directors could issue additional equity securities, or additional options, RSUs, warrants
or other rights to acquire equity securities (whether vested or unvested), to our Founders, which would increase the number of Corporation Equity Securities
they hold and enable them to meet the Ownership Threshold notwithstanding sales of Corporation Equity Securities that they currently hold. As a result, any
Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement could hold a nominal equity interest with little to no voting rights but meet the Ownership
Threshold and therefore have voting power that provides effective control of our company.

The multiple class structure of our common stock features certain provisions that are novel or otherwise not common among other corporations with
multiple class structures.

A number of provisions relating to the multiple class structure of our common stock are novel or otherwise not common among other corporations with
multiple class structures. For instance, our Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement are free to transfer or otherwise dispose of their
shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock without diminishing their voting control so long as our Founders who are then party to the
Founder Voting Agreement and certain of their affiliates meet the Ownership Threshold (as defined
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below) on the applicable record date. Shares of our Class B common stock, which have ten (10) votes per share, may remain outstanding in perpetuity.
Additionally, shares of our Class B common stock may be transferred (without converting into shares of Class A common stock) to, among others, our
Founders, which could result in our Founders or other stockholders obtaining additional voting control.

Additionally, certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation related to the calculation of the voting power of the Class F
common stock may have an adverse effect on our stockholders other than our Founders. Under our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our
Founders have the right to challenge our calculation of the voting power of the Class F common stock. Such a challenge may cause delays in the
certification of any vote of our stockholders or in the effectiveness of any action of our stockholders. Additionally, if our Founders or the grantee under the
Founder Voting Agreement do not provide information relating to certain shares of common stock as required by our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation, we may not be able to accurately calculate the voting power of our Class F common stock, which may result in an increase of the voting
power of our Founders.

The multi-class structure of our common stock, the Founder Voting Trust Agreement and the Founder Voting Agreement by which our Founders
exercise effective control over all matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders will exist for the foreseeable future.

Shares of our Class F common stock will convert automatically into shares of our Class B common stock only if the Founder Voting Trust Agreement or the
Founder Voting Agreement is terminated. Each of these agreements could remain in place until the death of our last living Founder. As of December 31,
2020, our Founders were 53, 53, and 38 years old. Further, upon a discretionary or compulsory withdrawal of a Founder as a beneficiary of the Founder
Voting Trust Agreement, the Trustee will instruct our transfer agent and us to convert the withdrawing Founder’s pro rata portion of the shares of Class F
common stock held in the Founder Voting Trust at the time of the withdrawal into shares of Class B common stock in accordance with our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation.

Because of the ten-to-one voting ratio between our Class B and Class A common stock, even if the Class F common stock converts to Class B common
stock, our Founders will collectively control a significant portion of the voting power of our capital stock based on their current ownership. Future transfers
by holders of shares of Class B common stock will generally result in those shares converting to Class A common stock, subject to limited exceptions, such
as certain transfers effected for estate planning purposes and transfers between related entities. The conversion of Class B common stock to Class A
common stock will have the effect, over time, of increasing the relative voting power of those individual holders of Class B common stock who retain their
shares in the long term. If our Founders, individually or collectively, retain a significant portion of their holdings of Class B common stock for an extended
period of time, they could, in the future, individually or collectively, continue to control a significant portion of the combined voting power of our Class A
common stock and Class B common stock, even without the use of the Class F common stock, and such voting power could enable holders of Class B
common stock to effectively control all matters subject to the stockholder approval. Shares of our Class B common stock may remain outstanding in

perpetuity.

Further, if all, or a large portion, of the Founder Grants should be exercised or vest and settle, our Founders will increase their voting power of our Class B
common stock. Although the terms of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation only provide for a separate vote of the holders of our Class B
common stock on limited matters, under Delaware law, certain actions may require the approval of the holders of the Class B common stock voting as a
separate class. For example, if we amend our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to adversely affect the special rights, powers, or preferences
of our Class B common stock in a manner that does not so affect the Class A common stock or Class F common stock, Delaware law could require approval
of the holders of our Class B common stock voting separately as single class. For any vote of the Class B common stock voting as a separate class, our
Founders will significantly influence such vote if all, or a large portion, of the Founder Grants should vest and settle and the Founders retain such shares.
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Our governance structure may negatively affect the decision by certain institutional investors to purchase or hold shares of our Class A common stock.

The holding of low-voting stock, such as our Class A common stock, may not be permitted by the investment policies of certain institutional investors or
may be less attractive to the portfolio managers of certain institutional investors. In addition, in July 2017, FTSE Russell and Standard & Poor’s announced
that they would cease to allow most newly public companies utilizing dual- or multi-class capital structures to be included in their indices. Affected indices
include the Russell 2000 and the S&P 500, S&P MidCap 400, and S&P SmallCap 600, which together make up the S&P Composite 1500. Our multi-class
capital structure may make us ineligible for inclusion in any of these and certain other indices, and as a result, mutual funds, exchange-traded funds, and
other investment vehicles that attempt to passively track these indices would not invest in our stock. These policies may depress our valuation compared to
those of other similar companies that are included.

Future issuances of our Class A common stock will dilute the voting power of our Class A common stockholders but may not result in further dilution
of the voting power of our Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement.

Future issuances of our Class A common stock will dilute the voting power of our Class A common stockholders and future issuances to stockholders other
than our Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement will dilute the economic interests of our Founders. However, because the shares of
Class F common stock have variable voting rights, in the event that our Founders have less than 49.999999% of the voting power of our capital stock prior
to giving effect to the voting power of the Class F common stock, future issuances of Class A common stock to stockholders other than our Founders will
not result in dilution of the voting power of our Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement, but rather, will correspondingly increase the
voting power of the Class F common stock. For instance, if the Founders who are party to the Founder Voting Agreement have 30% of the voting power of
our outstanding capital stock in aggregate prior to giving effect to the voting power of the Class F common stock, the Class F common stock would have up
to 19.999999% of our voting power resulting in such Founders having up to 49.999999% of our voting power. If we were to issue additional shares of our
capital stock entitled to 10% of our voting power in aggregate to stockholders other than our Founders, then our Founders who are party to the Founder
Voting Agreement would have approximately 27% of our voting power, and the Class F common stock would have up to approximately 22.999999% of our
voting power, resulting in such Founders having up to 49.999999% of our voting power. Any future issuances of additional shares of Class A common
stock will not be subject to approval by our stockholders except as required by the listing standards of the NYSE. In addition, it may be very difficult for our
Class A common stockholders to determine from time to time, including in advance of a meeting of stockholders, their individual or aggregate voting power
due to the unique features of our multi-class capital structure, such as the variable number of votes per share of our Class F common stock.

General Risk Factors
Adverse economic conditions or reduced technology spending may adversely impact our business.

Our business depends on the economic health of our current and prospective customers and overall demand for technology. In addition, the purchase of our
platforms and services is often discretionary and typically involves a significant commitment of capital and other resources. A further downturn in
economic conditions, global political and economic uncertainty, a lack of availability of credit, a reduction in business confidence and activity, the
curtailment of government or corporate spending, public health concerns or emergencies, financial market volatility, and other factors have in the past and
may in the future affect the industries to which we sell our platforms and services. Our customers may suffer from reduced operating budgets, which could
cause them to defer or forego purchases of our platforms or services. Moreover, competitors may respond to market conditions by lowering prices and
attempting to lure away our customers, and the increased pace of consolidation in certain industries may result in reduced overall spending on our offerings.
Uncertainty about global and
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regional economic conditions, a downturn in the technology sector or any sectors in which our customers operate, or a reduction in information technology
spending even if economic conditions are stable, could adversely impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations in a number of ways,
including longer sales cycles, lower prices for our platforms and services, material default rates among our customers, reduced sales of our platforms or
services, and lower or no growth.

We cannot predict the timing, strength, or duration of any crises, economic slowdown or any subsequent recovery generally, or for any industry in
particular. Although certain aspects of the effects of a crisis or an economic slowdown may provide potential new opportunities for our business, we cannot
guarantee that the net impact of any such events will not be materially negative. Accordingly, if the conditions in the general economy and the markets in
which we operate worsen from present levels, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, our ability to produce timely and accurate financial statements or comply with applicable
regulations could be impaired.

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and the rules and regulations of the listing standards of the
NYSE. We expect that the requirements of these rules and regulations will continue to increase our legal, accounting, and financial compliance costs, make
some activities more difficult, time-consuming, and costly, and place significant strain on our personnel, systems, and resources.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting. We have developed and refined our financial reporting and other disclosure controls and procedures, and will continue to do so. For example, we
recently reimplemented our enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) system. This may be disruptive to our business if the ERP system does not work as
planned or if we experience issues relating to the reimplementation, in which case we may be unable to timely or accurately prepare financial reports, make
payments to our suppliers and employees, or invoice and collect from our customers. Our controls are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by us in the reports that we will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported
within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that information required to be disclosed in reports under the Exchange Act is accumulated
and communicated to our principal executive and financial officers. We are also continuing to improve our internal control over financial reporting. Some
members of our management team have limited or no experience managing a publicly traded company, interacting with public company investors, and
complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies, and we have limited accounting and financial reporting personnel and other
resources with which to address our internal controls and related procedures, including complying with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act that we will eventually be required to include in our annual reports filed with the SEC. We will need to hire and successfully
integrate additional accounting and financial staff with appropriate company experience and technical accounting knowledge, as well as implement and
integrate new technological systems. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our financial statement and disclosure controls and procedures
and internal control over financial reporting, we have expended, and anticipate that we will continue to expend, significant resources, including accounting-
related costs and significant management oversight.

Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions in our business. Further, we have
identified in the past, and may identify in the future, deficiencies in our controls. Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls or any difficulties
encountered in their implementation or improvement could harm our results of operations or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and may
result in a restatement of our financial statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting
also could adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations and annual independent registered public accounting firm attestation reports.
Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose
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confidence in our reported financial and other information, which could have a negative effect on the trading price of our Class A common stock. In
addition, if we are unable to continue to meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain listed on the NYSE. As of December 31, 2020 we were not
required to comply with the SEC rules that implement Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and are therefore not required to make a formal assessment of
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting for that purpose. We will be required to provide an annual management report on the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, with our second Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We expect our independent registered public accounting firm will be required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting commencing with our second annual report on Form 10-K. At such time, our independent registered public accounting firm may issue a report that
is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which our internal control over financial reporting is documented, designed or operating. Any
failure to maintain effective disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations and could cause a decline in the market price of our Class A common stock.

We will incur increased costs and demands upon management as a result of complying with the laws and regulations affecting public companies which
could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

As a public company, we have incurred and will continue to incur greater legal, accounting, finance, and other expenses than we incurred as a private
company. We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act of 2010 (the “Dodd-Frank Act”) and the rules and regulations of the NYSE. These requirements have increased and will continue to increase
our legal, accounting, and financial compliance costs and have made, and will continue to make, some activities more time-consuming and costly. For
example, the Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file annual, quarterly, and current reports with respect to our business and results of
operations. As a result of the complexity involved in complying with the rules and regulations applicable to public companies, our management’s attention
may be diverted from the day-to-day management of our business, which could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Although
we have already hired additional employees to assist us in complying with these requirements, we may need to hire more employees in the future or engage
outside consultants, which will increase our operating expenses. Additionally, as a public company subject to additional rules and regulations and oversight,
we may not have the same flexibility we had as a private company.

In addition, changing laws, regulations, and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure are creating uncertainty for public companies,
increasing legal and financial compliance costs, and making some activities more time-consuming. These laws, regulations, and standards are subject to
varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and, as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is
provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by
ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. We intend to invest substantial resources to comply with evolving laws, regulations, and
standards, and this investment may result in increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management’s time and attention from
business operations to compliance activities. If our efforts to comply with new laws, regulations, and standards differ from the activities intended by
regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to their application and practice, regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us
and our business may be harmed.

We also expect these rules and regulations to make it more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to
accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to maintain the same or similar coverage. As a result, it may be more difficult
for us to attract and retain qualified individuals to serve on our Board of Directors or as our executive officers.
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We ceased to be an “emerging growth company” as defined in the Jumpstart our Business Startups Act of 2012 as of December 31, 2020. As a result, we
have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, additional costs associated with being a public company, including costs associated with
compliance with the auditor attestation requirement of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the adoption of certain ASUs upon losing such status, and
additional disclosure requirements.

As a result of disclosure of information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and other filings required of a public company, our business and financial
condition will become more visible, which may result in an increased risk of threatened or actual litigation, including by competitors and other third parties.
If such claims are successful, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be harmed, and even if the claims do not result in litigation or
are resolved in our favor, these claims, and the time and resources necessary to resolve them, could divert the resources of our management and harm our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Natural disasters and other events beyond our control could harm our business.

Natural disasters or other catastrophic events may cause damage or disruption to our operations, non-U.S. commerce and the global economy, and thus
could have a negative effect on us. Our business operations are subject to interruption by natural disasters, earthquakes, flooding, fire, power shortages,
pandemics such as the recent spread of COVID-19, terrorism, political unrest, telecommunications failure, vandalism, cyberattacks, geopolitical instability,
war, the effects of climate change (such as drought, wildfires, increased storm severity, and sea level rise), and other events beyond our control. Although
we maintain crisis management and disaster response plans, such events could make it difficult or impossible for us to deliver our services to our customers,
could decrease demand for our services, could make existing customers unable or unwilling to fulfill their contractual requirements to us, including their
payment obligations, and could cause us to incur substantial expense, including expenses or liabilities arising from potential litigation. Our insurance may
not be sufficient to cover losses or additional expense that we may sustain. Customer data could be lost, significant recovery time could be required to
resume operations and our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected in the event of a major natural disaster or catastrophic
event.

We may face exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.

Our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the Euro and
GBP. We expect our non-U.S. operations to continue to grow in the near term and we are continually monitoring our foreign currency exposure to
determine if we should consider a hedging program. Today, our non-U.S. contracts are denominated in either U.S. dollars or local currency, while our
non-U.S. operating expenses are often denominated in local currencies. Additionally, as we expand our non-U.S. operations, a larger portion of our
operating expenses may be denominated in local currencies. Therefore, increases in the value of the U.S. dollar and decreases in the value of foreign
currencies could result in the dollar equivalent of our revenues being lower.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Facilities

Our corporate headquarters is located in Denver, Colorado.

We lease additional offices in the United States and around the world, including in California, New York, and Washington, D.C., in the United States; and
Australia, Canada, Denmark, France, Germany, Israel, Japan, Norway, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Arab Emirates, and the United Kingdom.
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We lease all of our facilities and do not own any real property. We intend to procure additional space as we add employees and expand geographically. We
believe our facilities are adequate and suitable for our current needs and that, should it be needed, suitable additional or alternative space will be available to
accommodate any expansion of our operations.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time we are subject to legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course of business. Based on our current knowledge, we believe
that the amount or range of reasonably possible losses will not, either individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on our business, results
of operations, or financial condition.

The results of any litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and an unfavorable resolution in any legal proceedings could materially affect our future
business, results of operations, or financial condition. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and
settlement costs, diversion of management resources, and other factors.

For information on legal proceedings, refer to Note 9. Commitments and Contingencies—Litigation and Legal Proceedings in our consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information for Class A Common Stock

Our Class A common stock has been listed on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) under the symbol “PLTR” since September 30, 2020. Prior to
that date, there was no public trading market for our Class A common stock.

Holders of Record

As of February 22, 2021, there were 1,306 holders of record of our Class A common stock, 49 holders of record of our Class B common stock, and one
holder of record of our Class F common stock. Because many of our shares of Class A common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of
stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of stockholders represented by these record holders.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We intend to retain any future earnings and do not expect to pay any dividends in
the foreseeable future. Any future determination to declare cash dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of directors, subject to applicable
laws, and will depend on a number of factors, including our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, contractual restrictions, general
business conditions, and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant. In addition, the terms of our credit facility contain restrictions on our
ability to declare and pay cash dividends on our capital stock, and we may enter into credit agreements or other borrowing arrangements in the future that
may restrict our ability to declare and pay cash dividends.
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Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the Securities Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for purposes of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”), or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section, and shall not be
deemed to be incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

The following graph compares the cumulative total return to stockholders on our Class A common stock since September 30, 2020 (the date our Class A
common stock commenced trading on the NYSE) relative to the cumulative total returns of the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index and the Standard & Poor’s
Information Technology Index over the same period. An investment of $100 (with reinvestment of all dividends) is assumed to have been made in our
Class A common stock and in each index at the market close on September 30, 2020, and its relative performance is tracked through December 31, 2020.
The returns shown are based on historical results and are not intended to suggest future performance.

<= PALANTIR TECHNOLOWGIES INC. {FLTR| REF 500 INDEX ~== B&F 500 MFORMATION TECHNOLOGY (SECTOR)
Performance Graph
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Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

None.

ITEM 6. SELECTEDFINANCIAL DATA
Not applicable.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial
statements and the accompanying notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking
statements based upon current plans, expectations, and beliefs, involving risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements. You should review the section titled “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” for a
discussion of forward-looking statements and the section titled “Risk Factors” for a discussion of factors that could cause actual results to differ materially
from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis and elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any period in the future.
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Overview
We founded the company in 2003 to build software for use in counterterrorism operations.

In 2008, we released our first platform, Palantir Gotham, for customers in the intelligence sector. Gotham enables users to identify patterns hidden deep
within datasets, ranging from signals intelligence sources to reports from confidential informants.

Defense agencies in the United States then began using Gotham to investigate potential threats and to help protect soldiers from improvised explosive
devices. Today, the platform is widely used by government agencies in the United States and its allies. Our software is on the front lines, sometimes
literally, and that means so are we.

We later began working with leading companies across industries, including companies in the energy, transportation, financial services, and healthcare
sectors. In 2016, we released our second software platform, Palantir Foundry, to address a common set of challenges that we saw at large companies.

Foundry is becoming a central operating system not only for individual institutions but also for entire industries.

In 2017, for example, our partnership with Airbus expanded into a platform for the aviation industry, and today connects data from more than one hundred
airlines and 9,000 aircraft around the world.

We believe that every large institution faces challenges that our platforms were designed to address. Our focus in the near term is to build partnerships with
institutions that have the leadership necessary to effect structural change within their organizations — to reconstitute their operations around data. Over the
long term, we believe that every large institution in the markets we serve is a potential partner.

Direct Listing

On September 30, 2020, we completed a direct listing of our Class A common stock, on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) (the “Direct Listing”).
Immediately prior to the Direct Listing and the filing of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, all outstanding shares of redeemable
convertible preferred stock and convertible preferred stock were converted into 797,743,185 shares of our Class B common stock, and all of our outstanding
preferred stock warrants were converted into common stock warrants, which resulted in the reclassification of the warrants liability to additional paid-in
capital. Additionally, our restricted stock units (“RSUs”) had a performance vesting condition that was satisfied upon the completion of the Direct Listing.
Accordingly, the Direct Listing resulted in the vesting and settlement of RSUs covering 68,149,214 shares of Class A common stock and as a result we
recorded cumulative stock-based compensation of $769.5 million on September 30, 2020.

In addition, we incurred fees related to financial advisory, accounting, legal and other professional services related to the Direct Listing and public company
readiness initiatives and recorded $53.7 million primarily in general and administrative expense during the quarter ended September 30, 2020.

Our Business

For the year ended December 31, 2020, we generated $1.1 billion in revenue, reflecting a 47% growth rate from the year ended December 31, 2019, when
we generated $742.6 million in revenue.

Our operating results have improved significantly in recent years when excluding stock-based compensation. In the year ended December 31, 2020, we
incurred losses from operations of $1.2 billion, or income from operations of $189.9 million when excluding stock-based compensation, related employer
payroll taxes, and non-recurring charges relating to our direct listing in 2020. In the year ended December 31, 2019, our losses from operations were $576.4
million, or $334.5 million when excluding stock-based compensation.
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In the year ended December 31, 2020, our gross profit was $740.1 million, reflecting a gross margin of 68%, or 81% when excluding stock-based
compensation. In the year ended December 31, 2019, our gross profit was $500.2 million, reflecting a gross margin of 67%, or 71% when excluding stock-
based compensation.

For more information about our income or loss from operations, when excluding stock-based compensation, related employer payroll taxes, and non-
recurring direct listing charges; and gross profit, and gross margin, when excluding stock-based compensation, as well as reconciliations from loss from
operations and gross profit, see the section titled “Non-GAAP Reconciliations” below.

Our Customers

As of December 31, 2020, we had 139 customers, including leading companies in various commercial sectors as well as government agencies around the
world.

We define a customer as an organization from which we have recognized revenue in a reporting period. For large government agencies, where a single
institution has multiple divisions, units, or subsidiary agencies, each such division, unit, or subsidiary agency that enters into a separate contract with us and
is invoiced as a separate entity is treated as a separate customer. For example, while the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Centers for Disease Control,
and National Institutes of Health are subsidiary agencies of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, we treat each of those agencies as a
separate customer given that the governing structures and procurement processes of each agency are independent.

We have built lasting and significant customer relationships with some of the world’s leading government institutions and companies. Our average revenue
per customer in the year ended December 31, 2020 was $7.9 million, which grew 41% from $5.6 million per customer in the year ended December 31,
2019. Our top twenty customers generated $663.1 million in revenue, or 61% of our total revenue in the year ended December 31, 2020. From those top
twenty customers we generated average revenue per customer of $33.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2020, which grew 34% from an average
of $24.8 million from the top twenty customers during the year ended December 31, 2019.

Large organizations in the commercial and government sectors face similar challenges when it comes to managing data, and we intend to expand our reach
in both markets moving forward. In the year ended December 31, 2020, 44% of our revenue came from commercial customers and 56% came from
government agencies.

We have also expanded significantly outside the United States. In the year ended December 31, 2020, we generated 52% of our revenue from customers in
the United States and the remaining 48% from customers abroad.

Coronavirus (“COVID-19”) Impact

As a result of COVID-19, we have taken precautionary measures in order to minimize the risk of the virus to our employees, our customers, and the
communities in which we operate, including the suspension of all non-essential business travel of employees and the temporary closure of all of our major
offices. Although the majority of our workforce currently works remotely, there has been minimal disruption in our ability to ensure the effective operation
of our software platforms.

The economic consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic have been challenging for certain of our customers and prospective customers. While the broader
implications of the COVID-19 pandemic on our results of operations and overall financial performance remain uncertain, the COVID-19 pandemic has, to
date, not had a material adverse impact on our results of operations. The economic effects of the pandemic and resulting societal changes are currently not
predictable.
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The pandemic has made clear to many of our customers that accommodating the extended timelines ordinarily required to realize results from implementing
new software solutions is not an option during a crisis. As a result, customers are increasingly adopting our software, which can be ready in days, over
internal software development efforts, which may take months or years.

We have seen a decrease in our travel and office-related expenditures, including temporary closures of our offices globally and reductions in related
operating expenses, related to the ongoing pandemic. However, improvement of our contribution metric this year has also been driven by the expansion of
existing customer accounts, improved sales efficiency, and the increasing deployment of centralized hosting and other software deployment infrastructure.
While we expect our travel and office-related expenditures to increase moving forward, especially once we reopen our offices, we do not expect such
expenditures to return to their pre-pandemic levels, given that we have made significant investments in enabling employees to work with customers
remotely.

See the section titled “Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion of the possible impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on our business.

Our Business Model
Our customers pay us to use the software platforms we have built.

As of December 31, 2020, we expect to generate revenue under our existing customer contracts for an additional 3.6 years on dollar-weighted average
contract duration basis. Dollar-weighted average contract duration represents the length of time we expect to generate revenue on average, including
existing contractual obligations and assuming that our customers will exercise all of the contractual options available to them, and is subject to change as we
enter into new contracts or if customers terminate for convenience. We calculate this duration on a dollar-weighted basis to adjust for smaller deals. The
timing of our customer billings and receipt of payments varies from contract to contract. Revenue is generally recognized over the contract term. Our
contracts generally include terms that allow the customer to terminate the contract for convenience.

Our business model with respect to acquiring and growing our accounts has three phases: (1) Acquire, (2) Expand, and (3) Scale. We categorize all
customers into cohorts on December 31st each year.

Our decisions about which customer relationships require further investment may change over time, based on our assessment of the potential long-term
value that our software can generate for them.

As a result, customers may move back and forth through phases, as relationship needs and our assessment of the merits of further investment change. We
enter into initial pilots with customers, generally at our own expense and without a guarantee of future returns, in order to access a unique set of
opportunities that others may pass over for lack of resources and shorter investment horizons.

Some customers may have a rapid Acquire phase followed by a long Expand phase. Others may skip the Expand phase altogether and move immediately
into the Scale phase. We manage customers at the account level, not by industry or sector, so that we can optimize on the specific growth opportunities for
each.

In 2019, we generated a total of $742.6 million in revenue, of which $0.6 million came from customers in the Acquire phase, $176.3 million came from
customers in the Expand phase, and $565.7 million came from customers in the Scale phase.

In 2020, those same customers from 2019 generated a total of $1.1 billion in revenue. New customers acquired during the year ended December 31, 2020
generated an additional $41.8 million in revenue and were assigned a cohort as of December 31, 2020. A more detailed discussion of the three phases, for
purposes of illustration of how we manage accounts across the business, follows below.
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Acquire

We actively pursue discussions with existing and prospective customers in order to identify ways in which our software platforms can provide long-term
value.

In the first phase, we typically acquire new opportunities with minimal risk to our customers through short-term pilot deployments of our software platforms
at no or low cost to them. We believe in proving the value of our platforms to our customers. During these short-term pilots, we operate the accounts at a
loss. We believe that our investments during this phase will drive future revenue growth.

We define a customer or potential customer as being in the Acquire phase if, as of the end of a calendar year, we have recognized less than $100,000 in
revenue from the customer that respective year. Customers may make nominal payments in connection with the evaluation of our software that we do not
consider material in evaluating the performance of our accounts.

We evaluate the success of customer accounts in the Acquire phase based on the revenue such accounts generate in the following year. In 2019, we
generated $0.6 million in revenue from customers in the Acquire phase, which yielded a contribution loss of $65.4 million. In 2020, those same customers
generated $77.1 million in revenue which yielded contribution profit of $13.2 million.

Expand

Our investment in this second phase is often significant as we seek to understand the principal challenges faced by our customers and ensure that our
software delivers value and results.

We define a customer in the Expand phase as any customer from which we have recognized more than $100,000 in revenue in a calendar year and whose
account had a negative contribution margin during the year at issue, as determined as of the end of the year. In this phase, we operate at a loss, as measured
by contribution margin, in order to drive future revenue growth and margin expansion.

In 2019, we generated $176.3 million in revenue from customers that were in the Expand phase as of the end of that year, with a contribution margin of
(43)%. In 2020, those same customers generated $360.4 million in revenue, with a contribution margin of 47%.

Scale

As customer accounts mature, our investment costs relative to revenue generally decrease, while the value our software provides to our customer increases,
often significantly, as usage of the platform increases across the customer’s operations. In this third phase, after having installed and configured the software
across an entire enterprise, customers become more self-sufficient in their use of our platforms, including developing software and applications that run on
top of our platforms, while still continuing to benefit from the support of our operations and maintenance (“O&M?”) services.

We define a customer in the Scale phase as any customer from which we recognized more than $100,000 in revenue in a calendar year and whose account
had a positive contribution margin during the year at issue, as determined as of the end of the year.

It is in the Scale phase of our partnerships with customers that we generally see contribution margin on particular accounts improve. In 2019, we generated
$565.7 million in revenue from customers in the Scale phase, with a contribution margin of 55%. In 2020, those same customers generated $613.4 million
in revenue with a contribution margin of 70%.
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We believe that our customers will move into the Scale phase over the long term. We also believe that contribution margin for Scale phase accounts will
increase further as we become more efficient at deploying our software platforms across the entirety of our customers’ operations and at managing and
operating our software.

Total Remaining Deal Value

We are focused on building strategic relationships with, and delivering significant outcomes for, our customers over the long term. Our contracts with our
customers reflect that long-term orientation, often lasting for multiple years at a time.

As of December 31, 2020, the total remaining deal value of the contracts that we have been awarded by, or entered into with, government and commercial
customers, including existing contractual obligations and contractual options available to those customers, was $2.8 billion, up from December 31, 2019,
when our total remaining deal value of such contracts was $2.2 billion.

Of our total remaining deal value, as of December 31, 2020, the total remaining deal value of the contracts that we entered into with commercial customers,
including existing contractual obligations and available contractual options, was $1.5 billion, up 45% from December 31, 2019, when the total remaining
deal value of such contracts was $1.0 billion.

As of December 31, 2020, the total remaining deal value of the contracts that we had been awarded by government agencies in the United States and allied
countries around the world, including existing contractual obligations and contractual options available to those government agencies, was $1.3 billion, up
14% from December 31, 2019, when the total value of such contracts was $1.1 billion. When calculating the total remaining deal value of government
contracts, we do not include government contracts totaling $2.7 billion, as of December 31, 2020, that we have been awarded where the funding of such
contracts — also known as indefinite delivery, indefinite quantity (“IDIQ”) contracts — has not yet been determined. Funding of such contracts is not
guaranteed.

The majority of our government and commercial contracts are subject to termination for convenience provisions. Additionally, the U.S. federal government
is prohibited from exercising contract options more than one year in advance. As a result, there can be no guarantee that our customer contracts will not be
terminated or that contract options will be exercised.

Key Business Measure

In addition to the measures presented in our consolidated financial statements, we use the following key non-GAAP business measure to help us evaluate
our business, identify trends affecting our business, formulate business plans and financial projections, and make strategic decisions.

Contribution Margin

We believe that the revenue we generate relative to the costs we incur in order to generate such revenue is an important measure of the efficiency of our
business. We define contribution margin as revenue less our cost of revenue and sales and marketing expenses, excluding stock-based compensation,
divided by revenue. At the end of each year, we categorize each customer account into one of the three phases based on its revenue and contribution margin
for that year.

Revenue is allocated to each customer account directly. The cost of revenue and sales and marketing costs include both the costs associated with the
deployment and operation of our software as well as expenses associated with identifying new customers and expanding partnerships with existing ones.
Our software engineers working with existing customers often manage the deployment and operation of our platforms as well
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as identify new ways that those platforms can be used. To calculate the contribution by customer, we allocate cost of revenue and sales and marketing
expenses, excluding stock-based compensation, to an account pro rata based on headcount and time spent on the account during the period. To the extent
certain costs or personnel are not directly assigned to a specific account, they are allocated pro rata based on total headcount staffed during such period.
Direct costs, such as third-party cloud hosting services, are directly allocated to the account to which they relate.

Contribution, both across our business and on specific customer accounts, is intended to capture how much we have earned from customers after accounting
for the costs associated with deploying and operating our software, as well as any sales and marketing expenses involved in acquiring and expanding our
partnerships with those customers, including allocated overhead. We exclude stock-based compensation as it is a non-cash expense.

We believe that our contribution margin across the business, and on specific customer accounts provides an important measure of the efficiency of our
operations over time. We have included contribution margin because it is a key measure used by our management to evaluate our performance, and we
believe that it also provides useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our operating results in the same manner as our
management team. Our calculation of contribution margin may differ from similarly titled measures, if any, reported by other companies. Contribution
margin should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial information prepared in accordance with GAAP.

For more information about contribution margin, including the limitations of this measure, and a reconciliation to loss from operations, see the section titled
“Non-GAAP Reconciliations” below.

Non-GAAP Reconciliations

We use the non-GAAP measures contribution margin; gross profit and gross margin, excluding stock-based compensation; and income (loss) from
operations, excluding stock-based compensation, related employer payroll taxes, and non-recurring direct listing charges to help us evaluate our business,
identify trends affecting our business, formulate business plans and financial projections, and make strategic decisions. We exclude stock-based
compensation, which is a non-cash expense, from these non-GAAP financial measures because we believe that excluding this item provides meaningful
supplemental information regarding operational performance and provides useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our
operating results in the same manner as our management team. Additionally, we exclude expenses primarily related to the direct listing during the quarter
ended September 30, 2020, as they are a one-time nonrecurring charge, and employer payroll taxes related to stock-based compensation, as it is difficult to
predict and outside of our control.

Our definitions may differ from the definitions used by other companies and therefore comparability may be limited. In addition, other companies may not
publish these or similar metrics. Further, these metrics have certain limitations, as they do not include the impact of certain expenses that are reflected in our
consolidated statement of operations. Thus, our non-GAAP contribution margin; gross profit and gross margin, excluding stock-based compensation; and
income (loss) from operations, excluding stock-based compensation, related employer payroll taxes, and non-recurring direct listing charges should be
considered in addition to, not as a substitute for, or in isolation from, measures prepared in accordance with GAAP.

We compensate for these limitations by providing reconciliations of these non-GAAP measures to the most comparable GAAP measures. We encourage
investors and others to review our business, results of operations, and financial information in its entirety, not to rely on any single financial measure, and to
view these non-GAAP measures in conjunction with the most directly comparable GAAP financial measures.
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Contribution Margin
The following table provides a reconciliation of contribution margin for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands, except percentages):

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019

Loss from operations $ (1,173,679) $ (576,444)
Add:

Research and development expenses(1) 203,597 237,630

General and administrative expenses(1) 293,637 254,025

Stock-based compensation 1,270,702 241,970
Contribution $ 594,257 $ 157,181
Contribution margin 54% 21%

(1) Excludes stock-based compensation.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin, Excluding Stock-Based Compensation

The following table provides a reconciliation of gross profit and gross margin, excluding stock-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019 (in thousands, except percentages):

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019
Gross profit $ 740,126 $ 500,182
Add: stock-based compensation 139,627 27,904
Gross profit, excluding stock-based compensation $ 879,753 $ 528,086
Gross margin, excluding stock-based compensation 81% 71%

Income (Loss) from Operations, Excluding Stock-Based Compensation, Related Employer Payroll Taxes, and Non-Recurring Direct Listing Charges

The following table provides a reconciliation of income (loss) from operations, excluding stock-based compensation, related employer payroll taxes, and
non-recurring direct listing charges for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019
Loss from operations $ (1,173,679) §$ (576,444)
Add: stock-based compensation 1,270,702 241,970
Add: employer payroll taxes related to stock-based compensation(1) 39,105 —
Add: non-recurring direct listing charges(2) 53,737 —
Income (loss) from operations, excluding stock-based compensation, related employer payroll taxes, and non-
recurring direct listing charges $ 189,865 $ (334,474)

(1) Employer payroll taxes related to stock-based compensation were immaterial prior to the quarter ended September 30, 2020.
(2) Non-recurring direct listing charges were primarily incurred during the quarter ended September 30, 2020 and were immaterial in other periods presented and as such are not
excluded from such periods.
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Components of Results of Operations
Revenue

We generate revenue from the sale of subscriptions to access our software in our hosted environment with O&M services (“Palantir Cloud”), software
subscriptions in our customers’ environments with ongoing O&M services (“On-Premises Software”), and professional services.

Palantir Cloud

Our Palantir Cloud subscriptions grant customers the right to access the software functionality in a hosted environment controlled by Palantir and are sold
together with stand-ready O&M services, as further described below. We promise to provide continuous access to the hosted software throughout the
contract term. Revenue associated with Palantir Cloud subscriptions is recognized over the contract term on a ratable basis, which is consistent with the
transfer of control of the Palantir services to the customer.

On-Premises Software

Sales of our software subscriptions grant customers the right to use functional intellectual property, either on their internal hardware infrastructure or on
their own cloud instance, over the contractual term and are also sold together with stand-ready O&M services. O&M services include critical updates and
support and maintenance services required to operate the software and, as such, are necessary for the software to maintain its intended utility over the
contractual term. Because of this requirement, we have concluded that the software subscriptions and O&M services, which together we refer to as our
On-Premises Software, are highly interdependent and interrelated and represent a single distinct performance obligation within the context of the contract.
Revenue is generally recognized over the contract term on a ratable basis.

Professional Services

Our professional services support the customers’ use of the software and include, as needed, on-demand user support, user-interface configuration, training,
and ongoing ontology and data modeling support. Professional services contracts typically include the provision of on-demand professional services for the
duration of the contractual term. These services are typically coterminous with a Palantir Cloud or On-Premises Software subscriptions. Professional
services are on-demand, whereby we perform services throughout the contract period; therefore, the revenue is recognized over the contractual term.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily includes salaries, stock-based compensation expense, and benefits for personnel involved in performing O&M and professional
services, as well as third-party cloud hosting services, allocated overhead, and other direct costs.

We expect that cost of revenue will increase in absolute dollars as our revenue grows and will vary from period-to-period as a percentage of revenue.
Sales and Marketing

Our sales and marketing efforts span all stages of our sales cycle, including personnel engaging with or executing pilots at new or existing customers. Sales
and marketing costs primarily include salaries, stock-based compensation expense, and benefits for personnel involved in executing on pilots and customer
growth activities, as well as third-party cloud hosting services for our pilots, marketing and sales event-related costs, and allocated overhead. Sales and
marketing costs are generally expensed as incurred.
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We expect that sales and marketing expenses will increase in absolute dollars as we continue to invest in our potential and current customers, in growing
our business and enhancing our brand awareness.

Research and Development

Our research and development efforts are aimed at continuing to develop and refine our platforms, including adding new features and modules, increasing
their functionality, and enhancing the usability of our platforms. Research and development costs primarily include salaries, stock-based compensation
expense, and benefits for personnel involved in performing the activities to develop and refine our platforms, internal use third-party cloud hosting services

and other IT-related costs, and allocated overhead. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.

We plan to continue to invest in personnel to support our research and development efforts. As a result, we expect that research and development expenses
will increase in absolute dollars for the foreseeable future as we continue to invest to support these activities.

General and Administrative

General and administrative costs include salaries, stock-based compensation expense, and benefits for personnel involved in our executive, finance, legal,
human resources, and administrative functions, as well as third-party professional services and fees, and allocated overhead.

We expect that general and administrative expenses will increase in absolute dollars as we hire additional personnel and enhance our systems, processes,
and controls to support the growth in our business as well as our increased compliance and reporting requirements as a public company.

Interest Income

Interest income consists primarily of interest income earned on our cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash balances.
Interest Expense

Interest expense consists primarily of interest expense and commitment fees incurred under our credit facilities.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net consists primarily of foreign currency exchange gains and losses and our share of income and losses from our equity method
investments.

Change in Fair Value of Warrants

The change in the fair value of warrants consists of the net changes in the fair value of our liability classified warrants to purchase redeemable convertible
and convertible preferred stock that were remeasured at the end of each reporting period. In connection with the Direct Listing, all of the Company’s
outstanding preferred stock warrants were converted into common stock warrants, which resulted in the reclassification of the warrants liability to additional
paid-in capital. As such, we do not expect additional charges related to the fair value of these warrants.

Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes

Provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of income taxes related to foreign and state jurisdictions in which we conduct business and withholding taxes.
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Segments

We have two operating segments, commercial and government, which were determined based on the manner in which the chief operating decision maker
(“CODM”), who is our chief executive officer, manages our operations for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating performance. Various factors,
including our organizational and management reporting structure and customer type, were considered in determining these operating segments.

Our operating segments are described below:
. Commercial: This segment primarily serves customers working in non-government industries.

. Government: This segment primarily serves customers that are agencies in the U.S. federal government and non-U.S. governments.

Segment profitability is evaluated based on contribution and contribution margin. Contribution is segment revenue less the related costs of revenue and
sales and marketing expenses, excluding stock-based compensation expense. Contribution margin is segment contribution divided by revenue. To the extent
costs of revenue or sales and marketing expenses are not directly attributable to a particular segment, they are allocated based upon headcount at each
operating segment during the period. We use it, in part, to evaluate the performance of, and allocate resources to, each of our operating segments, which
excludes certain operating expenses that are not allocated to operating segments because they are separately managed at the consolidated corporate level.
These unallocated costs include stock-based compensation expense, research and development costs, and general and administrative costs, such as legal and
accounting.

Results of Operations

The following table summarizes our consolidated statements of operations data (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Revenue $ 1,092,673 $ 742,555 $ 595,409
Cost of revenue(1) 352,547 242,373 165,401
Gross profit 740,126 500,182 430,008
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing(1) 683,701 450,120 461,762
Research and development(1) 560,660 305,563 285,451
General and administrative(1) 669,444 320,943 306,235
Total operating expenses 1,913,805 1,076,626 1,053,448
Loss from operations (1,173,679) (576,444) (623,440)
Interest income 4,680 15,090 10,500
Interest expense (14,139) (3,061) (3,440)
Change in fair value of warrants 811 3) 48,093
Other income (expense), net 3,300 (2,853) (2,638)
Loss before provision (benefit) for income taxes (1,179,027) (567,271) (570,925)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (12,636) 12,375 9,102
Net loss $ (1,166,391) $ (579,646) $ (580,027)
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1) Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Cost of revenue $ 139,627  $ 27,904 $ 19,629
Sales and marketing 398,205 79,215 93,510
Research and development 357,063 67,933 72,039
General and administrative 375,807 66,918 63,325
Total stock-based compensation expense(i) (i) $ 1,270,702  § 241,970 $ 248,503
(i) On September 30, 2020, in connection with the Direct Listing, we incurred $769.5 million and $8.4 million of stock-based compensation using the accelerated attribution method related to the
satisfaction of the performance-based vesting condition for RSUs and growth units, respectively, that had satisfied the service-based vesting condition as of such date.
(i) During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, we incurred modification charges of $96.2 million, $27.4 million, and $44.6 million, respectively, from repricing of certain options

held by our employees. Additionally, during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, we incurred modification charges of $9.9 million, $5.6 million, and $3.6 million respectively,
related to the extension of the period to exercise of certain options that were approaching expiration.

The following table sets forth the components of our consolidated statements of operations data as a percentage of revenue:

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest income
Interest expense
Change in fair value of warrants
Other income (expense), net
Loss before provision (benefit) for income taxes
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
Net loss

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

Revenue
Revenue:
Government
Commercial

Total revenue

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
100% 100% 100%
32 33 28
68 67 72
63 61 78
51 41 48
61 43 51
175 145 177
(107) (78) (105)
— 2 2
1 — 1)
— — 8
(108) (76) (96)
(1) 2 1
107)% (78)% 97)%
Years Ended December 31, Change
2020 2019 Amount %
$ 610,198 $ 345,521 $ 264,677 7%

482,475 397,034 85,441 22%
$ 1,092,673 § 742,555 $ 350,118 47%

94



Table of Contents

Revenue increased by $350.1 million, or 47%, for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to 2019. Revenue from government customers increased by
$264.7 million, or 77%, for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to 2019, primarily from customers in the United States. Of the increase,
$243.4 million was from customers existing as of December 31, 2019. Revenue from commercial customers increased by $85.4 million, or 22%, for the
year ended December 31, 2020 compared to 2019. The increase is primarily due to an increase of $59.7 million from customers existing as of December 31,
2019. Generally, increases in revenue from our existing customers are a result of increases in their adoption of our products and services within their
organizations.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit

Years Ended December 31, Change
2020 2019 Amount %
Cost of revenue $ 352,547 $ 242373 $ 110,174 45%
Gross profit 740,126 500,182 239,944 48%
Gross margin 68% 67% 1%

Cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020 increased by $110.2 million, or 45%, compared to 2019. The increase was primarily due to increases
in personnel costs of $128.6 million, which included increases of $111.7 million in stock-based compensation expense primarily due to the recognition of
cumulative stock-based compensation expense upon the Direct Listing related to RSUs and charges related to the modification of certain options;
$21.6 million in payroll and other costs primarily driven by an increase in headcount attributable to cost of revenue functions to support new and existing
customers; and $5.7 million in employer payroll taxes primarily driven by income from the vesting of RSUs and increases in headcount. These increases in
personnel costs were partially offset by decreases in travel-related expenses and other personnel costs of $7.3 million as a result of COVID-related travel
restrictions and company-wide initiatives to decrease overall travel and $3.1 million due to the timing of variable compensation payments. Additionally,
there was an increase of $0.5 million related to other direct deployment costs and allocated overhead. These increases to costs of revenue were offset by
decreases of $9.8 million related to third-party cloud hosting costs, generally as a result of volume-based discounts, $4.7 million related to hardware costs,
and $4.4 million related to reduced usage of field service representatives.

Our gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2020 increased by 1% compared to 2019. Gross margin increased as a result of efficiencies in supporting
the revenue growth at our customer deployments, for example investments in our platforms, as well as reductions in third-party cloud hosting and hardware
costs for customers. This was partly offset by increases in stock-based compensation related to the satisfaction of the performance-based vesting condition
for RSUs upon our Direct Listing and charges related to the modification of certain options.

Operating Expenses
Years Ended December 31, Change
2020 2019 Amount %
Sales and marketing $ 683,701 $ 450,120 $ 233,581  52%
Research and development 560,660 305,563 255,097 83%
General and administrative 669,444 320,943 348,501 109%
Total operating expenses $ 1,913,805 $§ 1,076,626 $ 837,179  78%
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Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $233.6 million, or 52%, for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to 2019. The increase was primarily
driven by increases in personnel costs of $262.9 million, which included increases of $319.0 million in stock-based compensation expense primarily due to
the recognition of cumulative stock-based compensation expense upon the Direct Listing from RSUs and charges related to the modification of certain
options; $15.8 million from employer payroll taxes primarily driven by income from the vesting of RSUs; and $5.6 million in payroll costs related to an
increase in headcount attributable to our sales and marketing functions. These personnel costs were partially offset by decreases of $64.8 million in travel-
related expenses and other personnel costs as a result of COVID-related travel restrictions and company-wide initiatives to decrease overall travel,
$7.2 million due to the timing of variable compensation payments, and $5.5 million from other payroll-related costs. Additionally, there was a decrease of
$13.9 million in office related expenses as a result of temporary office closures and a decrease of $15.4 million related to allocated overhead.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses increased by $255.1 million, or 83%, for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to 2019. The increase was
primarily driven by increases in personnel costs of $283.4 million, which included increases of $289.1 million in stock-based compensation expense
primarily due to the recognition of cumulative stock-based compensation expense upon the Direct Listing from RSUs and charges related to the
modification of certain options; $9.9 million in employer payroll taxes, primarily driven by income from the vesting of RSUs; and $8.6 million in payroll
costs related to an increase in headcount attributable to our research and development functions. These personnel costs were partially offset by decreases of
$13.8 million in travel-related expenses and other personnel costs as a result of COVID-related travel restrictions and company-wide initiatives to decrease
overall travel, $6.9 million due to the timing of variable compensation payments, and $3.5 million in other payroll-related costs. Additionally, there were
decreases of $17.4 million in third-party cloud hosting services generally as a result of volume-based discounts, $9.5 million in office related expenses as a
result of temporary office closures, and $1.4 million related to allocated overhead.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased by $348.5 million, or 109%, for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to 2019. The increase in
expenses was primarily driven by increases in personnel costs of $306.0 million, which included increases of $308.9 million in stock-based compensation
expense primarily due to the recognition of cumulative stock-based compensation expense upon the Direct Listing from RSUs and charges related to the
modification of certain options; $7.8 million in employer payroll taxes, partially driven by income from the vesting of RSUs; and $6.3 million in payroll
costs related to an increase in headcount attributable to our general and administrative functions. These personnel costs were partially offset by decreases of
$12.4 million in travel-related expenses and other personnel costs primarily as a result of COVID-related travel restrictions and company-wide initiatives to
decrease overall travel, and $4.6 million due to the timing of variable compensation payments. Additionally, there were other increases in general and
administrative expenses of $50.5 million in legal professional services primarily related to the Direct Listing, $11.8 million for other professional services
related to the Direct Listing and corporate IT and consulting functions to support initiatives for becoming a public company and the overall growth of our
operations, $12.9 million in third-party cloud hosting services and other IT, and $6.1 million in corporate insurance and other fees, which were offset by
decreases of $22.4 million primarily from non-recurring impairment charges related to assets held for sale, $10.7 million in office related expenses as a
result of temporary office closures, and $5.7 million related to allocated overhead.
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Interest Income
Years Ended December 31, Change
2020 2019 Amount
Interest income $ 4,680 $ 15,000 $ (10,410)

Interest income decreased by $10.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to 2019 primarily due to a reduction in U.S. interest rates on
interest earned from our cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash.

Interest Expense
Years Ended December 31, Change
2020 2019 Amount
Interest expense $  (14,139) $ (3,061) $ (11,078)

Interest expense increased by $11.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to 2019. The increase was primarily due to the absence of
outstanding debt until December 2019.

Change in Fair Value of Warrants

Years Ended December 31, Change
2020 2019 Amount
Change in fair value of warrants $ 811 $ 3) 3 814

The gain on the change in fair value of warrants increased by $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to 2019. The change was
primarily due to adjustments to the fair value of the warrants immediately before reclassifying them from liability to equity, partially offset by an increase in
the fair value of the securities underlying certain warrants during the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to 2019.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Years Ended December 31, Change
2020 2019 Amount
Other income (expense), net $ 3,300 $ (2,853) $ 6,153

Other income (expense), net changed by $6.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to 2019 primarily due to increases in net realized and
unrealized gains from foreign exchange transactions.

Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes

Years Ended December 31, Change
2020 2019 Amount
Provision (benefit) for income taxes $  (12,636) §$ 12,375 $ (25,011)

We recorded a benefit for income taxes of $12.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to a provision of $12.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019. The change was primarily due to decreases in profits from our international operations and foreign benefits from stock-based
compensation.
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Quarterly Results of Operations Data

The following tables set forth our unaudited quarterly statements of operations data for each of the last eight quarters ended December 31, 2020 (in
thousands, except per share amounts and percentages). The information for each of these quarters has been prepared on the same basis as our audited
consolidated financial statements, included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and includes, in our opinion, all adjustments, necessary to state
fairly our results of operations for these periods. This data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These quarterly results of operations are not necessarily indicative of the future results of operations for any future

period.

Revenue
Cost of revenue(1)
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing(1)
Research and development(1)
General and administrative(l)
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest income
Interest expense
Change in fair value of warrants
Other income (expense), net
Loss before provision (benefit) for income taxes
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
Net loss
Net loss attributable to common stockholders

Net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders, basic

Net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders, diluted

Three Months Ended,
Dec. 31, Sep. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sep. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31,
2020 2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019 2019
$ 322,091 $ 289,366 $ 251,889 $ 229,327 $ 229,358 $ 190,541 $ 176,320 $ 146,336
70,503 149,340 68,410 64,294 75,902 65,073 56,589 44,809
251,588 140,026 183,479 165,033 153,456 125,468 119,731 101,527
147,619 334911 102,518 98,653 112,865 119,666 110,533 107,056
94,130 313,915 86,815 65,800 75,835 75,880 78,724 75,124
166,411 338,977 93,291 70,765 112,207 74,062 70,589 64,085
408,160 987,803 282,624 235,218 300,907 269,608 259,846 246,265
(156,572) (847,777) (99,145) (70,185) (147,451) (144,140) (140,115) (144,738)
368 494 551 3,267 2,137 3,390 4,231 5,332
(1,814) (2,085) (5,646) (4,594) (2,666) (173) (172) (50)
(9,201) (3,683) 13,695 (2,746) 784 1,959

2,082 (3,293) (1,589) 6,100 (4,711) 2,305 1,420 (1,867)
(155,936) (861,862) (109,512) (51,717) (155,437) (137,834) (132,677) (141,323)
(7,593) (8,543) 943 2,557 3,890 2,026 1,389 5,070
$ (148,343) $ (853,319) $ (110,455) $ (54,274) $ (159,327) $ (139,860) $ (134,066) $ (146,393)
$ (148,343) $ (853,319) $ (110,626) $ (62,047) $ (159,327) $ (139,860) $ (134,066) $ (146,393)
$ 0.08) $ 0.94) $ 0.17) $ 0.09) $ 0.29) $ 024) $ 0.23) $ (0.26)
$ (0.08) $ 0.94) $ 0.17) $ (0.10) $ 0.29) $ 024) $ 0.23) $ (0.26)
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(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended

Cost of revenue $
Sales and marketing

Research and development

General and administrative

Total stock-based compensation expense $

Dec. 31, Sep. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sep. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31,
2020 2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019 2019
19,342 § 94385 $ 17,832 $ 8,068 $ 11,384  $ 7,183  $ 4,496 $ 4,841
75,852 263,958 39,932 18,463 22,973 15,898 18,852 21,492
47,365 256,769 37,897 15,032 18,796 15,031 16,438 17,668
99,229 231,847 32,187 12,544 24,167 13,651 14,202 14,898
241,788  § 846,959 $ 127,848  § 54,107  $ 77,320 $ 51,763  $ 53988 $ 58,899

The following table sets forth our results of operations for the last eight quarterly periods presented as a percentage of our total revenue for those periods:

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest income
Interest expense
Change in fair value of warrants
Other income (expense), net
Loss before provision (benefit) for income taxes
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
Net loss

Three Months Ended,

Dec. 31, Sep. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sep. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31,
2020 2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019 2019
100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
22 52 27 28 33 34 32 31
78 48 73 72 67 66 68 69
46 116 41 43 49 63 63 73
29 108 34 29 33 40 44 51
52 117 37 31 49 39 40 44
127 341 112 103 131 142 147 168
(49) (293) 39) 31) (64) (76) (79) 99)
— — — 1 1 2 2 3
— ) @ (@) O] — = =
— 3) 1) 6 1 1 1 —

1 (@) @) 3 @ 1 1 @)
(48) (298) (43) (23) (67) (72) (75) 97)
2) 3) 1 1 2 1 1 3

(46)% (295)% (44)% 24)% (69)% (73)% (76)% (100)%
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The following table provides a reconciliation of contribution margin for the last eight quarterly periods (in thousands, except percentages):

Three Months Ended,

Dec. 31, Sep. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sep. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31,
2020 2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019 2019
Loss from operations $(156,572)  $(847,777)  $(99,145)  $(70,185)  $(147,451)  $(144,140)  $(140,115)  $(144,738)
Research and development(1) 46,765 57,146 48,918 50,768 57,039 60,849 62,286 57,456
General and administrative(1) 67,182 107,130 61,104 58,221 88,040 60,411 56,387 49,187
Total stock-based compensation expense 241,788 846,959 127,848 54,107 77,320 51,763 53,988 58,899
Contribution $ 199,163 $ 163,458 $138,725 $ 92911 $ 74,948 $ 28,883 $ 32,546 $ 20,804
Contribution margin 62% 56% 55% 41% 33% 15% 18% 14%

(1) Excludes stock-based compensation.
Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, we have generated negative cash flows from operations and have financed our operations primarily through the sale of our equity
securities, borrowings under our credit facilities, and payments received from our customers. For many customers, we historically billed and collected
payment for the entire contract term in advance of our performance of the related obligations. Our billing terms, however, are shifting to align with the
timing of the work performed for our customers. As a result, our cash flows from operations may temporarily decrease as our billing cycles, deferred
revenue and customer deposits adjust to this shift. We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to meet our working capital and
capital expenditure needs for at least the next 12 months, as well as our short-term and long-term contractual obligations and commitments primarily
consisting of operating lease commitments and non-cancelable purchase commitments related to third-party cloud hosting services.

As of December 31, 2020, our accumulated deficit balance was $5.0 billion, and our principal sources of liquidity were $2.0 billion of cash and cash
equivalents, exclusive of additional restricted cash of $116.8 million. Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash on deposit with banks as well as
institutional money market funds. Restricted cash primarily consists of cash and certificates of deposit that are held as collateral against letters of credit and
guarantees we are required to maintain for various purposes.

As of December 31, 2020, we had $200.0 million outstanding of the available term commitment under the 2014 Credit Facility due in June 2023 and an
additional $200.0 million revolving credit facility available and undrawn. For more information, see the section titled “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Credit Facilities.”

Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2020, we sold 206,500,523 shares of our Class A common stock at $4.65 per share for net proceeds of
approximately $942.5 million, which is net of issuance costs of $17.7 million, and received proceeds of $298.8 million from the exercise of 120,617,527
options.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to the rate of our growth, our ability to attract and retain customers
and their willingness and ability to pay for our products and services, and the timing and extent of spending to support our efforts to market and develop our
products. Further, we may enter into future arrangements to acquire or invest in businesses, products, services, strategic partnerships, and technologies. As
such, we may be required to seek additional equity or debt financing. In the event that additional financing is required from outside sources, we may not be
able to raise it on terms acceptable to us or at all. If
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additional funds are not available to us on acceptable terms, or at all, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Net cash (used in) provided by:
Operating activities $ (296,608) $  (165215) $ (39,012)
Investing activities (14,920) (21,964) (6,784)
Financing activities 1,036,453 324,533 46,154
Effect of foreign exchange on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash 1,259 (2,227) (3,703)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 726,184 $ 135,127  $ (3,345)

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities was $296.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The factors affecting our operating cash flows during this
period were our net loss of $1.2 billion and changes in net operating assets and liabilities of $454.1 million, offset by non-cash charges of $1.3 billion. The
non-cash charges primarily consisted of $1.3 billion in stock-based compensation expense, $35.0 million of non-cash operating lease expense, and
$13.9 million of depreciation and amortization. The net change in operating assets and liabilities were primarily due to net decrease of $261.8 million in
deferred revenue and customer deposits due to the timing of revenue being recognized from amounts billed and collected in prior periods, and an increase in
assets of $156.0 million primarily due to an increase in accounts receivable driven by the timing of billings to and collections from our customers.

Net cash used in operating activities was $165.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. The factors affecting our operating cash flows during this
period were our net loss of $579.6 million, offset by non-cash charges of $280.4 million, and $134.0 million of cash provided from changes in our operating
assets and liabilities. The non-cash charges primarily consisted of $242.0 million in stock-based compensation expense, $23.4 million of impairment of
assets held for sale, and $12.3 million of depreciation and amortization. The cash provided from changes in our operating assets and liabilities was primarily
due to a net increase of $144.8 million in deferred revenue and customer deposits due to increased billings and payments received from customers in
advance of revenue recognition and a $27.2 million increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities as a result of our increased spending and headcount
associated with the growth of our business. These amounts were partially offset by an increase in assets of $34.5 million primarily due to an increase in
accounts receivable driven by timing of contracts as well as an increase in deferred tax assets.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $14.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, which consisted of purchases of property and equipment of
$12.2 million.

Net cash used in investing activities was $22.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, which consisted of an investment of $25.9 million in our
equity method investment Palantir Technologies Japan, K.K. entity and purchases of property and equipment of $13.1 million, partially offset by a
$17.0 million return of investment associated with the dissolution of our equity method investment Signac, LLC.
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Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $1.0 billion for the year ended December 31, 2020, which primarily consisted of $942.5 million of net
proceeds from the issuance of common stock, $199.4 million of net proceeds from borrowings under our credit facilities, and $298.8 million of proceeds
from the exercise of common stock options, partially offset by repayments of $400.0 million of debt.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $324.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, which consisted of $394.4 million of net proceeds from
borrowings under our credit facilities, $100.0 million of proceeds from the issuance of common stock, $16.9 million of proceeds from the exercise of
common stock options, and $7.5 million of proceeds from the sale of redeemable convertible preferred stock, partially offset by the redemption of
redeemable convertible preferred stock of $168.0 million and the repurchase of convertible preferred and common stock of $25.1 million.

Credit Facilities
2014 Credit Facility

In October 2014, we entered into an unsecured revolving credit facility which has been subsequently amended (the “2014 Credit Facility”). The 2014 Credit
Facility bears interest at the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus a margin of 2.75% per annum, subject to certain adjustments, and incurs a
commitment fee of 0.375% assessed on the daily average undrawn portion of revolving commitments. Interest and commitment fees are payable at the end
of an interest period or at each three-month interval if the interest period is longer than three months. The 2014 Credit Facility is secured with substantially
all of our assets.

In December 2019, we drew down the $150.0 million term loan and $150.0 million under the existing revolving credit facility. The term loan portion of the
2014 Credit Facility was fully repaid and terminated as of December 31, 2019.

In June 2020, we amended the 2014 Credit Facility to include a $150.0 million term loan, extend the maturity date to June 4, 2023, and add an additional
lender. Additionally, this amendment increased the minimum liquidity required to be maintained, and we were provided with an option to increase the total
commitments by up to an additional $200.0 million, subject to the lenders’ approval. All other terms and conditions remained substantially the same upon
the effectiveness of the amendment. Upon entering into this amendment, we drew down the total available term loan commitment of $150.0 million.

In July 2020, we entered into another amendment to the 2014 Credit Facility, which added an additional lender and provided for an increase of
$50.0 million to the revolving credit facility and a $50.0 million term loan. The incremental commitments were provided under the same terms as the
existing commitments under the 2014 Credit Facility. During July 2020, we drew down the additional available term loan of $50.0 million and repaid the
$150.0 million outstanding revolving credit facility.

As of December 31, 2020, we had $200.0 million of term loans outstanding under the 2014 Credit Facility and an additional $200.0 million undrawn
revolving credit facility available.

2019 Credit Facility

On December 31, 2019, we entered into a senior secured revolving credit facility (the “2019 Credit Facility””) with a second lender. The 2019 Credit Facility
allowed for the drawdown of up to $250.0 million. As of December 31, 2019 we had $250.0 million outstanding under the 2019 Credit Facility, and
$125.0 million of the proceeds were required to be maintained in a specified collateral account, which was reported in restricted cash, noncurrent in the
consolidated balance sheet.
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During June 2020, a portion of the proceeds drawn down under the 2014 Credit Facility were used to pay off the $250.0 million outstanding, balance of the
revolving loan commitment under the 2019 Credit Facility, thus releasing the 50% restricted cash collateral previously required. As of December 31, 2020,
the 2019 Credit Facility was terminated and there were no amounts outstanding.
Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2020 (in thousands):

Payments Due by Period

Less than More than

Total 1year 1-3years 3-Syears 5 years
Operating lease commitments, net of sublease income amounts(1) $ 186,136 $ 27,048 $ 54,478 $ 51,078 $ 53,532
Noncancelable purchase commitments(2) 1,449,669 41,482 366,000 624,187 418,000
Debt(3) 200,000 — 200,000 — —
Total contractual obligations and commitments $1,835,805 $ 68,530 $620,478 $675,265 $ 471,532

@ The contractual commitment amounts under operating leases in the table above are primarily related to facility and equipment leases. Operating lease commitments are reflected
net of $150.3 million of sublease income from tenants in certain of our leased facilities. Refer to Note 8. Leases in our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

) Noncancelable purchase commitments primarily relate to purchase commitments for third-party cloud hosting services and represents only contracts which are enforceable and
legally binding. Obligations under contracts that we can cancel without a significant penalty are not included in the table above. Refer to Note 9. Commitments and Contingencies
in our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

3) Includes principal payments on our outstanding senior secured revolving credit facility, which bears floating interest rates of LIBOR plus 2.75% per annum. Refer to Note 7.
Debt in our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

The contractual obligations and commitments in the table above are associated with agreements that are enforceable and legally binding.

Deferred Revenue and Customer Deposits

Deferred revenue represents billings under noncancelable contracts before the related product or service is transferred to the customer. The portion of
deferred revenue that is anticipated to be recognized as revenue during the succeeding twelve-month period is recorded as deferred revenue and the
remaining portion is recorded as deferred revenue, noncurrent.

Customer deposits consist of payments received for anticipated revenue generating activities in advance of the start of the contractual term or for the portion
of a contract term that is subject to cancellation and refund. The portion of customer deposits that is anticipated to be recognized as revenue during the
succeeding twelve-month period is recorded as customer deposits and the remaining portion is recorded as customer deposits, noncurrent.

Our deferred revenue and deferred revenue, noncurrent as of December 31, 2020 was $189.5 million and $50.5 million, respectively. Our customer deposits
and customer deposits, noncurrent as of December 31, 2020 was $210.3 million and $81.5 million, respectively. Our total deferred revenue and deferred
revenue, noncurrent as of December 31, 2019 was $186.1 million and $77.0 million, respectively. Our total customer deposits and customer deposits,
noncurrent as of December 31, 2019 was $364.1 million and $167.5 million, respectively.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have, during the periods presented, any off-balance sheet financing arrangements or any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial
partnerships, including entities sometimes referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, that were established for the purpose of facilitating
off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are prepared in
accordance with GAAP. The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, costs and expenses, and related disclosures. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ significantly from our estimates. To the extent that there
are differences between our estimates and actual results, our future financial statement presentation, financial condition, results of operations, and cash
flows will be affected.

We believe that the accounting policies described below involve a significant degree of judgment and complexity. Accordingly, we believe these are the
most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our consolidated financial condition and results of operations. For further information, see Note 2.
Significant Accounting Policies in our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from the sale of subscriptions to access our software Palantir Cloud and On-Premises Software, with ongoing O&M services and
professional services.

In accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, we recognized revenue upon the transfer of promised goods or services to customers
in an amount that reflects the consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for promised goods or services. We apply the following five-step
revenue recognition model in accounting for our revenue arrangements:

. Identification of the contract(s) with the customer,

. Identification of the performance obligations in the contract,

. Determination of the transaction price,

. Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, and
. Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation.

Each of our significant performance obligations and our application of ASC 606 to our revenue arrangements is discussed in further detail below.
Palantir Cloud

Our Palantir Cloud subscriptions grant customers the right to access the software functionality in a hosted environment controlled by Palantir and are also
sold together with stand-ready O&M services. We promise to provide continuous access to the hosted software throughout the contract term. Revenue
associated with Palantir Cloud subscriptions is recognized over the contract term on a ratable basis, which is consistent with the transfer of control of the
Palantir Cloud services to the customer.
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On-Premises Software

Sales of our software subscriptions grant customers the right to use functional intellectual property, either on their internal hardware infrastructure or on
their own cloud instance, over the contractual term and are sold together with stand-ready O&M services. The O&M services include critical updates,
support, and maintenance services required to operate our software and, as such, are necessary for our software to maintain its intended utility over the
contractual term. Because of this requirement, we have concluded that the software subscriptions and O&M services, which together we refer to as our
On-Premises Software, are highly interdependent and interrelated and represent a single distinct performance obligation within the context of the contract.
Revenue is generally recognized over the contract term on a ratable basis.

Professional Services

Our professional services support the customers’ use of the software and include, as needed, on-demand user support, user-interface configuration, training,
and ongoing ontology and data modeling support. Professional services contracts typically include the provision of on-demand professional services for the
duration of the contractual term. These services are typically coterminous with a Palantir Cloud subscription or the On-Premises Software. Professional
services are on-demand, whereby we perform services throughout the contract period; therefore, the revenue is recognized over the contractual term.

Contract Balances

The timing of customer billing and payment relative to the start of the service period varies from contract to contract; however, we bill many of our
customers in advance of the provision of services under our contracts, resulting in contract liabilities consisting of either deferred revenue or customer
deposits (“contract liabilities™). Deferred revenue represents billings under noncancelable contracts before the related product or service is transferred to the
customer. Customer deposits consist of payments received in advance of the start of the contractual term or for anticipated revenue generating activities for
the portion of a contract term that is subject to cancellation and refund. Our arrangements generally include terms that allow the customer to terminate the
contract for convenience and receive a pro-rata refund of the amount of the customer deposit for the period of time remaining in the contract term after the
applicable termination notice period expires. In these arrangements, we concluded there are no enforceable rights and obligations after such notice period
and therefore the consideration received or due from the customer that is subject to termination for convenience is recorded as customer deposits.

The payment terms and conditions vary by contract; however, our terms generally require payment within 30 to 60 days from the invoice date. In instances
where the timing of revenue recognition differs from the timing of payment, we elected to apply the practical expedient in accordance with ASC 606 to not
adjust contract consideration for the effects of a significant financing component as we expect, at contract inception, that the period between when promised
goods and services are transferred to the customer and when the customer pays for those goods and services will be one year or less. As such, we
determined our contracts do not generally contain a significant financing component.

Areas of Judgment and Estimation

Our contracts with customers can include multiple promises to transfer goods or services to the customer. Determining whether promises are distinct
performance obligations that should be accounted for separately — or not distinct within the context of the contract and, thus, accounted for together —
requires significant judgment. We concluded that the promise to provide a software subscription is highly interdependent and interrelated with the promise
to provide O&M services and such promises are not distinct within the context of our contracts and are accounted for as a single performance obligation for
our On-Premises Software.
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Additionally, the pricing of our contracts is generally fixed; however, it is possible for contracts to include variable consideration in the form of
performance bonuses, which can be based on subjective or objective criteria. We include the estimated amount of variable consideration that we expect to
receive to the extent it is probable that a significant revenue reversal will not occur. Any amounts received in the form of performance bonuses were not
material in the periods presented.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock-based compensation expense in accordance with the fair value recognition and measurement provisions of GAAP, which require
compensation cost for the grant-date fair value of stock-based awards to be recognized over the requisite service period. We determine the fair value of
stock-based awards granted or modified on the grant date or modification date using appropriate valuation techniques.

Service-Based Vesting

We grant stock option awards and RSUs, that vest only based upon the satisfaction of a service condition. For stock option awards, we use the Black-
Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of the stock options granted. The Black-Scholes option pricing model requires the input of highly
subjective assumptions, including the fair value of the underlying common stock, the expected term of the option, the expected volatility of the price of the
common stock, risk-free interest rates, and the expected dividend yield of the common stock. The assumptions used to determine the fair value of the option
awards represent management’s best estimates. These estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of our judgment. For RSUs, we determine
the grant-date fair value of the RSUs as the fair value of our common stock on the grant date. We record stock-based compensation expense for stock
options and RSUs that vest only based upon the satisfaction of a service condition on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is
generally four years. We recognize forfeitures as they occur.

Performance-Based Vesting

We grant awards, including RSUs that vest upon the satisfaction of both a service condition and a performance condition. The performance-based vesting
condition for the RSUs granted prior to our Direct Listing was satisfied upon the occurrence of the Direct Listing. The stock-based compensation expense
related to such RSUs is recognized using the accelerated attribution method from the grant date. The service-based vesting period for these awards varies
across service providers and is up to five years.

Income Taxes

We estimate our current tax expense together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items not currently deductible for
tax purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets, which are estimated based upon the difference
between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using the enacted tax rates that will be in effect when these differences reverse. In
general, deferred tax assets represent future tax benefits to be received when certain expenses previously recognized in our consolidated statements of
operations become deductible expenses under applicable income tax laws or loss or credit carryforwards are utilized. Accordingly, the realization of our
deferred tax assets are dependent on future taxable income against which these deductions, losses, and credits can be utilized.

We evaluate the realizability of our deferred tax assets and recognize a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that a future benefit on such
deferred tax assets will not be realized. Changes in the valuation allowance, when recorded, would be included in our consolidated statements of operations.
Our judgment is required in determining the valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred tax assets.
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We recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the
taxing authorities based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the consolidated financial statements from such positions are
then measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon settlement. We recognize interest and penalties
related to uncertain tax positions in our provision (benefit) for income taxes.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information on recently issued accounting pronouncements, refer to Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies in our consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 7A. QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business, which primarily relate to fluctuations in interest rates, foreign exchange, and
inflation.

Interest Rate Risk

Our cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash consist of cash, certificates of deposit, and money market funds. Our investment policy and strategy are
focused on the preservation of capital and supporting our liquidity requirements. We have not entered into investments for trading or speculative purposes.

Due to the short-term nature of the financial instruments, we have not been exposed to, nor do we anticipate being exposed to, material risks due to changes
in interest rates. A hypothetical 10% change in interest rates during any of the periods presented would not have had a material impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

As of December 31, 2020, we had $200.0 million in variable rate term loans outstanding that are scheduled to mature in June 2023. An immediate 10%
change in LIBOR would not have a material impact on our debt-related obligations, financial position or results of operations.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our contracts with customers are primarily denominated in U.S. dollars, with a small amount denominated in foreign currencies. Our expenses are generally
denominated in the currencies of the jurisdictions in which we conduct our operations, which are primarily in the United States, United Kingdom, and other
European countries. Our results of current and future operations and cash flows are, therefore, subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates, particularly changes in the Euro and GBP. Additionally, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may cause us to recognize
transaction gains and losses in our statement of operations. To date, foreign currency transaction gains and losses have not been material to our consolidated
financial statements, and we have not engaged in any foreign currency hedging transactions.

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, results of operations, or financial condition.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Palantir Technologies Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Palantir Technologies Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, redeemable convertible and convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit), and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial
statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP).

Adoption of New Accounting Standard

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for leases in the year ended December 31,
2020 due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), and the related amendments.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB)
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and
(2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our
opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate
opinion on the critical audit matter or on the account or disclosures to which it relates.
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Description of the Matter

How We Addressed the Matter in
Our Audit

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Revenue Recognition

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company derives its revenue primarily from the sale
of subscriptions to access its software in the Company’s hosted environment with ongoing operations and maintenance
(“O&M”) services (“Palantir Cloud”), software licenses, primarily term licenses in the customers’ environments, with
ongoing O&M services (“On-Premises Software”), and professional services. Management applies significant judgment
in identifying and evaluating any non-standard terms and conditions in customer arrangements which may impact the
determination of performance obligations or the timing of revenue recognition. In addition, the determination as to
whether the Company’s On-Premises Software licenses and O&M services are considered distinct performance

obligations that should be accounted for separately or combined as a single performance obligation requires significant
judgment. The Company has concluded that the On-Premises Software licenses and O&M services are highly

interdependent and interrelated and represent a single distinct performance obligation within the context of the contract
that is generally recognized ratably over the contract term.

Auditing revenue recognition was complex and required a significant level of auditor judgment to identify and evaluate
non-standard terms and conditions that impact revenue recognition and to assess whether the On-Premises software
licenses and O&M services should be accounted for as distinct performance obligations or combined as a single
performance obligation.

Our substantive procedures included, among others, testing the completeness and accuracy of management’s
identification and evaluation of non-standard terms and conditions, reading executed contracts for a sample of revenue
transactions and evaluating whether the Company appropriately applied its revenue recognition policy to the
arrangements based on the terms and conditions therein and consistent with U.S. GAAP. In addition, we evaluated
management’s key assumptions and analysis of its performance obligations, including their assessment of the nature,
interdependency, and level of integration between the On-Premises software license and O&M services. We also
evaluated the appropriateness of the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2008.

San Jose, California
February 26, 2021
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Palantir Technologies Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

As of December 31,

2020 2019
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,011,323 $ 1,079,154
Restricted cash 37,285 52,099
Accounts receivable 156,932 50,315
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 51,889 32,585
Total current assets 2,257,429 1,214,153
Property and equipment, net 29,541 31,589
Restricted cash, noncurrent 79,538 270,709
Operating lease right-of-use assets 217,075 —
Other assets 106,921 77,574
Total assets $ 2,690,504 $ 1,594,025
Liabilities, Redeemable Convertible and Convertible Preferred Stock, and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 16,358 $ 51,735
Accrued liabilities 158,546 126,620
Deferred revenue(1) 189,520 186,105
Customer deposits 210,320 364,138
Operating lease liabilities 29,079 —
Total current liabilities 603,823 728,598
Deferred revenue, noncurrent(1) 50,525 77,030
Customer deposits, noncurrent 81,513 167,538
Debt, noncurrent, net 197,977 396,065
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent 229,800 —
Other noncurrent liabilities 4316 78,205
Total liabilities 1,167,954 1,447,436
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 9)
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value: 0 and 35,002,700 shares authorized as of December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively; 0 and 4,017,378 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively — 33,569
Convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value: 0 and 877,442,966 shares authorized as of December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively; 0 and 742,839,990 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively — 2,093,662
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value: 2,000,000,000 and 0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and
2019 — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value: 20,000,000,000 and 2,200,000,000 Class A shares authorized as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively; 1,542,057,292 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020, and 315,615,753 shares issued and
309,223,182 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2019; 2,700,000,000 and 1,800,000,000 Class B shares authorized as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively; 249,077,252 and 272,273,934 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31,
2020 and 2019, respectively; and 1,005,000 and 0 Class F shares authorized, issued, and outstanding as of December 31, 2020
and 2019 1,792 588
Additional paid-in capital 6,488,857 1,857,331
Treasury stock, at cost: 0 and 6,392,571 shares held as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively — (38,895)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (2,745) (703)
Accumulated deficit (4,965,354) (3,798,963)
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 1,522,550 (1,980,642)
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible and convertible preferred stock, and stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ 2,690,504 $ 1,594,025

(1) Deferred revenue as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 includes $68.2 million and $75.0 million, respectively, from Palantir Technologies Japan, K.K. See Note 6. Equity Method
Investments for more information.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Palantir Technologies Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Revenue $ 1,092,673 $ 742,555 $§ 595,409
Cost of revenue 352,547 242,373 165,401
Gross profit 740,126 500,182 430,008
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 683,701 450,120 461,762
Research and development 560,660 305,563 285,451
General and administrative 669,444 320,943 306,235
Total operating expenses 1,913,805 1,076,626 1,053,448
Loss from operations (1,173,679) (576,444) (623,440)
Interest income 4,680 15,090 10,500
Interest expense (14,139) (3,061) (3,440)
Change in fair value of warrants 811 3) 48,093
Other income (expense), net 3,300 (2,853) (2,638)
Loss before provision (benefit) for income taxes (1,179,027) (567,271) (570,925)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (12,636) 12,375 9,102
Net loss $ (1,166,391) $ (579,646) $ (580,027)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (1,166,391) $ (588,127) $ (598,125)
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic $ (1.19) $ (1.02) $ (1.11)
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, diluted $ (1.20) $ (1.02) § (1.17)
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding used in computing net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders, basic 977,721,736 576,958,560 537,280,394
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding used in computing net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders, diluted 979,330,067 576,958,560 544,014,393

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Palantir Technologies Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Net loss $ (1,166,391)  $ (579,646) $ (580,027)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments (2,042) (1,465) (1,045)
Comprehensive loss $ (1,168,433) §$ (581,111)  $ (581,072)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Palantir Technologies Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible and Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Redeemable Accumulated
Convertible Preferred Convertible Preferred Additional Other Total
Stock Stock C Stock Paid-in Treasury Stock Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount _ Capital Shares Amount Income Deficit Deficit
Balance as of December 31, 2017 25,947,422  $154,065 740,934,057 $2,073,171 525,602,270 $ 561  $1,402,261 35,288,149 $(259.315) $ 1,807 $(2,646,876) $ (1,501,562)
Cumulative effect of accounting
changes — — — — — — 4,973 — — — (4,973) —

Issuance of Series C convertible
preferred stock upon exercise of
warrants — — 1,910,919 14,499 — — — — — — — —

Conversion of Series G convertible
preferred stock to common
stock — — (30,000) 92) 30,000 — 92 — — — — 92

Forfeiture of Series K convertible
preferred stock — — (1,604) (18) — — — — — — — —

Repurchase of common stock, held
in treasury — — — — (1,348,649) — — 1,348,649 (7,706) — — (7.706)

Sale of common stock, held in
treasury — — — — 16,000,000 — (21,920)  (16,000,000) 118,400 — — 96,480

Issuance of common stock from
the exercise of stock options — — — — 9,084,070 9 11,930 — — — — 11,939

Accretion of Series H redeemable
convertible preferred stock to

redemption value — 18,098 — — — — (18,098) — — — — (18,098)
Stock-based compensation — — — — — — 248,503 — — — — 248,503
Excess tax deficiency from stock-

based compensation — — — — — — “) — — — — “)
Cumulative translation adjustment — — — — — — — — — (1,045) — (1,045)
Net loss — — — — — — — — — — (580,027) (580,027)

Balance as of December 31,2018 25,947,422  $172,163 742,813,372 $2,087,560 549,367,691 $ 570  $1,627,737 20,636,798 $ (148,621) § 762 $(3,231,876) $(1,751,428)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(in thousands, except share amounts)

Redeemable Accumulated
Convertible Preferred Convertible Preferred Additional Other Total
Stock Stock C Stock Paid-in Treasury Stock Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount __ Capital Shares Amount _ Income (Loss) Deficit Deficit
Balance as of December 31, 2018 25,947,422 $ 172,163 742,813,372  $2,087,560 549,367,691 $ 570  $1,627,737 20,636,798 $(148,621) $ 762 $(3,231,876) $(1,751,428)
Cumulative effect of accounting
changes — — — — — — (34) — — — 12,559 12,525

Issuance of Series H redeemable
convertible preferred stock
upon exercise of warrants 2,949,002 26,069 — — — — — — — — — —

Redemption of Series H
redeemable convertible

preferred stock (23,931,624)  (168,000) — — — — — — — — — _
Sale of Series H redeemable
convertible preferred stock 1,068,376 7,500 — — — — — — — — — _

Reclassification of Series H
redeemable convertible
preferred stock into
convertible preferred stock
upon expiration of redemption
option (2,015,798) (4,163) 2,015,798 4,163 — — — — — — — —

Repurchase of Series A
convertible preferred stock — — (1,088) — — — — — — — — —

Repurchase of Series D
convertible preferred stock — — (8,298) 6) — — — — — — — —

Repurchase of Series F
convertible preferred stock — — (3,036,810) (5,386) — — — — — — — —

Distributed earnings attributable
to participating securities — — — — — — (8,481) — — — — (8,481)

Conversion of Series F
convertible stock to common
stock — — (10,078) (20) 10,078 — 20 — — — — 20

Issuance of Series D convertible
preferred stock upon exercise
of warrants — — 1,097,094 7,375 — — — — — — — —

Conversion of Series D
convertible stock to common

stock — — (30,000) (24) 30,000 — 24 — — — — 24
Sale of common stock, held in

treasury — — — — 16,583,747 — (20,928)  (16,583,747) 120,928 — — 100,000
Repurchase of common stock,

held in treasury = = = = (2,339,520) = = 2,339,520 (11,202) = = (11,202)
Issuance of common stock from

the exercise of stock options — — — — 17,845,120 18 16,879 — — — — 16,897
Stock-based compensation — — — — — — 242,114 — — — — 242,114
Cumulative translation

adjustment — — — — — — — — — (1,465) — (1,465)
Net loss = = = = — — = = = = (579,646) (579,646)

Balance as of December 31, 2019 4,017,378 $ 33,569 742,839,990  $2,093,662 581,497,116 § 5838  $1,857,331 6,392,571 $ (38,895) § (703)  $(3,798,963) $ (1,980,642)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

115



Table of Contents

Palantir Technologies Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible and Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Redeemable Accumulated
Convertible Preferred Convertible Preferred Additional Other Total
Stock Stock C Stock Paid-in Treasury Stock Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount __ Capital Shares Amount Loss Deficit Equity (Deficit)
Balance as of December 31, 2019 4,017,378 $ 33,569 742,839,990  $ 2,093,662 581,497,116  $ 588 $1,857,331 6,392,571 $(38,895) § (703) $(3,798,963) $ (1,980,642)
Conversion of Series H-1
convertible preferred stock to
common stock — — (28,490) (100) 28,490 — 100 — — — — 100
Issuance of Series K convertible
preferred stock — — 121,265 947 — — — — — — — —
Issuance of Series D preferred
stock upon net exercise of
Series D preferred stock
warrants — — 2,380,034 10,810 — — — — — — — —
Repurchase of common stock,
held in treasury = = = = (808,201) = = 808,201 (3,777 = = (3,777

Retirement of treasury stock — — — — 7 (42,665)  (7,200,772) 42,672 — —
Issuance of common stock upon

net exercise of common stock

warrants — — — — 7,631,329 8 ) — — — — —
Issuance of common stock, net
of issuance costs — — — — 206,500,523 207 942,322 — — — — 942,529

Conversion of redeemable
convertible preferred stock to
common stock (4,017,378)  (33,569) — — 4,017,378 4 33,565 — — — — 33,569

Conversion of convertible
preferred stock to common
stock — —  (745312,799)  (2,105,319) 793,725,807 794 2,104,525 — — — — 2,105,319

Conversion of preferred stock
warrants to common stock

warrants — — — — — — 31,007 — — — — 31,007
Issuance of common stock from
the exercise of stock options — — — — 120,617,527 120 298,709 — — — — 298,829

Issuance of common stock upon
vesting of restricted stock
units (“RSUs™) — — — — 82,429,575 82 (82) — — — — —

Stock-based compensation — — — — — — 1,264,254 — — — — 1,264,254

Settlement of employee loan
accounted for as a

modification to stock option — — — — (3,500,000) “4) (201) — — — — (205)

Other comprehensive income — — — — — — — — — (2,042) — (2,042)

Net loss — — — — — — — — — — (1,166,391) (1,166,391)
Balance as of December 31, 2020 — 8 — — S — 1,792,139,544  $ 1,792  $6,488,857 — 8 — 8 (2,745) $ (4,965,354) $ 1,522,550

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Change in fair value of warrants
Impairment of assets
Non-cash operating lease expense
Other operating activities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue, current and noncurrent
Customer deposits, current and noncurrent
Operating lease liability, current and noncurrent
Deferred rent
Other noncurrent liabilities

Net cash used in operating activities

Investing activities

Purchases of property and equipment

Purchase of assets held for sale

Proceeds from the sale of assets held for sale
Purchase of equity method investment

Return of capital from equity method investment

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Proceeds from the issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs
Proceeds from issuance of debt, net of issuance costs

Principal payments on borrowings

Proceeds from the exercise of common stock options

Repurchase of common stock

Proceeds from the sale of redeemable convertible preferred stock
Redemption of redeemable convertible preferred stock
Repurchase of convertible preferred stock

Other financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities

Effect of foreign exchange on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash—beginning of period

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash—end of period

(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
$  (1,166,391) $ (579,646)  $ (580,027)
13,871 12,255 13,910
1,270,702 241,970 248,503
(811) 3 (48,093)

674 23,407 23,700
35,049 - —
4,417 2,769 420
(108,476) (23,905) (10,483)
(18,565) 18,806 (19,361)
(28,990) (29,447) (3,424)
(34,681) 23,424 10,968
38,505 3,733 26,424
(30,905) (134,396) 173,744
(230,873) 279,226 126,028
(43,639) — —
— (3,414) (1,321)

3,505 - —
(296,608) (165,215) (39,012)
(12,236) (13,096) (13,004)
— — (2,400)

250 - 8,620
(2,934) (25,868) -
— 17,000 —
(14,920) (21,964) (6,784)
942,529 100,000 96,480
199,369 544,413 —
(400,000) (150,000) (56,491)
298,829 16,897 12,671
3,777 (11,202) (7,706)

— 7,500 -

— (168,000) —

— (13,873) —

(497) (1,202) 1,200
1,036,453 324,533 46,154
1,259 (2,227) (3,703)
726,184 135,127 (3,345)
1,401,962 1,266,835 1,270,180
$ 2,128,146 § 1,401,962  $ 1,266,835
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(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for income taxes $ 14,283 $ 8,579 $ 17,098
Cash paid for interest 11,432 2,710 2,438
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing information:
Conversion of redeemable convertible and convertible preferred stock to common stock $ 2,138,988 $ — $ —
Conversion of convertible preferred stock warrants to common stock warrants 31,007 — —
Cashless net exercise of warrants for convertible preferred stock 10,810 7,375 14,499
Cashless net exercise of warrants for redeemable convertible preferred stock — 26,069 —
Reclassification of redeemable convertible preferred stock into convertible preferred stock upon

expiration of redemption option — 4,163 —
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock to redemption value — — 18,098

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Palantir Technologies Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization

Palantir Technologies Inc. (including its subsidiaries, “Palantir” or “the Company”) was incorporated in Delaware on May 6, 2003. The Company builds
and deploys software platforms, Palantir Gotham and Palantir Foundry, that serve as the central operating systems for its customers.

Direct Listing

On September 30, 2020, the Company completed a direct listing of its Class A common stock on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) (the “Direct
Listing”).

In connection with the Direct Listing, on September 22, 2020, the Company filed an amended and restated certificate of incorporation, which became
effective on that date. The amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorized the issuance of a total of 20,000,000,000 shares of Class A common
stock and 2,700,000,000 shares of Class B common stock, authorized 1,005,000 shares of a new class of common stock (“Class F common stock™) and
2,000,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock. In connection with the Direct Listing, Alexander Karp, Stephen Cohen, and Peter Thiel (the
“Founders”) each transferred 335,000 shares of their Class B common stock to a voting trust, which were then exchanged for an equivalent number of
Class F common stock.

Immediately prior to the filing of the amended and restated certificate of incorporation, all outstanding shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock and
convertible preferred stock were converted into 797,743,185 shares of the Company’s Class B common stock, and all of the Company’s outstanding
preferred stock warrants were converted into common stock warrants, which resulted in the reclassification of the warrants liability to additional paid-in
capital. Subsequent to the filing of the amended and restated certificate of incorporation, there were no shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock or
convertible preferred stock outstanding.

Furthermore, upon the occurrence of the Direct Listing, the Company determined that the performance-based vesting condition was satisfied for 68,149,214
RSUs, which resulted in the issuance of an equivalent number of shares of Class A common stock. See further discussion in Note 12. Stock-Based
Compensation regarding the cumulative stock-based compensation charge recognized upon the Direct Listing.

2. Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) regarding annual financial reporting. The accompanying consolidated
financial statements include the accounts of Palantir Technologies Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Investments in entities where the Company holds at least a 20% ownership interest and has the ability to
exercise significant influence over the investee, but not control, are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. For such investments, the share of
the investee’s results of operations is included as a component of other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations and the
investment balance is included in other assets and classified as noncurrent in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company’s fiscal year ends on December
31.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make certain estimates, judgments, and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure
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of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
reporting periods.

Significant estimates and assumptions made in the accompanying consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, identification of
performance obligations in customer contracts, the fair value of common stock and other assumptions used to measure stock-based compensation, the fair
value of warrants, the valuation of deferred tax assets and uncertain tax positions, collectability of accounts receivable, useful lives of tangible assets and the
incremental borrowing rate for operating leases. Estimates and judgments are based on historical experience, forecasted events, and various other
assumptions that management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from those estimates and such differences could
affect the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

Segments

The Company has two operating segments, commercial and government, which were determined based on the manner in which the chief operating decision
maker (“CODM?”), who is the chief executive officer, manages the operations of the Company for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating
performance. Various factors, including the Company’s organizational and management reporting structure and customer type, were considered in
determining these operating segments.

The Company’s operating segments are described below:

. Commercial: This segment primarily serves customers working in non-government industries.
. Government: This segment primarily serves customers that are agencies in the United States (“U.S.”) federal government and non-U.S.
governments.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash
The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash

equivalents. Cash equivalents consists of amounts invested in money market funds.

Restricted cash primarily consists of cash and certificates of deposit that are held as collateral against letters of credit and guarantees the Company is
required to maintain for operating lease agreements, certain customer contracts, and other guarantees and financing arrangements.

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within the consolidated balance sheets that sum to the
total of the amounts shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2020 2019 2018
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,011,323 § 1,079,154 $ 1,116,342
Restricted cash 37,285 52,099 10,484
Restricted cash, noncurrent 79,538 270,709 140,009
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 2,128,146 $ 1,401,962 $ 1,266,835
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Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Credit Losses

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount, net of an allowance for credit losses, if any. The Company generally grants non-collateralized
credit terms to its customers. Allowance for credit losses is based on the Company’s best estimate of probable losses inherent in its accounts receivable
portfolio and is determined based on expectations of the customer’s ability to pay by considering factors such as customer type (commercial or
government), historical experience, financial position of the customer, age of the accounts receivable, current economic conditions, including the ongoing
COVID-19 pandemic, and as well as reasonable and supportable forward-looking factors about its portfolio and future economic conditions. Accounts
receivable are written-off and charged against an allowance for credit losses when the Company has exhausted collection efforts without success. Based
upon the Company’s assessment as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, it did not record an allowance for credit losses as probable losses are not expected to
be material.

Concentrations of Credit Risk and Other Concentrations

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents, restricted
cash, and accounts receivable. Cash equivalents consist of money market funds with original maturities of three months or less, which are invested primarily
with U.S. financial institutions. Cash deposits with financial institutions, including restricted cash, generally exceed federally insured limits. Management
believes minimal credit risk exists with respect to these financial institutions and the Company has not experienced any losses on such amounts.

The Company is exposed to concentrations of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable presented on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company’s
accounts receivable balance as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $156.9 million and $50.3 million, respectively. Customer G represented 13% of total
accounts receivable as of December 31, 2020. Customers A and C represented 38% and 21% of total accounts receivable as of December 31, 2019,
respectively. No other customer represented more than 10% of total accounts receivable as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. The Company seeks to mitigate
its credit risk with respect to accounts receivable by contracting with large commercial customers and government agencies and regularly monitoring the
aging of accounts receivable balances. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had not experienced any significant losses on its accounts
receivable.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, Customer F, which is in the government operating segment, represented 10% of total revenue. For the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, Customer D, which is in the commercial operating segment, represented 12%, and 15% of total revenue, respectively. No
other customer represented more than 10% of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

The Company relies on the technology, infrastructure, and software applications, including software-as-a-service offerings, of third parties in order to host
or operate certain key products and functions of its business.

Assets Held for Sale

Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale rather than through continuing use and when all of
the following criteria have been met: (i) management commits to a plan to sell the asset, (ii) the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition,
(iii) the asset is being actively marketed for sale at or near its current fair value, (iv) significant changes to the plan of sale are unlikely, and (v) the sale of
the asset is probable within one year. Upon classification as held for sale, long-lived assets are not depreciated, and the Company evaluates the assets for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable or the fair value less costs to sell are less
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than the carrying amount. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the Company records an impairment loss for the amount of the excess of carrying
value over the fair value less costs to sell as general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations. See Note 4. Fair Value
Measurements for more information.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is recognized using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, which are generally three years. Leasehold improvements are capitalized and amortized using the
straight-line method over the shorter of the remaining lease term or the estimated useful life, which is generally five years. Maintenance and repairs that do
not improve or extend the useful lives of the assets are expensed when incurred. Upon sale or retirement of assets, the cost and related accumulated
depreciation and amortization are derecognized from the consolidated balance sheet and any resulting gain or loss is recorded in the consolidated statements
of operations in the period realized.

Equity Method Investments

In general, nonconsolidated investments in which the Company owns 20% to 50% of the affiliate’s equity and has the ability to exercise significant
influence but does not control are accounted for under the equity method. In making this determination, the Company first considers whether it has a direct
or indirect controlling financial interest based on either the variable interest entity (“VIE”) model or the voting interest entity (“VOE”) model.

The Company adjusts the carrying value of its investment by its proportionate share of the net earnings or losses of the investee, adjustments for unrealized
profits or losses on intra-entity transactions, impairment charges, dividends received, additional capital investments, and the amortization of basis
differences during the respective reporting period. The Company’s proportionate share of the net earnings or loss of its equity method investment is based
on the most recently available financial statements of the investee and is reflected as a component of other income (expense), net in the consolidated
statements of operations. The income tax benefit or expense related to the Company’s interest in the net earnings or loss of the equity method investee is
reported in the consolidated provision (benefit) for income taxes.

The Company reviews the investments for impairment whenever factors indicate that the carrying amount of the investment might not be recoverable. In
such a case, the decrease in value is recognized in the period the impairment occurs in the consolidated statements of operations. No impairment charge was
recognized during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may
not be recoverable. Recoverability is measured by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to the future net undiscounted cash flows that the asset is
expected to generate. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized in the amount by which
the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. There was no impairment of long-lived assets recognized during the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

Leases

The Company adopted the Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”) 2016-02, Leases, and additional ASUs issued to clarify and update the guidance in ASU
2016-02 (collectively, “ASC 842”), as of January 1, 2020. See the section Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements below for more information.
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The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. An arrangement is or contains a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. If a lease is identified, classification is determined at lease commencement. Operating
lease liabilities are recognized at the present value of the future lease payments at the lease commencement date. The Company’s leases do not provide an
implicit interest rate and therefore the Company estimates its incremental borrowing rate to discount lease payments. The incremental borrowing rate
reflects the interest rate that the Company would have to pay to borrow on a collateralized basis an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar
economic environment over a similar term. Operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets are based on the corresponding lease liability adjusted for any lease
payments made at or before commencement, initial direct costs, and lease incentives. Renewals or early terminations are not accounted for unless the
Company is reasonably certain to exercise these options. Operating lease expense is recognized and the ROU asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

The Company has lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are accounted for as a single lease component. The Company elected to
use the transition relief package of practical expedients but did not elect to use the hindsight practical expedient in determining a lease term and impairment
of ROU assets at the adoption date. For short-term leases, defined as leases with a term of twelve months or less, the Company elected the practical
expedient to not recognize an associated lease liability and ROU asset. Lease payments for short-term leases are expensed on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use assets, operating lease liabilities, and operating lease liabilities, non-current on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets. Finance leases are not material.

Lease accounting prior to the adoption of ASC 842

For operating leases, the Company recorded rent expense on a straight-line basis over the noncancelable lease term and recorded the difference between the
rent paid and the recognition of rent expense as a deferred rent asset or liability. Rent escalation, rent abatement, or other concessions, such as rent holidays,
and landlord or tenant incentives or allowances, were recorded as deferred rent and amortized over the remaining lease term.

Warrants

Warrants to purchase shares of redeemable convertible and convertible preferred stock (collectively, the “preferred stock warrants”) were freestanding
financial instruments classified as other noncurrent liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as the underlying securities were redeemable or
contingently redeemable upon the occurrence of events which were outside of the Company’s control. The preferred stock warrants were recorded at their
respective fair values upon issuance and were subject to re-measurement at the end of each reporting period. Any change in the fair value of the preferred
stock warrants was recognized as a change in fair value of warrants in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company adjusted the liability for
changes in fair value of the preferred stock warrants until the completion of the Company’s Direct Listing. Immediately prior to the filing of the amended
and restated certificate of incorporation, all of the Company’s outstanding preferred stock warrants were converted into common stock warrants, which
resulted in the reclassification of the warrants liability to additional paid-in capital.

Treasury Stock

Repurchased treasury stock is recorded at cost. When treasury stock is resold at a price different than its historical acquisition cost, the difference is
recorded as a component of additional paid-in capital in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company’s treasury stock was fully retired as of April 2020.
As of December 31, 2020 the Company held no shares as treasury stock.
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Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability, or an exit price, in the principal or most
advantageous market for that asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date.

The Company measures fair value based on a three-level hierarchy of inputs, maximizing the use of observable inputs, where available, and minimizing the
use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. A financial instrument’s level within the three-level hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input
that is significant to the fair value measurement. The three-level hierarchy of inputs is as follows:

Level I: Observable inputs such as unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date;

Level 2: Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active,
or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities; and

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. These
inputs are based on the Company’s own assumptions about current market conditions and require significant management judgment or estimation.

Financial instruments consist of cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, other assets accounted for at fair value, accounts payable, accrued
liabilities, and the warrants liability. Cash equivalents, restricted cash, assets held for sale, and the warrants liability are stated at fair value on a recurring
basis. Accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities are stated at their carrying value, which approximates fair value due to the short time to
the expected receipt or payment date. The carrying amount of the Company’s outstanding debt approximates the fair value as the debt bears a floating rate
that approximates the market interest rate.

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenue from the sale of subscriptions to access the software in the Company’s hosted environment with ongoing operations and
maintenance (“O&M?”) services (“Palantir Cloud”), software licenses, primarily term licenses in the customers’ environments, with ongoing O&M services
(“On-Premises Software”), and professional services.

In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”), the Company recognizes
revenue upon the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be
entitled in exchange for promised goods or services. The Company applies the following five-step revenue recognition model in accounting for its revenue
arrangements:

. Identification of the contract(s) with the customer;

. Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

. Determination of the transaction price;

. Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
. Recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation.
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Each of the Company’s significant performance obligations and the Company’s application of ASC 606 to its revenue arrangements is discussed in further
detail below.

Palantir Cloud

The Company’s Palantir Cloud subscriptions grant customers the right to access the software functionality in a hosted environment controlled by Palantir
and are sold together with stand-ready O&M services, as further described below. The Company promises to provide continuous access to the hosted
software throughout the contract term. Revenue associated with Palantir Cloud subscriptions is recognized over the contract term on a ratable basis, which
is consistent with the transfer of control of the Palantir Cloud subscription to the customer.

On-Premises Software

Sales of the Company’s software licenses, primarily term licenses, grant customers the right to use functional intellectual property, either on their internal
hardware infrastructure or on their own cloud instance, over the contractual term and are also sold together with stand-ready O&M services. The O&M
services include critical updates, support, and maintenance services required to operate the software and, as such, are necessary for the software to maintain
its intended utility over the contractual term. Because of this requirement, the Company has concluded that the software licenses and O&M services, which
together the Company refers to it as its On-Premises Software, are highly interdependent and interrelated and represent a single distinct performance
obligation within the context of the contract. Revenue is generally recognized over the contract term on a ratable basis.

Professional Services

The Company’s professional services support the customers’ use of the software and include, as needed, on-demand user support, user-interface
configuration, training, and ongoing ontology and data modeling support. Professional services contracts typically include the provision of on-demand
professional services for the duration of the contractual term. These services are typically coterminous with a Palantir Cloud subscription or the
On-Premises Software. Professional services are on-demand, whereby the Company performs services throughout the contract period; therefore, the revenue
is recognized over the contractual term.

Contract Balances

The timing of customer billing and payment relative to the start of the service period varies from contract to contract; however, the Company bills many of
its customers in advance of the provision of services under its contracts, resulting in contract liabilities consisting of either deferred revenue or customer
deposits (“contract liabilities”). Deferred revenue represents billings under noncancelable contracts before the related product or service is transferred to the
customer. Customer deposits consist of payments received in advance of the start of the contractual term or for anticipated revenue generating activities for
the portion of a contract term that is subject to cancellation and refund. The Company’s arrangements generally include terms that allow the customer to
terminate the contract for convenience and receive a pro-rata refund of the amount of the customer deposit for the period of time remaining in the contract
term after the applicable termination notice period expires. In these arrangements, the Company concluded there are no enforceable rights and obligations
after such notice period and therefore the consideration received or due from the customer that is subject to termination for convenience is recorded as
customer deposits.

The payment terms and conditions vary by contract; however, the Company’s terms generally require payment within 30 to 60 days from the invoice date.
In instances where the timing of revenue recognition differs from the
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timing of payment, the Company elected to apply the practical expedient in accordance with ASC 606 to not adjust contract consideration for the effects of
a significant financing component as the Company expects, at contract inception, that the period between when promised goods and services are transferred
to the customer and when the customer pays for those goods and services will be one year or less. As such, the Company determined its contracts do not
generally contain a significant financing component.

Areas of Judgment and Estimation

The Company’s contracts with customers can include multiple promises to transfer goods or services to the customer. Determining whether promises are
distinct performance obligations that should be accounted for separately — or not distinct within the context of the contract and, thus, accounted for together
— requires significant judgment. The Company concluded that the promise to provide a software license is highly interdependent and interrelated with the
promise to provide O&M services and such promises are not distinct within the context of its contracts and are accounted for as a single performance
obligation as the Company’s On-Premises Software.

Additionally, the pricing of the Company’s contracts is generally fixed; however, it is possible for contracts to include variable consideration in the form of
performance bonuses, which can be based on subjective or objective criteria. The Company includes the estimated amount of variable consideration that it
expects to receive to the extent it is probable that a significant revenue reversal will not occur. Any amounts received in the form of performance bonuses
were not material in the periods presented.

Costs to Obtain and Fulfill Contracts

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract include only those costs that are directly related to the acquisition of contracts, including sales commissions, and
that would not have been incurred if the contract had not been obtained. The Company recognizes an asset for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract
with a customer if it is expected that the economic benefit and amortization period will be longer than one year. Costs to obtain contracts were not material
in the periods presented. The Company recognizes an asset for the costs to fulfill a contract with a customer if the costs are specifically identifiable,
generate or enhance resources used to satisfy future performance obligations, and are expected to be recovered. Costs to fulfill contracts were not material in
the periods presented.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represents billings under noncancelable contracts before the related product or service is transferred to the customer. The portion of
deferred revenue that is anticipated to be recognized as revenue during the succeeding twelve-month period is recorded as deferred revenue and the
remaining portion is recorded as deferred revenue, noncurrent.

Customer Deposits

Customer deposits consist of payments received for anticipated revenue generating activities in advance of the start of the contractual term or for the portion
of a contract term that is subject to cancellation and refund. The portion of customer deposits that is anticipated to be recognized as revenue during the
succeeding twelve-month period is recorded as customer deposits and the remaining portion is recorded as customer deposits, noncurrent.
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Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily includes salaries, stock-based compensation expense, and benefits for personnel involved in performing O&M and professional
services, as well as third-party cloud hosting services, allocated overhead, and other direct costs.

Software Development Costs

The Company evaluates capitalization of certain software development costs subsequent to the establishment of technological feasibility. Based on the
Company’s product development process and substantial development risks, technological feasibility is established for the Company’s products when they
are made available for general release. Accordingly, the Company has charged all such costs to research and development expense in the period incurred.

Sales and Marketing Costs

Sales and marketing costs primarily include salaries, stock-based compensation expense, and benefits for personnel involved in executing on pilots and
performing other brand building activities, as well as third-party cloud hosting services for our pilots, marketing and sales event-related costs, and allocated
overhead. The Company generally charges all such costs to sales and marketing expense in the period incurred.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs primarily include salaries, stock-based compensation expense, and benefits for personnel involved in performing the
activities to develop and improve the Company’s platforms, as well as third-party cloud hosting services, and allocated overhead. Research and
development costs are expensed as incurred.

Commitments and Contingencies

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, disputes, legal proceedings, fines and penalties, and other sources are recorded when it is probable that
a liability has been or will be incurred and the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated. Legal costs incurred in connection with loss
contingencies are expensed as incurred. Recoveries of such legal costs from insurance policies are recorded as an offset to legal expenses in the period they
are received.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation expense in accordance with the fair value recognition and measurement provisions of GAAP, which
require compensation cost for the grant-date fair value of stock-based awards to be recognized over the requisite service period. The Company determines
the fair value of stock-based awards granted or modified on the grant date or modification date using appropriate valuation techniques.

Service-Based Vesting

The Company grants stock option awards and RSUs, that vest only based upon the satisfaction of a service condition. For stock option awards, the
Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of the stock options granted. The Black-Scholes option pricing model
requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the fair value of the underlying common stock, the expected term of the
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option, the expected volatility of the price of the common stock, risk-free interest rates, and the expected dividend yield of the common stock. The
assumptions used to determine the fair value of the option awards represent management’s best estimates. These estimates involve inherent uncertainties
and the application of management’s judgment. For RSUs, the Company determines the grant-date fair value of the RSUs as the fair value of the
Company’s common stock on the grant date. The Company records stock-based compensation expense for stock options and RSUs that vest only based
upon the satisfaction of a service condition on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally four years. The Company recognizes
forfeitures as they occur.

Performance-Based Vesting

The Company grants awards, including RSUs and “growth units,” that vest upon the satisfaction of both a service condition and a performance condition.
The performance-based vesting condition for the RSUs granted prior to the Company’s Direct Listing was satisfied upon the occurrence of the Direct
Listing. The service-based vesting period for growth units has been satisfied for all growth units outstanding as of December 31, 2019. The performance-
based vesting condition will be satisfied if the recipient remains a service provider through the 180-day period following the Direct Listing. Alternatively, if
the holder of the growth units leaves the Company before the date of the public listing plus 180 days, then the growth units will vest if the Company meets
certain performance targets for the performance year. Unless determined otherwise by the Company, if a change in control of the Company occurs before
vesting, the growth units are forfeited.

Employee Benefit Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) tax-deferred savings plan for all employees who meet certain eligibility requirements. Participants may contribute, on a
pretax and post-tax basis, a percentage of their qualifying annual compensation, but not to exceed a maximum contribution amount pursuant to
Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company may make additional matching contributions on behalf of the participants. The Company did
not make matching contributions for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

Income Taxes

The Company estimates its current tax expense together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items not currently
deductible for tax purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets, which are estimated
based upon the difference between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using the enacted tax rates that will be in effect when these
differences reverse. In general, deferred tax assets represent future tax benefits to be received when certain expenses previously recognized in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations become deductible expenses under applicable income tax laws or loss or credit carryforwards are utilized.
Accordingly, the realization of the Company’s deferred tax assets are dependent on future taxable income against which these deductions, losses, and
credits can be utilized.

The Company evaluates the realizability of its deferred tax assets and recognizes a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that a future benefit
on such deferred tax assets will not be realized. Changes in the valuation allowance, when recorded, would be included in the Company’s consolidated
statements of operations. Management’s judgment is required in determining the Company’s valuation allowance recorded against its net deferred tax
assets.

The Company recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on
examination by the taxing authorities based on the technical merits of the
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position. The tax benefits recognized in the consolidated financial statements from such positions are then measured based on the largest benefit that has a
greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon settlement. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in its
provision (benefit) for income taxes.

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. government enacted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“Tax Act”). The Tax Act includes significant changes to the U.S.
corporate income tax system including: a federal corporate rate reduction from 35% to 21%; limitations on the deductibility of interest expense; creation of
new minimum taxes, such as the base erosion anti-abuse tax (“BEAT”) and Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (“GILTI”) tax; and the transition of U.S.
international taxation from a worldwide tax system to a modified territorial tax system, which resulted in a one time U.S. tax liability on those earnings
which have not previously been repatriated to the United States (“Transition Tax”). A majority of the provisions in the Tax Act were effective January 1,
2018. The Company has elected to record taxes associated with GILTI as period costs if and when incurred.

Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

The Company computes net loss per share attributable to its common stockholders using the two-class method required for participating securities, which
determines net loss per common share for each class of common stock and participating securities according to dividends declared or accumulated and
participation rights in distributed and undistributed earnings. The two-class method requires income available to common stockholders for the period to be
allocated between common stock and participating securities based upon their respective rights to receive dividends as if all income for the period had been
distributed. The Company’s redeemable convertible and convertible preferred stock contractually entitled the holders of such shares to participate in
dividends, but do not contractually require the holders of such shares to participate in the Company’s losses. As such, net losses for the periods presented
were not allocated to these securities.

The rights, including the liquidation and dividend rights, of the holders of Class A, Class B, and Class F common stock (collectively, the “common stock™)
are identical, except with respect to voting and conversion. As the liquidation and dividend rights are identical, the undistributed earnings are allocated on a
proportionate basis and the resulting net loss per share will, therefore, be the same for all classes of common stock on an individual or combined basis. As
such, the Company has presented the net loss attributed to its common stock on a combined basis.

Foreign Currency

Generally the functional currency of the Company’s international subsidiaries is the local currency of the country in which they operate. The Company
translates the assets and liabilities of its non-U.S. dollar functional currency subsidiaries into U.S. dollars using exchange rates in effect at the end of each
reporting period. Revenue and expenses for these subsidiaries are translated using rates that approximate those in effect during the period. Gains and losses
from these translations are recognized as a cumulative translation adjustment and included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

For transactions that are not denominated in the local functional currency, the Company remeasures monetary assets and liabilities at exchange rates in
effect at the end of each reporting period. Transaction gains and losses from the remeasurement are recognized in other income (expense), net within the
consolidated statements of operations.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

Under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies (“EGC”) can delay adopting new or revised
accounting standards issued subsequent to the enactment of the JOBS Act
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until such time as those standards apply to private companies. The Company elected to retain the ability to use this extended transition period for complying
with new or revised accounting standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies until the earlier of the date that the Company
(1) is no longer an emerging growth company or (ii) affirmatively and irrevocably opts out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. The
Company lost its emerging growth company status on December 31, 2020 as its annual gross revenue exceeded the EGC revenue criteria of $1.07 billion.
As such the Company became subject to new accounting pronouncement effective dates for non-EGC’s during 2020.

The Company adopted the following accounting standards during the year ended December 31, 2020:

ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework — Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement. This
standard update modified the disclosure requirements on fair value measurements by removing, modifying, or adding certain disclosures. The ASU
eliminated such disclosures as the amount of and reasons for transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy and valuation processes for
Level 3 fair value measurements. The ASU adds new disclosure requirements for Level 3 measurements. The Company adopted ASU 2018-13 as of
January 1, 2020. The Company’s disclosures related to its Level 3 financial instruments did not materially change for the periods presented. See Note 4.
Fair Value Measurements for more information.

ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). ASC 842 requires companies to generally recognize operating and financing lease liabilities and corresponding ROU
assets on their balance sheet. Leases will be classified as finance or operating leases, with classification affecting the pattern and classification of expense
recognition in the consolidated statements of operation. Effective January 1, 2020, the Company adopted this new standard prospectively using a modified
retrospective transition approach. The Company elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance of the new standard,
which allowed the Company to carry forward its historical assessment on whether a contract is or contains a lease, lease classification, and initial direct
costs. Upon adoption on January 1, 2020, the Company recognized operating lease ROU assets of $234.1 million, and current and non-current operating
lease liabilities of $43.3 million and $237.2 million, respectively. Finance lease assets and liabilities were not material. The adoption of ASC 842 did not
have a material impact to Company’s consolidated statements of operations and cash flows from operations.

ASU 2018-15, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other — Internal-Use Software — (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred
in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract. This standard update requires a customer in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract
to follow the internal-use software guidance in ASC 350-40 to determine which implementation costs to capitalize as assets or expense as incurred. The
Company adopted this guidance as of January 1, 2020 on a prospective basis. Upon the adoption, the Company capitalized $4.0 million of software
implementation costs incurred during the year ended December 31, 2020, which were included in prepaid expenses and other current assets and other assets
on the consolidated balance sheets.

ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. This standard update, along
with subsequent ASUs, replaces the incurred loss impairment methodology with an expected credit loss model for which a company recognizes an
allowance based on the estimate of expected credit loss. The Company adopted the standard effective January 1, 2020 on a modified retrospective basis. The
adoption of the new standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes (Topic 740), which is intended to simplify various aspects
related to accounting for income taxes. The new standard is effective for the Company on January 1, 2021. The Company is currently evaluating the impact
of the new standard on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures but does not expect it to have a material impact.

3. Revenue Recognition
Contract Balances

The Company’s contract liabilities consist of deferred revenue and customer deposits. The changes in the Company’s contract liabilities were as follows (in
thousands):

Contract liabilities as of January 1, 2019 $ 657,112
Billings and other(1)(2) 898,254
Revenue recognized (742,555)
Refunds accrued or paid to customers (18,000)

Contract liabilities as of December 31, 2019 794,811
Billings and other(2) 839,740
Revenue recognized (1,092,673)
Refunds accrued or paid to customers (10,000)

Contract liabilities as of December 31, 2020 $ 531,878

(1) Billings include $75.0 million at December 31, 2019 from Palantir Technologies Japan, K.K. See Note 6. Equity Method Investments for more information.
(2) Other primarily includes the impact of foreign currency translation.

Remaining Performance Obligations

The Company’s arrangements with its customers often have terms that span over multiple years. However, the Company generally allows its customers to
terminate contracts for convenience prior to the end of the stated term with less than twelve months’ notice. Revenue allocated to remaining performance
obligations represents noncancelable contracted revenue that has not yet been recognized, which includes deferred revenue and, in certain instances,
amounts that will be invoiced. The Company has elected the practical expedient allowing the Company to not disclose remaining performance obligations
for contracts with original terms of twelve months or less. Cancelable contracted revenue, which includes customer deposits, is not considered a remaining
performance obligation.

The Company’s remaining performance obligations were $597.4 million as of December 31, 2020, of which the Company expects to recognize
approximately 54% as revenue over the next twelve months.

Disaggregation of Revenue

See Note 15. Segment and Geographic Information for disaggregated revenue by customer segment and geographic region.
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4. Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring and nonrecurring basis and indicates the fair
value hierarchy of the valuation (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2020
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds $ 1,075,783 $ 1,075,783 $ — 3 —
Restricted cash:
Certificates of deposit 74,097 — 74,097 —
Total $ 1,149,880 $ 1,075,783 $ 74,097 $ —
As of December 31, 2019
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds $ 650,498 $ 650,498 $ — 3 —
Restricted cash:
Certificates of deposit 102,904 — 102,904 —
Prepaid expenses and other current assets:
Assets held for sale 980 — — 980
Total $ 754,382 $ 650,498 $ 102,904 $ 980
Liabilities:
Warrants liability $ 42,628 $ — 3 — 3 42,628
Total $ 42,628 $ — 3 — 3 42,628

Certificates of Deposit

The Company’s Level 2 instruments consist of restricted cash invested in certificates of deposit. The fair value of such instruments is estimated based on
valuations obtained from third-party pricing services that utilize industry standard valuation models, including both income-based and market-based
approaches, for which all significant inputs are observable either directly or indirectly. These inputs include interest rate curves, foreign exchange rates, and
credit ratings.

Gross unrealized gains or losses for cash equivalents as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 were not material.

Assets Held for Sale

The fair value of assets held for sale were determined based on the Company’s best estimate of fair market value considering the limited market conditions
for the assets, recent comparable sales, the age and condition of the assets, current demand, including letters of intent for the sale of the assets, and the views
of informed industry sources and third-party specialists. In determining the fair market value of the assets at December 31, 2019, the Company considered a
letter of intent it executed with a prospective buyer during November 2019 and its costs to sell the assets. As a result, an impairment charge for the excess of
carrying value over the fair value less costs to sell was recorded as general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations. All
assets held for sale were sold as of December 31, 2020.
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The following table sets forth a summary of the changes in the estimated fair value of the Company’s assets held for sale (in thousands):

Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ 24,008
Impairment of assets held for sale (23,407)
Foreign currency adjustments 379
Balance as of December 31, 2019 $ 980
Sale of assets held for sale (250)
Impairment of assets held for sale (674)
Foreign currency adjustments (56)
Balance as of December 31, 2020 $ —
Warrants Liability

In connection with the completion of the Company’s Direct Listing, all of the outstanding warrants to purchase shares of redeemable convertible and
convertible preferred stock converted into warrants to purchase shares of Class B common stock. As a result, the Company reclassified the warrants liability
to additional paid-in capital. Immediately prior to the Direct Listing and the reclassification to additional paid-in capital, the fair value of the warrants
liability was estimated using a Black Scholes model and considered the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the first day of trading, the strike
price of the warrants, the remaining term of the warrants, a risk-free interest rate that corresponds to the remaining term, and the volatility of comparable
companies.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the warrants liability was included in other noncurrent liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet and the fair value
of the warrant liability was estimated using a combination of an option-pricing model and a Monte Carlo simulation model with equal weighting applied to
both models in determining the fair values. These models considered many assumptions, including the likelihood of various potential liquidity events, the
nature and timing of such potential events, actions taken with regard to the warrants at expiration, as well as discounts for lack of marketability of the
underlying securities and warrants.

The assumptions used to calculate the warrants liability as of September 29, 2020, the date immediately before the Direct Listing, and December 31, 2019
were as follows:

September 29, December 31,
2020 2019
Discounts for lack of marketability — 20.0% - 28.0%
Fair value of underlying securities $9.50 $6.81 - $8.04
Expected volatility 66.0% 66.0%
Dividend rate — —
Risk-free interest rate 0.1% 1.3%
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The following table sets forth a summary of the changes in the estimated fair value of the Company’s warrants liability (in thousands):

Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ 76,069
Net exercises in the period (33,444)
Change in fair value of warrants 3

Balance as of December 31, 2019 $ 42,628
Net exercises in the period (10,810)
Change in fair value of warrants (811)
Reclassification to additional paid-in capital as a result of conversion of preferred stock warrants to

common stock warrants (31,007)

Balance as of December 31, 2020 $ —

5. Balance Sheet Components
Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2020 2019
Leasehold improvements $ 85,196 $ 93,530
Computer equipment, software, and other 22,275 32,757
Furniture and fixtures 9,976 10,753
Construction in progress 493 3,161
Total property and equipment, gross 117,940 140,201
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (88,399) (108,612)
Total property and equipment, net $ 29,541 $ 31,589

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment, net was $13.9 million, $12.2 million, and $13.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.

Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2020 2019
Accrued payroll and related expenses $ 85,466 $ 31,355
Accrued other liabilities 73,080 95,265
Total accrued liabilities $ 158,546 $ 126,620
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6. Equity Method Investments
Palantir Technologies Japan, K.K.

During November 2019, the Company and SOMPO Holdings, Inc. (“SOMPO”) created a Japanese Kabushiki Kaisha (“K.K.”), Palantir Technologies
Japan, K.K. (“Palantir Japan”) to distribute Palantir platforms to the Japanese market. Upon closing of the transaction with SOMPO, the Company
purchased a total of 100,000 shares of Palantir Japan common stock for $25.0 million. The shares the Company received in exchange represent a 50%
voting interest in Palantir Japan. The remaining 50% of the voting interest is held by SOMPO. The Company’s investment in Palantir Japan is accounted for
as an equity method investment as the Company is able to exercise significant influence over, but does not control, the investee. The Company recorded a
$25.9 million initial investment in Palantir Japan, of which $0.9 million was related to direct costs incurred in connection with the transaction. The
Company’s 50% share of profits or losses generated from Palantir Japan are reported on a quarter lag. The Company recorded $1.7 million share of losses
during the year ended December 31, 2020.

Concurrently with the formation of Palantir Japan, the Company entered into a ten-year license and services agreement with Palantir Japan for a limited
non-transferable right to resell the Company’s platforms and use certain of the Company’s trademarks in exchange for $25.0 million and future quarterly
royalty payments to be paid based on Palantir Japan’s net revenue. In addition, the Company received a prepayment of $50.0 million to be used toward
future products or services provided by the Company to support the business operations and future deployments of the Company’s platforms by Palantir
Japan (“service credit”).

In connection with the license rights sold to Palantir Japan, the Company recorded the receipt of the $25.0 million in deferred revenue which will be
recognized over the term of the agreement. The Company recorded the $50.0 million service credit in deferred revenue, which will be utilized on an
as-needed basis and expires after five years. In the event there was a dissolution of Palantir Japan in the first five years following its formation, any
remaining service credit would be refunded by the Company to Palantir Japan. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, Palantir Japan utilized
$4.2 million and $0 of the outstanding service credit, respectively.

7. Debt
2014 Credit Facility

In October 2014, the Company entered into an unsecured revolving credit facility which has been subsequently amended (the “2014 Credit Facility”). The
2014 Credit Facility bears interest at the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus a margin of 2.75% per annum, subject to certain adjustments, and
incurs a commitment fee of 0.375% assessed on the daily average undrawn portion of revolving commitments. Interest and commitment fees are payable at
the end of an interest period or at each three-month interval if the interest period is longer than three months.

In December 2019, the Company drew down the $150.0 million term loan and $150.0 million under the existing revolving credit facility. The term loan
portion of the 2014 Credit Facility was fully repaid and terminated, and the $150.0 million revolving credit facility remained outstanding as of
December 31, 2019.

In June 2020, the Company amended the 2014 Credit Facility to include a new $150.0 million term loan, extend the maturity date to June 4, 2023, and add
an additional lender. Additionally, this amendment increased the minimum liquidity required to be maintained and provided the Company with an option to
increase the total commitments by up to an additional $200.0 million, subject to the lenders’ approval. All other terms and conditions remained substantially
the same upon the effectiveness of the amendment. Upon entering into this amendment, the Company drew down the total available term loan commitment
of $150.0 million.
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In July 2020, the Company entered into another amendment to the 2014 Credit Facility, which added an additional lender and provided for an increase of
$50.0 million to the revolving credit facility and a $50.0 million term loan. The incremental commitments were provided under the same terms as the
existing commitments under the 2014 Credit Facility. During July 2020, the Company drew down the additional available term loan of $50.0 million and
repaid the $150.0 million outstanding revolving credit facility.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had $200.0 million of term loans outstanding under the 2014 Credit Facility and an additional $200.0 million
undrawn revolving credit facility available. The 2014 Credit Facility is secured with substantially all of the Company’s assets.

The 2014 Credit Facility contains customary representations and warranties, and certain financial and nonfinancial covenants, including but not limited to
maintaining minimum liquidity of $50.0 million, and certain limitations on liens and indebtedness. The Company was in compliance with all covenants
associated with the 2014 Credit Facility as of December 31, 2020.

2019 Credit Facility

On December 31, 2019, the Company entered into a senior secured revolving credit facility (the “2019 Credit Facility”’) with a second lender. The 2019
Credit Facility allowed for the drawdown of up to $250.0 million. Amounts outstanding under the 2019 Credit Facility incurred interest at LIBOR plus a
margin of 2.0% per annum, subject to certain adjustments. Interest was payable at the end of an interest period or at each three-month interval if the interest
period was longer than three months. The 2019 Credit Facility also required the Company to maintain 50% of the aggregate revolving commitment in a
specified collateral account, which was reported in restricted cash, noncurrent on the consolidated balance sheets.

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had $250.0 million outstanding and elected to incur interest at three-month LIBOR plus 2.0%. In June 2020, the
outstanding balance was fully repaid and the 2019 Credit Facility was terminated, which released all restrictions on the cash collateral.

The Company’s outstanding debt consisted of the following as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2020 2019
Principal amount $ 200,000 $ 400,000
Unamortized discount (2,023) (3,935)
Carrying value of debt $ 197,977 $ 396,065

Future minimum payments of principal on the Company’s outstanding debt as of December 31, 2020 were as follows (in thousands):

2021 g -

2022 —

2023 200,000
Total payments $ 200,000

8. Leases

The Company has operating leases primarily for corporate office space, and equipment. Certain lease agreements contain renewal options, rent abatement,
and escalation clauses that are factored into our determination of lease
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payments when appropriate. The Company’s leases have remaining terms up to March 2032 with renewal terms up to June 2033 or options to terminate
leases within the next six years.

Supplemental balance sheet information related to lease liabilities at December 31, 2020, was as follows (in thousands):

Lease-Related Assets and Liabilities Financial Statement Line Items As of December 31, 2020

Right-of-use assets:
Operating leases Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 217,075
Total right-of-use assets $ 217,075

Lease liabilities:

Operating leases Operating lease liabilities $ 29,079
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent 229,800
Total lease liabilities $ 258,879

The components of lease expense included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations include (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2020
Operating lease expense $ 53,576
Short-term lease expense 8,942
Variable lease expense 9,433
Less: Sublease income 19,769
Total lease expense, net $ 52,182

Variable lease costs are primarily related to payments made to lessors for common area maintenance, property taxes, insurance, and other operating
expenses. Short-term lease costs primarily represent temporary employee housing. Finance leases were not material for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2020 were as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2020
Operating Lease Less: Sublease Net Lease

Year ended December 31, Commitments Income Commitments
2021 $ 44,630 $ 17,582 $ 27,048
2022 40,099 12,418 27,681
2023 45,085 18,288 26,797
2024 41,629 16,407 25,222
2025 40,066 14,210 25,856
Thereafter 124,935 71,403 53,532

Total undiscounted liabilities 336,444 150,308 186,136
Less: Leases not yet commenced (1,082) — (1,082)
Less: Imputed interest (76,483) — (76,483)

Total operating lease liabilities $ 258,879 $ 150,308 $ 108,571
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The weighted-average remaining lease term and discount rate related to the Company’s operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2020 were 8.05 years
and 6.34%, respectively. The following table sets forth the supplemental information related to the Company’s operating leases for the year ended
December 31, 2020 (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2020
Cash paid for operating lease liabilities $ 58,157
Lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets $ 17,647

As of December 31, 2020, the Company has additional operating leases for office space that have not yet commenced with future lease obligations of
$1.1 million. These operating leases will commence in 2021 with lease terms of four years.

As of December 31, 2019, prior to the Company’s adoption of ASC 842, annual minimum payments under noncancelable operating leases were as follows
(in thousands):

Operating Lease Less: Sublease Net Operating Lease

Commitments Income Commitments

2020 $ 58914 $ 18,192 $ 40,722
2021 49,093 17,582 31,511
2022 45,894 17,665 28,229
2023 44,861 17,532 27,329
2024 41,968 15,636 26,332
Thereafter 133,883 84,985 48,898

Total minimum lease payments $ 374,613 $ 171,592 $ 203,021

Under ASC 840, during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, net rent expense was $38.5 million and $43.6 million, respectively, which included
sublease income of $14.8 million and $13.1 million, respectively.

9. Commitments and Contingencies
Letters of Credit and Guarantees

The Company had irrevocable standby letters of credit and guarantees, including bank guarantees, outstanding in the amounts of $116.8 million and
$322.8 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, which were fully collateralized. The Company is required to maintain these letters of credit
and guarantees primarily in connection with operating lease agreements, certain customer contracts, and other guarantees and financing arrangements.
These letters of credit and guarantees had expiration dates through August 2028 as of December 31, 2020.

Purchase Commitments

In December 2019, the Company entered into a minimum annual commitment to purchase cloud hosting services of at least $1.49 billion over six contract
years, with an optional seventh carryover year, effective beginning January 1, 2020, in exchange for various discounts on such services. If the spend does
not meet the minimum annual commitment each year or at the end of the term, the Company is obligated to make a return payment. If the difference is
greater than $30.0 million for each of the first three contract years or $50.0 million for each of
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the contract years thereafter (“relief amounts™), the Company has the option to pay the respective relief amount for that year for services to be utilized in the
future and the excess amount of the difference above the relief amount would be added to the minimum annual commitment of the following year through
the end of the contract. In December 2020, the agreement was amended to extend the first contract year until June 30, 2021, and the optional carryover
period to June 30, 2029. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had satisfied $84.5 million of its $126.0 million commitment for the contract year ending
June 30, 2021.

In June 2020, the Company entered into an additional commitment to purchase at least $45.0 million of cloud hosting services over a period of five years
commencing on June 1, 2020 and ending on May 31, 2025. If the spend commitment is not met at the end of the term, the Company is obligated to pay the
full amount of the outstanding balance (“shortfall payment”). The shortfall payment may be applied as a prepayment against consumption during an
additional twelve-month coverage period expiring on May 31, 2026, at which time any unused amount would be forfeited. As of December 31, 2020, the
Company had satisfied $2.8 million of its commitment.

Litigation and Legal Proceedings

From time to time, third parties may assert patent infringement claims against the Company. In addition, from time to time, the Company may be subject to
other legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business, including claims of alleged infringement of trademarks, copyrights, and other
intellectual property rights; employment claims; securities claims; investor claims; corporate claims; class action claims; and general contract, tort, or other
claims. The Company may from time to time also be subject to various legal or government claims, disputes, or investigations. Such matters may include,
but not be limited to, claims, disputes, allegations, or investigations related to warranty; refund; breach of contract; breach, leak, or misuse of personal data
or confidential information; employment; government procurement; intellectual property; government regulation or compliance (including but not limited to
anti-corruption requirements, export or other trade controls, data privacy or data protection, cybersecurity requirements, or antitrust/competition law
requirements); securities; investor; corporate; or other matters. The Company is unable to predict whether or when any such matters may arise, the outcome
of these matters, or the ultimate legal and financial liability, and cannot reasonably estimate the possible loss or range of loss at this time and accordingly
has not accrued a related liability.

On December 14, 2017, members of KT4 Partners LLC (Managing Member Marc Abramowitz) and Sandra Martin Clark, as trustee for the Marc
Abramowitz Irrevocable Trust Number 7 (together, “KT4 Plaintiffs”) filed an action in the Delaware Superior Court against the Company and Disruptive
Technology Advisers LLC. The complaint alleges tortious interference with prospective economic advantage and civil conspiracy in connection with a
potential sale of stock by the KT4 Plaintiffs to a third party. The KT4 Plaintiffs seek compensatory and punitive damages, interest, fees, and costs.

On August 30, 2019, BTIG, LLC (the “BTIG Plaintiff”), the alleged broker of the potential sale of stock that is the subject of the KT4 Plaintiffs’ December
2017 action, filed an action in the Delaware Superior Court against the Company and Disruptive Technology Advisers LLC. The complaint alleged tortious
interference with prospective economic advantage and civil conspiracy in connection with the same potential sale of stock at issue in the KT4 Plaintiffs’
action by a group of sellers purportedly represented by the BTIG Plaintiff to a third party. The BTIG Plaintiff dismissed its claim with prejudice on
January 21, 2021.

The Company believes the lawsuit brought by the KT4 Plaintiffs is without merit and is vigorously defending itself against it. Given the uncertainty of
litigation it may be reasonably possible that the Company will incur a loss with regards to the matter; however, it cannot currently estimate a range of
possible losses. Accordingly, the
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Company is unable at this time to estimate the overall effects that may result from the remaining case on its financial condition, results of operations, or
cash flows.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company was not aware of any currently pending legal matters or claims, individually or in the aggregate, that are
expected to have a material adverse impact on its consolidated financial statements.

Warranties and Indemnification

The Company generally provides a warranty for its software products and services and a service level agreement (“SLA”) for the Company’s performance
of software operations via its O&M services to its customers. The Company’s products are generally warranted to perform substantially as described in the
associated product documentation during the subscription term or for a period of up to 90 days where the software is hosted by the customer; and the
Company includes O&M services as part of its subscription and license agreements to support this warranty and maintain the operability of the software.
The Company’s services are generally warranted to be performed in a professional manner and by an adequate staff with knowledge about the products. In
the event there is a failure of such warranties, the Company generally is obligated to correct the product or service to conform to the warranty provision, as
set forth in the applicable SLA, or, if the Company is unable to do so, the customer is entitled to seek a refund of the purchase price of the product and
service (generally prorated over the contract term). Due to the absence of historical warranty claims, the Company’s expectations of future claims related to
products under warranty continue to be insignificant. The Company has not recorded warranty expense or related accruals as of December 31, 2020 and
2019.

The Company generally agrees to indemnify its customers against legal claims that the Company’s software products infringe certain third-party intellectual
property rights and accounts for its indemnification obligations. In the event of such a claim, the Company is generally obligated to defend its customer
against the claim and to either settle the claim at the Company’s expense or pay damages that the customer is legally required to pay to the third-party
claimant. In addition, in the event of an infringement, the Company generally agrees to secure the right for the customer to continue using the infringing
product; to modify or replace the infringing product; or, if those options are not commercially practicable, to refund the cost of the software, as prorated
over the period. To date, the Company has not been required to make any payment resulting from infringement claims asserted against its customers and
does not believe that the Company will be liable for such claims in the foreseeable future. As such, the Company has not recorded a liability for
infringement costs as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.

The Company has obligations under certain circumstances to indemnify each of the defendant directors and certain officers against judgments, fines,
settlements, and expenses related to claims against such directors and certain officers and otherwise to the fullest extent permitted under the law and the
Company’s bylaws and Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

10. Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Redeemable Convertible and Convertible Preferred Stock

In connection with the Direct Listing in September 2020, all outstanding shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock and convertible preferred stock
were converted into 4,017,378 and 793,725,807 shares of Class B common stock, respectively. In addition, the amended and restated certificate of
incorporation filed in September 2020 in connection with the Direct Listing authorized the issuance of 2,000,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred
stock.
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Common Stock

During September 2020, the Company filed an amended and restated certificate of incorporation, which became effective on the date of its filing. The
amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorized the issuance of a total of 20,000,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, 2,700,000,000
shares of Class B common stock, and 1,005,000 shares of Class F common stock. Additionally, each of the Founders exchanged 335,000 shares of their
Class B common stock for an equivalent number of shares of Class F common stock.

The Company’s Class A, Class B, and Class F common stock all have the same rights, except with respect to voting and conversion rights. Class A and
Class B common stock have voting rights of 1 and 10 votes per share, respectively. The Class F common stock has a variable number of votes and is
convertible at any time, at the option of the holder thereof, into one share of Class B common stock. All shares of Class F common stock are held by a
voting trust established by the Founders. The Class F common stock generally give the Founders the ability to control up to 49.999999% of the total voting
power of the Company’s capital stock, so long as the Founders and certain of their affiliates collectively meet a minimum ownership threshold, which was
100.0 million of the Company’s equity securities as of December 31, 2020.

Holders of the common stock are entitled to dividends when, as, and if declared by the Company’s Board of Directors, subject to the rights of the holders of
all classes of stock outstanding having priority rights to dividends. No dividends have been declared as of December 31, 2020.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company sold a total of 206,500,523 shares of its Class A common stock at a price of $4.65 per share, for
aggregate proceeds of $942.5 million, net of issuance costs of $17.7 million. Included in these sales were 107,526,881 shares of Class A common stock sold

to SOMPO, a partner investor in the Company’s equity method investee, Palantir Japan.

The following represented the total authorized, issued, and outstanding shares for each class of common stock:

As of December 31, 2020 As of December 31, 2019
Authorized Issued Outstanding  Authorized Issued Outstanding
Common stock:
Class A 20,000,000,000 1,542,057,292 1,542,057,292 2,200,000,000 315,615,753 309,223,182
Class B 2,700,000,000 249,077,252 249,077,252 1,800,000,000 272,273,934 272,273,934
Class F 1,005,000 1,005,000 1,005,000 — — —
Total 22,701,005,000 1,792,139,544 1,792,139,544 4,000,000,000 587,889,687 581,497,116

Treasury Stock

On April 30, 2020, the Board of Directors approved the retirement of all shares of treasury stock. Retirement of treasury stock was recorded as a reduction
of common stock and additional paid-in capital. As of December 31, 2020, the Company held no shares as treasury stock.

11. Warrants
As of December 31, 2019, warrants outstanding included warrants to purchase up to 21,831,545 shares of convertible preferred stock and 8,625,420 shares

of Class B common stock, respectively.

In December 2019, the Company and holders of the Series I Lead Warrants issued in February 2014 agreed to amend the Series I Lead Warrants to extend
their expiration dates to January 2025. In connection with this
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amendment, the holders agreed to a 20% reduction in the number of shares of Series I convertible preferred stock issuable upon exercise of the Series I Lead
Warrant, which was effective January 2020.

In September 2020, a warrant for 2,586,208 shares of Series D preferred stock with a strike price of $0.7406 was cashless exercised and net settled into
2,380,034 shares of Series D convertible preferred stock. Additionally, a warrant for 7,632,154 shares of Class B common stock with a strike price of
$0.001 was cashless exercised and net settled into 7,631,329 shares of Class B common stock.

Upon the effectiveness of the amended and restated certificate of incorporation filed in connection with the Direct Listing, all of the outstanding preferred
stock warrants were converted into common stock warrants. As a result of the conversion, the warrants became equity-classified and the warrants liability
was reclassified to additional paid-in capital.

As of December 31, 2020, warrants outstanding include warrants to purchase 5,211,093 shares of Class B common stock with a strike price of $6.13 per
share and warrants to purchase 814,666 shares of Class B common stock with a strike price of $3.51 per share. The warrants expire in between December
2021 to January 2025.

In addition, the Company has warrants outstanding to purchase up to 13,042,415 shares of Class B common stock that will be automatically net exercised
upon a Qualifying IPO, which did not include the Company’s Direct Listing, and only if the valuation of the Company immediately prior to such IPO (“IPO
Valuation”) is less than $12.9 billion. These warrants expire in November 2023 and, as of December 31, 2020, were considered not probable of vesting.

12. Stock-Based Compensation
2010 Equity Incentive Plan

In 2010, the Company adopted the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time (“Amended 2010 Equity Incentive Plan”, or “2010 Plan”).
The 2010 Plan permitted the granting of incentive stock options (“ISOs”), non-statutory stock options (“NSOs”), stock appreciation rights (“SARs”),
restricted stock, RSUs, and growth units to eligible participants. Under the 2010 Plan, the exercise price of options granted generally was at least equal to
the fair market value of the applicable class of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. Options and other equity awards become vested and, if
applicable, exercisable based on terms determined by the Board of Directors or other plan administrator on the date of grant (or per later modification).
Under the 2010 Plan, unless provided otherwise for an applicable award, the vesting and exercisability of awards accelerates by 25% on a change in control,
if the award holder remains a service provider as of or immediately prior to such event.

The 2010 Plan was terminated prior to the Company’s Direct Listing, and no additional awards will be granted under the 2010 Plan. However, the 2010
Plan will continue to govern the terms and conditions of the outstanding awards previously granted under the 2010 Plan.

2020 Executive Equity Incentive Plan

In August 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the 2020 Executive Equity Incentive Plan (the “Executive Equity Plan”). The Executive
Equity Plan permitted the granting of NSOs and RSUs to the Company’s employees, consultants, and directors. A total of 165,900,000 shares of the
Company’s Class B common stock were reserved for issuance under the Executive Equity Plan. During August 2020, options to purchase 162,000,000
shares of Class B common stock and restricted stock units covering 3,900,000 shares of the Company’s Class B common stock were granted to certain
officers.
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The Executive Equity Plan was terminated prior to the Company’s Direct Listing, and no additional awards will be granted under the Executive Equity Plan.
However, the Executive Equity Plan will continue to govern the terms and conditions of the outstanding awards previously granted under the Executive
Equity Plan.

2020 Equity Incentive Plan

In September 2020, prior to the Direct Listing, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (“2020 Plan”). The 2020 Plan
provides for the grant of ISOs, NSOs, restricted stock, RSUs, SARs, and performance awards to the Company’s employees, directors, and consultants. A
total of 150,000,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock were initially reserved for issuance pursuant to the 2020 Plan. In addition, the number
of shares of Class A common stock reserved for issuance under the 2020 Plan includes certain shares of common stock subject to awards under the 2010
Plan and Executive Equity Plan, in the case of certain occurrences such as expirations, terminations, exercise and tax-related withholding, or failures to vest.
Shares of Class B common stock added to the 2020 Plan from the 2010 Plan or Executive Equity Plan are reserved for issuance under the Company’s 2020
Plan as Class A common stock. The number of shares of Class A common stock available for issuance under the 2020 Plan will also include an annual
increase on the first day of each fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2022, equal to the least of:

. 250,000,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock;

. Five percent of the outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock as of the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year; or

. such other amount as the administrator of the 2020 Plan determines.
Under the 2020 Plan, the exercise price of options granted is generally at least equal to the fair market value of the Company’s Class A common stock on
the date of grant. The term of an ISO generally may not exceed ten years. Additionally, the exercise price of any ISO granted to a 10% stockholder shall not
be less than 110% of the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant, and the term of such option grant shall not exceed five years. Options

and other equity awards become vested and, if applicable, exercisable based on terms determined by the Board of Directors or another plan administrator on
the date of grant, which is typically four years for new employees and varies for subsequent grants.

Stock Options

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):

Weighted- ‘Weighted-
Average Average
Exercise Remaining
Options Price Per Contractual Aggregate
Outstanding Share Life (years) Intrinsic Value
Balance as of December 31, 2019 497,441,159 $ 4.10 5.81 $ 975,798
Options granted(1) 397,885,337 7.43
Options exercised (120,617,527) 2.48
Options canceled and forfeited(1) (238,942,466) 5.95
Balance as of December 31, 2020 535,766,503 $ 6.12 7.99 $ 9,340,245
Options vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2020 304,428,660 $ 3.67 5.84 $ 6,051,074

(1) Includes options that were canceled and re-granted as part of the option repricing modification, as further discussed below.
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The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding, exercisable, and vested and exercisable is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the
underlying options and the fair value of the Company’s common stock as of December 31, 2020. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during
the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 was $974.2 million, $90.7 million, and $49.0 million, respectively, and is calculated based on the
difference between the exercise price and the fair value of the Company’s common stock as of the exercise date.

The weighted average grant-date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 was $2.57, $3.67, and $3.81 per
share, respectively. The total grant-date fair value of options that vested during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 was $214.7 million,
$229.4 million, and $221.2 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2020, the unrecognized expense related to options outstanding was $1.1 billion, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-
average service period of 8.06 years.

Determination of Stock Option Fair Value

The estimated grant-date fair value of all the Company’s stock-based option awards was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, based on
the following assumptions:

Years Ended December 31,

2020(1) 20191 2018(M)
Fair value of common stock $ 7.60 $ 6.03 $ 6.03
Expected volatility 71.00% 65.00% 65.00%
Expected term (in years) 12.04 6.36 6.50
Expected dividend yield —% —% —%
Risk-free interest rate 0.64% 1.65% 2.97%

(1) Excludes the impact of repricing of stock options modified during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018. See the “Stock Option Modification”
subsection below for further information.

Fair value of common stock — Prior to the Direct Listing, the fair value of the common stock underlying the options had historically been determined by the
Company’s Board of Directors given the absence of a public trading market. The Board of Directors determined the fair value of the common stock by
considering a number of objective and subjective factors, including: (i) third-party valuations of common stock and secondary market trading information;
(i1) the prices, rights, preferences, and privileges of the preferred stock relative to those of the common stock; (iii) the lack of marketability of the common
stock; (iv) the actual operating and financial results; (v) the Company’s current business conditions and projections; and (vi) the likelihood of various
potential liquidity events, such as an initial public offering or sale of the Company, given prevailing market conditions. After the Direct Listing, the fair
value of the common stock underlying the options was the Company’s closing stock price on the NYSE on the grant date.

Expected volatility — As the Company recently completed its Direct Listing on September 30, 2020 and there is no sufficient stock volatility historical data,
the expected volatility was based on the average historical stock price volatility of comparable publicly-traded companies in its industry peer group.

Expected term — The expected term represents the period of time the options are expected to be outstanding. The expected term assumptions were
determined based on the vesting terms, exercise period, and contractual lives of the options.
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Expected dividend yield — The Company has never paid and has no plans to pay dividends on its common stock. Therefore, the expected dividend yield
assumption is zero.

Risk-free interest rate — The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. treasury zero-coupon issues in effect at the time of grant for periods corresponding with the
expected term of the option.

Stock Option Modifications

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company modified 158,646,785 options held by then-current employees. In September 2018, the Company
repriced options held by then-current employees with an exercise price greater than $6.03 per share. As part of the repricing, the original options were
canceled and new options were granted with an exercise price of $6.03 per share and a remaining contractual term of ten years. The new options were
subject to the same service-based vesting schedule as the original options. The repricing was recorded as a stock option modification whereby the
incremental fair value of each option was determined at the date of the modification and $43.7 million was immediately recognized related to vested
options. During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, the Company recognized total stock-based compensation expense of $11.9 million,
$18.2 million, and $44.6 million, respectively, related to these repriced options. As of December 31, 2020, there was remaining incremental fair value of
$7.8 million which will be recognized over the remaining requisite service period.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of $9.2 million related to the modification of
13,401,568 options held by certain of its directors. As part of the repricing, the original options were canceled and new options were granted with an
exercise price of $6.03 per share, the then-current fair market value of the Company’s common stock, and a remaining contractual term of ten years. The
new options were subject to the same vesting schedule as the original options. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized total
stock-based compensation expense of $2.0 million. As of December 31, 2020, there was remaining incremental fair value of $0.9 million which will be
recognized over the remaining requisite service period.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company also modified 26,040,393 fully vested and outstanding options which were approaching
expiration. The extension of the original options was recorded as a stock option modification whereby the incremental fair value of each option was
determined at the date of the modification and $5.6 million was immediately recognized related to vested options. The weighted average extended term for
the modified options was approximately 0.9 years.

In June 2020, the Company repriced 235,885,337 stock options. As part of the repricing, the original options were canceled and new options were granted
with an exercise price of $4.72 per share and a remaining contractual term of ten years. The new options were generally subject to the same service-based
vesting schedule as the original options. The repricing was recorded as a stock option modification whereby the incremental fair value of each option was
determined at the date of the modification and $74.0 million was immediately recognized related to vested options in June 2020 and an additional
$8.3 million was recognized during the year ended December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, there was remaining incremental fair value of
$22.9 million which will be recognized over the remaining requisite service period.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company also modified 57,659,626 fully vested and outstanding options that were approaching expiration.
The extension of the original options was recorded as a stock option modification whereby the incremental fair value of each option was determined at the
date of the modification and $9.9 million was immediately recognized related to vested options. The weighted average extended term for the modified
options was approximately 0.47 years.
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RSUs

The following table summarizes the RSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2020:

Weighted Average

RSUs Grant Date Fair

Outstanding  Value per Share
Unvested and outstanding as of December 31, 2019 179,494,619 $ 6.03
RSUs granted 98,667,215 8.15
RSUs vested (82,429,575) 6.45
RSUs canceled (10,862,021) 6.06
Unvested and outstanding at December 31, 2020 184,870,238 $ 6.97

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company granted RSUs with both a service-based vesting condition and a liquidity event-related
performance condition which was considered a performance-based vesting condition. The stock-based compensation expense related to such RSUs will be
recognized using the accelerated attribution method from the grant date. The service-based vesting period for these awards varies across service providers
and is up to five years. The performance-based vesting condition for the RSUs was satisfied upon the Company’s Direct Listing, which occurred on
September 30, 2020. Additionally, subsequent to September 30, 2020 the Company granted RSUs with only a service based-based vesting condition. The
stock-based compensation expense related to such RSUs will be recognized ratably over the service period.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized $940.0 million in stock-based compensation expense related to RSUs, of which
$769.5 million was recognized upon the Company’s Direct Listing which satisfied the performance-based vesting condition. No compensation expense was
recognized for the year ended December 31, 2019 as the performance-based vesting condition was not achieved.

The total grant-date fair value of RSUs vested during the year ended December 31, 2020 was $531.9 million. As of December 31, 2020, the total
unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to the RSUs outstanding was $873.5 million, which the Company expects to recognize over 3.2
years.

Growth Units

In May 2019, the Company granted growth units which vest upon the satisfaction of both a performance-based vesting condition, which was satisfied upon
the Company’s Direct Listing, and a service-based vesting condition. The growth units have a formula used to calculate the number of shares of the
Company’s common stock that would be earned by the holder upon the satisfaction of all vesting criteria. The Company did not grant any additional growth
units during the year ended December 31, 2020.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized $9.6 million of stock-based compensation expense related to the growth units, of
which $8.4 million was recognized upon the Company’s Direct Listing which satisfied the performance-based vesting condition. As of December 31, 2020,
the total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to the 3,582,674 growth units outstanding was $1.2 million, which the Company expects
to recognize through March 2021 at which point the outstanding growth units will fully vest and convert into 1.5 million shares of common stock. No
compensation expense was recognized for the year ended December 31, 2019 as the performance-based vesting condition was not achieved.
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Stock-based Compensation Expense

Total stock-based compensation expense was as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Cost of revenue $ 139,627 $ 27,904 $ 19,629
Sales and marketing 398,205 79,215 93,510
Research and development 357,063 67,933 72,039
General and administrative 375,807 66,918 63,325
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 1,270,702 $ 241,970 $ 248,503

The Company recognized a benefit for income taxes related to stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018
of $18.2 million, $6.4 million, and $6.0 million, respectively.

Related Party Non-Recourse Note

In November 2016, the Company entered into a non-recourse promissory note to lend an employee director $25.9 million, which was secured by 10,500,000
shares of the Company common stock held by the employee director (“pledged collateral”). Such arrangement was accounted for as a stock option issued to
the employee, and the Company recorded the related stock-based compensation expense upon the issuance of the note. The promissory note accrued interest
at a rate of 1.5% per annum, compounded semi-annually.

In August 2020, the Company received a payment of $26.6 million for a portion of the principal and accrued interest on the outstanding non-recourse
promissory note in the form of 3,500,000 shares of common stock based on the fair market value of the common stock on the date of repayment. The
Company forgave the remaining $0.8 million owed under the note, guaranteed the employee director a tax neutrality payment to cover his additional tax
liability associated with the transaction, and terminated its security interest in the remaining shares of common stock that were originally pledged as
collateral. The forgiveness of the remaining debt and the provision of the tax neutrality payment was accounted for as a modification to the original stock
option, and the Company recorded additional stock-based compensation expense of $4.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2020. As of
December 31, 2020, the Company paid $0.8 million in tax neutrality payments and accrued a $4.0 million liability for its estimate of the remaining amount
to be paid to the employee director.

13. Income Taxes

Loss before provision (benefit) for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
United States $  (1,203,682) $  (580362) $§  (558,974)
Foreign 24,655 13,091 (11,951)
Loss before provision (benefit) for income taxes $ (1,179,027) $ (567,271) $ (570,925)
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Provision (benefit) for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018

Current:

Federal $ — 3 — 3 —
State 500 139 142
Foreign 7,249 19,435 15,945

Total current provision 7,749 19,574 16,087

Deferred:

Federal — — —
State — — —
Foreign (20,385) (7,199) (6,985)
Total deferred benefit (20,385) (7,199) (6,985)
Total provision (benefit) for income taxes $ (12,636) $ 12,375 § 9,102

A reconciliation of the expected tax provision (benefit) at the statutory federal income tax rate to the Company’s recorded tax provision (benefit) consisted
of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Expected (benefit) at U.S. federal statutory rate $ (247,596) $ (119,127) ' $ (119,894)
State income taxes — net of federal benefit 500 139 142
Foreign tax rate differential (4,131) 25,430 8,028
Research and development tax credits (26,294) (2,106) (4,565)
Stock-based compensation (194,730) (6,069) 2,629
Warrants revaluation — — (10,099)
Non-deductible officers” compensation 76,093 — —
Change in valuation allowance 373,632 112,149 126,395
Other 9,890 1,959 6,466
Total provision (benefit) for income taxes $ (12,636) $ 12,375 $ 9,102

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded a benefit for income taxes compared to a provision for income taxes for the year ended
December 31, 2019, primarily due to decreases in profits from our international operations and foreign benefits from stock-based compensation.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the provision for income taxes increased compared to the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily due to an
increase of foreign income as a result of increased foreign business.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and
their respective tax basis using enacted tax rates in effect for the
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year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Significant deferred tax assets and liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2020 2019
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 853,861 $ 570,583
Reserves and accruals 55,685 36,269
Tax credit carryforwards 68,626 28,459
Stock-based compensation 246,380 181,901
Lease liabilities 57,543 —
Depreciation and amortization 28,970 23,709
Gross deferred tax assets 1,311,065 840,921
Right-of-use assets (48,120) —
Total net deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 1,262,945 840,921
Valuation allowance (1,220,093) (819,738)
Net deferred tax assets $ 42,852 § 21,183

The Company performs an assessment of both positive and negative evidence when determining whether it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets
are recoverable. Such assessment is required on a jurisdiction by jurisdiction basis. The Company reviews the recognition of deferred tax assets on a regular
basis to determine if realization of such assets is more likely than not. A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that such assets will
not be realized.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had U.S. federal and state net operating losses of approximately $3.6 billion and $1.5 billion, respectively. As of
December 31, 2019, the Company had U.S. federal and state net operating losses of approximately $2.4 billion and $1.1 billion, respectively. The U.S.
federal net operating loss carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in 2024 through 2037 if not utilized with the exception of $2.0 billion, which
can be carried forward indefinitely. The state net operating loss carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in 2022 through 2040 if not utilized.
Additionally, as of December 31, 2020, the Company had federal and California research and development credits of approximately $85.1 million and
$66.0 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2019, the Company had federal and California research and development credits of approximately
$32.5 million and $30.9 million, respectively. The federal research and development credits will begin to expire in the years 2027 through 2040 if not
utilized and the California research and development credits have no expiration date.

Utilization of the net operating losses and research and development credit carryforwards may be subject to an annual limitation due to the ownership
percentage change limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”) of 1986 and similar state provisions. The annual limitation may result in the
expiration of the net operating loss and research and development credit carryforwards before utilization.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had an immaterial amount of earnings indefinitely reinvested outside the U.S. The Company does not intend to
repatriate these earnings and, accordingly, the Company does not provide for U.S. income taxes and foreign withholding tax on these earnings.
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Uncertain Tax Positions

A reconciliation of the gross unrecognized tax benefits consists of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Unrecognized tax benefit beginning of year $ 31,702 § 27,812 $ 18,793
Increases in current year tax positions 43,855 6,301 8,437
Increases in prior year tax positions — 114 582
Decreases in prior year tax positions — (1,829) —
Decreases in prior year tax positions due to settlements — (696) —
Decreases in prior year tax positions due to lapse of statute of limitations — — —
Unrecognized tax benefit end of year $ 75,557  $ 31,702 $ 27,812

For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, the Company recorded gross unrecognized tax benefits of $75.6 million, $31.7 million, and
$27.8 million, respectively, that, if recognized, would not benefit the Company’s effective tax rate.

As of December 31, 2020, no significant increases or decreases are expected to the Company’s uncertain tax positions within the next twelve months.

It is the Company’s policy to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. The Company has not accrued interest
and penalties related to uncertain tax positions due to offsetting tax attributes as of December 31, 2020 or 2019.

The Company files U.S. federal, state, and foreign income tax returns in jurisdictions with varying statutes of limitation. The material jurisdictions where

the Company is subject to potential examination by tax authorities are the U.S. (federal and state) for tax years 2004 through 2020 and the UK for tax years
2013 through 2020.
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14. Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders (in thousands, except share and per
share amounts):

As of December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Numerator

Net loss $ (1,166,391) $ (579,646) $ (580,027)

Less: Accretion of Series H redeemable convertible preferred stock to redemption value — — (18,098)

Less: Distributed earnings attributable to participating securities — (8,481) —

Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (1,166,391) $ (588,127) $ (598,125)

Less: Change in fair value attributable to participating securities (5,483) — (38,953)

Net loss attributable to common stockholders, for diluted net loss per share $ (1,171,874) $ (588,127) $ (637,078)
Denominator

Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share, basic 977,721,736 576,958,560 537,280,394

Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share, diluted 979,330,067 576,958,560 544,014,393
Net loss per share

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic $ (1.19) $ (1.02) $ (1.11)

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, diluted $ (1.20) § (1.02) $ (1.17)

The following outstanding potentially dilutive common stock equivalents have been excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share attributable
to common stockholders for the periods presented due to their anti-dilutive effect:

As of December 31,

2020 2019 2018

Redeemable convertible preferred stock — 4,017,378 25,947,422
Convertible preferred stock — 791,252,998 791,263,372
Warrants to purchase redeemable convertible and convertible preferred stock — 21,831,545 22,245,552
Warrants to purchase common stock 19,068,174 993,266 993,266
Options and SARs issued and outstanding 535,791,503 497,541,159 487,299,359
RSUs outstanding 184,870,238 179,494,619 —
Growth units outstanding 3,582,674 3,582,674 —

Total 743,312,589 1,498,713,639 1,327,748,971

15. Segment and Geographic Information

The following reporting segment tables reflect the results of the Company’s reportable operating segments consistent with the manner in which the CODM
evaluates the performance of each segment and allocates the
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Company’s resources. The CODM does not evaluate the performance of the Company’s assets on a segment basis for internal management reporting and,
therefore, such information is not presented.

Contribution is used, in part, to evaluate the performance of, and allocate resources to, each of the segments. Segment contribution is segment revenue less
the related costs of revenue and sales and marketing expenses. It excludes certain operating expenses that are not allocated to segments because they are

separately managed at the consolidated corporate level. These unallocated costs include stock-based compensation expense, research and development
expenses, and general and administrative expenses.

Financial information for each reportable segment was as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Revenue:
Government $ 610,198 $ 345,521 $ 255,131
Commercial 482,475 397,034 340,278
Total revenue $ 1,092,673 $ 742,555 $ 595,409
Years Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
Amount % Amount % Amount %
Contribution:
Government $ 346,937 57%  $ 79,606 23% $ 30,963 12%
Commercial 247,320 51% 77,575 20% 50,422 15%
Total contribution $ 594,257 54%  $ 157,181 21% S 81,385 14%

The reconciliation of contribution to loss from operations is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Loss from operations $  (1,173,679) $ (576,444) § (623,440)
Research and development expenses(1) 203,597 237,630 213,412
General and administrative expenses(1) 293,637 254,025 242,910
Stock-based compensation expense 1,270,702 241,970 248,503
Total contribution $ 594,257 $ 157,181 $ 81,385

(1) Excludes stock-based compensation expense.
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Geographic Information

Revenue by geography is based on the customer’s headquarters or agency location at the time of sale. Revenue is as follows (in thousands, except
percentages):

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Amount % Amount % Amount %

Revenue:
United States $ 573,549 52% $ 295,753 40% $ 208,620 35%
United Kingdom 132,427 12% 120,185 16% 121,563 20%
France 97,702 9% 76,220 10% 64,427 11%
Rest of world(1) 288,995 27% 250,397 34% 200,799 34%

Total revenue $ 1,092,673 100% $ 742,555 100% $ 595,409 100%

(1) No other country represents 10% or more of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, or 2018.

Property and equipment, net is attributed to the Company’s office locations as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

As of December 31,
2020 2019 2018
Amount % Amount % Amount Y%

Property and equipment, net:
United States 13,268 45% 15,956 51% 14,168 47%
United Kingdom 13,325 45% 12,461 39% 14,446 48%
Rest of world 2,948 10% 3,172 10% 1,420 5%

Total property and equipment, net $ 29,541 100% $ 31,589 100% $ 30,034 100%
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in
SEC rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management, with the participation and supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, have evaluated the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that as of such date, our
disclosure controls and procedures were, in design and operation, effective at a reasonable assurance level.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an
attestation report of our registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission for
newly public companies.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d)
of the Exchange Act that occurred during the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

The effectiveness of any system of internal control over financial reporting, including ours, is subject to inherent limitations, including the exercise of
judgment in designing, implementing, operating, and evaluating the controls and procedures, and the inability to eliminate misconduct completely.
Accordingly, in designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any system of internal control over financial
reporting, including ours, no matter how well designed and operated, can only provide reasonable, not absolute assurance of achieving the desired control
objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is
required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs. Moreover, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. We intend to continue to monitor and upgrade our internal controls as necessary or appropriate
for our business but cannot assure you that such improvements will be sufficient to provide us with effective internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information called for by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120
days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Our board of directors has adopted a code of conduct that applies to all of our employees, officers, and directors, including our Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and other executive and senior financial officers. The full text of our code of conduct is posted on the investor relations page on our

website, which is located at https://investors.palantir.com. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding
amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of our code of conduct by posting such information on the website address and location specified above.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information called for by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Our Chief Executive Officer holds approximately 66.3 million compensatory stock options that are approaching their expiration date in December 2021. As
the expiration date of these options cannot be extended under existing laws and regulations without incurring significant tax penalties, we expect that he will

exercise all of these options prior to December 2021, and concurrently or subsequently sell a significant portion of such shares, including to cover exercise
costs, withholding taxes, and expected tax liabilities in connection with the exercise.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The information required by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information, if any, required by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBIT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) We have filed the following documents as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
1. Financial Statements
See Index under Part 11, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
2. Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules not listed above have been omitted because they are not required, because they are not applicable, or because the required information is
otherwise included.

3. Exhibits
The exhibits listed below are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or are incorporated herein by reference, in each case as indicated below.

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit

Number Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date
3.1 Amended and restated certificate of incorporation of the registrant. 10-Q 001-39540 3.1 November 13, 2020
32 Amended and restated bylaws of the registrant. 10-Q 001-39540 3.2 November 13, 2020
4.1 Form of Class A common stock certificate of the registrant. S-1 333-248413 4.1 August 25, 2020
4.2 Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement among the registrant S-1/A 333-248413 42 September 14, 2020

and certain holders of its capital stock, dated as of August 24, 2020.

4.3 Form of Series D convertible preferred stock warrant. S-1 333-248413 4.3 August 25, 2020
4.4 Form of Series H redeemable convertible preferred stock venture warrant. S-1 333-248413 4.4 August 25, 2020
4.5 Form of Series I convertible preferred stock lead investor warrant. S-1 333-248413 4.5 August 25, 2020
4.6 Form of Series I convertible preferred stock lead investor IPO warrant. S-1 333-248413 4.6 August 25, 2020
4.7 Form of Series I convertible preferred stock IPO warrant. S-1 333-248413 4.7 August 25, 2020
4.8% Description of Capital Stock of Palantir Technologies Inc.
9.1 Founder Voting Agreement. S-1/A 333-248413 9.1 September 21, 2020
9.2 Founder Voting Trust Agreement. S-1/A 333-248413 9.2 September 18, 2020
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit
Number Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date
10.1+ Form of Indemnification Agreement between the registrant and each of'its ~ S-1/A 333-248413 10.1 September 9, 2020
directors and executive officers.
10.2 Credit Agreement among the registrant, the lenders party thereto. and S-1 333-248413 10.2 August 25, 2020
Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc.. as Administrative Agent, dated as of
October 7, 2014, as amended.
10.3+ Palantir Technologies Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan and related form S-1/A 333-248413 10.3 September 9, 2020
agreements.
10.4+ Palantir Technologies Inc. Amended 2010 Equity Incentive Plan and S-1/A 333-248413 10.4 September 3, 2020
related form agreements.
10.5+ Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement (Non-Plan S-1/A 333-248413 10.5 September 3, 2020

Option) between the registrant and Alexander Karp. dated as of
September 22, 2009.

10.6+ Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement (Non-Plan S-1/A 333-248413 10.6 September 3, 2020

Option) between the registrant and Alexander Karp, dated as of
January 24, 2011.

10.7+ Palantir Technologies Inc. 2020 Executive Equity Incentive Plan. S-1/A 333-248413 10.7 September 9, 2020
10.8+ Palantir Technologies Inc. Outside Director Compensation Policy. S-1/A 333-248413 10.8 September 14, 2020
10.9+ Employee Incentive Compensation Plan. S-1/A 333-248413 10.9 September 14, 2020

10.10+ Security Program Continuation Agreement between the registrant and S-1/A 333-248413 10.10 September 14, 2020
Alexander Karp dated June 5, 2019.

21.1%* List of subsidiaries of Palantir Technologies Inc.

23.1%* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

31.1% Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act
Rule 13a-14 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002.

31.2% Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule
13a-14 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002.

32.1% Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit File Filing
Number Description Form No. Exhibit Date
101.INS XBRL Instance Document.
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document.
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document.

*  Filed Herewith
Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

T The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 that accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K are not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of the Registrant under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before
or after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

Date: February 26, 2021 PALANTIR TECHNOLOGIES INC.

By: /s/ Alexander C. Karp
Alexander C. Karp
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Alexander C. Karp and Stephen
Cohen, and each one of them, as their true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for them and in their
name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits
thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and
each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to
all intents and purposes as they might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them, or
their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Alexander C. Karp Chief Executive Officer and Director Feb 26. 2021
Alexander C. Karp (Principal Executive Officer) eoruary <o,
/s/ Stephen Cohen . .

Stephen Cohen President and Director February 26, 2021
/s/ David Glazer Chief Financial Officer
David Glazer (Principal Financial Officer) February 26, 2021
/s/ Jeffrey Buckley Chief Accounting Officer Feb 26. 2021
Jeftrey Buckley (Principal Accounting Officer) coruary <o,
/s/ Peter Thiel .

Poter Thicl Director February 26, 2021
/s/ Rascoff

s/ Spencer Rasco Director February 26, 2021

Spencer Rascoff
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Signature Title Date

fi/le/?;le;(fr];déilfi;?iff Director February 26, 2021
/AsieAxlazx;er;d:/fOI\:rzore Director February 26, 2021
fg;iiﬁ?i;ﬁi?;?ﬁm Director February 26, 2021
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Exhibit 4.8
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

General

2 <, 2 <

The following description summarizes certain important terms of the capital stock of Palantir Technologies Inc. (“we,” “us,” “our” or the “Company”).
Because it is only a summary, it does not contain all the information that may be important to you. For a complete description of the matters set forth in this
exhibit titled “Description of Capital Stock,” you should refer to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws,
amended and restated investors’ rights agreement, and the Founder Voting Agreement (as defined below), each previously filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this Exhibit 4.8 is a part, and to the
applicable provisions of Delaware law. Our authorized capital stock consists of 24,701,005,000 shares of capital stock, par value $0.001 per share, of which:

. 20,000,000,000 shares are designated as Class A common stock;
. 2,700,000,000 shares are designated as Class B common stock;
. 1,005,000 shares are designated as Class F common stock; and

. 2,000,000,000 shares are designated as preferred stock.

Common Stock

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation includes a number of provisions that in certain circumstances and in combination with agreements
adopted in connection with our governance structure, provide that Alexander Karp, Stephen Cohen, and Peter Thiel (the “Founders”) have effective control
over all matters submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the election and removal of directors and significant corporate transactions such as a
merger or other sale of our Company. These and other provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation discussed in this section could
deter takeovers or delay or prevent changes in control of our Company, as well as changes in our Board of Directors (the “Board”) or management team.
While the Board retains the power to hire and remove members of our management, which currently includes two of our Founders, the Founders would
continue to beneficially own shares of Class F common stock and Class B common stock and be able to exercise control over matters submitted to a vote of
our stockholders so long as our Founders who are then party to that certain Founder Voting Agreement (the “Founder Voting Agreement”), dated as of
September 22, 2020, among the Founders and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as the grantee of the proxies and powers of attorney to be delivered
thereunder (the “Grantee”), and certain of their affiliates collectively meet a minimum ownership threshold (initially, 100 million of our Corporation Equity
Securities (as defined in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation), subject to reduction if a Founder withdraws from the Founder Voting
Agreement, as explained in more detail below) on the applicable record date for a vote of the stockholders, which minimum threshold is defined in the
amended and restated certificate of incorporation as the “Ownership Threshold,” even if one or more of our Founders resigns from the Company or is
terminated.

Multi-Class Common Stock

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides for a multi-class common stock structure pursuant to which:
. Class A common stock has one (1) vote per share;
. Class B common stock has ten (10) votes per share; and

. Class F common stock has a variable number of votes per share, as described in more detail below.



This novel capital structure differs significantly from those of other companies that have dual or multiple class capital structures. Each of these classes of
common stock has the same economic rights as the other two classes. For example, dividends or other distributions paid to the holders of shares of our
common stock will be paid on an equal priority and ratably on a per share basis, unless different treatment of any such class is approved by an affirmative
vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Class A common stock, Class B common stock and Class F common stock, each voting
separately as a class.

Shares of Class F common stock have ten (10) votes per share on any matter that is submitted to a vote of our stockholders if, as of the applicable record
date, our Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement, together with any affiliates of such Founders that have been approved by our
Secretary or Treasurer (the “Approved Affiliates”), in the aggregate hold or own, directly or indirectly, on a fully diluted and as converted basis, less than
the Ownership Threshold.

In the event that any Founder is no longer a party to the Founder Voting Agreement, the Ownership Threshold will be reduced on a pro rata basis by a
number equal to 100 million (as equitably adjusted for any stock dividend, stock split, combination of shares, reorganization, recapitalization,
reclassification or other similar event) multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of Corporation Equity Securities (which excludes
Designated Founders’ Excluded Shares, as defined in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation) held or owned, directly or indirectly, on
August 10, 2020, by such Founder and his Approved Affiliates, on a fully diluted and as converted basis, and the denominator of which is the total number
of Corporation Equity Securities (which excludes Designated Founders’ Excluded Shares) held or owned, directly or indirectly, on August 10, 2020, by all
of our Founders and their Approved Affiliates, on a fully diluted and as converted basis. As of August 10, 2020, our Founders and their Approved Affiliates
held or owned, directly or indirectly, in the aggregate, approximately 502.4 million Corporation Equity Securities on a fully diluted and as converted basis.
We expect that the Ownership Threshold would be reduced by approximately 57 million Corporation Equity Securities upon the withdrawal or removal
from the Founder Voting Agreement of Alexander Karp, approximately 12 million Corporation Equity Securities upon the withdrawal or removal of
Stephen Cohen and approximately 31 million Corporation Equity Securities upon the withdrawal or removal of Peter Thiel.

Our Founders are free to transfer or otherwise dispose of their shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock without diminishing their voting
power so long as our Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement and certain of their affiliates collectively meet the Ownership
Threshold on the applicable record date. 89,007,617 shares held by our Founders and their affiliates were permitted to be sold immediately under the
lock-up agreements and were registered for resale pursuant to the registration statement relating to our direct listing on the NYSE. Following the expiration
of their lock-up agreements, our Founders are now free to sell all of their remaining shares pursuant to Rule 144 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(the “Securities Act”) (subject to volume limitations) at such times and in such amounts as they determine. The total voting power that will be exercised in
accordance with the decision of a majority in number of the Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement will not be diminished as a
result of these sales, so long as such Founders and certain of their affiliates collectively meet the Ownership Threshold on the applicable record date.

In addition, shares of Class F common stock have ten (10) votes per share when holders of the Class F common stock vote separately as a class. Upon a
discretionary or compulsory withdrawal of a Founder as a beneficiary of that certain Founder Voting Trust Agreement, dated as of September 22, 2020,
among the Founders as beneficiaries and Wilmington Trust, National Association as the initial trustee (the “Founder Voting Trust Agreement”), the Trustee
will instruct our transfer agent and us to convert the withdrawing Founder’s pro rata portion of the shares of Class F common stock held in the Founder
Voting Trust at the time of the withdrawal into shares of Class B common stock in accordance with our amended and restated certificate of incorporation.

In all other instances, shares of Class F common stock will have a number of votes per share (which shall not be less than zero and which shall be rounded
down to the nearest whole number) on any matter that is submitted to a vote of the stockholders of the Company that would cause the total votes of all
shares of Class F common stock, together with (i) all Corporation Equity Securities entitled to vote on such matter held or owned, directly or indirectly, by
our Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement to which the Grantee has a proxy and power of attorney granted pursuant to the Founder
Voting Agreement to vote such shares in the same manner as the shares of Class F common
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stock will be voted by the Trustee (as defined below), (ii) any other Corporation Equity Securities entitled to vote on such matter to which the Grantee has a
proxy and power of attorney granted pursuant to the Founder Voting Agreement to vote such shares in the same manner as the shares of Class F common
stock will be voted by the Trustee, and (iii) all securities entitled to vote on such matter that a Founder who is then party to the Founder Voting Agreement
has from time to time specifically designated in writing, accompanied by a signed acknowledgment by each other Founder who is then party to the Founder
Voting Agreement, to be excluded from the definition of “Corporation Equity Securities” (which excluded securities are defined in our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation as Designated Founders” Excluded Shares), to equal 49.999999% of the voting power of all of our outstanding shares of
capital stock, including in the case of the election of directors (or, if the applicable voting standard is “a majority of the shares present in person or
represented by proxy and entitled to vote on such matter,” 49.999999% of the voting power of our shares of capital stock present in person or represented by
proxy and entitled to vote on such matter). See “—Founder Voting Agreement.”

Mr. Thiel has identified a portion of the shares of Class B common stock and Class A common stock beneficially owned by him and his affiliates as
Designated Founders’ Excluded Shares, which will not be subject to the Founder Voting Agreement. Such Designated Founders’ Excluded Shares would
reduce the total voting power that will be exercised in accordance with the decision of a majority in number of the Founders who are then party to the
Founder Voting Agreement, and would be voted or not voted by Mr. Thiel or his affiliates in their discretion. Depending on certain circumstances, such
Designated Founders’ Excluded Shares may have significant voting power. For example, if persons and entities that hold the shares identified by Mr. Thiel
as Designated Founders’ Excluded Shares beneficially owned shares representing approximately 10.0% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock
as of a given date, the 49.999999% voting power that would have been represented by the shares of Class F common stock and the shares of our Class A
common stock and Class B common stock subject to the Founder Voting Agreement would be reduced to approximately 39.999999% of the voting power
of our shares of capital stock in the aggregate as of such date. As a result, if Mr. Thiel and his affiliates voted all of such Designated Founders’ Excluded
Shares in a manner different than the shares of Class F common stock were voted pursuant to the Founder Voting Trust Agreement and the shares were
voted by the Grantee pursuant to the proxy and power of attorney granted under the Founder Voting Agreement, 10.0% of the voting power of our
outstanding capital stock as of such date would be voted according to the instructions of Mr. Thiel and his affiliates, and approximately 39.999999% would
be voted in the manner that the shares of Class F common stock were voted pursuant to the Founder Voting Trust Agreement and the shares of Class A
common stock and Class B common stock were voted by the Grantee pursuant to the proxy and power of attorney granted under the Founder Voting
Agreement, regardless of whether Mr. Thiel beneficially owned shares representing greater than 10.0% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock
as of such date.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation requires that, with respect to each matter that is submitted to a vote of our stockholders, each of our
Founders who is then party to the Founder Voting Agreement will, no later than a date set forth in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation (the
“Instruction Date”), deliver to our Secretary, the trustee (the “Trustee”) under the Founder Voting Trust Agreement and each other such Founder who is
then party to the Founder Voting Agreement an instruction identifying how such Founder desires votes corresponding to the Class F common stock to be
cast (including a vote of “withhold” or “abstain” that may not constitute a “vote” under the applicable voting standard required to approve the matter or
elect the director nominee), or consents corresponding to the Class F common stock to be delivered or not delivered, as applicable, in each case with respect
to such matter. Pursuant to the Founder Voting Trust Agreement, the Trustee will then vote, or deliver or not deliver consent corresponding to, the shares of
Class F common stock held in the Founder Voting Trust in accordance with these instructions, subject to the procedures set forth in our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation. See “—~Founder Voting Trust Agreement.”

Specifically, if there are two or three Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement as of the applicable Instruction Date, to the extent that
at least two Founder instructions contain the same instruction as to how the votes corresponding to the Class F common stock shall be cast in respect of such
matter (including a vote of “withhold” or “abstain” that may not constitute a “vote” under the applicable voting standard required to approve the matter or
elect the director nominee), or consents corresponding to the Class F common stock shall be delivered or not delivered, as applicable, with respect to such
matter, the shares of Class F common stock held in the Founder Voting Trust will be
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voted, consented or not consented, as a whole, by the Trustee in the manner contained in such matching instructions with respect to such matter.
Conversely, if there are two or three Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement as of the applicable Instruction Date and no two voting
or consent instructions are the same with respect to a matter, the shares of Class F common stock held in the Founder Voting Trust will (i) in the case of
director elections, be voted, as a whole, by the Trustee as “withhold” or, if “withhold” is not an available option based on the applicable voting standard,
“abstain”, (ii) in the case of a vote on the frequency of the “say-on-pay” vote, be voted, as a whole, by the Trustee as “abstain”, (iii) in the case of all other
matters subject to a vote of the stockholders at a meeting, be voted, as a whole, by the Trustee as “abstain” or “withhold”, so long as the effect thereof
would be a vote against such matter, otherwise, as “against”, and (iv) in the case of a proposed stockholder action by written consent, the Trustee will not
deliver consents in respect of the shares of Class F common stock held in the Founder Voting Trust (such instructions described in clauses (i)—(iv), the “No
Majority Instruction”). If there is only one Founder who is then party to the Founder Voting Agreement, the shares of Class F common stock held in the
Founder Voting Trust will be voted, consented or not consented, as a whole, by the Trustee in accordance with the voting or consent instruction of such
Founder (unless he fails to timely provide an instruction, in which case shares of Class F common stock held in the Founder Voting Trust will be voted,
consented or not consented, as a whole, by the Trustee in accordance with the No Majority Instruction).

The Founder Voting Agreement provides that all shares in respect of which the Founders or certain of their affiliates have granted a proxy and power of
attorney in connection with such agreement will be voted, consented or not consented, as a whole, in the same manner as the shares of Class F common
stock held in the Founder Voting Trust will be voted, consented or not consented by the Trustee, as notified to the Grantee by the Trustee. See “—Founder
Voting Agreement.” As a result, votes representing up to 49.999999% of the voting power of shares of our capital stock will be voted in a manner
determined by the voting or consent instructions of our Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement. These voting rights will not be
reduced even if such Founders sell shares of our capital stock, so long as the Ownership Threshold is satisfied as of the applicable record date. Conversely,
these voting rights will not be increased even if one or more of our Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement acquire additional shares
of our Class A common stock or Class B common stock. So long as such acquired shares are not designated as Designated Founders’ Excluded Shares
(which is described further herein), such acquired shares would become subject to the proxy and power of attorney granted by the acquiring Founder
pursuant to the Founder Voting Agreement and thus subject to the voting structure set forth in the Founder Voting Agreement. As a result, the acquisition of
such additional shares would not increase the voting power that will be exercised in accordance with the decision of a majority in number of the Founders
who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement above 49.999999% of our total voting power (unless such Founders hold in excess of 49.999999% of
our total voting power without giving effect to the voting power of the Class F common stock), but rather, due to the variable number of votes per share of
the Class F common stock, would reduce the voting power of the Class F common stock. Further, even if such additional shares were designated as
Designated Founders’ Excluded Shares, which designation must be in writing accompanied by a signed acknowledgment from each other Founder who is
then party to the Founder Voting Agreement, such additional shares would not increase the voting power of the Founders who are then party to the Founder
Voting Agreement above 49.999999% of our total voting power (unless such Founders hold in excess of 49.999999% of our total voting power without
giving effect to the voting power of the Class F common stock), but would also reduce the voting power of the Class F common stock due to its variable
number of votes per share. In addition, the voting power of the Founders could exceed 49.999999% in certain limited circumstances; for example, if the
Founders hold shares other than the Class F common stock that in the aggregate have voting power than exceeds 49.999999% of the voting power of shares
of our capital stock (in which case the shares of Class F common stock would have zero votes per share).

As a result of the voting rights and related agreements contemplated herein, for the foreseeable future, so long as the Ownership Threshold is satisfied as of
the applicable record date and shares of Class F common stock are outstanding, our Founders will be able to effectively control all matters submitted to the
stockholders for approval, including the election and removal of directors and significant corporate transactions such as a merger or other sale of the
Company. The effective control described above could also delay, defer or prevent a change of control, merger, consolidation, takeover or other business
combination involving the Company that other stockholders may support, and could discourage a potential acquiror from initiating such a transaction. Upon
the withdrawal or removal of any of our
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Founders from the Founder Voting Agreement, including upon their death or disability, the remaining Founders or Founder, as the case may be, will
determine the manner in which the shares of our Class F common stock as well as the shares subject to the Founder Voting Agreement are voted. In such
cases, the voting power of our outstanding capital stock will be further concentrated among the remaining Founders, which may be as few as one. Further, if
there are only two Founders who are party to the Founder Voting Agreement, one Founder will be able to effectively defeat any shareholder action, except
for the election of directors under a plurality standard, if his instruction to vote the shares of Class F common stock differs from the other Founder.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides our Founders who are then parties to the Founder Voting Agreement certain rights to review
and object to the calculation of the voting power of the shares of Class F common stock prior to the certification of any vote or effectiveness of any action
of our stockholders. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation also contains certain obligations applicable to our Founders and the Grantee to
provide information with respect to certain matters related to the calculation of the voting power of the shares of Class F common stock.

Dividend Rights

Subject to preferences that may apply to any shares of preferred stock outstanding at the time, the holders of our common stock are entitled to receive
dividends out of funds legally available if our Board of Directors, in its discretion, determines to issue dividends and then only at the times and in the
amounts that our Board of Directors may determine.

Voting Rights

Except as otherwise expressly provided in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or required by applicable law, the Class A common stock,
Class B common stock and Class F common stock will vote together as one class on all matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders.

Pursuant to the terms of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, except as otherwise required by applicable law, holders of Class A common
stock, Class B common stock and Class F common stock, are not entitled to vote on any amendment to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation
that relates solely to one or more outstanding series of preferred stock if the holders of such affected series are entitled, either separately or together with the
holders of one or more other such series, to vote thereon pursuant to the terms of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or pursuant to
applicable law; provided that, prior to the Final Class F Conversion Date (as defined therein), any such amendment that affects the number of shares of
Preferred Stock, or the designation, powers, preferences, and relative, participating, optional or other special rights of the shares of each such series and any
qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, shall also require the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Class F
Common Stock, voting as a separate class.

Furthermore, pursuant to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, prior to the Final Class F Conversion Date, any action required or permitted
to be taken by our stockholders may be taken without a meeting, but only if the action receives the affirmative consent of a majority of the outstanding
shares of the Class F common stock, acting as a separate class, in addition to any other consent required before such action may be effected.

No Preemptive or Similar Rights

Our common stock is not entitled to preemptive rights, and is not subject to conversion, redemption, or sinking fund provisions.
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Right to Receive Liquidation Distributions

If we become subject to a liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up, the assets legally available for distribution to our stockholders would be distributable
ratably among the holders of our common stock and any participating preferred stock outstanding at that time, subject to prior satisfaction of all outstanding
debt and liabilities and the preferential rights of and the payment of liquidation preferences, if any, on any outstanding shares of preferred stock.

Conversion of Class F Common Stock

Each outstanding share of Class F common stock will automatically convert into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class B common stock on the
“Final Class F Conversion Date”, which shall be the earlier of: (i) the effective date of the termination of the Founder Voting Trust, other than any
termination that occurs in connection with certain reorganizations or redomiciliations thereof and (ii) the effective date of the termination of the Founder
Voting Agreement. See “—Founder Voting Trust Agreement” and “—Founder Voting Agreement.”

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation also provides that each outstanding share of Class F common stock is convertible at any time at the
option of the holder into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class B common stock. Shares of Class F common stock and legal and beneficial
interests therein may not be transferred. Transactions to effect certain reorganizations or redomiciliations of the Founder Voting Trust will not constitute
transfers. For the avoidance of doubt, the following actions will not constitute transfers: (i) the granting of a revocable proxy to our officers or directors at
the request of our Board of Directors in connection with actions to be taken at an annual or special meeting of our stockholders or (ii) entering into,
amending, extending, renewing, restating, supplementing or otherwise modifying the Founder Voting Agreement, the Founder Voting Trust Agreement or
any agreement, arrangement or understanding contemplated by the terms of the Founder Voting Agreement or Founder Voting Trust Agreement, or taking
any actions contemplated thereby, including (a) the granting of a proxy, whether or not irrevocable, to any person and the exercise of such proxy by such
person and (b) the transfer of shares of Class B common stock to the Founder Voting Trust or to one or more beneficiaries of the Founder Voting Trust.

Conversion of Class B Common Stock

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that each outstanding share of Class B common stock is convertible at any time at the option
of the holder into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class A common stock.

In addition, each share of Class B common stock will convert automatically into one (1) share of fully paid and nonassessable Class A common stock upon
any transfer, whether or not for value, that occurs after our listing on the NYSE, except for those to which our Board of Directors or an officer designated by
our Board of Directors has previously approved or consented or concurrently or subsequently approves or consents, and except for certain permitted
transfers described in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. These permitted transfers described in our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation include transfers to trusts solely for the benefit of the stockholder and certain related entities, transfers to partnerships, corporations and other
entities exclusively owned by the stockholder or certain related entities, and transfers between certain stockholders, but only if all permitted transfers of a
holder of Class B common stock (whether then held or acquired in the future) taken together do not result in shares of Class B common stock being “held of
record” (as defined in Rule 12g5-1 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) by a larger number of stockholders of the
Company following such transfer and any such permitted transfer results in the transfer of all of such holder’s shares of Class B common stock then held by
such holder to such transferee, and such holder or such holder’s legal representative (including a guardian or conservator) agrees that any shares of Class B
common stock acquired by such holder or such holder’s estate or beneficiary after the date of such transfer will be automatically transferred, without further
action by such holder or such legal representative, to the same transferee such that neither the transfer nor any subsequent acquisition of Class B common
stock results in any shares of Class B common stock being “held of record” (as defined in Rule 12g5-1 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended) by a larger number of stockholders of the Company following such transfer or subsequent acquisition. Moreover, transfers will not
include certain actions with respect to the Founder Voting Agreement, the Founder Voting Trust Agreement or any agreement, arrangement or
understanding contemplated by their terms, or any actions contemplated thereby.
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Preferred Stock

No shares of our preferred stock are currently outstanding. Pursuant to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our Board of Directors has the
authority, subject to limitations prescribed by Delaware law, to issue preferred stock in one or more series, to establish from time to time the number of
shares to be included in each series and to fix the designation, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of each series and any of its qualifications,
limitations or restrictions, in each case without further vote or action by our stockholders, except that the designation or issuance of preferred stock must
receive the affirmative vote of a majority of our outstanding Class F common stock. Our Board of Directors can also increase or decrease the number of
shares of any series of preferred stock, but not below the number of shares of that series then outstanding, without any further vote or action by our
stockholders. Certain amendments to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation that relate solely to our preferred stock must receive the
affirmative vote of a majority of outstanding Class F common stock (and also the affected preferred stock). Our Board of Directors may authorize the
issuance of preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of our Class A
common stock. The issuance of preferred stock, while providing flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could,
among other things, have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of our company and might adversely affect the trading price of
our Class A common stock and the voting and other rights of the holders of our Class A common stock. We have no current plan to issue any shares of
preferred stock.

Registration Rights

Certain holders of our common stock are entitled to rights with respect to the registration of their shares under the Securities Act. These registration rights
are contained in our Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement dated August 24, 2020 (the “IRA”). We and certain holders of our convertible
preferred stock, redeemable convertible preferred stock, and common stock are parties to our IRA. The registration rights set forth in the IRA will expire
(i) with respect to any particular stockholder, when such stockholder is able to sell all of its shares pursuant to Rule 144 of the Securities Act during any
90-day period or (ii) after the consummation of a liquidation event (as defined in our current certificate of incorporation). We will pay the registration
expenses (other than underwriting discounts and commissions) of the holders of the shares registered pursuant to the registrations described below. In an
underwritten offering, the managing underwriter, if any, has the right, subject to specified conditions, to limit the number of shares such holders may
include.

Demand Registration Rights

Certain holders of our common stock are entitled to demand registration rights. At any time beginning six months after the effectiveness of the registration
statement relating to our direct listing on the NYSE, the holders of at least 50% of the shares registrable under the IRA can request that we register the offer
and sale of their shares. Such request for registration must cover securities with an anticipated aggregate offering price of at least $25 million. We are
obligated to effect only two such registrations. If we determine that it would be seriously detrimental to us and our stockholders to effect such a demand
registration, we have the right to defer such registration, not more than twice in any twelve-month period, for a period of up to 120 days. Additionally, we
will not be required to effect a demand registration during the period beginning 60 days prior to the public filing of a registration statement, and ending on a
date 180 days following the effectiveness of a registration statement.
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Piggyback Registration Rights

If we propose to register the offer and sale of our Class A common stock or any other securities under the Securities Act, in connection with the public
offering of such Class A common stock or any other securities, certain holders of our common stock will be entitled to “piggyback” registration rights
allowing the holders to include their shares in such registration, subject to certain marketing and other limitations. As a result, whenever we propose to file a
registration statement under the Securities Act, other than with respect to (i) a demand registration, (ii) a registration related to any employee benefit plan or
a corporate reorganization or other transaction covered by Rule 145 promulgated under the Securities Act, (iii) a registration on any registration form which
does not include substantially the same information as would be required to be included in a registration statement covering the sale of the shares registrable
under the IRA or (iv) a registration in which the only Class A common stock being registered is Class A common stock issuable upon conversion of debt
securities that are also being registered, the holders of these shares are entitled to notice of the registration and have the right, subject to certain limitations,
to include their shares in the registration.

S-3 Registration Rights

Certain holders of our common stock will be entitled to certain Form S-3 registration rights. The holders of at least 30% of these shares may make a written
request that we register the offer and sale of their shares on a registration statement on Form S-3 if we are eligible to file a registration statement on Form
S-3 so long as the request covers securities with an anticipated aggregate public offering price of at least $1 million. These stockholders may make an
unlimited number of requests for registration on Form S-3; however, we will not be required to effect a registration on Form S-3 if we have effected such a
registration within the twelve-month period preceding the date of the request. Additionally, if we determine that it would be seriously detrimental to us and
our stockholders to effect such a registration, we have the right to defer such registration, not more than twice in any twelve-month period, for a period of
up to 120 days.

Anti-Takeover Provisions

Certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws, which are summarized below, may have
the effect of delaying, deferring or discouraging another person from acquiring control of us. They are also designed, in part, to encourage persons seeking
to acquire control of us to negotiate first with our Board of Directors. Our multi-class common stock structure, which provides our Founders and their
affiliates with the ability to effectively control the outcome of matters requiring stockholder approval, even if they own significantly less than a majority of
the shares of our outstanding common stock, so long as our Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement and certain of their affiliates
collectively meet the Ownership Threshold on the applicable record date, may make the acquisition of us more difficult. If one or two Founders withdraw
from the Founder Voting Agreement, but vote in the same manner as the shares of Class F common stock are voted pursuant to the Founder Voting Trust
Agreement, the total voting power of the Founders and their affiliates exercised in the same manner would exceed 49.999999% of the voting power of our
outstanding common stock in the aggregate so long as our Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement and certain of their affiliates
collectively meet the Ownership Threshold on the applicable record date and could permit them to control the outcome of any vote of the stockholders on a
potential acquisition of the Company. We believe that the benefits of increased protection of our potential ability to negotiate with an unfriendly or
unsolicited acquirer outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging a proposal to acquire us because negotiation of these proposals could result in an
improvement of their terms.

Delaware Law

We will not be governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“Section 203”). In general, Section 203 prohibits a
public Delaware corporation from engaging in a “business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years after the date of the
transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder, except under certain circumstances. Such provision will not apply to us.
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Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaw Provisions

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws include a number of provisions that could deter hostile
takeovers or delay or prevent changes in control of our Board of Directors or management team, including the following:

Board of Directors Vacancies

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws authorize only our Board of Directors to fill vacant directorships
and newly created directorships. In addition, the number of directors constituting our Board of Directors is permitted to be set only by a resolution adopted
by a majority vote of our Board of Directors.

Stockholder Action by Written Consent; Special Meeting of Stockholders.

Prior to the Final Class F Conversion Date, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that any action required or permitted to be taken
by our stockholders may be taken without a meeting, but only if the action receives the affirmative consent of a majority of the outstanding shares of the
Class F common stock, acting as a separate class, in addition to any other consent required before such action may be effected. From and after the Final
Class F Conversion Date, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that any action required or permitted to be taken by our
stockholders must be taken at a meeting. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation further provides that special meetings of our stockholders
may be called only by a majority of our entire Board of Directors, the chairperson of our Board of Directors, our Chief Executive Officer or our President,
thus prohibiting a stockholder from calling a special meeting.

Advance Notice Requirement

Our amended and restated bylaws provide for advance notice procedures for our stockholders seeking to bring business before our annual meeting of our
stockholders or to nominate candidates for election as directors at our annual meeting of our stockholders. Our amended and restated bylaws also specify
certain requirements regarding the form and content of a stockholder’s notice.

No Cumulative Voting

The Delaware General Corporation Law provides that stockholders are not entitled to cumulate votes in the election of directors unless a corporation’s
certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting.

Issuance of Undesignated Preferred Stock

Our Board of Directors has the authority, without further action by our stockholders, to issue shares of undesignated preferred stock with rights and
preferences, including voting rights, designated from time to time by our Board of Directors. The existence of authorized but unissued shares of preferred
stock would enable our Board of Directors to render more difficult or to discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a merger, tender offer,
proxy contest, or other means. However, prior to the Final Class F Conversion Date, we may not designate or issue shares of preferred stock, or make
certain amendments to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation that relate solely to one or more series of preferred stock, without an
affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of the Class F common stock, voting as a separate class.

Board of Directors Permitted to Amend Bylaws

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws authorize our Board of Directors to adopt, amend or repeal the
bylaws, provided, however, that our amended and restated bylaws require that a bylaw amendment adopted by our stockholders which specifies the votes
that shall be necessary for the election of directors shall not be further amended or repealed by the Board of Directors.
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Classified Board of Directors

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides for a classified board of directors consisting of three classes of approximately equal size,
each serving staggered three-year terms, from and after the Final Class F Conversion Date. Our directors will be assigned by the then current board of
directors among the three classes when that event occurs. Prior to the Final Class F Conversion Date, directors will be elected annually.

Director Removal

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that a director may only be removed from office by the stockholders as provided in the
Delaware General Corporation Law.

Exclusive Forum

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and exclusive forum for

(1) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (2) any action or proceeding asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of
our current or former directors, stockholders, officers, or other employees to us or our stockholders, (3) any action or proceeding asserting a claim arising
pursuant to, or seeking to enforce any right, obligation or remedy under, any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law or our certificate of
incorporation or bylaws (as amended from time to time), (4) any action or proceeding as to which the Delaware General Corporation Law confers
jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or (5) any other action or proceeding asserting a claim that is governed by the internal affairs
doctrine shall be the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware does not have jurisdiction, another
State court in Delaware, or if no State court has jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware) and any appellate court therefrom, in all
cases subject to the court having jurisdiction over indispensable parties named as defendants.

Our amended and restated bylaws also provide that the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint
asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act.

Founder Voting Agreement

Our Founders have entered into the Founder Voting Agreement with Wilmington Trust, National Association, as the grantee of certain proxies and powers
of attorney contemplated therein. The Founder Voting Agreement became effective substantially concurrently with the filing and acceptance of our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.

Pursuant to the terms of the Founder Voting Agreement, on the day the agreement was executed and delivered, each Founder who was then party to the
Founder Voting Agreement granted, and Peter Thiel caused certain of his affiliates to grant, a proxy and power of attorney to the Grantee to vote, or to
deliver or not deliver consents, as applicable, with respect to (1) any Corporation Equity Securities entitled to vote on a matter submitted to a vote of our
stockholders (other than shares of Class F common stock) that are held or owned, directly or indirectly, by such Founder or such affiliate, if applicable, and
for which such Founder or such affiliate either has (a) sole voting power or (b) shared voting power and, in the case of this clause (b), the power and
authority to grant, or to cause to be granted, a proxy and power of attorney with respect to such Corporation Equity Securities and (2) any other shares of
our capital stock entitled to vote on a matter submitted to a vote of our stockholders (other than shares of Class F common stock) as volunteered by such
Founder or such affiliate. As described above under “—Multi-Class Common Stock”, the number of such shares will affect the calculation of the voting
power of the shares of Class F common stock. The Founder Voting Agreement provides that, so long as a Founder is then party to the Founder Voting
Agreement, his controlled affiliates may be required to grant to the Grantee a proxy and power of attorney with respect to certain Corporation Equity
Securities that such controlled affiliate owns or acquires, as more fully set forth in the Founder Voting Agreement. The Founder Voting Agreement will not
restrict the ability of our Founders or any of their affiliates to transfer any Corporation Equity Securities that they hold or own, directly or indirectly,
although certain controlled affiliates of our Founders that become transferees will be required to execute substantially similar proxy and power of attorney
arrangements.

-10-



For any matter subject to a vote of the holders of one or more classes of our capital stock, at a meeting of our stockholders, the Founder Voting Agreement
provides that the Grantee will vote (including a vote of “withhold” or “abstain” that may not constitute a “vote” under the applicable voting standard
required to approve the matter or elect the director nominee) all shares of our capital stock entitled to vote thereon for which the Grantee has been granted a
proxy and power of attorney in accordance with the Founder Voting Agreement, and will take all necessary and appropriate action in order to ensure that all
such shares are voted, as a whole, in the same manner as the shares of Class F common stock held in the Founder Voting Trust will be voted by the Trustee
(even if the shares of Class F common stock have zero votes per share with respect to the particular matter), as notified to the Grantee by the Trustee. For
any matter subject to an action by written consent by holders of one or more classes or series of our capital stock, the Founder Voting Agreement provides
that the Grantee will deliver consent or not deliver consent, as the case may be, to such action with respect to all shares of our capital stock entitled to vote
thereon for which the Grantee has been granted a proxy and power of attorney in accordance with the Founder Voting Agreement, as a whole, in the same
manner as the consents will be delivered or not delivered by the Trustee with respect to the shares of Class F common stock held in the Founder Voting
Trust (even if the shares of Class F common stock have zero votes per share with respect to the particular matter), as notified to the Grantee by the Trustee.
Pursuant to the Founder Voting Trust Agreement, the Trustee will notify the Grantee of how the Trustee is voting, or delivering consents or not delivering
consents, as the case may be, with respect to, the shares of Class F common stock held in the Founder Voting Trust. The Trustee will notify the Grantee
even if the shares of Class F common stock are entitled to zero votes per share. The Founder Voting Agreement provides that, if the Grantee has not
received such notification from the Trustee, the Grantee will not vote or deliver a consent for any shares of our capital stock over which it has been granted
a proxy and power of attorney in accordance with such agreement. For further discussion of the Trustee’s role in voting the Class F common stock, see “—
Founder Voting Trust Agreement.”

The proxies and powers of attorney granted in accordance with the Founder Voting Agreement will be irrevocable until the earliest of (1) the Expiration
Date (as defined below) and (2) such time as (A) the grantor has transferred the shares covered by such proxy and power of attorney to a person that is not
required to execute and deliver a proxy and power of attorney pursuant to the Founder Voting Agreement or, if so required, such proxy and power of
attorney has been so delivered, (B) in the case of a grantor that is a controlled affiliate of a Founder on the date it grants a proxy and power of attorney, the
date such grantor ceases to be a controlled affiliate of a Founder and (C) in the case of a grantor that was a Founder on the date the Founder Voting
Agreement was executed, the date such Founder ceases to be a party to the Founder Voting Agreement, in each case in accordance with the terms of the
Founder Voting Agreement, and in each case upon which date such proxy and power of attorney with respect to such shares shall be automatically revoked
without further action by any Person, as defined in the Founder Voting Agreement.

Pursuant to the terms of the Founder Voting Agreement, any Founder may withdraw from the agreement at any time, with or without the prior consent of
any other party thereto, by concurrently (1) delivering an irrevocable written notice of withdrawal from the Founder Voting Agreement to us, the Grantee,
the Trustee and each other Founder then party to the Founder Voting Agreement and (2) delivering an irrevocable written notice of withdrawal from the
Founder Voting Trust Agreement to us, the Grantee, the Trustee and each other Founder then party to the Founder Voting Agreement pursuant to and in
accordance with its terms. Upon the delivery of such notices, the withdrawing Founder will immediately cease to be a party to the Founder Voting
Agreement, and the proxy and power of attorney granted by such Founder and, if applicable, his affiliates, pursuant to the Founder Voting Agreement will
be automatically revoked. In addition, a Founder will immediately cease to be a party to the Founder Voting Agreement, and the proxy and power of
attorney granted by such Founder and, if applicable, his affiliates, will be automatically revoked (1) upon his death, (2) upon the determination, in a final
non-appealable order of a court of competent jurisdiction, that he is permanently and totally disabled or (3) upon the proper delivery of a written notice of
withdrawal from the Founder Voting Trust Agreement with respect to such Founder in accordance with the Founder Voting Trust Agreement. If, for a
period of six months, a Founder who is then party to the Founder Voting Agreement fails to hold or own, directly or indirectly, together with his Approved
Affiliates, a certain number of our Corporation Equity Securities, and the Founders who are

-11-



then party to the Founder Voting Agreement, together with their Approved Affiliates, in the aggregate do not hold or own, directly or indirectly, a number
of Corporation Equity Securities at least equal to the Ownership Threshold, the other Founders who are then party to the Founder Voting Agreement will be
entitled, in their sole discretion and by their unanimous decision, to require such Founder to withdraw from the Founder Voting Agreement and the Founder
Voting Trust Agreement. Upon a discretionary or compulsory withdrawal of a Founder as a beneficiary of the Founder Voting Trust Agreement, the Trustee
will instruct our transfer agent and us to convert the withdrawing Founder’s pro rata portion of the shares of Class F common stock held in the Founder
Voting Trust at the time of the withdrawal into shares of Class B common stock in accordance with our amended and restated certificate of incorporation.

The Founder Voting Agreement will terminate on the date that is the earlier to occur of (1) the termination of the Founder Voting Trust (other than any
termination that occurs in connection with certain reorganizations or redomiciliations thereof) and (2) the business day following the death of the last
Founder party thereto (such earlier date, the “Expiration Date”).

The terms of the Founder Voting Agreement can be amended at any time and from time to time with the consent of each of the Founders then party thereto,
except that any amendment or modification that would have an adverse effect on the rights or obligations of the Grantee would require the affirmative
consent of the Grantee. We are an express, intended third-party beneficiary of the Founder Voting Agreement but will not have a general consent right with
respect to amendments thereto.

Founder Voting Trust Agreement

Our Founders have entered into the Founder Voting Trust Agreement, which became effective substantially concurrently with the filing and acceptance of
our amended and restated certificate of incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, and pursuant to which each Founder has
deposited 335,000 shares of Class B common stock in the Founder Voting Trust, under which Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee, will act
on behalf of the Founders. The Founders were issued trust units, which represent the shares of our Company deposited with the Trustee.

Substantially concurrently with the filing and acceptance of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of
Delaware, all shares of Class B common stock held in the Founder Voting Trust were exchanged, pursuant to an Exchange Agreement between us and the
Trustee, for an equivalent number of shares of Class F common stock, which we issued directly to the Trustee to be held in the Founder Voting Trust. As a
result of the Founder Voting Trust Agreement, the Trustee is the record owner of the shares of Class F common stock held in the Founder Voting Trust,
which constitutes all of the issued and outstanding shares of Class F common stock.

Pursuant to the terms of the Founder Voting Trust Agreement, the Trustee will vote the shares of Class F common stock held in the Founder Voting Trust,
or deliver or not deliver consents in respect of such shares, as a whole, in the manner determined by the instructions of our Founders who are then party to
the Founder Voting Agreement (even if the shares of Class F common stock have zero votes per share with respect to the particular matter), as further
described above under “—Multi-Class Common Stock.” The Trustee will not exercise any voting discretion over the shares of Class F common stock held in
the Founder Voting Trust.

Pursuant to the terms of the Founder Voting Trust Agreement, a Founder may withdraw as a beneficiary of the Founder Voting Trust Agreement at the
Founder’s discretion at any time. In addition, each Founder will be deemed to have withdrawn as a beneficiary of the Founder Voting Trust Agreement
immediately upon his death or upon the determination, in a final non-appealable order of a court of competent jurisdiction, that he is permanently and
totally disabled. Upon such a discretionary or compulsory withdrawal, the Trustee will instruct our transfer agent and us to convert the withdrawing
Founder’s pro rata portion of the shares of Class F common stock held in the Founder Voting Trust at the time of the withdrawal into shares of Class B
common stock in accordance with our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. Following such conversion, the Trustee will, among other actions,
distribute such shares of Class B common stock to the withdrawing Founder and cancel the withdrawing Founder’s trust units. After these actions, the
withdrawing Founder will cease to be a beneficiary within the meaning of the Founder Voting Trust Agreement.
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The Founder Voting Trust Agreement contains certain covenants that, among other things, prohibit each of our Founders from transferring his trust units
and prohibit the Trustee from transferring or converting shares of Class F common stock held in the Founder Voting Trust, except in connection with a
discretionary or compulsory withdrawal effected in accordance with the terms of the Founder Voting Trust Agreement or as otherwise required by
applicable law.

The Founder Voting Trust Agreement will terminate upon the business day following the earliest to occur of (1) the Founder Voting Trust ceasing to hold
any shares of Class B common stock or Class F common stock (as a result of transfers effected in accordance with the terms of the Founder Voting Trust
Agreement), (2) at any time there are no beneficiaries of the Founder Voting Trust and (3) upon the written approval of such termination by each of the
Founders then a beneficiary of the Founder Voting Trust Agreement.

The terms of the Founder Voting Trust Agreement can be amended at any time and from time to time with the consent of each of the Founders then party
thereto, except that any amendment or modification that would have an adverse effect on the rights or obligations of the Trustee would require the
affirmative consent of the Trustee. We are an express, intended third-party beneficiary of the Founder Voting Trust Agreement, but will not have a general
consent right with respect to amendments thereto. The beneficiaries of the Founder Voting Trust will be required to give notice to us of certain changes in
the Trustee.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our Class A common stock is Computershare Trust Company, N.A. The transfer agent and registrar’s address is 250
Royall Street, Canton, Massachusetts 02021.

Listing

Our Class A common stock is listed on the NYSE under the symbol “PLTR.”
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Palantir USG, Inc.

Palantir GSC Inc.

Palantir Technologies Geneva Sarl
Palantir Technologies Holdings LLC
Palantir International Inc.

Palantir Italia S.R.L.

Palantir Technologies Singapore Pte. Ltd.
Palantir Technologies New Zealand Limited
Palantir Technologies Australia PTY Ltd.
Palantir Technologies GmbH

Palantir Technologies Canada Inc.
Palantir Technologies Japan, G.K.
Palantir Engineering Israel Ltd.

PTS Sweden AB

Palantir Technologies Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V.

Palantir Tecnologia Do Brasil LTDA
Palantir Technologies Switzerland GmbH
Palantir Technologies Hong Kong Limited
Palantir Technologies Spain SL

Palantir Technologies France SAS
Palantir Technologies Poland Sp. z o.0.
Palantir Technologies Denmark ApS
Palantir Technologies Norway AS

Palantir Technologies U.K., Ltd.

Palantir Shakti Technologies Private Limited
Palantir Technologies Taiwan Limited
Palantir Technologies QFC LLC

Palantir Technologies U.K. - Eagle Ltd.
Palantir Technologies Austria GmbH

Subsidiaries of Palantir Technologies Inc.
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Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-248970) pertaining to the Palantir Technologies Inc. 2020
Equity Incentive Plan, 2020 Executive Equity Incentive Plan, Amended 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, Stand Alone Option Agreement Dated September 22,
2009, and Stand Alone Option Agreement Dated January 24, 2011 of our report dated February 26, 2021, with respect to the consolidated financial
statements of Palantir Technologies Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2020.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Jose, California
February 26, 2021



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14a OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Alexander C. Karp, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Palantir Technologies Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c.  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

PALANTIR TECHNOLOGIES INC.

Date: February 26, 2021 By: /s/ Alexander C. Karp

Alexander C. Karp
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14a OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, David Glazer, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Palantir Technologies Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c.  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

PALANTIR TECHNOLOGIES INC.

Date: February 26, 2021 By: /s/ David Glazer

David Glazer
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Alexander C. Karp, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of Palantir Technologies Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects,
the financial condition and results of operations of Palantir Technologies Inc.

PALANTIR TECHNOLOGIES INC.

Date: February 26, 2021 By: /s/ Alexander C. Karp
Alexander C. Karp
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

I, David Glazer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report
on Form 10-K of Palantir Technologies Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of Palantir Technologies Inc.

PALANTIR TECHNOLOGIES INC.

Date: February 26, 2021 By: /s/ David Glazer
David Glazer
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




